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This Annual Report on Form 10-K, including the Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, contains
forward-looking statements, within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, that reflect our views about future events and
financial performance. When used in this report, the words “may,” “will,” “should,” “anticipate,” “estimate,” “expect,” “plan,” “believe,” “predict,”
“potential,” “intend” and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements are subject to known and
unknown risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those projected. You are cautioned not to place undue reliance on
these forward-looking statements that speak only as of the date hereof. You are also urged to carefully review and consider the various disclosures made by us
which attempt to advise interested parties of the factors which affect our business, including Exhibit 99 “Risk Factors” filed as an exhibit hereto and
incorporated into this Form 10-K by reference and our reports filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission from time to time.

References in this Annual Report on Form 10-K to the term “WellPoint” or the “Company” refer to WellPoint, Inc. and its direct and indirect
subsidiaries, as the context requires, after the merger of Anthem, Inc. and WellPoint Health Networks Inc. on November 30, 2004. References to the
term “WellPoint Health” or “WHN” refer to WellPoint Health Networks Inc. prior to the merger. References to the terms “we,” “our,” or “us,” refer
to WellPoint.
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PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS.
General
We are the largest publicly traded commercial health benefits company in terms of membership in the United States, serving more than 27 million
medical members as of December 31, 2004. We are an independent licensee of the Blue Cross Blue Shield Association, or BCBSA, an association of
independent health benefit plans, and serve our members as the Blue Cross licensee for California and as the Blue Cross and Blue Shield, or BCBS, licensee
for twelve other states: Colorado, Connecticut, Georgia, Indiana, Kentucky, Maine, Missouri (excluding 30 counties in the Kansas City area), Nevada, New
Hampshire, Ohio, Virginia (excluding the Northern Virginia suburbs of Washington, D.C.), and Wisconsin. We also serve customers throughout various
parts of the United States as HealthLink and UniCare. We are licensed to conduct insurance operations in all 50 states and Puerto Rico through our
subsidiaries.
On November 30, 2004, Anthem, Inc. (“Anthem”) and WellPoint Health Networks Inc. (“WHN”) completed their merger. WHN merged with and into
Anthem Holding Corp., a direct and wholly-owned subsidiary of Anthem, with Anthem Holding Corp. as the surviving entity in the merger. In connection
with the merger, Anthem amended its articles of incorporation to change its name to WellPoint, Inc. (“WellPoint”).

We offer a broad spectrum of network-based managed care plans to the large and small employer, individual, Medicaid and senior markets. Our
managed care plans include preferred provider organizations, or PPOs, health maintenance organizations, or HMOs, point-of-service plans, or POS plans,
traditional indemnity plans and other hybrid plans, including consumer directed, hospital only and limited benefit products. In addition, we provide a broad
array of managed care services to self-funded customers, including claims processing, underwriting, stop loss insurance, actuarial services, provider network
access, medical cost management and other administrative services. We also provide an array of specialty and other products and services including
pharmacy benefit management, group life and disability insurance, dental, vision, behavioral health benefits, workers compensation and long-term care
insurance. For our insured products, we charge a premium and assume all or a majority of the health care risk. Under self-funded and partially insured
products, we charge a fee for services, and the employer or plan sponsor reimburses us for all or a majority of the health care costs. Approximately 92% of our
2004 operating revenue was derived from premium income, while approximately 8% was derived from administrative services and other revenues.
Our customer base primarily includes large groups with 51 or more employees (47.1% of our medical members at December 31, 2004), and individuals
under age 65 and small groups of one to 50 employees (18.8% of our medical members as of December 31, 2004). Other major customer categories include
National Accounts, BlueCard Host, Senior (over age 65 individuals and Medicare Supplement or Medicare Advantage policies) and State Sponsored
Programs (primarily Medicaid and State Children’s Health Insurance Plans). We market our products through an extensive network of independent agents and
brokers (primarily for Individual, Small Group and Senior customers) and through our in-house sales force that are compensated on a commission basis for
new sales and retention of existing business (primarily for Large Group customers).
The aging of the population and other demographic characteristics and advances in medical technology continue to contribute to rising health care costs.
Our managed care plans and products are designed to encourage providers and members to participate in quality, cost-effective health benefit plans by using
the full range of our innovative medical management services, quality initiatives and financial incentives. Our leading market shares enable us to realize the
long-term benefits of investing in preventive and early detection programs. Our ability to provide cost-effective health benefits products and services is
enhanced through a disciplined approach to internal cost containment, prudent management of our risk exposure and successful integration of acquired
businesses.
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Our results of operations depend in large part on accurately predicting health care costs and on our ability to manage future health care costs through
underwriting criteria, medical management, product design and negotiation of favorable provider contracts.
We believe health care is local, and feel that we have the strong local presence required to understand and meet local customer needs. We believe we are
well-positioned to deliver what customers want: innovative, choice-based products; distinctive service; simplified administrative transactions; and better
access to information for quality care and decision-making.

We believe our local presence and national expertise create opportunities for collaborative programs that reward physicians and hospitals for clinical
quality and excellence. We feel that our commitment to health improvement and care management provides added value to customers and health care
professionals.

Like many of our competitors, our vision for the future includes becoming a premier e-business organization by automating interactions with customers,
brokers, agents, employees and other stakeholders through web-enabling technology and redesigning internal operations. We are developing our e-business
strategy with the goal of becoming widely regarded as an e-business leader in the health benefits industry. The strategy includes not only sales and distribution
of health benefits products on the Internet, but also implementation of advanced self-service capabilities benefiting customers, agents, brokers, partners and
our associates.
We intend to continue to expand through a combination of organic growth and strategic acquisitions in both existing and new markets. Our growth
strategy is designed to enable us to take advantage of the additional economies of scale provided by increased overall membership. In addition, we believe
geographic diversity reduces our exposure to local or regional regulatory and competitive pressures and provides us with increased opportunities for expansion.
While the majority of our growth has been the result of strategic mergers and acquisitions, we have also achieved organic growth in our existing markets by
providing excellent service, offering competitively priced products and effectively capturing the brand strength of the Blue Cross and Blue Shield names and

marks.
WellPoint is an accelerated filer (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) and is required, pursuant to Item 101 of
Regulation S-K, to provide certain information regarding its website and the availability of certain documents filed with or furnished to the Securities and
Exchange Commission, or SEC. Our website is www.wellpoint.com. We make available free of charge on or through our Internet website our annual report on
Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or
15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such material with or furnish it to the SEC.

Recent Transactions
As discussed above, Anthem and WHN completed their merger on November 30, 2004. Prior to the merger, both Anthem and WHN had individually
expanded through organic growth and acquisitions. Listed below are the most recent major transactions that were completed by the pre-merger companies.

•

On September 24, 2003, WHN completed its acquisition of Cobalt Corporation, the parent company of Blue Cross Blue Shield of Wisconsin.

•

On July 31, 2002, Anthem completed its purchase of Trigon Healthcare, Inc (“Trigon”). Trigon was the Blue Cross and Blue Shield licensee in
Virginia, excluding the Northern Virginia suburbs of Washington, D.C.

•

On January 31, 2002, WHN completed its acquisition of RightCHOICE Managed Care, Inc., the parent company of Blue Cross and Blue Shield
of Missouri (excluding 30 counties in the Kansas City area).
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Industry Overview
The health benefits industry has experienced significant change in the last decade. The increasing focus on health care costs by employers, the
government and consumers has led to the growth of alternatives to traditional indemnity health insurance. HMO, PPO and hybrid plans, such as POS plans,
incorporating features of each, are among the various forms of managed care products that have developed over a number of years. Through these types of
products, we attempt to contain the cost of health care by negotiating contracts with hospitals, physicians and other providers to deliver health care at
favorable rates. These products usually feature medical management and other quality and cost optimization measures such as pre-admission review and
approval for non-emergency hospital services, pre-authorization of outpatient surgical procedures, and network credentialing to determine that network doctors
and hospitals have the required certifications and expertise. In addition, providers may share medical cost risk or have other incentives to deliver quality
medical services in a cost-effective manner. HMO, PPO and POS members generally are charged periodic, pre-paid premiums, and pay co-payments or
deductibles when they receive services. PPO and POS plans provide benefits for out-of-network usage, typically at higher out-of-pocket costs to members.
HMO members generally select one of the network’s primary care physicians, who then assume responsibility for coordinating their health care services.
Typically, there is no out-of-network benefit for HMO members except in emergencies. PPOs and other open access plans generally provide coverage when
members select non-network providers without coordination through a primary care physician, but at a higher out-of-pocket cost. Hybrid plans, such as POS
plans, typically involve the selection of primary care physicians similar to HMOs, but allow members to self refer or to choose non-network providers at
higher out-of-pocket costs similar to those of PPOs.
Recently, economic factors and greater consumer awareness have resulted in the increasing popularity of products that offer larger, more extensive
networks, more member choice related to coverage and the ability to self refer within those networks. There is also a growing preference for greater flexibility
for customers to assume larger deductibles and co-payments in exchange for lower premiums. We believe we are well positioned in each of our regions to
respond to these market preferences. Our PPO products, which contain most or all of the features noted above, have experienced significant growth over the
past few years.

The BCBSA has also undergone significant change in recent years. Historically, most states had at least one Blue Cross (hospital coverage) and a
separate Blue Shield (physician coverage) company. Prior to the mid 1980s there were more than 125 separate Blue Cross or Blue Shield companies. Many of
these organizations have merged, reducing the number of independent licensees to 40 as of December 31, 2004.

Each of the BCBS companies works cooperatively in a number of ways that create significant market advantages, especially when competing for very
large multi-state employer groups. As a result of this cooperation, each BCBS company is able to take advantage of other BCBS licensees’ substantial
provider networks and discounts when any member from one state works or travels outside of the state in which the policy is written. This program is referred
to as BlueCard ®, and is a source of revenue for providing member services in our states for individuals who are customers of other BCBS plans.

Competition
The managed care industry is highly competitive, both nationally and in our regional markets. Competition continues to be intense due to more
aggressive marketing, a proliferation of new products and increased quality awareness and price sensitivity among customers. Significant consolidation
within the industry has also added to competition. In addition, with the enactment of the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act, banks and other financial institutions have
the ability to affiliate with insurance companies, which may lead to new competitors in the insurance and health benefits fields.
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Industry participants compete for customers mainly on the following factors:

•

price;

•

quality of service;

•

access to provider networks;

•

flexibility of benefit designs;

•

reputation (including NCQA accreditation status);

•

brand recognition; and

•

financial stability.

Over the last few years, a health plan’s ability to interact with employers, members and other third parties (including health care professionals) via the
Internet has become a more important competitive factor. During the last several years, we have made significant technology investments to enhance our
electronic interaction with third parties.

We believe our exclusive right to market products under the BCBS brand in many of our markets provides us with an advantage over our competition.
In addition, our provider networks in our regions enable us to achieve cost-efficiencies and service levels that allow us to offer a broad range of health benefits
to our customers on a more cost-effective basis than many of our competitors. We strive to distinguish our products through provider access, excellent service,
product value and brand recognition.

To build our provider networks, we also compete with other health benefits plans for contracts with hospitals, physicians and other providers. We
believe that physicians and other providers primarily consider member volume, reimbursement rates, timeliness of reimbursement and administrative service
capabilities along with the reduction of non-value added administrative tasks when deciding whether to contract with a health benefits plan. At the sales and
distribution level, we compete for qualified agents and brokers to distribute our products. Strong competition exists among insurance companies and health
benefits plans for agents and brokers with demonstrated ability to secure new business and maintain existing accounts. The basis of competition for the
services of such agents and brokers are:

•

commission structure;

•

support services;

•

reputation and prior relationships; and

•

quality of the products.

We believe that we have good relationships with our agents and brokers, and that our products, support services and commission structure compare
favorably to our competitors in all of our regions.

Operating Segments
Following the merger with WHN on November 30, 2004, our organizational structure changed. As a result of this change, we established three reportable
segments: Health Care, Specialty and Other.

Health Care
Our Health Care segment is an aggregation of various operating segments, principally differentiated by geographic areas within which we offer similar
health benefit products and services. These geographic areas include California, Colorado, Connecticut, Georgia, Indiana, Kentucky, Maine, Missouri
(excluding 30 counties in the Kansas City area), Nevada, New Hampshire, Ohio, Virginia (excluding the Northern Virginia suburbs of Washington, D.C.),
and Wisconsin. In addition, UniCare and HealthLink provide services in various other areas of the United States.
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Specialty
Our Specialty segment is comprised of businesses providing pharmacy benefit management, group life and disability insurance benefits, dental,
workers’ compensation and long-term care insurance. We also provide benefits for vision and behavioral health services.

Other
Our Other segment is comprised of our Medicare processing business, including AdminaStar Federal and United Government Services; Arcus
Enterprises; intersegment revenue and expense eliminations; and corporate expenses not allocated to our Health Care or Specialty segments.
For additional information regarding the operating results of our segments, see the Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations and Note 20 to our audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2004 included in this Form 10-K.

Products and Services

Health Care
A general description of our health benefit products and services is provided below:

Preferred Provider Organization. PPO products offer the member an option to select any health care provider, with benefits reimbursed by us at a
higher level when care is received from a participating network provider. Coverage is subject to co-payments or deductibles and coinsurance, with member cost
sharing usually limited by out-of-pocket maximums.
Traditional Indemnity. Indemnity products offer the member an option to select any health care provider for covered services. Coverage is subject to
deductibles and coinsurance, with member cost sharing usually limited by out-of-pocket maximums.

Health Maintenance Organization. HMO products include comprehensive managed care benefits, generally through a participating network of
physicians, hospitals and other providers. A member in one of our HMOs must typically select a primary care physician, or PCP, from our network. PCPs
generally are family practitioners, internists or pediatricians who provide necessary preventive and primary medical care, and are generally responsible for
coordinating other necessary health care services. Preventive care services are emphasized in these plans. We offer HMO plans with varying levels of copayments, which result in different levels of premium rates.
Point-of-Service. POS products blend the characteristics of HMO and indemnity plans. Members can have comprehensive HMO-style benefits
through participating network providers with minimum out-of-pocket expense (co-payments) and also can go directly, without a referral, to any provider they
choose, subject to, among other things, certain deductibles and coinsurance. Member cost sharing is limited by out-of-pocket maximums.

Management Services. In addition to fully insured products, we provide administrative services to large group employers that maintain self-funded
health plans. These administrative services include underwriting, actuarial services, medical management, claims processing and administrative services for
self-funded employers. Self-funded health plans are also able to use our provider networks and to realize savings through our negotiated provider
arrangements, while allowing employers the ability to design certain health benefit plans in accordance with their own requirements and objectives. We also
write stop loss insurance for self-funded plans.
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Senior Plans. We offer numerous Medicare supplemental plans, which typically pay the difference between health care costs incurred by a
beneficiary and amounts paid by Medicare. We also offer a managed care alternative to the Medicare program in certain geographic areas. We also offer
Medicare Advantage plans and Medicare approved drug discount cards in certain geographic regions. Our Medicare Advantage plans provide Medicare
beneficiaries with a managed care alternative to traditional Medicare. Our Medicare approved drug discount cards affords Medicare beneficiaries, without
prescription drug coverage, access to our drug discounts.
BlueCard Plan. BlueCard host members are generally members who reside in or travel to a state in which a WellPoint subsidiary is the Blue Cross
and/or Blue Shield licensee and who are covered under an employer sponsored health plan serviced by a non-WellPoint controlled BCBS licensee, who is the
“home” plan. We perform certain administrative functions for BlueCard host members, for which we receive administrative fees from the BlueCard members’
home plans. Other administrative functions, including maintenance of enrollment information and customer service, are performed by the home plan.

Medicaid Plans and Other State-Sponsored Programs. In California, a subsidiary holds contracts with the state to provide managed care programs
to MediCal, California’s Medicaid program in a large part of the state. We have also obtained Medicaid contracts to serve members in several other states (and
the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico) in which we conduct business.
Specialty

Pharmacy Products. We offer pharmacy services and pharmacy benefit management services to our members. Our pharmacy services incorporate
features such as drug formularies (where we develop lists of preferred, cost effective drugs), a pharmacy network and maintenance of a prescription drug
database and mail order capabilities. Pharmacy benefit management services provided by us include management of drug utilization through outpatient
prescription drug formularies, retrospective review and drug education for physicians, pharmacists and members. Two of our subsidiaries are also licensed
pharmacies and make prescription dispensing services available through mail order for pharmacy benefit management clients.
Life Insurance. We offer an array of competitive group life insurance benefit products to both large and small group customers in conjunction with
our health plans. The life products include term life, accidental death and dismemberment.
Disability. We offer short-term and long-term disability programs, usually in conjunction with our health plans.

Behavioral Health. We offer specialized behavioral health plans and benefit management. These plans cover mental health and substance abuse
treatment services on both an inpatient and an outpatient basis. We have implemented employee assistance and behavioral managed care programs for a wide
variety of businesses throughout the United States. These programs are offered through our subsidiaries and through third party behavioral health networks.

Dental. Our dental plans include networks in certain states in which we operate. Many of the dental benefits are provided to customers enrolled in our
health plans and are offered on both an insured and self-funded basis.
Vision Services. These services are primarily for our customers enrolled in our health plans.

Long-Term Care Insurance. We offer long-term care insurance products to our California members through a subsidiary. The long-term care
products include tax-qualified and non-tax qualified versions of a skilled nursing home care plan and comprehensive policies covering skilled, intermediate
and custodial long-term care and home health services.
Workers Compensation Plan. We offer workers compensation products to employees principally in the states of Wisconsin, Illinois, Indiana and
Iowa.
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Other
Medicare Fiscal Intermediary Operations. Through our AdminaStar Federal and United Government Services subsidiaries, we serve as fiscal
intermediaries for the Medicare program, which generally provides coverage for persons who are 65 or older and for persons who are disabled or with endstage renal disease. Part A of the Medicare program provides coverage for services provided by hospitals, skilled nursing facilities and other health care
facilities. Part B of the Medicare program provides coverage for services provided by physicians, physical and occupational therapists and other professional
providers. United Government Services serves as the largest Part A fiscal intermediary in the United States. As a fiscal intermediary, we receive reimbursement
for certain costs and expenditures.
Customer Segmentation
Our products are generally developed and marketed with an emphasis on the differing needs of various customer groups. In particular, our product
development and marketing efforts take into account the differing characteristics between the various customer groups served by us, including individuals
and small employers, large employers, seniors and Medicaid recipients, as well as the unique needs of educational and public entities, federal employee health
and benefit programs, national employers and state-run programs servicing low-income, high-risk and under-served markets. Individual business units are
responsible for product design, pricing, enrolling, underwriting and servicing customers in specific customer groups. We believe that one of the keys to our
success has been the focus on distinct customer groups defined generally by employer size and geographic region, which better enables us to develop benefit
plans and services that meet the unique needs of the distinct markets.
In each geographic region, we balance the need to customize products with the efficiencies of product standardization. Overall, we seek to establish
pricing and product designs to achieve an appropriate level of profitability for each of our customer categories. As of December 31, 2004, our customer types
include the following categories:

•

Large groups include employers with 51 to 4,999 employees eligible to participate as a member in one of our health plans as well as public
entities that serve educational and public sector clients. These groups are generally sold through brokers or consultants working with industry
specialists from our in-house sales force. Large group cases may be experience rated or sold on a self-insured basis. The customer’s buying
decision is typically based upon the size and breadth of our networks, customer service, the quality of our medical management services, the
administrative cost included in our quoted price, our financial stability, and our ability to effectively service large complex accounts. Large group
also includes members in the Federal Employee Program. As a BCBSA licensee, we participate in a nationwide contract with the Federal
government whereby we cover Federal employees and their dependents in our multi-state service area. Under a complex formula, we are reimbursed
for our costs plus a fee. We also participate in the overall financial risk for medical claims on a pooled basis with the other participating BCBS
companies. Large groups accounted for 47.1% of our members at December 31, 2004.

•

Individual (under 65) and small groups are defined as members who purchase health insurance services as individuals or through employers
with one to 50 eligible employees. While individual policies are generally sold through independent agents and brokers or our in-house sales force,
small groups are sold almost exclusively through independent agents and brokers. Small group cases are sold on a fully-insured basis.
Underwriting and pricing is typically done on a community rated basis. (See “Regulation—Small Group Reform” below.) Conversely, individual
business is usually medically underwritten at the point of initial issuance. Individual and small group customers are generally more sensitive to
product pricing and, to a lesser extent, the configuration of the network, and the efficiency of administration. Account turnover is generally higher
with individual and small groups as compared to large groups. In several of our markets, there is much less competition for individual business
than group contracts. Individuals and small groups accounted for 18.8% of our members at December 31, 2004.
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•

National Accounts are defined as multi-state employer groups headquartered in a WellPoint service area with 5,000 or more eligible employees,
including 5% or more located in a service area outside of the headquarters state. National Accounts are generally sold through independent brokers
or consultants retained by the customer working with our in-house sales force. We have a significant advantage when competing for very large
National Accounts due to our ability to access the national provider networks of BCBS companies and take advantage of their provider discounts
in their local markets. National Accounts represented 11.6% of our members at December 31, 2004.

•

BlueCard host customers are defined as enrollees of other BCBS plans, or the “home” plans, who receive health care services in our BCBS
licensed markets. BlueCard host membership accounted for 12.5% of our members at December 31, 2004.

•

Senior customers are defined as members age 65 and over with Medicare Supplement or Medicare Advantage policies. Medicare Supplement
policies are sold to Medicare recipients as supplements to the benefits they receive from the Medicare program. Rates are filed with and in some
cases approved by state insurance departments. The Medicare Advantage program is the managed care alternative to the federally funded Medicare
program. Most of the premium is paid directly by the Federal government on behalf of the participant who may also be charged a small premium.
Medicare Supplement and Medicare Advantage products are marketed in the same manner. Senior business accounted for 3.8% of our members at
December 31, 2004.

•

State sponsored program membership are defined as eligible members with state sponsored managed care alternatives for the Medicaid and State
Children’s Health Insurance programs that we manage. In 2000, WHN entered into a joint venture with Medical Card Systems, Inc., a Puerto
Rico-based group health and life insurer, to pursue contracts under the Health Reform Program in Puerto Rico. As of December 31, 2004, the
company’s 50% share of this joint venture served approximately 252,000 members. Total state sponsored program business accounted for 6.2%
of our members at December 31, 2004.

In addition to reporting our medical membership by customer type, we report by funding arrangement according to the level of risk that we assume in
the product contract. Our two principal funding arrangement categories are fully-insured and self-funded. Fully-insured products are products in which we
indemnify our policyholders against costs for health benefits. Self-funded products are offered to customers, generally larger employers, who elect to retain
some or all of the financial risk associated with their employees’ health care costs. Some employers choose to purchase stop-loss coverage to limit their retained
risk. These employers are reported with our self-funded business.
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The following tables set forth our health benefits membership by customer type and funding arrangement, both on a reported basis and a comparable
basis assuming the merger of Anthem and WHN had occurred as of December 31, 2003:
Reported Basis

December 31

2004

2003
(In Thousands)

Customer Type

4,708
1,954
1,640
2,816

Large Group
Individual and Small Group (ISG)
National Accounts
BlueCard

13,073

Total National
Senior
State Sponsored

6,675
1,059
1,722

4,456
599

Total

27,728

11,927

Funding Arrangement
Self-funded
Fully-insured

13,039
14,689

6,412
5,515

Total

27,728

11,927

5,199
3,212
3,463

Comparable Basis

210

1

December 31

2004
(In Thousands)

Customer Type

1

2003

Large Group
Individual and Small Group (ISG)
National Accounts
BlueCard

13,073

5,199
3,212
3,463

12,740
4,867
2,668
2,931

Total National
Senior
State Sponsored

6,675
1,059
1,722

5,599
1,063
1,781

Total

27,728

26,050

Funding Arrangement
Self-funded
Fully-insured

13,039
14,689

11,750

Total

27,728

26,050

14,300

Comparable basis was calculated by adding historical statistics for the former WHN to historical statistics for the former Anthem and
adjusting the combined totals to assure a consistent approach for calculating membership and to eliminate overlapping BlueCard host
membership.

For additional information regarding the change in membership between years, see the Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations included in this Form 10-K.
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Networks and Provider Relations
Our relationships with physicians, hospitals and professionals that provide health care services to our members are guided by regional and national
standards for network development, reimbursement and contract methodologies.
It is generally our philosophy not to delegate full financial responsibility to our physician providers in the form of capitation-based reimbursement. In
certain markets we believe capitation can be a useful method to lower costs and reduce underwriting risk and we have some capitation contracts.

We attempt to provide market-based hospital reimbursement along industry standards. We also seek to ensure physicians in our network are paid in a
timely manner at appropriate rates. We use multi-year contracting strategies, including case or fixed rates, to limit our exposure to medical cost inflation and
increase cost predictability. In all regions, we seek to maintain broad provider networks to ensure member choice while implementing programs designed to
improve the quality of care received by our members.
Depending on the consolidation and integration of physician groups and hospitals, reimbursement strategies vary across markets. Fee for service is our
predominant reimbursement methodology for physicians. We generally use a resource-based relative value system (“RBRVS”) fee schedule to determine fee for
service reimbursement. However, we also use proprietary fee schedules in certain markets. The RBRVS structure was developed and is maintained by the
Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services, or CMS, and is used by the Medicare program and other major payers. The RBRVS and proprietary systems are
independent of submitted fees and therefore is not as vulnerable to inflation. In addition, we are implementing physician incentive contracting which recognizes
clinical quality and performance as a basis for reimbursement.

Like our physician contracts, our hospital contracts provide for a variety of reimbursement arrangements depending on the network. Our hospital
contracts recognize unique hospital attributes (e.g., academic medical centers or community hospitals) and the volume of care performed for our members.
Many hospitals are reimbursed on a fixed amount per day for covered services (per diem) or a case rate basis similar to Medicare (Diagnosis Related Groups).
Other hospitals are reimbursed on a discount from approved charge basis for covered services. Hospital outpatient services are reimbursed based on fixed case
rates, fee schedules or percent of charges. To improve predictability of expected cost, we frequently use a multi-year contracting approach which provides
stability in our competitive position versus other health benefit plans in the market, and have been transitioning to case rate payment methodologies. Many of
our renewing hospital contracts have reimbursement linked to improved clinical performance, patient safety and medical error reduction.

Medical Management Programs
Our medical management programs include a broad array of activities that facilitate improvements in the quality of care provided to our members and
promote cost effective medical care. These medical management activities and programs are administered and directed by physicians and trained nurses
employed by us. One of the goals of our medical management strategies is to assure that the care delivered to our members is supported by appropriate medical
and scientific evidence.

Precertification. A traditional medical management program involves assessment of the appropriateness of certain hospitalizations and other medical
services. For example, precertification is used to determine whether a set of hospital and medical services is being appropriately applied to the member’s
clinical condition, in accordance with criteria for medical necessity as that term is defined in the member’s benefits contract.

Concurrent review. Another traditional medical management strategy we use is concurrent review, which is based on nationally recognized criteria
developed for the industry. With concurrent review, the requirements and intensity of services during a patient’s hospital stay are reviewed, often by an onsite
skilled nurse
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professional in collaboration with the hospital’s medical and nursing staff, in order to coordinate care and determine the most effective transition of care from
the hospital setting.

Disease management. We are using more sophisticated care models built around disease management and advanced care management. These
programs focus on those members who have chronic and/or complex illness and require the greatest amount of medical services. We provide important
information to our physician providers and members to help them optimally manage the care of their specific conditions. For example, certain therapies and
interventions for patients with diabetes help prevent some of the serious, long-term medical consequences of diabetes and reduce the risks of kidney, eye and
heart disease. Our information systems can provide feedback to our physicians to enable them to improve the quality of care. For other prevalent medical
conditions such as heart disease and asthma, our ability to correlate pharmacy data and medical management data allows us to provide important information
to our members, physicians and other providers which enables them to more effectively manage these conditions.
Advanced care management. A significant amount of health care expenditures are for services consumed by a small percent of our members who
suffer from complex or chronic illnesses. We have developed a series of programs aimed at helping our network physicians better manage and improve the
health of these members. Often, these programs provide benefits for home care services and other support to reduce the need for repeated, expensive
hospitalizations.

Formulary management. We have developed formularies, which are selections of drugs based on clinical quality and effectiveness. A pharmacy and
therapeutics committee uses scientific and clinical evidence to assure that our members have access to the appropriate therapies.
Medical policy. A medical policy group comprised of physician leaders from all of our geographic regions, working in close cooperation with
academic medical centers, practicing community physicians, and medical specialty organizations such as the American College of Radiology and national
organizations such as the Centers for Disease Control and the American Cancer Society determines our national policy for the application of new technologies.

Quality programs. We are actively engaged with our hospital networks to enable them to improve medical and surgical care and achieve better
outcomes for our members. We endorse, encourage and incent hospitals to support national initiatives to improve clinical care, patient outcomes and reduce
medication errors and hospital infections. We have been recognized as a national leader in developing hospital quality programs.
External review procedures. In light of public concerns about health plans denying coverage of medical services, we work with outside experts
through a process of external review to provide our members scientifically and clinically, evidenced-based medical care. When we receive member concerns, we
have formal appeals procedures that ultimately allow coverage disputes related to medical necessity decisions under the benefits contract to be settled by
independent expert physicians.
Service management. In HMO and POS networks, primary care physicians serve as the overall coordinators of members’ health care needs by
providing an array of preventive health services and overseeing referrals to specialists for appropriate medical care. In PPO networks, patients have access to
network physicians without a primary care physician serving as the coordinator of care.

Health Care Quality Initiatives
Increasingly, the health care industry is able to define quality health care based on preventive health measurements, outcomes of care and optimal care
management for chronic disease. A key to our success has been our ability to work with our network physicians and hospitals to improve the quality and
outcomes of the health care services provided to our members. Our ability to promote quality medical care has been recognized by the National Committee on
Quality Assurance, or NCQA, the largest and most respected national accreditation program for managed care health plans.
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A range of quality health care measures, including the Health Plan Employer Data and Information Set, or HEDIS, has been incorporated into the
oversight certification by NCQA. HEDIS measures range from preventive services, such as screening mammography and pediatric immunization, to elements
of care, including decreasing the complications of diabetes and improving treatment for patients with heart disease. For the HMO and POS plans, NCQA’s
highest accreditation is granted only to those plans that demonstrate levels of service and clinical quality that meet or exceed NCQA’s rigorous requirements for
consumer protection and quality improvement. Plans earning this accreditation level must also achieve HEDIS results that are in the highest range of national
or regional performance. For the PPO plans, NCQA’s highest accreditation is granted to those plans that have excellent programs for quality improvement and
consumer protection and that meet or exceed NCQA’s standards.

In addition, we have initiated a broad array of quality programs, including those built around smoking cessation and transplant management, and
increasingly effective hospital and physician quality initiatives centered on women’s health care, diabetes and patient safety.
Pricing and Underwriting of Our Products

We price our products based on our assessment of underwriting risk, administrative expenses and competitive factors. We continually review our
product designs, underwriting and pricing guidelines on a national and regional basis so that our products remain competitive and consistent with our
marketing strategies and profitability goals.

We have focused our efforts to maintain consistent, competitive and strict underwriting standards. Our individual and group underwriting targets have
been based on our proprietary accumulated actuarial data. Subject to applicable legal constraints, we have traditionally employed case specific underwriting
procedures for small group products and traditional group underwriting procedures with respect to large group products. Also, we employ credit underwriting
procedures with respect to our self-funded products.
In most circumstances, our pricing and underwriting decisions follow a prospective rating process. A fixed premium rate is determined at the beginning
of the policy period. Unanticipated increases in medical costs may not be able to be recovered in that current policy year. However, prior experience, in the
aggregate, is considered in determining premium rates for future periods.
For larger groups (over 300 persons) with PPO, POS or traditional benefit designs, we may employ retrospective rating reviews. In retrospective rating, a
premium rate is determined at the beginning of the policy period. Once the policy period has ended, the actual experience is reviewed. If the experience is
positive (i.e., actual claim costs and other expenses are less than those expected), then a refund may be credited to the policy. If the experience is negative, then
the resulting deficit may either be recovered through contractual provisions or the deficit may be considered in setting future premium levels for the group.
We have contracts with CMS to provide HMO Medicare Advantage coverage to Medicare beneficiaries who choose health care coverage through one of
our HMO programs in certain geographic regions. Under these annual contracts, CMS pays us a set rate based on membership that is adjusted for
demographic factors. These rates are subject to annual unilateral revision by CMS. In addition to premiums received from CMS, most of the Medicare
products offered by us require a supplemental premium to be paid by the member.

See “Regulation—Small Group Reform” below for a discussion of certain regulatory restrictions on our underwriting and pricing.

Investments
At December 31, 2004, we held investment securities with an estimated fair value of $13.6 billion. Our investment portfolio is subject to credit risk,
interest rate risk and market valuation risk. We manage these risks by establishing credit quality limitations as well as dollar limits of individual issuers.
Approximately 91% of our
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current investments were debt securities, of which approximately 44% included corporate securities. The average credit rating of our corporate fixed maturity
portfolio at December 31, 2004 was approximately AA. We evaluate our investment securities on a continuous basis, using both quantitative and qualitative
factors, to determine whether a decline in value is other-than-temporary. This review is subjective and requires a high degree of judgment. We believe we have
adequately reviewed our investments for impairment and that our investment securities are carried at fair value. For additional information, see the Critical
Accounting Policies and Estimates Section of the Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, Quantitative and
Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk - Investments, and Note 5 to our audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2004
included in this Form 10-K.

Liability for Medical Claims Payable
We establish and report liabilities or reserves on our balance sheet for medical claims payable by estimating the ultimate cost of incurred claims that
have not yet been reported to us by members or providers and reported claims that have not yet been paid. The amounts recorded represent our estimates and
the process requires a high degree of judgment. Reserves are established according to Actuarial Standards of Practice and generally accepted actuarial principles
and are based on a number of factors. Due to the variability inherent in these assumptions, reserve estimates are sensitive to changes in medical claims
payment patterns and changes in medical cost trends. Adjustments to claims liabilities occur each quarter and are sometimes significant as compared to net
income recorded in that quarter. As of December 31, 2004, the amount in these liability accounts was $4.2 billion. For additional information, see the Critical
Accounting Policies and Estimates section of the Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and Note 10 to our
consolidated audited financial statements included in this Form 10-K.

Debt
We had approximately $4.3 billion of long-term debt outstanding as of December 31, 2004, an increase of approximately $2.6 billion from year end
2003, primarily a result of funding the WHN merger. Our debt-to-total capital ratio was 18.5% at December 31, 2004, as compared to 21.7% as of December
31, 2003. Our senior debt is rated “BBB+” by Standard & Poor’s, “A-” by Fitch, Inc., “Baa1” by Moody’s Investor Service, Inc. and “a-” by AM Best
Company, Inc. We intend to maintain our senior debt investment grade ratings.

BCBSA License
We have filed for registration of and maintain several service marks, trademarks and trade names at the federal level and in various states in which we
operate. We have the exclusive right the use the BCBS names and marks for our health benefits products in California (Blue Cross only), Colorado,
Connecticut, Georgia, Indiana, Kentucky, Maine, Missouri (excluding 30 counties in the Kansas City area), Nevada, New Hampshire, Ohio, Virginia
(excluding the Northern Virginia suburbs of Washington, D.C.), and Wisconsin.
Each license requires an annual fee to be paid to the BCBSA. The fee is based upon enrollment and premium. BCBSA is a national trade association of
Blue Cross and Blue Shield licensees, the primary function of which is to promote and preserve the integrity of the BCBS names and marks, as well as
provide certain coordination among the member companies. Each BCBSA licensee is an independent legal organization and is not responsible for obligations
of other BCBSA member organizations. We have no right to market products and services using the BCBS names and marks outside of our core states.

We believe that the BCBS names and marks are valuable identifiers of our products and services in the marketplace. The license agreements, which
have a perpetual term, contain certain requirements and restrictions regarding our operations and our use of the BCBS names and marks. Upon termination of
the license agreements, we would cease to have the right to use the BCBS names and marks in one or more of the states that we are authorized to use the marks
and the BCBSA could thereafter issue a license to use the BCBS names and marks in
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these states to another entity. Events that could cause the termination of a license agreement with the BCBSA include failure to comply with minimum capital
requirements, a change of control or violation of the BCBSA ownership limits on our capital stock, impending financial insolvency, the appointment of a
trustee or receiver or the commencement of any action against a licensee seeking its dissolution.

The license agreements with the BCBSA contain certain requirements and restrictions regarding our operations and our use of the BCBS names and
marks, including:

•

minimum capital and liquidity requirements;

•

enrollment and customer service performance requirements;

•

participation in programs that provide portability of membership between plans;

•

disclosure to the BCBSA relating to enrollment and financial conditions;

•

disclosures as to the structure of the BCBS system in contracts with third parties and in public statements;

•

plan governance requirements;

•

a requirement that at least 80% (or, in the case of Blue Cross of California, substantially all) of a licensee’s annual combined net revenue
attributable to health benefit plans within its service area must be sold, marketed, administered or underwritten under the BCBS names and

marks;
•

a requirement that neither a plan nor any of its licensed affiliates may permit an entity other than a plan or a licensed affiliate to obtain control of
the plan or the licensed affiliate or to acquire a substantial portion of its assets related to licensable services;

•

a requirement that we guarantee the contractual and financial obligations of our licensed affiliates; and

•

a requirement that we indemnify the BCBSA against any claims asserted against us resulting from the contractual and financial obligations of
any subsidiary that serves as a fiscal intermediary providing administrative services for Medicare Parts A and B.

We believe that we and our licensed affiliates are currently in compliance with these standards. The standards under the license agreements may be
modified in certain instances by the BCBSA.

Regulation

General
Our operations are subject to comprehensive and detailed state and federal regulation throughout the United States in the jurisdictions in which we do
business. Supervisory agencies, including state health, insurance and corporation departments, have broad authority to:

•

grant, suspend and revoke licenses to transact business;

•

regulate many aspects of our products and services;

•

monitor our solvency and reserve adequacy; and

•

scrutinize our investment activities on the basis of quality, diversification and other quantitative criteria.

To carry out these tasks, these regulators periodically examine our operations and accounts.
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Regulation of Insurance Company and HMO Business Activity
The federal government, as well as the governments of the states in which we conduct our operations, have adopted laws and regulations that govern our
business activities in various ways. These laws and regulations, which vary significantly by state, may restrict how we conduct our businesses and may
result in additional burdens and costs to us. Areas of governmental regulation include but are not limited to:

•

licensure;

•

premium rates;

•

benefits;

•

service areas;

•

market conduct;

•

utilization review activities;

•

prompt payment of claims;

•

universal health care regulation based on the availability to individuals and small groups of a government sponsored health plan administered by
a private contractor and funded by increased premium taxes;

•

assessments for state run immunization programs;

•

requirements that pharmacy benefit managers pass manufacturers’ rebates to customers;

•

member rights and responsibilities;

•

sales and marketing activities;

•

quality assurance procedures;

•

plan design and disclosures;

•

collection, access or use of protected health information;

•

eligibility requirements;

•

provider rates of payment;

•

surcharges on provider payments;

•

provider contract forms;

•

provider access standards;

•

premium taxes and assessments for the uninsured and / or underinsured;

•

underwriting, marketing and rating restrictions for small group products;

•

member and provider complaints and appeals;

•

underwriting and pricing;

•

financial arrangements;

•

financial condition (including reserves); and

•

corporate governance.

These laws and regulations are subject to amendments and changing interpretations in each jurisdiction.
States generally require health insurers and HMOs to obtain a certificate of authority prior to commencing operations. If we were to establish a health
insurance company or an HMO in any state where we do not
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presently operate, we generally would have to obtain such a certificate. The time necessary to obtain such a certificate varies from state to state. Each health
insurer and HMO must file periodic financial and operating reports with the states in which it does business. In addition, health insurers and HMOs are
subject to state examination and periodic license renewal.
There has been a recent trend of increased health care regulation at the federal and state levels. Proposed actions and legislation, regulation and initiatives
relating to this trend include, among other things, the following:

•

eliminating or reducing the scope of ERISA pre-emption of state medical and bad faith claims under state law, thereby exposing health benefits
companies to expanded liability for punitive and other extra-contractual damages;

•

requiring an insurer to pay claims during grace periods irrespective of whether a premium is ultimately paid;

•

extending malpractice and other liability for medical and other decisions from providers to health plans;

•

imposing liability for negligent denials or delays in coverage;

•

requiring

•

coverage of experimental procedures and drugs,

•

direct access to specialists for patients with chronic conditions,

•

direct access to specialists (including OB/GYNs) and chiropractors,

•

direct payment of certain providers (whether or not such providers are participants, e.g., ambulance providers),

•

expanded consumer disclosures and notices and expanded coverage for emergency services,

•

liberalized definitions of medical necessity ,

•

liberalized internal and external grievance and appeal procedures (including expedited decision making),

•

point of service benefits for HMO plans, and

•

payment of claims within specified time frames or payment of interest on claims that are not paid within those time frames;

•

prohibiting

•

so-called “gag” and similar clauses in physician agreements ,

•

incentives based on utilization, and

•

limitations of arrangements designed to manage medical costs such as capitalized arrangements with providers or provider financial
incentives;

•

regulating and restricting the use of utilization management and review;

•

restricting our ability to recover overpayments from health care providers;

•

restricting health plans’ use of different fee schedules for different types of health care providers;

•

regulating and monitoring the composition of provider networks, such as “any willing provider” and pharmacy laws (which generally provide
that providers and pharmacies cannot be denied participation in a managed care plan where the providers and pharmacies are willing to abide by
the terms and the conditions of that plan);

•

imposing payment levels for out-of-network care and restricting the application of lifetime benefit limitations and other limits to mental health
benefits with parity;
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•

exempting physicians from the antitrust laws that prohibit price fixing, group boycotts and other horizontal restraints on competition;

•

restricting the use of health plan claims information;

•

restricting the ability to refuse to honor assignment of benefits made so that non-network providers can be paid directly;

•

regulating procedures that protect the confidentiality of health and financial information;

•

implementation of a state-run single payer system;

•

imposing third-party review of denials of benefits (including denials based on a lack of medical necessity);

•

allowing entry of Multiple Employer Welfare Associations and Association Health Plans into group markets without regulation comparable to
regulation of insurers;

•

limiting an insurer’s withdrawal from and reentry to market segments; and

•

restricting or eliminating the use of formularies for prescription drugs.

The health benefits business also may be adversely impacted by court and regulatory decisions that expand the interpretations of existing statutes and
regulations. It is uncertain whether we can recoup, through higher premiums or other measures, the increased costs of mandated benefits or other increased
costs caused by potential legislation or regulation.
In connection with the WHN merger, certain of our subsidiaries in California and Georgia executed undertakings with the California Department of
Managed Health Care, the California Department of Insurance and the Georgia Department of Insurance which contained various commitments, including the
commitment to provide $61.5 million of support for health benefit programs in those states. Additional undertakings include the requirement to maintain
certain capital levels at those subsidiaries.

Small Group Reform
All of the principal states in which we do business have enacted statutes that limit the flexibility of us and other health insurers relative to their small
group underwriting and rating practices. Commonly referred to as “small group reform” statutes, these laws are generally consistent with model laws originally
introduced by the National Association of Insurance Commissioners, or NAIC.
The NAIC’s Small Group Health Insurance Availability Model Act is a model law that limits the differentials in rates carriers can charge between new
business and health insurance renewal business, and with respect to small groups with similar demographic characteristics (commonly referred to as a “rating
law”). It also requires that insurers disclose to customers the basis on which the insurer establishes new business and renewal rates, restricts the applicability
of pre-existing condition exclusions and prohibits an insurer from terminating coverage of an employer group because of the adverse claims experience of that
group. The model law provides for a voluntary reinsurance mechanism to spread the risk of high risk employees among all small group carriers participating
in the reinsurance mechanism. Our representatives actively participated in the committees of the NAIC, which drafted and proposed this model law. NAIC
model laws are not applicable to the industry until adopted by individual states, and there is significant variation in the degree to which states adopt and/or
alter NAIC model laws. Some, if not all, of these rating and underwriting limitations are present in small group reform statutes currently adopted in all of the
principal states in which we do business.

Underwriting Limitations. In the past, insurance companies were free to select and reject risks based on a number of factors, including the medical
condition of the person seeking to become insured. Small group health insurers were free to accept some employees and reject other employees for coverage
within one employer group. An insurance company was also free to exclude from coverage medical conditions existing within a group which
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the insurance company believed represented an unacceptable risk level. Also, for the most part, insurance companies were free to cancel coverage of a group
due to the medical conditions which were present in that group. Additionally, a new employee seeking medical coverage under an existing group plan could be
either accepted or rejected for coverage, or could have coverage excluded or delayed for existing medical conditions.

The small group health insurance reform laws limit or abolish a number of these commonly utilized practices to address a societal need to extend
availability of insurance coverage more broadly to those who were previously not eligible for coverage.

Rating Limitations. Prior to the adoption of state rate reform laws, there was very limited regulation of the rating practices used in the small group
health insurance market. There was virtually no regulation of the amount by which one group’s rate could vary from that of a demographically similar group
with different claims experience, and there was no statutorily placed limit on the extent and frequency of rate increases that could be applied to any one
employer group.
All of the principal states in which we do business have enacted rating laws. These laws are designed to reduce the variation in rates charged to insured
groups who have favorable and unfavorable claims experience. They also limit the extent and frequency of rate increases. A common rate reform regulation is a
pure community rating requirement, pursuant to which all persons in a geographic region would receive the same rate for the same coverage as any other
person, without consideration of demographic factors such as age, gender, geographic location, medical risk or occupation. Most existing rating laws also
impose a limit on the extent and frequency of a group’s rate increases. At least one state has enacted small group rate regulation that requires the carrier to
choose between detailed rate review similar to the review of individual rates or acceptance of minimum loss ratio requirements.

Small Group Statutory Reinsurance Mechanisms
At this time, our Connecticut and New Hampshire plans are subject to involuntary assessments from small group reinsurance mechanisms within these
states. Our plan in New Hampshire is subject to two risk sharing mechanisms. One is an assessment to fund a newly created high risk pool in the individual
market. Our New Hampshire plan is also subject to a soon to lapse assessment mechanism to contribute an amount sufficient to cover the expenses and losses
of writers of individual products. These mechanisms are designed to provide risk-spreading mechanisms for insurers doing business in jurisdictions that
mandate that health insurance be issued on a guarantee issue basis. Guarantee issue requirements increase underwriting risk for insurers by forcing them to
accept higher-risk business than they would normally accept. This reinsurance mechanism allows the insurer to cede this high-risk business to the
reinsurance facility, thus sharing the underwriting experience with all insurers in the state. Connecticut and New Hampshire statutes subject insurance
companies doing business in those jurisdictions to assessments to fund losses from the reinsurance mechanisms. Indiana, Ohio and Nevada statutes provide
voluntary reinsurance mechanisms in which the assessment is against only those carriers electing to participate in the reinsurance mechanism. We have elected
not to participate in these voluntary reinsurance mechanisms in Indiana and Ohio; however, we do participate in Nevada. Kentucky, Colorado, Maine and
Virginia do not have a small group reinsurance mechanism.
We also offer Medicare Advantage plans and Medicare approved drug discount cards in certain geographic regions. Our Medicare Advantage plans
provide Medicare beneficiaries with a managed care alternative to traditional Medicare. Our Medicare approved drug discount cards affords Medicare
beneficiaries, without prescription drug coverage, access to our drug discounts.

Medicare Changes
In 1997, the federal government passed legislation related to Medicare that changed the method for determining premiums that the government pays to
HMOs for Medicare members. In general, the new method has reduced the premiums payable to us compared to the old method, although the level and extent
of the
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reductions varies by geographic market and depends on other factors. The legislation also requires us to pay a “user fee.” The changes began to be phased in
on January 1, 1998 and continued over five years. The federal government also announced in 1999 that it planned to begin to phase in risk adjustments to
its premium payments over a five-year period commencing January 1, 2000. While we cannot predict exactly what effect these Medicare reforms will have on
our results of operations, we anticipate that the net impact of the risk adjustments will be to reduce the premiums payable to us.
The Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 became law in December 2003 and expanded Medicare, primarily adding
a prescription drug benefit for Medicare-eligible retirees starting in 2006.

HIPAA and Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act
The federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, or HIPAA and its regulations, like other small group health insurance laws,
impose obligations for issuers of health insurance coverage and health benefit plan sponsors. This law requires guaranteed health care coverage for small
employers having 2 to 50 employees and for individuals who meet certain eligibility requirements. It also requires guaranteed renewability of health care
coverage for most employers and individuals. The law limits exclusions based on preexisting conditions for individuals covered under group policies to the
extent the individuals had prior creditable coverage, and the gap between the prior coverage and the new coverage cannot exceed certain time frames.
In addition to the portability component of HIPAA, HIPAA authorized the Secretary of the United States Department of Health and Human Services,
known as HHS, to issue standards for administrative simplification, as well as privacy and security of medical records and other individually identifiable
patient data. HIPAA requirements apply to health care providers that transmit health information in electronic form in connection with a HIPAA Standard
Transaction, as well as to health plans (including insurers and HMOs) and health care clearinghouses (collectively referred to as “Covered Entities”). Privacy
and Security Regulations adopted to implement HIPAA also require that Covered Entities obligate their business associates to follow HIPAA standards.

Although HIPAA was intended ultimately to reduce administrative expenses and burdens faced within the health care industry, we believe the law has
initially brought about significant and, in some cases, costly changes. HHS has released three rules to date mandating the use of new standards with respect to
certain health care transactions, including health information. The first rule requires the use of uniform standards for common electronic health care
transactions, including health care claims information, plan eligibility, referral certification and authorization, claims status, plan enrollment and
disenrollment, payment and remittance advice, plan premium payments and coordination of benefits, and it establishes standards for the use of electronic
signatures. The new transaction standards became effective in October 2000. Originally, almost all Covered Entities were required to comply with these
standards by October 16, 2002. However, legislation was enacted in December 2001 giving Covered Entities the option of extending their compliance date to
October 16, 2003, provided that a filing was made with HHS prior to October 16, 2002. We took advantage of the extension and met our compliance
obligations by October 16, 2003. Another rule established a standard for a unique employer identifier to be used in covered electronic transactions. This rule
became effective in July 2002. Most Covered Entities were required to comply with this rule by July 30, 2004 and we met our compliance obligation on or
before that date. A third rule establishes a national provider identifier to be used in covered electronic transactions. This rule becomes effective in May 2005.
Most Covered Entities are required to comply with this rule by May 23, 2007. Additional standard transactions, such as claim attachment standards, are
currently under development by HHS.

HHS also has developed new standards relating to the privacy of individually identifiable health information or protected health information. In general,
these regulations restrict the use and disclosure of medical records and other individually identifiable health information held or disclosed by Covered Entities
in any form, whether communicated electronically, on paper or orally, subject only to limited exceptions. In addition, the regulations
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provide patients with some significant new rights to understand and control how their health information is used, and imposed a number of administrative
requirements on Covered Entities. These regulations do not preempt more stringent state laws and regulations that may apply to us. Most Covered Entities were
required to comply with Privacy Regulations by April 14, 2003 (small health plans were given an additional year to comply). We complied timely with the
privacy standards. HHS also issued Security Regulations containing standards that established administrative, physical and technical safeguards to ensure
the confidentiality, integrity and availability of electronic protected health information that a covered entity creates, receives, maintains or transmits, protects
against any reasonably anticipated threats or hazards to the security or integrity of such information, and protects against any reasonably anticipated uses or
disclosures of such information that are not permitted or required under the Privacy Regulation. Most Covered Entities must comply with the Security
Regulations by April 20, 2005, and we expect to be in compliance on or before that date.
Other federal legislation includes the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act, which generally placed restrictions on the disclosure of non-public information to nonaffiliated third parties, and required financial institutions including insurers, to provide customers with notice regarding how their non-public personal
information is used, including an opportunity to “opt out” of certain disclosures. The federal law required state departments of insurance, and certain federal
agencies, to adopt implementing regulations, and as such, there has been a great deal of activity at the state and federal level. The Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act also
gives banks and other financial institutions the ability to affiliate with insurance companies, which may lead to new competitors in the insurance and health
benefits fields.

Investment and Retirement Products and Services
We are subject to regulation on investment and retirement products and services by various government agencies where we conduct business, including
the insurance departments of California, Colorado, Connecticut, Delaware, Georgia, Illinois, Indiana, Kentucky, Maine, Missouri, Nevada, New
Hampshire, Ohio, Puerto Rico, Texas, Virginia, and Wisconsin. Among other matters, these agencies may regulate premium rates, trade practices, agent
licensing, policy forms, underwriting and claims practices, the maximum interest rates that can be charged on life insurance policy loans, and the minimum
rates that must be provided for accumulation of surrender value.

ERISA
The provision of services to certain employee welfare benefit plans is subject to the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, or
ERISA, a complex set of laws and regulations subject to interpretation and enforcement by the Internal Revenue Service and the Department of Labor, or DOL.
ERISA regulates certain aspects of the relationships between us, the employers who maintain employee welfare benefit plans subject to ERISA and participants
in such plans. Some of our administrative services and other activities may also be subject to regulation under ERISA. In addition, some states require
licensure or registration of companies providing third party claims administration services for benefit plans. We provide a variety of products and services to
employee welfare benefit plans that are covered by ERISA.
ERISA prevents ERISA welfare benefit plans from being subject to certain state laws. However, ERISA does not prevent the application of state laws
that regulate the business of insurance. The question of whether a state law regulates the business of insurance remains open to interpretation by the courts. In
2002, the United States Supreme Court held that insured health plans provided to employers under ERISA must still comply with state insurance laws which
give patients the right to independent external review of medical coverage decisions. Recently, the United States Supreme Court unanimously held that ERISA
preempted state law claims against insurers that conflicted with ERISA civil enforcement remedies where insurers use medical judgment to decide a contractual
benefit under a welfare benefit plan. This decision settles some open issues regarding ERISA preemption of state laws; however, it is too soon to tell what
impact, if any, there will be on our business. The United States Supreme Court has also held that a state’s any willing provider law applies to insured ERISA

plans.
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In 2001, the DOL promulgated regulations under ERISA setting out standards for claim payment and member appeals along with associated notice and
disclosure requirements. These rules became effective for employers with plan years beginning on or after January 1, 2002 for disability plans and July 1,
2002 for health plans.

HMO and Insurance Holding Company Laws
We are regulated as an insurance holding company and are subject to the insurance holding company acts of the states in which our subsidiaries are
domiciled. These acts contain certain reporting requirements as well as restrictions on transactions between an insurer or HMO and its affiliates. These holding
company laws and regulations generally require insurance companies and HMOs within an insurance holding company system to register with the insurance
department of each state where they are domiciled and to file with those states’ insurance departments certain reports describing capital structure, ownership,
financial condition, certain intercompany transactions and general business operations. In addition, various notice and reporting requirements generally apply
to transactions between insurance companies and HMOs and their affiliates within an insurance holding company system, depending on the size and nature of
the transactions. Some insurance holding company laws and regulations require prior regulatory approval or, in certain circumstances, prior notice of certain
material intercompany transfers of assets as well as certain transactions between insurance companies, HMOs, their parent holding companies and affiliates.
Additionally, the holding company acts for the states of domicile of our regulated subsidiaries restrict the ability of any person to obtain control of an
insurance company or HMO without prior regulatory approval. Under those statutes, without such approval (or an exemption), no person may acquire any
voting security of an insurance holding company which controls an insurance company or HMO, or merge with such a holding company, if as a result of
such transaction such person would “control” the insurance holding company. “Control” is generally defined as the direct or indirect power to direct or cause
the direction of the management and policies of a person and is presumed to exist if a person directly or indirectly owns or controls 10% or more of the voting
securities of another person.

Guaranty Fund Assessments
Under insolvency or guaranty association laws in most states, insurance companies can be assessed for amounts paid by guaranty funds for
policyholder losses incurred when an insurance company becomes insolvent. Most state insolvency or guaranty association laws currently provide for
assessments based upon the amount of premiums received on insurance underwritten within such state (with a minimum amount payable even if no premium
is received). Substantially all of our premiums are currently derived from insurance underwritten in the states of California, Colorado, Connecticut, Georgia,
Indiana, Kentucky, Maine, Missouri, Nevada, New Hampshire, Ohio, Virginia and Wisconsin.
Under many of these guaranty association laws, assessments against insurance companies that issue policies of accident or sickness insurance are
made retrospectively and are based (up to prescribed percentage of premium limits) upon the ratio of (i) the insurance company’s premiums received in the
applicable state over the previous three calendar years on accident and sickness insurance to (ii) the aggregate amount of premiums received by all assessed
member insurance companies over such three calendar years on accident and sickness insurance. The guaranty fund assessments made under these acts are
administered by the state’s guaranty association, which has its own board of directors selected by member insurers with the approval of the state insurance
department. In general, an assessment may be abated or deferred by the guaranty association if, in the opinion of the board of the guaranty association,
payment would endanger the ability of the member to fulfill its contractual obligations. The other member insurers, however, may be assessed for the amount
of such abatement or deferral. All or a portion of such assessment paid by a member insurance company may be offset against its premium tax liability to the
state in question over a multiple year period (generally five to 10 years) following the year in which the assessment was paid. The amount and timing of any
future assessments, however, cannot be reasonably estimated and are beyond our control.
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While the amount of any assessments applicable to life and health guaranty funds cannot be predicted with certainty, we believe that future guaranty
association assessments for insurer insolvencies will not have a material adverse effect on our liquidity and capital resources.

Risk-Based Capital Requirements
The states of domicile of our regulated subsidiaries have statutory risk-based capital, or RBC, requirements for health and other insurance companies
based on the RBC Model Act. These RBC requirements are intended to assess the capital adequacy of life and health insurers, taking into account the risk
characteristics of an insurer’s investments and products. The RBC Model Act sets forth the formula for calculating the RBC requirements which are designed
to take into account asset risks, insurance risks, interest rate risks and other relevant risks with respect to an individual insurance company’s business. In
general, under these laws, an insurance company must submit a report of its RBC level to the insurance department or insurance commissioner of its state of
domicile for each calendar year.
The RBC Model Act provides for four different levels of regulatory attention depending on the ratio of a company’s total adjusted capital (defined as the
total of its statutory capital, surplus and asset valuation reserve) to its risk-based capital. The “Company Action Level” is triggered if a company’s total
adjusted capital is less than 200 percent but greater than or equal to 150 percent of its risk-based capital. At the “Company Action Level”, a company must
submit a comprehensive plan to the regulatory authority which discusses proposed corrective actions to improve its capital position. A company whose total
adjusted capital is between 250 percent and 200 percent of its risk-based capital is subject to a trend test. The trend test calculates the greater of any decrease in
the margin (i.e., the amount in dollars by which a company’s adjusted capital exceeds its risk-based capital) between the current year and the prior year and
between the current year and the average of the past three years, and assumes that the decrease could occur again in the coming year. If a similar decrease in
margin in the coming year would result in a risk-based capital ratio of less than 190 percent, then “Company Action Level” regulatory action would be
triggered. The “Regulatory Action Level” is triggered if a company’s total adjusted capital is less than 150 percent but greater than or equal to 100 percent of its
risk-based capital. At the “Regulatory Action Level”, the regulatory authority will perform a special examination of the company and issue an order specifying
corrective actions that must be followed. The “Authorized Control Level” is triggered if a company’s total adjusted capital is less than 100 percent but greater
than or equal to 70 percent of its risk-based capital, at which level the regulatory authority may take any action it deems necessary, including placing the
company under regulatory control. The “Mandatory Control Level” is triggered if a company’s total adjusted capital is less than 70 percent of its risk-based
capital, at which level the regulatory authority is mandated to place the company under its control.

The law requires increasing degrees of regulatory oversight and intervention as an insurance company’s RBC declines. The level of regulatory oversight
ranges from requiring the insurance company to inform and obtain approval from the domiciling insurance commissioner of a comprehensive financial plan
for increasing its RBC, to mandatory regulatory intervention requiring an insurance company to be placed under regulatory control in a rehabilitation or
liquidation proceeding. As of December 31, 2004, the RBC levels of our insurance subsidiaries exceeded all RBC thresholds.

NAIC IRIS Ratios
The NAIC requires review of financial relationships or “tests” called the Insurance Regulatory Information System, or IRIS, that were designed for early
identification of companies that may require special attention by insurance regulatory authorities. Insurance companies submit statutory financial data on an
annual basis to the NAIC, which in turn analyzes the data using ratios covering eleven categories of data with defined “usual ranges” for each category. An
insurance company may fall out of the usual range for one or more ratios because of specific transactions or events that are, in and of themselves, immaterial.
Generally, an insurance company will become subject to regulatory scrutiny if its IRIS results fall outside of the usual ranges on four or more of
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the ratios. If a company is outside the ranges on four or more of the ratios, a written explanation is prepared and sent to regulators. None of our insurance
subsidiaries is currently subject to regulatory scrutiny based on IRIS ratios.

Employees
At December 31, 2004, we had approximately 38,000 persons employed on a full-time basis. As of December 31, 2004, a small portion of employees
were covered by collective bargaining agreements: approximately 143 employees in the Sacramento, California area with the Office and Professional Employees
International Union, Local 29; approximately 169 employees in the greater Detroit, Michigan area with the International Brotherhood of Teamsters,
Chauffeurs, Warehousemen and Helpers of America, Local No. 614; and approximately 190 employees in Milwaukee, Wisconsin with the Office and
Professional Employees International Union, Local 9. Our employees are an important asset, and we seek to develop them to their full potential. We believe that
our relationship with our employees is good.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES.
Our principal executive offices are located at 120 Monument Circle, Indianapolis, Indiana. In addition to this property, following the merger with
WellPoint Health Networks Inc., we have offices located at 1 WellPoint Way, Thousand Oaks, California that house certain corporate and specialty services.
These properties are being leased. In addition, in order to conduct our operations, which have expanded nationally due to our mergers and acquisitions, we
lease or own offices in various other locations, including the greater Los Angeles, California area; Denver, Colorado; North Haven, Connecticut; Atlanta and
Columbus, Georgia; Manchester, New Hampshire; the greater Chicago, Illinois area; Indianapolis, Indiana; Louisville, Kentucky; South Portland, Maine;
Charlestown and Andover, Massachusetts; Dearborn, Michigan; St. Louis, Missouri; Mason/Cincinnati, Ohio; Worthington/Columbus, Ohio; Houston and
Plano, Texas; Richmond, Virginia and Milwaukee, Wisconsin. We believe that our properties are adequate and suitable for our business as presently
conducted.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS.
Litigation
In May 2000, a case titled California Medical Association vs. Blue Cross of California, et. al., was filed in U.S. district court in San Francisco
against Blue Cross of California (“BCC”), one of WHN’s subsidiaries. The lawsuit alleges that BCC violated the Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt
Organizations Act (“RICO”) (the “CMA Litigation”).

In August 2000, WHN was added as a party to Shane v. Humana, et al., a class-action lawsuit brought on behalf of health care providers nationwide
alleging RICO violations (the “ Shane Litigation ”). Effective November 30, 2004, WHN merged with Anthem Holding Corp., a wholly owned subsidiary of
the Company.
In October 2000, the federal Judicial Panel on Multidistrict Litigation (“MDL”) issued an order consolidating the CMA Litigation, the Shane lawsuit and
various other pending managed care class-action lawsuits against other companies before District Court Judge Federico Moreno in the Southern District of
Florida for purposes of pretrial proceedings (hereinafter collectively “ MDL Cases”). A mediator has been appointed by Judge Moreno and the parties are
currently conducting court-ordered mediation. On December 9, 2004, Judge Moreno issued a new scheduling order extending the expert discovery deadline to
February 7, 2005 and setting trial for September 6, 2005. On February 11, 2005, the District Court issued an order bifurcating the trial, holding that liability
would be determined first, and damages would be tried after liability, if necessary.

On September 26, 2002, the Company was added as a defendant to the Shane Litigation .
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On May 8, 2003, in a case titled Dr. Allen Knecht, et al., v. Cigna, et al., several chiropractors filed a purported class action in federal district court in
Portland, Oregon, naming the Company and WHN, as well as several commercial insurers. This suit alleges that the defendants violated RICO and challenges
many of the same practices in regards to chiropractors as other suits in the MDL Cases. This case has been transferred to the MDL docket and is now
assigned to Judge Moreno in Miami. This case has been stayed as a tag-along case to the MDL Cases.

On May 22, 2003, in a case titled Kenneth Thomas, M.D., et al., v. Blue Cross Blue Shield Association, et al. , several medical providers filed suit in
federal district court in Miami, Florida against the Blue Cross Blue Shield Association and Blue Cross and Blue Shield plans across the country, including
the Company. The suit alleges that the BCBS Association and the BCBS Plans violated RICO and challenges many of the same practices as other suits in the
MDL Cases. This case has been assigned to Judge Moreno in Miami. Plaintiffs filed a motion for class certification and the defendants have filed motions to
dismiss and motions to compel arbitration. All motions are currently pending before Judge Moreno.
On October 17, 2003, in a case titled Jeffrey Solomon, D.C., et al., v. Cigna, et al., several chiropractors and a podiatrist, along with chiropractic and
podiatric associations, filed suit in federal district court in Miami, Florida, against ten managed care corporations, including the Company. The suit alleges
that the companies violated RICO and challenges many of the same practices as other suits in the MDL Cases. This case has been transferred to the MDL
docket and is now assigned to Judge Moreno in Miami. This case has been stayed as a tag-along case to the MDL Cases.
On November 4, 2003, in a case titled Jeffrey Solomon, D.C., et al., v. Blue Cross Blue Shield Association, et al. , several chiropractors, podiatrists, a
psychologist and a physical therapist, along with their professional corporations and trade associations, filed suit in federal district court in Miami, Florida
against the Blue Cross Blue Shield Association and Blue Cross and Blue Shield plans across the country, including the Company. The suit alleges that the
BCBS Association and the BCBS Plans violated RICO and challenges many of the same practices as other suits in the MDL Cases. This case has been
transferred to the MDL docket and is now assigned to Judge Moreno in Miami. Plaintiffs filed a motion for class certification and the defendants have filed
motions to dismiss and motions to compel arbitration. All motions are currently pending before Judge Moreno.

On February 23, 2004, in a case titled Richard Freiberg, et al., v. United Healthcare, Inc., et al., an acupuncturist and an association promoting
acupuncture filed suit in federal court in Miami, Florida against ten managed care corporations, including the Company. The complaint purports to be a class
action filed on behalf of all non-physician health care providers, and alleges that the companies involved violated RICO, and challenges many of the same
practices as other suits in the MDL Cases. This case has been transferred to the MDL docket and assigned to Judge Moreno. This case has been stayed as a
tag-along case to the MDL Cases.

On March 11, 1998, Anthem Insurance Companies, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, and its Ohio subsidiary, Community
Insurance Company (“CIC”) were named as defendants in a lawsuit, Robert Lee Dardinger, Executor of the Estate of Esther Louise Dardinger v. Anthem
Blue Cross and Blue Shield, et al. , filed in Newark, Ohio. The plaintiff sought compensatory damages and unspecified punitive damages in connection with
claims alleging wrongful death, bad faith and negligence arising out of CIC’s denial of certain claims for medical treatment for Ms. Dardinger. In December
2001, CIC paid $2.5 in compensatory damages for bad faith and $1,350 (actual dollars) for breach of contract, plus accrued interest. In March 2003,
Anthem Insurance and CIC paid punitive damages of $30.0 plus interest. Following the March 2003 payment and Satisfaction of Judgment, the Company
released pretax reserves of $24.5 to income, which resulted in an after tax benefit of $0.11 per diluted share for the year ended December 31, 2003.
On June 27, 2002, in a case titled Academy of Medicine of Cincinnati and Luis Pagani, M.D. v. Aetna Health, Inc., Humana Health Plan of Ohio,
Inc., Anthem Blue Cross and Blue Shield, and United Health Care of Ohio, Inc., No. A02004947 filed in the Court of Common Pleas, Hamilton County,
Ohio and a case titled Academy of Medicine of Cincinnati and A. Lee Greiner, M.D., Victor Schmelzer, M.D., and Karl S. Ulicny, Jr.,
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M.D. v. Aetna Health, Inc., Humana, Inc., Anthem Blue Cross and Blue Shield, and United Health Care, Inc., No. 02-CI-903 filed in the Boone County,
Kentucky Circuit Court, the Academy and certain physicians allege that the defendants acted in combination and collusion with one another to reduce the
reimbursement rates paid to physicians in the area and as a direct result of the defendants’ alleged anti-competitive actions, health care in the area has suffered,
namely that: there are fewer hospitals; physicians are rapidly leaving the area; medical practices are unable to hire new physicians; and, from the perspective
of the public, the availability of health care has been significantly reduced. Each suit seeks class certification, compensatory damages, attorneys’ fees, and
injunctive relief to prevent the alleged anti-competitive behavior against the class in the future. The Company is awaiting a decision from the Ohio Supreme
Court in connection with procedural motions filed by the defendants. Defendants are seeking a discretionary review with the Kentucky Supreme Court on
procedural motions, and filed their petition on February 10, 2005. These suits are in the preliminary stages.

On March 26, 2003, in a case titled Irwin v. AdvancePCS, et al. filed in the California Superior Court in Alameda County, California against Advance
PCS, WHN and certain of its wholly owned subsidiaries, the plaintiff alleges that the defendants violated California Business and Professions Code Section
17200 by engaging in unfair, fraudulent and unlawful business practices including, among other things, that pharmacy benefit management companies (such
as the Company’s subsidiary that does business under the tradename WellPoint Pharmacy Management) engage in unfair practices such as negotiating
discounts in prices of drugs from pharmacies and negotiating rebates from drug manufacturers and retaining such discounts and rebates for their own benefit.
On July 9, 2004, the court ordered that the case be resolved in arbitration.
The Company intends to vigorously defend all these proceedings; however, their ultimate outcomes cannot presently be determined.

Prior to the Company’s acquisition of the group benefit operations (“GBO”), John Hancock Mutual Life Insurance Company (“John Hancock”) entered
into a number of reinsurance arrangements with respect to personal accident insurance and the occupational accident component of workers’ compensation
insurance, a portion of which was originated through a pool managed by Unicover Managers, Inc. Under these arrangements, John Hancock assumed risks
as a reinsurer and transferred certain of such risks to other companies. These arrangements have become the subject of disputes, including a number of legal
proceedings to which John Hancock is a party. The Company is currently in arbitration with John Hancock regarding these arrangements. The Company
believes that it has a number of defenses to avoid any ultimate liability with respect to these matters and believes that such liabilities were not transferred to the
Company as part of the GBO acquisition. However, if the Company were to become subject to such liabilities, the Company could suffer losses that might
have a material adverse effect on its financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.
On October 28, 2003 a case titled Abrams v. WellPoint Health Networks Inc., et al., was filed in the Superior Court of Ventura County, California
against WHN and its board of directors alleging that WHN’s directors breached their fiduciary duties to stockholders by approving an Agreement and Plan of
Merger with the Company while in possession of non-public information regarding WHN’s financial results for the third quarter of 2003. The lawsuit sought
to enjoin WHN from consummating the merger with the Company, unless WHN adopted and implemented a process for obtaining the highest possible price
for stockholders, and to rescind any terms of the Agreement and Plan of Merger that have already been implemented. On May 7, 2004, WHN and the plaintiff
signed a memorandum of understanding regarding a potential settlement of the action, in which WHN agreed to provide certain additional disclosures on
several matters in the joint proxy statement/prospectus sent to WHN’s stockholders beyond those contained in the preliminary proxy statement/prospectus.
The settlement would also provide for the payment by WHN of $2.25 million to the plaintiff’s counsel for fees and costs (subject to court approval). No part
of the settlement costs will be paid by the WHN directors individually. The settlement would not involve any admissions of breaches of fiduciary duty or
other wrongdoing by WHN or any of its directors. The settlement and payment of the plaintiff’s counsel fees would be conditioned upon, among other things,
completion of the merger. The settlement agreement was presented to the Superior Court judge assigned to the matter, on January 11, 2005. The judge
preliminarily approved the settlement, and scheduled a hearing to consider final approval to take place on July 7, 2005.
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Other Contingencies

The Company serves as a fiscal intermediary for Medicare Parts A and B. The fiscal intermediaries for these programs receive reimbursement for
certain costs and expenditures, which is subject to adjustment upon audit by the Federal Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services, formerly the Health Care
Financing Administration. The laws and regulations governing fiscal intermediaries for the Medicare program are complex, subject to interpretation and can
expose an intermediary to penalties for non-compliance. Fiscal intermediaries may be subject to criminal fines, civil penalties or other sanctions as a result of
such audits or reviews. While the Company believes it is currently in compliance in all material respects with the regulations governing fiscal intermediaries,
there are ongoing reviews by the federal government of the Company’s activities under certain of its Medicare fiscal intermediary contracts.
From time to time, the Company and certain of its subsidiaries are parties to various legal proceedings, many of which involve claims for coverage
encountered in the ordinary course of business. The Company, like HMOs and health insurers generally, excludes certain health care services from coverage
under its HMO, PPO and other plans. The Company is, in its ordinary course of business, subject to the claims of its enrollees arising out of decisions to
restrict treatment or reimbursement for certain services. The loss of even one such claim, if it results in a significant punitive damage award, could have a
material adverse effect on the Company. In addition, the risk of potential liability under punitive damage theories may increase significantly the difficulty of
obtaining reasonable settlements of coverage claims.
In addition to the lawsuits described above, the Company is also involved in other pending and threatened litigation of the character incidental to the
business transacted, arising out of its insurance and investment operations, and is from time to time involved as a party in various governmental
investigations, audits, reviews and administrative proceedings. These investigations, audits and reviews include routine and special investigations by state
insurance departments, state attorneys general and the U.S. Attorney General. Such investigations could result in the imposition of civil or criminal fines,
penalties and other sanctions. The Company believes that any liability that may result from any one of these actions is unlikely to have a material adverse
effect on its consolidated financial position or results of operations.
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ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS.
The Company did not submit any matters to a vote of security holders during the fourth quarter of 2004.

PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF
EQUITY SECURITIES.

Market Prices
The Company’s Common Stock, par value $0.01 per share, is listed on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) under the symbol “WLP”. On
March 1, 2005, the closing price on the NYSE was $121.88. As of March 1, 2005, there were 166,845 shareholders of record of the Common Stock. The
following table presents high and low sales prices for the Common Stock on the NYSE for the periods indicated.
High

Low

First Quarter
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter

$ 92.13
95.60
93.90
117.70

$ 72.50
83.85
77.76
72.20

2003
First Quarter
Second Quarter

$ 67.13
82.90

Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter

77.96

$ 53.00
63.80
66.01
64.75

2004

82.00

Dividends
No cash dividends have been paid on our common stock. The declaration and payment of future dividends will be at the discretion of our board of
directors and must comply with applicable law. Future dividend payments will depend upon our financial condition, results of operations, future liquidity
needs, potential acquisitions, regulatory and capital requirements and other factors deemed relevant by our board of directors. In addition, we are a holding
company whose primary assets are 100% of the capital stock of Anthem Insurance Companies, Inc., Anthem Southeast, Inc., and Anthem Holding Corp. Our
ability to pay dividends to our shareholders, if authorized by our board of directors, is primarily dependent upon the receipt of dividends from these
companies and their receipt of dividends from our other regulated insurance subsidiaries.

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans
The information required by this Item concerning securities authorized for issuance under the Company’s equity compensation plans is set forth in or
incorporated by reference into Part III Item 12 of this Form 10-K.
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Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
Approximate
Dollar Value
of Shares that
May Yet Be
Purchased
Under the
Programs

Total Number

Total Number

Average
Price Paid
per Share

of Shares

Purchased

Period

October 1, 2004 to October 31, 2004
November 1, 2004 to November 30, 2004
December 1, 2004 to December 31, 2004

Total
(1)

(2)

(1)

—
—
2,284,101
2,284,101

of Shares
Purchased as
Part of
Publicly
Announced

Programs(2)

—
—

(in millions)

$

$ 101.33

—
—
—

700.5
700.5
700.5

$ 101.33

—

$

700.5

2,284,101 shares purchased during the quarter ended December 31, 2004 were due to shares delivered to or withheld by the Company in connection
with stock-for-stock option exercises and employee payroll tax withholding upon exercise of stock options and vesting of restricted stock. Stock grants
to employees and directors and stock issued for stock option plans and stock purchase plans in the consolidated statements of shareholders’ equity are
shown net of these shares purchased.
Represents the number of shares repurchased through our repurchase program authorized by the Board of Directors on January 27, 2003 under which
we are authorized to purchase up to $500.0 million prior to February 2005. On October 25, 2004, our Board of Directors authorized an increase of
$500.0 million to our repurchase program and extended the expiration date until February 2006. Total available for repurchase following this
authorization is $700.5 million.

ITEM 6. SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA.
The table below provides selected consolidated financial data of WellPoint. The information has been derived from our consolidated financial statements
for each of the years in the five year period ended December 31, 2004, which have been audited by Ernst & Young LLP. You should read this selected
consolidated financial data in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements and notes and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations” included in this Form 10-K.
As of and for the Year Ended December 31

20041

Per Share Data

2001

20001

$ 13,000.4
13,292.2
549.1

$ 10,131.3
10,455.7

$8,546.4
8,773.9
226.0

$

$

($ in Millions, Except Per Share Data)

Income Statement Data
Total operating revenue2,3
Total revenues3
Net income 4

20021

2003

$ 20,460.9
20,815.1
960.1

$16,487.1
16,781.4

$

$

774.3

342.2

4, 5

Basic income from continuing operations
Diluted income from continuing operations

6.29
6.10

5.60
5.45

4.61
4.51

3.31
3.30

$

2.19
2.18

Other Data—(unaudited)
Benefit expense ratio 6
Selling, general and administrative expense ratio 6
Income before income taxes as a percentage of total revenues
Net income as a percentage of total revenue
Medical membership (000s)

82.0%
17.0%

6.9%
4.6%
27,728
30

80.8%
18.8%
7.2%
4.6%
11,927

82.3%
19.3%
6.0%

19.6%
5.0%

4.1%

3.3%

11,053

84.4%

7,883

84.5%
21.3%
3.7%

2.6%
7,142

As of and for the Year Ended December 31

20041

2003

20021

2001

20001

$4,559.8
6,325.0
818.0
4,265.0
2,060.0

$ 3,845.2
5,688.9
597.5
3,769.1
1,919.8

($ in Millions, Except Per Share Data)

Balance Sheet Data
Cash and investments 3
Total assets3

$15,792.2
39,738.4
4,276.7
20,279.4
19,459.0

Long-term debt
Total liabilities3
Total shareholders’ equity 7
1

2
3
4

$ 7,478.2
13,414.6
1,662.8
7,414.7
5,999.9

$ 6,726.4
12,416.3
1,659.4
7,054.0
5,362.3

The net assets and results of operations for Blue Cross Blue Shield of Maine, Trigon Healthcare, Inc. and WellPoint Health Networks Inc. are included
from their respective acquisition dates of June 5, 2000, July 31, 2002 and November 30, 2004.
Operating revenue is obtained by adding premiums, administrative fees and other revenue.
Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to current year presentation.
We adopted FAS 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets , on January 1, 2002. With the adoption of FAS 142, we ceased amortization of goodwill.
The intangible assets established for Blue Cross and Blue Shield trademarks are deemed to have indefinite lives, and beginning January 1, 2002, are no
longer amortized.

Net income and earnings per share on a comparable basis as if FAS 142 had been adopted January 1, 2000, are as follows:

Net income adjusted for FAS 142
Basic earnings per share adjusted for FAS 142
Diluted earnings per share adjusted for FAS 142
5

6

7

2001

2000

$ 357.3
3.46

$238.5
2.32
2.31

3.44

There were no shares or dilutive securities outstanding prior to November 2, 2001 (date of Anthem Insurance Companies, Inc.’s demutualization and
initial public offering). Accordingly, amounts prior to 2002 represent pro forma earnings per share. For comparative pro forma earnings per share
presentation, the weighted-average shares outstanding and the effect of dilutive securities for the period from November 2, 2001 to December 31, 2001
was used to calculate pro forma earnings per share for all periods prior to 2002.
The benefit expense ratio represents benefit expense as a percentage of premium revenue. The selling, general and administrative expense ratio represents
selling, general and administrative expense as a percentage of operating revenue.
Represents policyholders’ surplus prior to the demutualization on November 2, 2001.

IT EM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS.
Unless the context otherwise requires, references to the terms “we”, “our”, or “us” used throughout this Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations, refer to WellPoint, Inc. (name changed from Anthem, Inc. effective November 30, 2004), an Indiana holding
company, and its direct and indirect subsidiaries.

The structure of our Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations is as follows:
I.

Overview

II.

Significant Transactions

III.

Membership—December 31, 2004 Compared to December 31, 2003
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IV.

Cost of Care

V.

Results of Operations—Year Ended December 31, 2004 Compared to the Year Ended December 31, 2003

VI.

Membership—December 31, 2003 Compared to December 31, 2002

VII.

Results of Operations—Year Ended December 31, 2003 Compared to the Year Ended December 31, 2002

VIII. Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

IX.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

X.

Safe Harbor Statement Under the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995

I. Overview
We are the nation’s largest publicly traded health benefits company in terms of membership, providing health benefit services to more than 27.7 million
members as of December 31, 2004, and we operate as an independent licensee of the Blue Cross Blue Shield Association, or BCBSA. We are the Blue Cross
licensee in California and a Blue Cross and Blue Shield licensee in 12 other states: Colorado, Connecticut, Georgia, Indiana, Kentucky, Maine, Missouri
(excluding 30 counties in the Kansas City area), Nevada, New Hampshire, Ohio, Virginia (excluding the immediate suburbs of Washington, D.C.), and
Wisconsin. We also serve customers throughout various parts of the country as HealthLink and UniCare.

Our Health Care segment includes strategic business units delineated primarily by geographic areas within which we offer similar products and
services, including commercial accounts, senior and Medicaid. We offer a diversified mix of managed care products, including preferred provider
organizations or PPOs, health maintenance organizations or HMOs, traditional indemnity benefits and point of service or POS plans. We also offer a variety of
hybrid benefit plans, including consumer directed, hospital only and limited benefit products. Additionally, we provide a broad array of managed care
services to self-funded customers, including claims processing, underwriting, stop loss insurance, actuarial services, provider network access, medical cost
management and other administrative services.

Our Specialty segment is comprised of businesses providing pharmacy benefit management, group life and disability insurance benefits, dental,
workers’ compensation and long-term care insurance. We also provide vision and behavioral health benefits services.
Our Other segment is comprised of our Medicare processing business, including AdminaStar Federal and United Government Services; Arcus
Enterprises; intersegment revenue and expense eliminations; and corporate expenses not allocated to our Health Care or Specialty segments.
Our operating revenue consists of premiums, administrative fees and other revenue. The premiums come from fully-insured contracts where we
indemnify our policyholders against costs for covered health and life benefits. Our administrative fees come from contracts where our customers are selfinsured, where the fee is based on either processing of transactions or a percent of network discount savings realized. Additionally, we earn operating revenues
from our Medicare processing business and from other health-related businesses including disease management programs. Other revenue is principally
generated from member co-payments and deductibles associated with the mail-order sale of drugs by our pharmacy benefit management companies.

Our benefit expense includes costs of care for health services consumed by our members, such as outpatient care, inpatient hospital care, professional
services (primarily physician care) and pharmacy benefit costs. All four components are affected both by unit costs and utilization rates. Unit costs include
the cost of outpatient medical
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procedures per visit, inpatient hospital care per admission, physician fees per office visit and prescription drug prices. Utilization rates represent the volume
of consumption of health services and typically vary with the age and health status of our members and their social and lifestyle choices, along with clinical
protocols and medical practice patterns in each of our markets. A portion of benefit expense recognized in each reporting period consists of actuarial estimates
of claims incurred but not yet paid by us. Any changes in these estimates are recorded in the subsequent reporting periods.
Our selling expense consists of external broker commission expenses, and generally varies with premium volume. Our general and administrative
expense consists of fixed and variable costs. Examples of fixed costs are depreciation, amortization and certain facilities expenses. Other costs are variable or
discretionary in nature. Certain variable costs, such as premium taxes, vary directly with premium volume. Other variable costs, such as salaries and
benefits, do not vary directly with changes in premium, but are more aligned with changes in membership. The acquisition or loss of a significant block of
business would likely impact staffing levels, and thus salary and benefit expense. Discretionary costs include professional and consulting expenses and
advertising. Other factors can impact our administrative cost structure, including systems efficiencies, inflation and changes in productivity.

Our cost of drugs consists of the amounts we pay to pharmaceutical companies for the drugs we sell via mail order through our pharmacy benefit
management companies, or PBM. This amount excludes the cost of drugs related to affiliated health customers recorded in benefit expense. Our cost of drugs
can be influenced by the volume of prescriptions at our PBM, as well as cost changes, driven by prices set by pharmaceutical companies and mix of drugs
sold.
Our results of operations depend in large part on our ability to accurately predict and effectively manage health care costs through effective contracting
with providers of care to our members and our medical management programs. Several economic factors related to health care costs, such as regulatory
mandates of coverage and direct-to-consumer advertising by providers and pharmaceutical companies, have a direct impact on the volume of care consumed
by our members. The potential effect of escalating health care costs as well as any changes in our ability to negotiate competitive rates with our providers may
impose further risks to our ability to profitably underwrite our business, and may have a material impact on our results of operations.

This management’s discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with our audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended
December 31, 2004, included in this Form 10-K.

II. Significant Transactions
On November 30, 2004, Anthem, Inc. and WellPoint Health Networks Inc., or WHN, completed their merger. Under the terms of the merger agreement,
the stockholders of WHN (other than subsidiaries of WHN) received consideration of twenty-three dollars and eighty cents ($23.80) in cash and one share of
Anthem, Inc. common stock for each WHN share outstanding. In addition, WHN stock options and other awards were converted to WellPoint, Inc. awards in
accordance with the merger agreement. The purchase price including cash, fair value of stock and stock awards and estimated transaction costs was
approximately $16.0 billion. Anthem, Inc., the surviving corporate parent, was renamed WellPoint, Inc. concurrent with the merger.

III. Membership—December 31, 2004 Compared to December 31, 2003
Our medical membership includes six different customer types: Large Group, Individual and Small Group, National Accounts, BlueCard Host, Senior
and State Sponsored.

•

Large Group consists of those employer customers with 51 to 4,999 employees eligible to participate as a member in one of our health plans.
Large Group also includes members in the Federal Employee
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Program, or FEP, which provides health insurance coverage to United States government employees and their dependents within our geographic
markets through our participation in the national contract between the BCBSA and the U.S. Office of Personnel Management.

•

Individual and Small Group, or ISG, consists of individual customers under age 65 as well as those employer customers with one to 50 eligible
employees.

•

National Accounts customers are multi-state employer groups primarily headquartered in a WellPoint service area with 5,000 or more eligible
employees, with at least 5% of eligible employees located outside of the headquarters state.

•

BlueCard host members represent enrollees of non-owned Blue Cross and Blue Shield plans who receive health care services in our Blue Cross
and Blue Shield licensed markets.

•

Senior members are Medicare-eligible individual members age 65 and over who have enrolled in Medicare Advantage, a managed care alternative
for the Medicare program, or who have purchased Medicare supplement benefit coverage.

•

State Sponsored membership represents eligible members with state sponsored managed care alternatives in Medicaid and State Children’s Health
Insurance programs.

BlueCard membership consists of estimated host members using the national BlueCard program. Host members are generally members who reside in or
travel to a state in which a WellPoint subsidiary is the Blue Cross and/or Blue Shield licensee and who are covered under an employer sponsored health plan
issued by a non-WellPoint controlled Blue Cross Blue Shield licensee (i.e., the “home” plan). We perform certain administrative functions for BlueCard
members, for which we receive administrative fees from the BlueCard members’ home plans. Other administrative functions, including maintenance of
enrollment information and customer service, are performed by the home plan. Host members are computed using, among other things, the average number of
BlueCard claims received per member per month.
In addition to reporting our medical membership by customer type, we report by funding arrangement according to the level of risk that we assume in
the product contract. Our two funding arrangement categories are fully-insured and self-funded. Fully-insured products are products in which we indemnify
our policyholders against costs for health benefits. Self-funded products are offered to customers, generally larger employers, who elect to retain some or all of
the financial risk associated with their employees’ health care costs. Some employers choose to purchase stop-loss coverage to limit their retained risk. These
employers are reported with our self-funded business.
The following table presents our medical membership by customer type, funding arrangement and geographical region as of December 31, 2004 and
2003. Also included below are key metrics from our Specialty segment, including prescription volume for our PBM and membership by product. The
membership data presented is unaudited and in certain instances includes estimates of the number of members represented by each contract at the end of the
period, rounded to the nearest thousand.
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Comparable
December 31

December 31

2004

Medical Membership
Customer Type
Large Group
Individual and Small Group (ISG)
National Accounts
BlueCard

20031

2003

Change

%

(In Thousands)

4,708
1,954
1,640
2,816

12,740
4,867
2,668
2,931

6,675
1,059
1,722

4,456
599

27,728

13,073

5,199
3,212
3,463

Total National
Senior
State Sponsored
Total

34

333

3%

332

7

544

20

532

18

1,076

19
—

210

5,599
1,063
1,781

11,927

26,050

1,678

(4)

(59)

(3)

6%

2

Comparable
December 31

December 31

2004

20031

2003

Change

%

Medical Membership
(In Thousands)

Funding Arrangement
Self-Funded
Fully-Insured
Total

Regional Membership
Central3
West
Southeast
Northeast
Wisconsin4
Total

Specialty Metrics
PBM Prescription Volume5
Behavioral Health
Life and Disability
Dental
Vision
1

2

3
4

5

13,039
14,689

6,412
5,515

11,750

1,289
389

11%

14,300

27,728

11,927

26,050

1,678

6%

9,649
8,655
5,962
2,546
916

5,688
939
2,700
2,600
—

9,090
8,179
5,456
2,383
942

27,728

11,927

26,050

1,678

6%

336,541
11,753
5,306
5,048

76,871
3,171
2,230
2,529

299,630

36,911
1,369
66
(243)

12%

773

423

431

10,384

5,240
5,291

559
476
506
163
(26)

342

3

6%
6
9
7
(3)

13

1
(5)
79

Represents the former Anthem, Inc. only. Historical results have been reclassified to conform to current presentation.
“Comparable” statistics were calculated by adding historical statistics for the former WellPoint Health Networks Inc. to historical statistics for the
former Anthem, Inc., and adjusting the combined totals to assure a consistent approach for calculating membership and volume statistics and to
eliminate overlapping BlueCard host membership.
Includes our UniCare and HealthLink membership.
Includes 74,742 members of Unity Health Plans Insurance Company which was sold effective January 1, 2005.
Represents prescription volume for mail order and retail prescriptions for the full years ended 2004 and 2003, respectively. Prescription volume for 2004
and 2003 is shown on a “comparable” basis.

During the twelve months ended December 31, 2004, total comparable medical membership increased approximately 1,678,000, or 6%, primarily in
our National Accounts, BlueCard, and ISG businesses. Our National Accounts comparable membership increased 544,000, or 20%, primarily due to
recognition of the value of Blue Cross and Blue Shield networks and the discounts we can secure, the breadth of our product offerings, and our distinctive
customer service. BlueCard comparable membership increased 532,000, or 18%, representing increased sales by other Blue Cross and Blue Shield licensees
to accounts with members who reside in or travel to our licensed areas. ISG comparable membership increased 332,000, or 7%, primarily due to the
introduction of new, more affordable product designs and an overall increase in consumer awareness of our wide variety of quality products and services as
well as efforts to market products to the uninsured.

Self-funded comparable medical membership increased 1,289,000, or 11%, primarily due to increases in our National Accounts and BlueCard
businesses. Fully-insured comparable membership increased by 389,000 members, or 3%, primarily in our ISG business.
Prescription volume at our PBM increased 36,911,000 prescriptions, or 12%, on a comparable basis in 2004 primarily due to the integration of our
Virginia health membership to our internal PBM, as well as increased mail-order utilization and growth within our other existing health lines of business.
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Behavioral Health comparable membership increased 1,369,000, or 13%, in 2004 primarily due to HealthLink network growth, the integration of our
Maine health customers which were previously serviced by an external vendor, and growth within our other existing health lines of business. Dental
comparable membership decreased 243,000, or 5%, in 2004 primarily due to the loss of two specific large accounts. Vision comparable membership increased
342,000, or 79%, due to the integration of internal health members, as well as increased sales.

IV. Cost of Care
The following discussion summarizes our aggregate cost of care trends for the full year 2004 for our Large Group and ISG fully-insured businesses
only. Cost of care information as discussed below is presented as if pre-merger Anthem, Inc. and WHN were combined for all of 2004 and 2003. Accordingly,
cost of care reported previously for pre-merger Anthem, Inc. is not comparable to what is presented below. Our cost of care trends are calculated by comparing
the year over year change in average per member per month claim costs for which we are responsible, which excludes member co-payments and deductibles.
Our aggregate cost of care trend was just under 10% for 2004.
Costs for outpatient services and pharmacy continued to be the primary drivers of overall cost trends. Outpatient services cost trend increases were
primarily driven by higher per visit costs as more procedures are being performed during each visit to an outpatient provider, particularly emergency room
visits, as well as the impact of price increases included within certain provider contracts. Pharmacy benefit cost trend increases were primarily driven by price
increases on existing brand drugs and, to a lesser extent, the introduction of new, higher cost drugs. Price increases on existing brand drugs have been seen
particularly in those therapeutic classes of drugs designed to reduce cholesterol and anti-depressants, our two largest categories of drugs based on overall
expenses.
In response to cost trends, we continue to pursue contracting and plan design changes, promote and implement performance-based contracts that reward
clinical outcomes and quality, and expand our disease management and advanced care management programs. In addition, we continually evaluate our drug
formulary to ensure the most effective pharmaceutical therapies are available for our members.
Late in the third quarter of 2004, the arthritis drug VIOXX ® was removed from the market due to concerns about the risk of heart attacks in persons
taking this drug for longer than 18 months. We have provided our network physicians with information regarding alternatives to VIOXX and our PBM has
implemented a process to ensure appropriate usage of the COX 2 Inhibitor therapeutic class of drugs.

Despite the reported shortage of flu vaccine early in the 2004 – 2005 flu season, we have not seen an increase in hospital admissions, physician office
visits and use of anti-viral drugs that would indicate a severe flu season in the fourth quarter of 2004. We are beginning to see an increase in these indications
in early 2005.
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V. Results of Operations—Year Ended December 31, 2004 Compared to the Year Ended December 31, 2003
Our consolidated results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003 are as follows:
1

Year Ended
December 31

2004

$18,771.6
1,436.9
252.4

Premiums
Administrative fees
Other revenue

Change

2003

$

%

($ in Millions, Except Per Share Data)

$ 15,167.7
1,160.2
159.2

$3,603.9
276.7
93.2

59

24%
24

Total operating revenue
Net investment income
Net realized gains on investments

20,460.9
311.7
42.5

16,487.1
278.1
16.2

3,973.8
33.6
26.3

12
NM2

Total revenue
Benefit expense
Selling, general and administrative expense:
Selling expense
General and administrative expense

20,815.1
15,387.8

16,781.4
12,254.5

4,033.7
3,133.3

26

537.2
2,940.5

411.2
2,686.3

126.0
254.2

31

3,477.7
95.0
142.3
61.4
61.5
146.1

3,097.5
38.7
131.2
47.6
—
—

380.2

56.3
11.1
13.8
61.5
146.1

12
NM2
8
29
NM2
NM2

19,371.8

15,569.5

3,802.3

24

1,443.3
483.2

1,211.9
437.6

231.4

19

45.6

10

774.3

$ 185.8

24%

15.3
0.65

11%
12%
120 bp4
(180) bp4

Total selling, general and administrative expense
Cost of drugs
Interest expense
Amortization of other intangible assets
Merger-related undertakings
Loss on repurchase of debt
Total expense
Income before income taxes
Income taxes

$

Net income

Average diluted shares outstanding (in millions)
Diluted net income per share
Benefit expense ratio 3
Selling, general and administrative expense ratio 5
Income before income taxes as a percentage of total revenue
Net income as a percentage of total revenue

$

960.1

157.3
6.10
82.0%
17.0%
6.9%
4.6%

$

142.0

$

5.45
80.8%
18.8%
7.2%
4.6%

$

24

24

9

(30) bp4

— bp4

Certain of the following definitions are also applicable to all other results of operations tables in this discussion:
1

2
3
4

5

Financial results for 2004 include operations of WHN for the one month period ended December 31, 2004 only. Financial results for 2003 represent the
results of the former Anthem, Inc. only and have been reclassified to conform to current presentation.
NM = Not meaningful.
Benefit expense ratio = Benefit expense ÷ Premiums.
bp = basis point; one hundred basis points = 1%.
Selling, general and administrative expense ratio = Total selling, general and administrative expense ÷ Total operating revenue.
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Premiums increased $3,603.9 million, or 24%, to $18,771.6 million in 2004, due to the impact of the merger with WHN, and premium rate increases
in our Large Group and ISG businesses. Also contributing to premium growth was higher fully-insured membership, primarily in our ISG business. Partially
offsetting the growth were shifts by certain customers to self-funding arrangements, resulting in lower revenues. Included in 2003 were premium refunds of
$40.4 million issued to policyholders from our Health Care segment, as claims costs in certain lines of business were much lower than expected. Our premium
yields, net of buy-downs, for our fully-insured Large Group and ISG businesses were just less than 10% on a rolling 12-month basis as of December 31,
2004, including the business of pre-merger WHN for all periods.
Administrative fees increased $276.7 million, or 24%, to $1,436.9 million in 2004, primarily due to increased revenues from self-funded membership,
primarily in National businesses, and also due to the impact of the merger with WHN. These increases were partially offset by decreased administrative fees
from AdminaStar Federal’s 1-800 Medicare Help Line contract with Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services, or CMS, which was substantially completed
by June 30, 2003.
Other revenue is comprised principally of co-payments and deductibles associated with the sale of mail-order drugs by our PBM, which provides its
services to members of our Health Care segment and third party clients. Other revenue increased $93.2 million, or 59%, to $252.4 million in 2004, primarily
due to additional mail-order prescription volume and increased prices of prescription drugs sold by our PBM, and also due to the impact of the merger with
WHN. Increased mail-order prescription volume resulted from both membership increases and additional utilization of our PBM’s mail-order pharmacy
option. Effective January 1, 2004, our PBM began to provide pharmacy benefit management services to Virginia customers of our Health Care segment.
Net investment income increased $33.6 million, or 12%, to $311.7 million in 2004 primarily due to the merger with WHN. Our investment income also
increased in 2004 due to the growth in invested assets from reinvestment of cash generated from operations, partially offset by a decrease in yields from new
investments. Yields were lower in 2004 due in part to the impact of a portion of our fixed maturity portfolio being invested in shorter duration investments in
anticipation of the WHN merger and the use of cash upon completion of the WHN merger on November 30, 2004. Yields were also lower in part due to an
increased allocation of tax exempt securities in 2004, which is expected to enhance after tax income.
A summary of our net realized gains on investments for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003 is as follows:
Year Ended
December 31

2004

2003

$ Change

$ 41.7
0.5

$ (1.1)
2.8
23.6

($ in Millions)

Net realized gains from the sale of fixed maturity securities
Net realized gains from the sale of equity securities
Other-than-temporary impairments
Other losses

$ 40.6

Net realized gains on investments

$42.5

3.3
(0.8)

(0.6)

(24.4)

(1.6)
$16.2

1.0

$ 26.3

Other-than-temporary impairments recognized in 2003 were substantially related to our equity security investments, primarily due to the length of time
that the securities’ fair value had been less than cost.

Benefit expense increased $3,133.3 million, or 26%, to $15,387.8 million in 2004. Benefit expense increased due to the impact of the merger with
WHN, and also due to increased cost of care, which was driven primarily by higher costs in outpatient services and drug costs. Included in the 2003 results
was a $31.7 million
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net favorable prior year reserve development recorded during the second quarter of 2003 and a $24.5 million favorable adjustment for resolution of a litigation
matter in our Health Care segment in the first quarter of 2003. Our benefit expense ratio increased 120 basis points from 80.8% in 2003 to 82.0% in 2004,
increasing from lower than anticipated cost of care trends in 2003 and returning to more sustainable levels.

Selling, general and administrative expense increased $380.2 million, or 12%, to $3,477.7 million in 2004, primarily due to the impact of the merger
with WHN, and also due to increases in volume-sensitive costs such as higher commissions, premium taxes and other expenses associated with growth in our
business and higher salary and benefits costs. These increases were partially offset by a decrease in incentive compensation in 2004, and $20.0 million of
contributions to our charitable foundation made by our Health Care segment in 2003 which did not recur in 2004. Our selling, general and administrative
expense ratio decreased 180 basis points to 17.0% in 2004, primarily due to our growth in operating revenue and the leveraging of costs over these higher
revenues.

Cost of drugs increased $56.3 million, or 145%, to $95.0 million in 2004, primarily due to higher mail-order prescription volume at our PBM.
Interest expense increased $11.1 million, or 8%, to $142.3 million in 2004, primarily due to additional interest expense on the $2.8 billion of debt
initially incurred in conjunction with the WHN merger. Debt of $2.8 billion initially incurred in conjunction with the WHN merger was reduced to
approximately $1.9 billion at December 31, 2004. Interest expense for this merger-related debt was incurred in December 2004.

Amortization of other intangible assets increased $13.8 million, or 29%, to $61.4 million in 2004, primarily due to additional amortization expense on
identifiable intangible assets resulting from the WHN merger.
Merger-related undertakings were expenses recorded in 2004 related to certain obligations under our agreements with the California Department of
Insurance, the California Department of Managed Health Care and the Georgia Department of Insurance. These agreements were related to the merger with

WHN.
The loss on repurchase of debt incurred in 2004 related to our tender offer for our high coupon surplus notes. Due to the high coupon on this debt and
time remaining until stated maturity, the debt was repurchased at a significant premium over book value, which was the driver of the loss.
Income tax expense increased $45.6 million, or 10%, to $483.2 million in 2004. Included in 2004 was $44.8 million in tax benefits associated with a
change in Indiana laws governing the state’s high-risk health insurance pool recorded during the first quarter of 2004.
We use operating gain to evaluate the performance of our reportable segments, as described in FAS 131, Disclosure About Segments of an Enterprise
and Related Information . In connection with the WHN merger and related organizational changes, we evaluated FAS 131 criteria and determined our
reportable segments to be Health Care, Specialty and Other. This represents a change from pre-merger Anthem, which disclosed each geographic health region
as a reportable segment. Operating gain is calculated as total operating revenue less benefit expense, selling, general and administrative expense and cost of
drugs. It does not include net investment income, net realized gains (losses) on investments, interest expense, amortization of other intangible assets, merger
related undertakings, loss on repurchase of debt or income taxes, as these items are managed in a corporate shared service environment and are not the
responsibility of operating segment management. For additional information, see Note 20 to our audited consolidated financial statements included in this Form
10-K. The discussions of segment results for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003 presented below are based on operating gain, as described above,
and operating margin, which is calculated as operating gain divided by operating revenue. Our definitions of operating gain and operating margin may not be
comparable to similarly titled measures reported by other companies.
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Health Care
Our Health Care segment’s summarized results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003 are as follows:
Year Ended
December 31

2004

2003

$ Change

$ 16,000.1
$ 1,174.6

$ 3,754.4
$ 330.7

($ in Millions)

$19,754.5
$ 1,505.3
7.6%

Operating revenue
Operating gain
Operating margin

7.3%

% Change

23%
28%
30 bp

Operating revenue increased $3,754.4 million, or 23%, to $19,754.5 million in 2004, due to the impact of the merger with WHN, as the results of the
acquired health business is included effective November 30, 2004. Operating revenue also increased due to premium rate increases in our Large Group, ISG,
and Senior businesses. Also contributing to this growth were membership increases in our ISG and National Accounts businesses.
Operating gain increased $330.7 million, or 28%, to $1,505.3 million, due to our merger with WHN, improved underwriting results in our Large
Group business, and growth in our National Accounts businesses. Included in the 2003 results was a $31.7 million net favorable prior year reserve
development recorded during the second quarter of 2003 and a $24.5 million favorable adjustment for resolution of a litigation matter in the first quarter of
2003. Also included in 2003 were premium refunds of $40.4 million issued to policyholders as claims costs in certain lines of business were much lower than
expected. Additionally, our Health Care segment made contributions of $20.0 million to our charitable foundation in 2003 that did not occur in 2004.

Specialty
Our Specialty segment’s summarized results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003 are as follows:
Year Ended
December 31

2003

$ Change

% Change

$ 732.0
$ 69.1
9.4%

$ 503.2
$ 31.8

69%
46%
(120) bp

2004
($ in Millions)

$1,235.2
$ 100.9
8.2%

Operating revenue
Operating gain
Operating margin

Operating revenue increased $503.2 million, or 69%, to $1,235.2 million in 2004, due to the impact of the merger with WHN, as the results of the
acquired specialty business is included effective November 30, 2004. Operating revenue also increased due to increased mail-order prescription volume,
including more specialty pharmacy prescriptions and increased wholesale drug costs which are passed through to customers of our PBM. Specialty pharmacy
prescriptions include higher cost transactions for biopharmaceutical and injectable medications, which are complex in design and administration, and are
costly to ship and store. The increased mail-order prescription volume resulted from both membership increases and additional utilization of our PBM’s mailorder pharmacy option. Effective January 1, 2004, our PBM began providing pharmacy benefit management services to our Virginia health members.
Operating gain increased $31.8 million, or 46%, to $100.9 million in 2004, due to the impact of the merger with WHN, and increased mail-order
prescription volume at our PBM. This improvement was partially offset by operating results in our other specialty businesses.
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Other
Our summarized results of operations for our Other segment for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003 are as follows:
Year Ended
December 31

2004

2003
($ in Millions)

Operating revenue from external customers
Elimination of intersegment revenues

$ 212.8
(741.6)

$ 197.8

Total operating revenue
Operating loss

(528.8)
$ (105.8)

(245.0)
$ (147.3)

(442.8)

% Change

$ Change

$ 15.0
(298.8)
(283.8)

$ 41.5

8%

67%
NM
(28)%

Operating revenue from external customers increased $15.0 million, or 8%, to $212.8 million in 2004, due to the impact of the merger with WHN, as
well as an increase in revenues from our Medicare customer service software development contract with CMS. These were partially offset by the loss of our 1800 Medicare Help Line contract with CMS, which was substantially completed by June 30, 2003. Elimination of intersegment revenues increased $298.8
million, or 67%, reflecting additional sales by our pharmacy benefit management company to our Health Care segment.
Operating loss decreased $41.5 million, or 28%, to $(105.8) million in 2004, primarily due to lower incentive compensation expenses.

VI. Membership—December 31, 2003 Compared to December 31, 2002
The following table presents our medical membership by customer type, funding arrangement and geographical region as of December 31, 2003 and
2002. Also included below are key metrics from our Specialty segment, including prescription volume for our PBM and membership by product. The
membership data presented is unaudited and in certain instances includes estimates of the number of members represented by each contract at the end of the
period, rounded to the nearest thousand.
December 31

20031

20021

Change

%

(In Thousands)

Medical Membership
Customer Type
Large Group
Individual and Small Group (ISG)
National Accounts
BlueCard
Total National
Senior
State Sponsored
Total

Funding Arrangement
Self-Funded
Fully-Insured
Total

41

4,708
1,954
1,640
2,816

4,713
1,737
1,363
2,419

(5)
217
277
397

— %
12

4,456
599

3,782
618

18

210

203

674
(19)
7

11,927

11,053

874

8%

6,412
5,515

5,617
5,436

795
79

14%

11,927

11,053

874

8%

20

16
(3)
3

1

December 31

2003

1

2002

1

Change

%

(In Thousands)

Medical Membership
Regional Membership
Central
West
Southeast
Northeast
Wisconsin
Total

Specialty Metrics
PBM Prescription Volume2
Behavioral Health
Life and Disability
Dental
Vision
1

2

5,688
939
2,700
2,600
—

5,234
836
2,549

11,927

76,871
3,171
2,230
2,529
423

151
166
—

9%
12
6
7
—

11,053

874

8%

61,976
2,676
1,971
1,488
6

14,895
495
259
1,041

2,434

—

454
103

417

24%

18
13
70

NM

Represents the former Anthem, Inc. only. Historical results have been reclassified to conform to current presentation.
Represents prescription volume for mail order and retail prescriptions.

During the twelve months ended December 31, 2003, total medical membership increased approximately 874,000, or 8%, primarily in our BlueCard,
National Accounts and ISG businesses. BlueCard membership increased 397,000, or 16%, primarily due to increased sales by other Blue Cross and Blue
Shield licensees to accounts with members who reside in or travel to our licensed areas. National Accounts membership increased 277,000, or 20%, due to
increased sales in our existing markets due to recognition of the value of Blue Cross and Blue Shield networks and the related discounts we can secure, and
our competitive advantage resulting from the breadth of our product offerings and distinctive customer service.
Also contributing to our medical membership increase were ISG enrollment gains of 217,000, or 12%, primarily due to the introduction of new, more
affordable product designs and an overall increase in consumer awareness of our wide variety of quality products and services.

Self-funded medical membership increased 795,000, or 14%, primarily due to increases in BlueCard and National Accounts businesses. Fully-insured
membership increased by 79,000 members, or 1%, primarily in our ISG businesses, as explained above. In addition, we experienced a change in our mix of
business by funding arrangement as certain Large Group and National Accounts customers shifted from fully-insured to self-funded during the year ended
December 31, 2003. Due to economic conditions, certain large accounts assumed the health care risk associated with insuring their employees. This shift in
funding arrangements did not have a material impact on our financial results for the year ended December 31, 2003.
Dental membership increased 1,041,000, or 70%, in 2003 primarily due to the integration of Connecticut health members, and growth from new sales.
Vision membership increased 417,000 due to the new product launch, which took place in the fourth quarter of 2002.
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VII. Results of Operations—Year Ended December 31, 2003 Compared to the Year Ended December 31, 2002
Our consolidated results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002 are as follows:
1

Year Ended
December 31

2003

$ 15,167.7
1,160.2
159.2

Premiums
Administrative fees
Other revenue

Change

2002

%

$

($ in Millions, Except Per Share Data)

$11,937.9
946.8
115.7

$3,229.8

27%

213.4
43.5

23
38

Total operating revenue
Net investment income
Net realized gains on investments

16,487.1
278.1
16.2

13,000.4

Total revenue
Benefit expense
Selling, general and administrative expense:
Selling expense
General and administrative expense

16,781.4
12,254.5

13,292.2
9,821.9

411.2
2,686.3

308.0

103.2

34

2,207.1

479.2

22

3,097.5
38.7
131.2
47.6

2,515.1
30.2

582.4
14.7
32.7
17.4

15,569.5

12,489.7

3,079.8

25

1,211.9
437.6

802.5
253.4

409.4
184.2

51

549.1

$ 225.2

41%

20.2
0.94

17%
21%
(150) bp 3
(50) bp 3
120 bp 3
50 bp 3

Total selling, general and administrative expense
Cost of drugs
Interest expense
Amortization of other intangible assets
Total expense
Income before income taxes
Income taxes

$

Net income

Average diluted shares outstanding (in millions)
Diluted net income per share
Benefit expense ratio 2
Selling, general and administrative expense ratio 4
Income before income taxes as a percentage of total revenue
Net income as a percentage of total revenue

774.3

260.7
31.1

24.0

98.5

$

142.0

$

5.45
80.8%
18.8%
7.2%
4.6%

$

121.8
4.51
82.3%
19.3%
6.0%
4.1%

$

3,486.7
17.4
(14.9)

27
7
(48)

3,489.2
2,432.6

26
25

23

61
33

58

73

Certain of the following definitions are also applicable to all other results of operations tables in this discussion:
1

2
3
4

Financial results for 2003 and 2002 represent the results of the former Anthem, Inc. only and have been reclassified to conform to current
presentation.
Benefit expense ratio = Benefit expense ÷ Premiums.
bp = basis point; one hundred basis points = 1%.
Selling, general and administrative expense ratio = Total selling, general and administrative expense ÷ Total operating revenue.

Throughout the following discussion of our results of operations, the operating results related to the Trigon acquisition are included for the year ended
December 31, 2003 and the five months ended December 31, 2002. Both periods exclude any operating results related to the WHN acquisition.

Premiums increased $3,229.8 million, or 27%, to $15,167.7 million in 2003, primarily due to the impact of the Trigon acquisition, and also due to
premium rate increases in our Large Group and ISG businesses. Also
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contributing to premium growth was higher fully-insured membership, primarily in our ISG business, which was partially offset by changes in the mix of
our fully-insured products with members selecting less rich benefit designs, resulting in lower priced products. Also offsetting the growth were shifts by
certain Large Group and National Account customers to self-funding arrangements, resulting in a shift from premiums to administrative fees and lower total
revenues. The claims costs in certain Health Care segment lines of business were much lower than anticipated in 2003. Therefore, we issued premiums
refunds to certain policyholders in the aggregate amount of $40.4 million, offsetting our premium growth. Our premium yields, net of buy-downs, for our
fully-insured Large Group and Small Group businesses were approximately 10% on a rolling 12-month basis as of December 31, 2003.
Administrative fees increased $213.4 million, or 23%, to $1,160.2 million in 2003 due to the impact of the Trigon acquisition, and also due to
increased BlueCard activity and increased revenues from self-funded membership, some of which resulted from the shift of customers from fully-insured
arrangements. These increases were partially offset by decreased administrative fees from AdminaStar Federal’s 1-800 Medicare Help Line contract with CMS.
During the fourth quarter of 2002, CMS awarded a new contract for this service to a competitor. The transition of this contract was substantially completed by
June 30, 2003. Administrative fee increases were also partially offset by the termination of a Health Care segment third party administrator arrangement in
2002.
Other revenue is comprised principally of co-payments and deductibles associated with the sale of mail-order drugs by our PBM, which provides its
services principally to members of our Health Care segment. Other revenue increased $43.5 million, or 38%, to $159.2 million in 2003, primarily due to
additional mail-order prescription volume and increased prices of prescription drugs sold by our PBM. Increased mail-order prescription volume resulted from
both membership increases and additional utilization of our PBM’s mail-order pharmacy.

Benefit expense increased $2,432.6 million, or 25%, to $12,254.5 million in 2003. Included in these 2003 results was a $31.7 million net favorable
prior year reserve development recorded during the second quarter of 2003, and a $24.5 million favorable adjustment for resolution of a litigation matter in the
first quarter of 2003 in our Health Care segment. Included in the 2002 results was a $26.6 million net favorable prior year reserve development. Benefit
expense increased primarily due to increased cost of care, which was driven primarily by higher costs in professional services and outpatient services. Our
benefit expense ratio decreased 150 basis points from 82.3% in 2002 to 80.8% in 2003 due in part to the impact of our Trigon acquisition in 2002, and also
due to lower than anticipated medical costs, the favorable resolution of litigation, disciplined pricing and mix of business shifts from fully-insured to selffunded arrangements by groups that have had historically higher loss ratios.
Selling, general and administrative expenses increased $582.4 million, or 23%, to $3,097.5 million in 2003 due to the impact of the Trigon acquisition,
and also due to increases in volume-sensitive costs such as higher commissions, premium taxes and other expenses associated with growth in our business.
Additionally, expenses increased due to higher salary and benefits costs resulting from normal merit and benefit increases. Included in the 2003 results were
$20.0 million of contributions to our charitable foundation made by our Health Care segment. Included in the 2002 results was an unfavorable $23.0 million
adjustment recorded to reflect the accrual of additional premium taxes in the state of Ohio and a $10.1 million reduction in the carrying value of our investment
in MedUnite. Before the impact of our Trigon acquisition, our selling, general and administrative expense ratio decreased 70 basis points to 18.8% in 2003,
primarily due to our growth in operating revenue and the leveraging of costs over these higher revenues.

Cost of drugs increased $14.7 million, or 61%, to $38.7 million in 2003, primarily due to higher prescription volume at our PBM.
Net investment income increased $17.4 million, or 7%, to $278.1 million in 2003. This increase in investment income primarily resulted from the
investment of additional assets in 2003 from our Trigon
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acquisition and reinvestment of cash generated from operations, which were partially offset by a decrease in yields from new investments.
A summary of our net realized gains on investments for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002 is as follows:
Year Ended
December 31

2003

2002

($ in Millions)

Net realized gains from the sale of fixed-maturity securities
Net realized gains from the sale of equity securities
Other-than-temporary impairments
Other gains (losses)

$ 41.7
0.5

Net realized gains on investments

$16.2

$32.9
0.6

(24.4)

(3.1)
0.7

(1.6)

$ 31.1

$ Change

$ 8.8
(0.1)

21.3)
(2.3)

$ (14.9)

Other-than-temporary impairments recognized in 2003 were substantially related to our equity investments, primarily due to the length of time that the
securities’ fair value had been less than cost. In 2002, we recorded a $3.1 million other-than-temporary impairment on a limited partnership.

Interest expense increased $32.7 million, or 33%, to $131.2 million in 2003, primarily resulting from additional interest expense incurred on the debt
issued in conjunction with our Trigon acquisition. Interest expense on this debt was included for twelve months in 2003 and five months in 2002.

Amortization of other intangible assets increased $17.4 million, or 58%, to $47.6 million in 2003, primarily due to additional amortization expense on
identifiable intangible assets resulting from our Trigon acquisition. This amortization expense was included for twelve months in 2003 and five months in
2002.
Income tax expense increased $184.2 million, or 73%, to $437.6 million in 2003, primarily due to increased income before taxes. In addition, our
effective income tax rate increased to 36.1% in 2003 from 31.6% in 2002. This 450 basis point increase in the effective income tax rate was primarily due to
the release of a deferred tax valuation allowance in 2002.

Health Care
Our Health Care segment’s summarized results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002 are as follows:
Year Ended
December 31

2003

2002
($ in Millions)

Operating revenue
Operating gain
Operating margin

$ 16,000.1
$ 1,174.6

7.3%

$12,587.2
$
684.0
5.4%

$ Change

$3,412.9
$ 490.6

% Change

27%
72%
190 bp

In the table above, the year ended December 31, 2003 includes twelve months of operating results related to the Trigon acquisition, and the year ended
December 31, 2002 includes five months of operating results related to the Trigon acquisition.

Operating revenue increased $3,412.9 million, or 27%, to $16,000.1 million in 2003 due to the impact of the Trigon acquisition, and also due to
premium rate increases in our Large Group and ISG businesses. Also contributing to operating revenue growth was higher fully-insured membership,
primarily in our ISG business. Operating revenue increases were partially offset by changes in the mix of our products with members selecting
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less rich benefit designs, resulting in lower priced products. Also offsetting the growth were shifts by certain National Accounts and Large Group customers to
self-funded arrangements, resulting in lower revenues.

Operating gain increased $490.6 million, or 72%, to $1,174.6 million in 2003. Included in these 2003 results was a $31.7 million net favorable prior
year reserve development recorded during the second quarter of 2003, a $24.5 million favorable adjustment for resolution of a litigation matter in the first
quarter of 2003, and premium refunds of $40.4 million issued to policyholders, as claims costs in certain lines of business were much lower than expected.
Also included in the 2003 results were $20.0 million of contributions to our charitable foundation. Included in the 2002 results was an unfavorable $23.0
million adjustment recorded to reflect the accrual of additional premium taxes in the state of Ohio and a $26.6 million net favorable prior year reserve
development.

Specialty
Our Specialty segment’s summarized results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002 are as follows:
Year Ended
December 31

2003

2002
($ in Millions)

$ 732.0
$ 69.1
9.4%

Operating revenue
Operating gain
Operating margin

$523.5
$ 50.7
9.7%

$ Change

$208.5
$ 18.4

% Change

40%

36%
(30) bp

Operating revenue increased $208.5 million, or 40%, to $732.0 million in 2003, primarily due to increased mail-order prescription volume and increased
wholesale drug costs which are passed through to our customers at our PBM, as well as the results of our behavioral health company, which evolved from our
acquisition of PRO Behavioral Health on June 1, 2002. The increased mail-order prescription volume resulted from membership increases and additional
utilization of our PBM’s mail-order pharmacy option. Operating revenue from our behavioral health business is increasing as we begin to provide these
services to more of our existing health membership.

Operating gain increased $18.4 million, or 36%, to $69.1 million in 2003, primarily due to increased mail-order prescription volume. Improved
behavioral health results due to additional revenues from existing health members who were converted to our internal behavioral health company during 2003
also contributed to Specialty’s increased operating gains. These improvements in operating gain were partially offset by start-up and integration expenses
associated with our dental and vision operations.

Other
Our summarized results of operations for our Other segment for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002 are as follows:
Year Ended
December 31

2003

2002
($ in Millions)

$ Change

8.5

% Change

Operating revenue from external customers
Elimination of intersegment revenues

$ 197.8

$ 189.3
(299.6)

$

(442.8)

(143.2)

4%
48%

Total operating revenue
Operating loss

(245.0)
$ (147.3)

(110.3)
$ (95.3)

(134.7)
$ (52.0)

NM
5 5%

Operating revenue from external customers increased $8.5 million, or 4%, to $197.8 million in 2003, primarily due to cost reimbursement activity
being reflected in our Medicare administration operations. This
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increase was partially offset by the loss of AdminaStar Federal’s 1-800 Medicare Help Line contract with CMS. During the fourth quarter of 2002, CMS
awarded a new contract for this service to a competitor. The transition of the contract was substantially completed by June 30, 2003. Elimination of
intersegment revenues increased $143.2 million, or 48%, reflecting additional sales by our pharmacy benefit management company to our Health Care
segment.

Operating loss increased $52.0 million, or 55%, to $(147.3) million in 2003, primarily due to additional technology expenses, incentive compensation
not allocated to the operating segments associated with better than expected performance and legal fees and expenses paid in 2003.

VIII. Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
We prepare our consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, or GAAP. Application of GAAP
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in our consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes
and within this Management’s Discussion and Analysis. We consider some of our most important accounting policies that require estimates and management
judgment to be those policies with respect to liabilities for medial claims payable, income taxes, goodwill and other intangible assets, investments and
retirement benefits, which are discussed below. Our significant accounting policies are summarized in Note 2 to our audited consolidated financial statements
for the year ended December 31, 2004 included in this Form 10-K.

Medical Claims Payable
The most judgmental accounting estimate in our consolidated financial statements is our liability for medical claims payable. At December 31, 2004,
this liability was $4,202.0 million and represented 21% of our total consolidated liabilities. We record this liability and the corresponding benefit expense for
pending claims and claims that are incurred but not reported, including the estimated costs of processing such claims. Pending claims are those received by us
but not yet processed through our systems. Liabilities for both incurred but not reported and reported but not yet paid claims are determined employing
actuarial methods that are commonly used by health insurance actuaries and meet Actuarial Standards of Practice. Actuarial Standards of Practice require that
the claim liabilities be adequate under moderately adverse circumstances. We determine the amount of the liability for incurred but not reported claims by
following a detailed actuarial process that entails using both historical claim payment patterns as well as emerging medical cost trends to project our best
estimate of claim liabilities. Under this process, historical data of paid claims is formatted into claim triangles which compare claim incurred dates to the dates
of claim payments. This information is analyzed to create “completion factors” that represent the average percentage of total incurred claims that have been
paid through a given date after being incurred. Completion factors are applied to claims paid through the financial statement date to estimate the ultimate claim
expense incurred for the current period. Actuarial estimates of claim liabilities are then determined by subtracting the actual paid claims from the estimate of the
ultimate incurred claims.

For the most recent incurred months, the percentage of claims paid for claims incurred in those months is generally low. This makes the completion
factor methodology less reliable for such months. Therefore incurred claims for recent months are not projected from historical completion and payment
patterns; rather they are projected by estimating the claims expense for those months based on recent claims expense levels and health care trend levels, or
“trend factors”.
Because the reserve methodology is based upon historical information, it must be adjusted for known or suspected operational and environmental
changes. These adjustments are made by our actuaries based on their knowledge and their estimate of emerging impacts to benefit costs and payment speed.
Circumstances to be considered in developing our best estimate of reserves include changes in utilization levels, unit costs, mix of business, benefit plan
designs, provider reimbursement levels, processing system conversions and changes, claim inventory levels, claim processing patterns and claim submission
patterns. A comparison of prior period
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liabilities to re-estimated claim liabilities based on subsequent claims development is also considered in making the liability determination. In the actuarial
process, the methods and assumptions are not changed as reserves are recalculated, but rather the availability of additional paid claims information drives our
changes in the re-estimate of the unpaid claim liability. To the extent appropriate, changes in such development are recorded as a change to current period
benefit expense.

In addition to the pending claims and incurred but not reported claims, the liability for medical claims payable includes reserves for premium
deficiencies, if appropriate. Premium deficiencies are recognized when it is probable that expected claims and administrative expenses will exceed future
premiums on existing medical insurance contracts without consideration of investment income. Determination of premium deficiencies for longer duration life
and disability contracts includes consideration of investment income. For purposes of premium deficiencies, contracts are grouped in a manner consistent with
our method of acquiring, servicing and measuring the profitability of such contracts.
Management regularly reviews its assumptions regarding our claims liabilities and makes adjustments to benefit expense when necessary. If it is
determined that management’s assumptions regarding cost trends and utilization are significantly different than actual results, our income statement and
financial position could be impacted in future periods. Adjustments of prior year estimates may result in additional benefit expense or a reduction of benefit
expense in the period an adjustment is made. Further, due to the considerable variability of health care costs, adjustments to claims liabilities occur each
quarter and are sometimes significant as compared to the net income recorded in that quarter. Prior year development is recognized immediately upon the
actuary’s judgment that a portion of the prior year liability is no longer needed or that additional liability should have been accrued. That determination is
made when sufficient information is available to ascertain that the re-estimate of the liability is accurate and will not fluctuate significantly with future
development.
As described above, the completion factors and trend factors can have a significant impact on the claim liability. The following example provides the
estimated impact to our December 31, 2004 unpaid claims liability assuming hypothetical changes in the completion and trend factors:
Completion Factor
(Decrease) Increase
in Completion

Factor

1

2

Claims Trend Factor
Increase (Decrease)
in Unpaid Claims
Liabilities

(Decrease) Increase
in Claim Trend

Factor

($ in Millions)

(3)%
(2)%
(1)%

1%
2%
3%
1

2

(Decrease) Increase
in Unpaid Claims
Liabilities

($ in Millions)

$606.0
395.0
193.0
(185.0)

(3)%
(2)%
(1)%

1%
2%
3%

(363.0)
(533.0)

$(154.0)
(103.0)

(51.0)
51.0
103.0

154.0

Assumes (decrease) increase in the completion factors for the most recent four months
Assumes (decrease) increase in the claims trend factors for the most recent two months

In addition, assuming a hypothetical 1% total difference between our December 31, 2004 estimated claims liability and the actual claims paid, net
income for the year ended December 31, 2004 would increase or decrease by $27.3 million while basic net income per share would increase or decrease by
$0.18 per share and diluted net income per share would increase or decrease by $0.17 per share.
As summarized below, Note 10 to our audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2004 included in this Form 10-K
provides historical information regarding the accrual and payment of our medical claims liability. Components of the total incurred claims for each year
include amounts accrued for current year estimated claims expense as well as adjustments to prior year estimated accruals. In Note
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10 to our audited consolidated financial statements, the line labeled “incurred related to prior years” accounts for those adjustments made to prior year
estimates. The impact of any reduction of “incurred related to prior years” claims may be offset as we establish the estimate of “incurred related to current
year”. Our reserving practice is to consistently recognize the actuarial best estimate of our ultimate liability for our claims within a level of confidence required
by actuarial standards. Thus, only when the release of a prior year reserve is not offset with the same level of conservatism in estimating the current year
reserve will the redundancy create a net reduction in current benefit expense. When we recognize a release of the redundancy, we disclose the amount that is not
in the ordinary course of business. We believe we have consistently applied our methodology in determining our best estimate for unpaid claims liability at
each reporting date.
A reconciliation of the beginning and ending balance for medical claims payable for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 is as follows:
2004

$

Balances at January 1, net of reinsurance

2003

2002

(In Millions)

1,833.0

$ 1,797.2

$ 1,318.6

2,394.4

(20.6)

379.4

Incurred related to:
Current year
Prior years (redundancy)

15,452.6

12,374.2
(226.2)

9,887.9

Total incurred

15,280.2

12,148.0

9,740.9

Paid related to:
Current year
Prior years

12,556.3
2,781.2

10,598.3
1,493.3

8,316.6
1,325.1

Total paid

15,337.5

12,091.6

9,641.7

4,170.1
31.9

1,833.0

8.7

1,797.2
2.8

4,202.0

$ 1,841.7

$ 1,800.0

Business combinations and purchase adjustments

(172.4)

Balances at December 31, net of reinsurance
Reinsurance recoverables at December 31

$

Balances at December 31, gross of reinsurance recoverables

Current year paid as a percent of current year incurred
Prior year incurred redundancies in the current period as a percent of prior year incurred claims

81.3%
1.4%

(147.0)

85.6%

84.1%

2.3%

1.9%

Amounts incurred related to prior years vary from previously estimated liabilities as the claims are ultimately settled. Liabilities at any year end are
continually reviewed and re-estimated as information regarding actual claims payments, or runout, becomes known. This information is compared to the
originally established year end liability. Negative amounts reported for incurred related to prior years result from claims being settled for amounts less than
originally estimated. The redundancy of $172.4 million shown in the table above and in Note 10 to our audited consolidated financial statements for the year
ended December 31, 2004, represents an estimate based on paid claim activity from January 1, 2004 to December 31, 2004. Medical claim liabilities are
usually described as having a “short tail”, which means that they are generally paid within several months of the member receiving service from the provider.
Accordingly, the majority, or approximately 81%, of the $172.4 million redundancy relates to claims incurred in calendar year 2003, with the remaining 19%
related to claims incurred in 2002 and prior.
We calculate the percentage of prior year redundancies in the current period to total incurred claims recorded in each prior year in order to demonstrate the
development of the prior year reserves. This metric was 1.4% for 2004, 2.3% for 2003 and 1.9% for 2002. The 2.3% ratio for 2003 was impacted by having
only five months of incurred claims in 2002 related to the former Trigon Healthcare, Inc. If the former Trigon Healthcare, Inc. had been included for the full
year 2002, the ratio would have been approximately 2.0% for 2003. For the
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year ended December 31, 2004, the metric was 1.4%. This ratio is calculated using the redundancy of $172.4 million, shown above, which represents an
estimate based on paid claim activity from January 1, 2004 to December 31, 2004.
The ratio of current year paid as a percent of current year incurred was 81.3% for 2004, 85.6% for 2003, and 84.1% for 2002. The 2004 ratio was
impacted by having only one month of incurred and paid claims during 2004 for the former WHN. If the former WHN had not been included during 2004, the
adjusted ratio would have been approximately 87.3% for 2004. The adjusted 2004 ratio compared to the 2003 ratio indicates that we are paying claims faster.
The increase is primarily attributable to improved processes and electronic connectivity with our provider networks. The result of these changes is an
enhanced ability to adjudicate and pay claims more quickly. To illustrate this point, using the adjusted 2004 ratio, 87.3% of current year incurred claims were
paid in the same period as incurred, as compared to 85.6% for the same period in 2003. Hence, the payment patterns in 2004 resulted in acceleration of
approximately $236.0 million, as compared to 2003 payment patterns.
The following table shows the variance between total incurred as reported in the above table for each of 2003 and 2002 and the incurred claims for such
years had it been determined retrospectively (computed as the difference between “Incurred related to current year” for the year shown and “Incurred related to
prior years” for the immediately following year):
2003

2002

Total incurred as reported
Retrospective basis

$ 12,148.0
12,201.8

Variance

$

(In Millions)

(53.8)
(0.4)%

Variance to total incurred

$ 9,740.9
9,661.7
$

79.2
0.8%

Management expects that substantially all of the development of the 2004 estimate of medical claims payable will be known during 2005. This table
shows that the Company’s estimates of this liability have approximated the actual development.

Income Taxes
We account for income taxes in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes. This standard
requires, among other things, the separate recognition of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities. Such deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities
represent the tax effect of temporary differences between financial reporting and tax reporting measured at tax rates enacted at the time the deferred tax asset or
liability is recorded. A valuation allowance must be established for deferred tax assets if it is “more likely than not” that all or a portion may be unrealized. Our
judgment is required in determining an appropriate valuation allowance.
At each financial reporting date, we assess the adequacy of the valuation allowance by evaluating each of our deferred tax assets based on the following:

•

the types of temporary differences that created the deferred tax asset;

•

the amount of taxes paid in prior periods and available for a carry-back claim;

•

the forecasted future taxable income and therefore likely future deduction of the deferred tax item; and

•

any significant other issues impacting the likely realization of the benefit of the temporary differences.

During 2004, 2003 and 2002, the valuation allowance decreased by $33.8 million, $81.9 million and $112.4 million, respectively. The 2004 and 2003
reductions resulted from utilizing alternative minimum tax, or AMT,

50

credits and net operating losses on our federal income tax return for which we had a deferred tax asset with a corresponding valuation allowance. As deferred
tax assets related to those deductions are available for use in the tax return, a valuation was no longer required and was reduced. The decrease in the valuation
allowance in 2004 was partially offset by an additional $5.6 million related to Indiana state taxes, as discussed below. During 2002 it was determined that the
only items requiring a valuation allowance were those that relate to the anticipation of future taxable income. This determination was due to the levels of taxable
income reported in our 2001 tax return, income generated during 2002 and taxable income expected in future periods.

During 2004, 2003 and 2002, we recorded additional tax liabilities of $44.1 million, $81.9 million and $57.2 million, respectively. These amounts
offset the reduction in valuation allowances discussed above. These additional liabilities were recorded for uncertainty on several tax issues, including
uncertainty arising from the lack of clear guidance from the Internal Revenue Service, or IRS, on various tax issues relating to our conversion from tax exempt
to tax paying status. During 2002, the remainder of the decrease in the valuation allowance was offset by a reduction of goodwill of $18.0 million and also a
reduction in tax expense of $37.2 million, which contributed to a reduced effective tax rate of 31.6% for the year ended December 31, 2002.
As a result of legislation enacted in Indiana on March 16, 2004, we recorded deferred tax assets and liabilities, with a corresponding net tax benefit in
our income statement of $44.8 million, or $0.29 per basic share and $0.28 per diluted share, for the year ended December 31, 2004. The legislation eliminated
the creation of tax credits resulting from the payment of future assessments to the Indiana Comprehensive Health Insurance Association, or ICHIA. ICHIA is
Indiana’s high-risk health insurance pool. Our historical ICHIA assessment payments far exceeded our Indiana income tax liability. Thus, the recognition of a
state deferred tax asset was not warranted, as a future Indiana tax liability was unlikely. Under the new legislation, ICHIA tax credits are limited to any unused
ICHIA assessment paid prior to December 31, 2004. FAS 109 requires that deferred assets or liabilities be established in the period a change in law is enacted.
These deferred tax assets and liabilities reflect temporary differences, net operating loss carryforwards and tax credits relating to our Indiana income tax filings.
Following guidance in FAS 109, a valuation allowance of $5.6 million was established for the portion of the deferred tax asset, which we believe will likely
not be utilized. There is no carryforward limitation on the tax credits and the net operating loss carryforwards do not begin to expire until 2018. We believe we
will have sufficient taxable income in future years to offset these carryforwards; therefore, no additional valuation allowance was recorded.
We, like other companies, frequently face challenges from tax authorities regarding the amount of taxes due. These challenges include questions
regarding the timing and amount of deductions that we have taken on our tax returns. In evaluating any additional tax liability associated with various
positions taken in our tax return filings, we record additional tax liability for potential adverse tax outcomes. Based on our evaluation of our tax positions, we
believe we have appropriately accrued for exposures. To the extent we prevail in matters we have accrued for, our future effective tax rate would be reduced and
net income would increase. If we are required to pay more than accrued, our future effective tax rate would increase and net income would decrease. Our
effective tax rate and net income in any given future period could be materially impacted.

In the ordinary course of business, we are regularly audited by federal and state authorities, and from time to time, these audits result in proposed
assessments. The IRS completed its examination of our 1999 and 2000 federal tax returns in the fourth quarter of 2004. We negotiated the settlement of a
number of proposed audit adjustments to which we agree that resulted in an additional $3.7 million of income tax for the 1999 and 2000 years, which was
paid in the fourth quarter of 2004. We plan to pursue an administrative appeal before the IRS relating to examination findings with which we do not agree. We
believe our tax positions comply with applicable tax law and intend to defend our positions vigorously through the IRS appeals process. We believe we have
adequately provided for any reasonable foreseeable outcome related to these matters. Accordingly, although their ultimate resolution may require additional tax
payments, we do not anticipate any material impact to earnings from these matters. The IRS began an examination of our 2001 and 2002 tax returns in
November 2004.
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For additional information, see Note 14 to our audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2004 included in this Form 10-

K.
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
Our consolidated goodwill at December 31, 2004 was $10,017.9 million and other intangible assets were $8,211.6 million. The sum of goodwill and
intangible assets represents 46% of our total consolidated assets and 94% of our consolidated shareholders’ equity at December 31, 2004.
We follow Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 141, Business Combinations , and Statement of Accounting Standards No. 142,
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets . FAS 141 specifies the types of acquired intangible assets that are required to be recognized and reported separately
from goodwill. Under FAS 142, goodwill and other intangible assets (with indefinite lives) are not amortized but are tested for impairment at least annually. We
completed our annual impairment tests of existing goodwill and other intangible assets (with indefinite lives) for each of the years ended December 31, 2004,
2003 and 2002 and based upon these tests we have not incurred any impairment losses related to any goodwill and other intangible assets (with indefinite
lives).

On November 30, 2004, we completed our merger with WHN and purchased 100% of the outstanding common stock of WHN. In accordance with FAS
141, we allocated the purchase price to the fair value of assets acquired, including intangible assets, and liabilities assumed. This allocation process included
the review of relevant information about the assets and liabilities, independent appraisals and other valuations to determine the fair value of assets acquired
and liabilities assumed. The preliminary allocation resulted in $7,579.6 million of non-tax deductible goodwill and $7,046.0 million of identifiable intangible
assets. The purchase price allocation is preliminary and additional refinements may occur, including the completion of final third-party valuations of certain
intangible assets.
On July 31, 2002, we completed our purchase of 100% of the outstanding stock of Trigon Healthcare, Inc. In accordance with FAS 141, we allocated the
purchase price to the fair value of assets acquired, including intangible assets, and liabilities assumed. This allocation process included the review of relevant
information about the assets and liabilities, independent appraisals and other valuations to determine the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed.
The allocation resulted in $2,146.1 million of non-tax deductible goodwill and $1,172.7 million of identifiable intangible assets.
While we believe we have appropriately allocated the purchase price of our acquisitions, this allocation requires many assumptions to be made regarding
the fair value of assets and liabilities acquired. In addition, the annual impairment testing required under FAS 142 requires us to make assumptions and
judgments regarding the estimated fair value of our goodwill and intangibles. Such assumptions include the discount factor used to determine the fair value of
a reporting unit, which is ultimately used to identify potential goodwill impairment. Such estimated fair values might produce significantly different results if
other reasonable assumptions and estimates were to be used. Because of the amounts of goodwill and other intangible assets included in our consolidated
balance sheet, the impairment analysis is significant. If we are unable to support a fair value estimate in future annual goodwill impairment tests or if
significant impairment indicators are noted relative to other intangible assets subject to amortization, we may be required to record impairment losses against
future income.
For additional information, see Note 4 to our audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2004 included in this Form 10-

K.
Investments
Investment securities were $13,586.9 million at December 31, 2004 and represented 34% of our total consolidated assets at December 31, 2004. In
accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No.
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115, Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities, our fixed maturity and equity securities are classified as “available-for-sale”
securities and are reported at fair value. We have determined that all investments in our portfolio, with the exception of certain securities held for contractual or
regulatory purposes, are available to support current operations, and accordingly, have classified such securities as current assets. Investment income is
recorded when earned, and realized gains or losses, determined by specific identification of investments sold, are included in income when the securities are
sold.

In addition to current available-for-sale investment securities, we held long-term investments of $748.1 million, or 2% of total consolidated assets, at
December 31, 2004. These long-term investments consist primarily of restricted assets, certain equity securities and other investments, including investments
on deposit with regulatory agencies. Due to their restricted nature, these investments are classified as long-term without regard to contractual maturity dates.
An impairment review of securities to determine if declines in fair value below cost are other-than-temporary is subjective and requires a high degree of
judgment. We evaluate our investment securities on a quarterly basis, using both quantitative and qualitative factors, to determine whether a decline in value is
other than temporary. Such factors considered include the length of time and the extent to which a security’s market value has been less than its cost, financial
condition and near term prospects of the issuer, recommendations of investment advisors, and forecasts of economic, market or industry trends. If any
declines are determined to be other than temporary, we charge the losses to income when that determination is made. The current economic environment and
recent volatility of securities markets increase the difficulty of determining fair value and assessing investment impairment. The same influences tend to
increase the risk of potential impairment of these assets. We recorded charges for other-than-temporary impairment of securities of $0.8 million, $24.4 million
and $3.1 million, respectively, for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002. During the year ended December 31, 2003, we recorded a $22.3 million
charge for other-than-temporary impairment of our equity securities, primarily due to the length of time that the securities’ fair value had been less than cost.

Management believes it has adequately reviewed for impairment and that its investment securities are carried at fair value. However, over time, the
economic and market environment may provide additional insight regarding the fair value of certain securities, which could change management’s judgment
regarding impairment. This could result in realized losses relating to other-than-temporary declines being charged against future income.
A summary of current available-for-sale investments with unrealized losses as of December 31, 2004 along with the related fair value, aggregated by the
length of time that investments have been in a continuous unrealized loss position, is as follows:
Less than
Twelve Months

Twelve Months

or More

Gross

Fair
Value

Unrealized

Losses

Total

Gross

Fair
Value

Gross

Fair
Value

Unrealized

Losses

Unrealized

Losses

(In Millions)

Fixed maturity securities:
United States
Government securities
Obligations of states and political subdivisions
Corporate securities
Mortgage-backed securities

$ 809.2
902.2
1,363.1
750.2

Total fixed maturity securities
Equity securities

Total
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$

2.4

10.6
8.4

3.6

$ —
56.3
26.5
53.4

$ —
1.1
0.7
1.0

809.2
958.5
1,389.6
803.6

2.8
—

3,960.9
82.5

27.8

2.8

$ 4,043.4

$ 31.1

3,824.7
82.5

25.0
3.3

136.2
—

$3,907.2

$ 28.3

$136.2

$

$

$

2.4

11.7
9.1
4.6

3.3

The Company’s fixed maturity investment portfolio is sensitive to interest rate fluctuations, which impact the fair value of individual securities.
Unrealized losses reported above were primarily caused by the effect of a rising interest rate environment on certain securities with stated interest rates currently
below market rates. The Company currently has the ability and intent to hold these securities until their full cost can be recovered. Therefore, the Company
does not believe the unrealized losses represent an other-than-temporary impairment as of December 31, 2004.
The Company participates in securities lending programs whereby marketable securities in its investment portfolio are transferred to independent
brokers or dealers based on, among other things, their creditworthiness in exchange for collateral initially equal to at least 102% of the value of the securities on
loan and is thereafter maintained at a minimum of 100% of the market value of the securities loaned. The market value of the securities on loan to each
borrower is monitored daily and the borrower is required to deliver additional collateral if the market value of the collateral falls below 100% of the market
value of the securities on loan. Under the guidance provided in FAS 140, Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishments
of Liabilities , the Company recognizes the collateral as an asset under “securities lending collateral” on its balance sheet and the Company records a
corresponding liability for the obligation to return the collateral to the borrower under “securities lending payable”.

Through our investing activities, we are exposed to financial market risks, including those resulting from changes in interest rates and changes in equity
market valuations. We manage the market risks through our investment policy, which establishes credit quality limits and limits of investments in individual
issuers. Ineffective management of these risks could have an impact on our future earnings and financial position.
We have evaluated the impact on the fixed maturity portfolio’s fair value considering an immediate 100 basis point change in interest rates. A 100 basis
point increase in interest rates would result in an approximate $476.7 million decrease in fair value, whereas a 100 basis point decrease in interest rates would
result in an approximate $466.7 million increase in fair value. An immediate 10% decrease in each equity investment’s value, arising from market movement,
would result in a fair value decrease of $117.3 million. Alternatively, an immediate 10% increase in each equity investment’s value, attributable to the same
factor, would result in a fair value increase of $117.3 million.

For additional information, see Part II, Item 7A of this Form 10-K, “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk” and Note 5 to our
audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2004 included in this Form 10-K.

Retirement Benefits
Pension Benefits

We sponsor defined benefit pension plans for our employees, including plans sponsored by WHN prior to the merger. These plans are accounted for in
accordance with FAS 87, Employers’ Accounting for Pensions , which requires that amounts recognized in financial statements be determined on an
actuarial basis. As permitted by FAS 87, we calculate the value of plan assets (described below). Further, the effects on our computation of pension expense
from the performance of the pension plans’ assets and changes in pension liabilities are amortized over future periods. We use a September 30 measurement
date for determining benefit obligations and fair value of plan assets. Plans sponsored by pre-merger WHN, which have historically used a December 31
measurement date, will begin using a September 30 measurement date in 2005. The effective rates discussed below are based on a weighted average of all the
plans and include the effect of using two measurement dates.
An important factor in determining our pension expense is the assumption for expected long-term return on plan assets. As of our last measurement date,
we selected an expected rate of return on plan assets of 8.00% (consistent with 8.00% for 2004 expense recognition). We use a total portfolio return analysis in
the development
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of our assumption. Factors such as past market performance, the long-term relationship between fixed maturity and equity securities, interest rates, inflation
and asset allocations are considered in the assumption. The assumption includes an estimate of the additional return expected from active management of the
investment portfolio. Peer data and historical returns are also reviewed for appropriateness of the selected assumption. The expected long-term rate of return is
calculated by the geometric averaging method, which calculates an expected multi-period return, reflecting volatility drag on compound returns. We believe our
assumption of future returns is reasonable. However, if we lower our expected long-term return on plan assets, future contributions to the pension plan and
pension expense would likely increase.

This assumed long-term rate of return on assets is applied to a calculated value of plan assets, which recognizes changes in the fair value of plan assets
in a systematic manner over three years. This produces the expected return on plan assets that is included in the determination of pension expense. The
difference between this expected return and the actual return on plan assets is deferred and amortized over the average remaining service of the workforce as a
component of pension expense. The net deferral of past asset gains or losses affects the calculated value of plan assets and, ultimately, future pension expense.
The discount rate reflects the current rate at which the pension liabilities could be effectively settled at the end of the year based on our measurement
dates. The weighted average discount rate for all plans is 5.83%, which was developed using a benchmark rate of the Moody’s Aa Corporate Bonds index.
Changes in the discount rates over the past three years have not materially affected pension expense, and the net effect of changes in the discount rate, as well
as the net effect of other changes in actuarial assumptions and experience, have been deferred and amortized as a component of pension expense in accordance
with FAS 87.

In managing the plan assets, our objective is to be a responsible fiduciary while minimizing financial risk. Plan assets include a diversified mix of
investment grade fixed maturity securities and equity securities across a range of sectors and levels of capitalization to maximize the long-term return for a
prudent level of risk.
In addition to producing a reasonable return, the investment strategy seeks to minimize the volatility in the Company’s expense and cash flow. Over
time, the Company has increased the duration and allocation of fixed maturity securities to more closely match the sensitivity of plan assets with the plan
obligations.

As of our measurement dates, we had approximately 58% of plan assets invested in equity securities, 40% in fixed maturity securities and 2% in other
assets. Approximately $10.0 million, or less than 1%, of plan assets were invested in WellPoint common stock as of December 31, 2004.

At December 31, 2004, our consolidated net prepaid pension asset was $198.7 million, a decrease from $258.3 million at December 31, 2003. The
decrease was primarily due to lower funding amounts and the addition of underfunded accrued pension benefit liabilities acquired from WHN during 2004 as
compared to 2003. We funded our cash balance pension plans in the amount of $10.0 million during 2004 and $115.0 million during 2003. For the year
ending December 31, 2005, the Company does not expect any required contributions under ERISA. The Company may elect to make discretionary
contributions up to the maximum amount deductible for income tax purposes.
For the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, we recognized consolidated pretax pension expense of $40.8 million, $21.3 million, and $14.3
million, respectively.

Other Postretirement Benefits
We provide most employees certain life, medical, vision and dental benefits upon retirement. We use various actuarial assumptions including a discount
rate and the expected trend in health care costs to estimate the costs and benefit obligations for our retiree benefits. We recognized a postretirement benefit
liability of $381.0 million at December 31, 2004.
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At our last measurement dates, the weighted average discount rate was 5.87%, developed using a benchmark rate of the Moody’s Aa Corporate Bonds
index.

The assumed health care cost trend rates used to measure the expected cost of other benefits is 9.00% for 2005 with a gradual decline to 5.15% by the
year 2009. These estimated trend rates are subject to change in the future. The health care cost trend assumption has a significant effect on the amounts
reported. For example, an increase in the assumed health care cost trend rate of one percentage point would increase the postretirement benefit obligation as of
December 31, 2004 by $36.0 million and would increase service and interest costs by $3.0 million. Conversely, a decrease in the assumed health care cost
trend rate of one percentage point would decrease the postretirement benefit obligation by $30.0 million as of December 31, 2004 and would decrease service and
interest costs by $2.5 million.

See “New Accounting Pronouncements” below for discussion of Financial Accounting Standards Board Staff Position 106-2, Accounting and
Disclosure Requirements Related to the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003.
For additional information regarding retirement benefits, see Note 17 to our audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31,
2004 included in this Form 10-K.

New Accounting Pronouncements
In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board, or FASB, issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (revised 2004),
Share-Based Payment (“FAS 123R”). FAS 123R eliminates the alternative to use the intrinsic method of accounting under Accounting Principles Board
Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees (“APB 25”), and requires all share-based payments to employees, including grants of employee
stock options, to be recognized in the income statement based on their fair values. Pro forma disclosure is no longer an alternative. FAS 123R will be effective
for us on July 1, 2005. The impact of adoption on our financial position or results of operations has not yet been determined. See Note 12 to our audited
consolidated financial statements included in this Form 10-K for our current disclosures of pro forma stock compensation expense.

In November 2003, the FASB’s Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”), as part of its discussion surrounding EITF Issue No. 03-1, The Meaning of
Other-than-Temporary Impairment and its Application to Certain Investments (“EITF 03-1”), reached a consensus to require certain year end quantitative
and qualitative disclosures about the unrealized losses from debt and equity securities, and management’s conclusion that any impairment is temporary. The
required disclosures are required to include quantitative information about (1) the aggregate amount of unrealized losses and (2) the aggregate related fair values
of investments with unrealized losses, summarized by the time period during which the investment has been in an unrealized loss position. See “Critical
Accounting Policies and Estimates – Investments” above and Note 5 to our audited consolidated financial statements included in this Form 10-K for these
required disclosures.

In September 2004, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position 03-1-1, The Meaning of Other-Than-Temporary Impairment and Its Application to
Certain Investments (“FSP 03-1-1”), which delayed the effective date for the recognition and measurement guidance of EITF 03-1, as contained in paragraphs
10-20, until certain implementation issues are addressed. The disclosure requirements of the consensus, as described in the preceding paragraph, remain in
effect. FSP 03-1-1 requires entities to continue applying relevant “other-than-temporary” guidance to determine if an impairment exists. As described in
“Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates – Investments” above, we believe we have adequately reviewed for impairment and that our investment securities
are carried at fair value.

The Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 became law in December 2003 and expanded Medicare, primarily adding
a prescription drug benefit for Medicare-eligible retirees starting
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in 2006. We anticipate that the benefits we pay in 2006 and beyond will be lower as a result of the new Medicare provisions. FASB Staff Position 106-2,
Accounting and Disclosure Requirements Related to the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 (“FSP 106-2”), was
issued in May 2004. FSP 106-2, which supersedes FSP 106-1, provides accounting guidance for employers that sponsor postretirement health care plans that
provide prescription drug benefits where the company has concluded that prescription drug benefits to “some or all participants for some or all future years are
actuarially equivalent to Medicare Part D” and will receive the subsidy available under the Act. The FSP also provides disclosure requirements about the
effects of the subsidy for companies that offer prescription drug benefits but have not yet determined whether they are actuarially equivalent to Medicare Part
D. We have determined that our prescription drug benefits are actuarially equivalent to Medicare Part D. As such, we accounted for the impact of FSP 106-2 as
required in the quarter ended September 30, 2004, using the prospective method. The impact of adopting FSP 106-2, while accretive to earnings, was not
material to our consolidated financial statements.
There were no other new accounting pronouncements issued during 2004 that had a material impact on our financial position, operating results or
disclosures.

IX.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Introduction
Our cash receipts consist primarily of premiums, administrative fees, investment income, other revenue, proceeds from the sale or maturity of our
investment securities, proceeds from borrowings, and proceeds from exercise of stock options and our employee stock purchase plan. Cash disbursements
result mainly from claims payments, administrative expenses, taxes, purchase of investment securities, interest expense, payments on long- term borrowings,
capital expenditures and repurchase of our common stock. Cash outflows fluctuate with the amount and timing of settlement of these transactions. As such,
any future decline in our profitability would likely have some negative impact on our liquidity.
We manage our cash, investments and capital structure so we are able to meet the short and long-term obligations of our business while maintaining
financial flexibility and liquidity. We forecast, analyze and monitor our cash flows to enable investment and financing within the overall constraints of our
financial strategy.

A substantial portion of the assets held by our regulated subsidiaries are in the form of cash and cash equivalents and investments. After considering
expected cash flows from operating activities, we generally invest cash that exceeds our near term obligations in longer term marketable fixed maturity
securities, to improve our overall investment income returns. Our investment strategy is to make investments consistent with insurance statutes and other
regulatory requirements, while preserving our asset base. Our investments are available for sale to meet liquidity and other needs. Excess capital is paid
annually in the form of dividends by subsidiaries to their respective parent companies for general corporate use, as permitted by applicable regulations.

The availability of financing in the form of debt or equity is influenced by many factors including our profitability, operating cash flows, debt levels,
debt ratings, contractual restrictions, regulatory requirements and market conditions. We have access to a $2.0 billion commercial paper program supported
by $2.5 billion of revolving credit facilities, which allow us to maintain further operating and financial flexibility.

Liquidity—Year Ended December 31, 2004 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2003
During 2004, net cash provided by operating activities was $1,303.2 million, as compared to $1,159.0 million in 2003, an increase of $144.2 million.
The increase resulted from improved net income, including the impact of our merger with WHN, partially offset by a decline in cash from changes in
operating assets and liabilities. Our decline in cash from changes in operating assets and liabilities included the impact of long-term compensation payments of
approximately $113.0 million made during 2004 that had been accrued in prior years.
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Net cash provided by operating activities for 2004 included one month of WHN cash flow activity following the merger. WHN reported net cash provided by
operating activities of $972.6 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2004.

Net cash used in investing activities was $2,373.9 million in 2004, compared to cash used of $1,129.2 million in 2003, an increase in cash used of
$1,244.7 million. The table below outlines the changes in investing cash flow between the two years (in millions):

$ 2,233.3
(999.3)
26.4
(15.7)

Increase in net purchases of subsidiaries
Decrease in net purchases of investments
Increase in net purchases of property and equipment
Proceeds from settlement of cash flow hedges

$ 1,244.7

Total increase in cash used in investing activities

The purchase of investment securities in 2004 decreased from 2003 as operating cash was retained for the WHN merger. The increase in 2004 subsidiary
purchases resulted primarily from the use of cash for the WHN merger, as compared to minimal activity in 2003. The increase in net property and equipment
purchases included one month of cash outflows for the pre-merger WHN companies.

Net cash provided by financing activities was $2,063.4 million in 2004 compared to cash used in financing activities of $260.2 million in 2003.
Financing activity related to the merger with WHN, as described below, contributed to the increase in cash provided by financing activities.
Effective with the WHN merger, the board of directors authorized an increase in our commercial paper program from $1,000.0 million to $2,000.0
million. In December 2004, we initially borrowed $1,500.0 million under this commercial paper program, which was used to repay a portion of our senior
credit facilities which were used at the date of the WHN merger to complete the transaction. As of December 31, 2004, $793.2 million of commercial paper
remained outstanding.

On December 9, 2004, we issued $300.0 million of 3.750% Notes due 2007, $300.0 million of 4.250% Notes due 2009, $500.0 million of 5.000% Notes
due 2014 and $500.0 million of 5.950% Notes due 2034. Net proceeds from this offering were approximately $1,583.7 million after deducting the initial
purchasers’ discount and estimated offering expenses. Proceeds from these notes were used to repay borrowings outstanding under our bridge loan and five
year credit facility, which were used at the date of the WHN merger to complete the transaction. In addition, a portion of the proceeds were used to fund the
tender offer to purchase subsidiary surplus notes. The remainder of the proceeds was used to repay amounts outstanding under our commercial paper program
described above.
During 2004, we received $159.0 million of proceeds from the issuance of common stock related to the exercise of stock options and our employee stock
purchase program. These proceeds were offset by $82.2 million of cash used to repurchase our common stock.

During 2003, $217.2 million was used to repurchase our common stock. In addition, $100.0 million was used to fund the payment of senior guaranteed
notes, which matured on July 15, 2003. These payments were offset by $57.0 million of proceeds from the issuance of common stock related to the exercise of
stock options and our employee stock purchase program.

Liquidity—Year Ended December 31, 2003 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2002
During 2003, net cash flow provided by operating activities was $1,159.0 million, as compared to $994.1 million in 2002, an increase of $164.9
million. The increase resulted from improved net income, including the
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impact of our July 31, 2002 acquisition of Trigon Healthcare, Inc. (“Trigon”), offset by a decline in operating cash flow from our operating assets and
liabilities. The decline in cash from operating assets and liabilities primarily resulted from increases in receivables resulting from growth in our revenue base,
payment for resolution of a litigation matter and higher incentive payments during 2003 as compared to 2002.

Net cash flow used in investing activities was $1,129.2 million in 2003, compared to cash used of $1,414.9 million in 2002, a decrease in cash used
of $285.7 million. The table below outlines the changes in investing cash flow between the two years (in millions):
Decrease in net purchases of subsidiaries
Increase in net purchases of investments
Decrease in net purchases of property and equipment

$ (782.1)
504.7
(8.3)

Total decrease in cash used in investing activities

$(285.7)

The purchase of investment securities increased as operating cash was invested and cash balances held by our investment managers was reduced. The
decrease in subsidiary purchases resulted primarily from minimal activity in 2003 versus 2002, which included our Trigon acquisition. The decrease in net
property and equipment purchases was nominal.

Net cash flow used in financing activities was $260.2 million in 2003 compared to cash provided by financing activities of $709.3 million in 2002.
During 2003, $217.2 million was used to repurchase our common stock. In addition, $100.0 million was used to fund the payment of senior guaranteed
notes, which matured on July 15, 2003. These payments were offset by $57.0 million of proceeds from the issuance of common stock related to the exercise of
stock options and our employee stock purchase program.
During 2002, proceeds of $938.5 million were received from the issuance of senior notes used to fund a portion of the Trigon acquisition. In addition,
$31.1 million was received from the issuance of common stock due to the exercise of stock options and from our employee stock program. Offsetting these
amounts was $256.2 million used to repurchase shares of common stock and $4.1 million used for costs related to the issuance of shares for the Trigon
acquisition.

Financial Condition
We maintained a strong financial condition and liquidity position, with consolidated cash, cash equivalents and investments, including long-term
investments, of $15.8 billion at December 31, 2004. Since December 31, 2003, total cash, cash equivalents and investments, including long-term
investments, increased by $8.3 billion, primarily resulting from our merger with WHN.
Many of our subsidiaries are subject to various government regulations that restrict the timing and amount of dividends and other distributions that may
be paid to their respective parent companies. Also, in connection with the WHN merger, the Company and certain of our subsidiaries in California and
Georgia executed undertakings with the California Department of Managed Health Care, the California Department of Insurance and the Georgia Department of
Insurance which contained various commitments, including the commitment to provide $61.5 million of support for health benefit programs in those states.
Additional undertakings include the requirement to maintain certain capital levels at those subsidiaries. During 2004, we received $1,097.7 million of
dividends from our subsidiaries. At December 31, 2004, we held at the parent company approximately $207.3 million of our consolidated $15.8 billion of
cash, cash equivalents and investments, which is available for general corporate use, including investment in our businesses, acquisitions, share and debt
repurchases and interest payments.
Our consolidated debt-to-total capital ratio (calculated as the sum of debt divided by the sum of debt plus shareholders’ equity) was 18.5% as of
December 31, 2004 and 21.7% as of December 31, 2003.
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Our senior debt is rated “BBB+” by Standard & Poor’s, “A-” by Fitch, Inc., “Baa1” by Moody’s Investor Service, Inc. and “a-” by AM Best
Company, Inc. We intend to maintain our senior debt investment grade ratings. A significant downgrade in our debt ratings could adversely affect our
borrowing capacity and costs.

Future Sources and Uses of Liquidity
On November 19, 2004, we entered into new senior revolving credit facilities with certain of our lenders. The new facilities include a $1,000.0 million
facility which expires on November 29, 2005 and a $1,500.0 million facility which will mature on November 30, 2009. These facilities replaced our $600.0
million revolving credit facility which was set to mature on June 28, 2005 and the $400.0 million revolving facility, which would have matured on November
5, 2006. Our ability to borrow under these new facilities is subject to compliance with certain covenants. As of December 31, 2004, there were no amounts
outstanding under these facilities and we were in compliance with all covenants. These revolving credit facilities support our commercial paper program
described in the next paragraph. Any borrowings under the commercial paper program will reduce the availability under the revolving credit facilities.

Effective upon the merger with WHN, the board of directors authorized an increase in our commercial paper program from $1.0 billion to $2.0 billion.
Proceeds from any issuance of commercial paper may be used for general corporate purposes, including the repurchase of our debt and common stock.
Commercial paper notes are short-term senior unsecured notes, with a maturity not to exceed 270 days from date of issuance. When issued, the notes bear
interest at current market rates. There were $793.2 million of borrowings outstanding under this commercial paper program as of December 31, 2004 .
On December 18, 2002, we filed a shelf registration with the Securities and Exchange Commission to register any combination of debt or equity
securities in one or more offerings up to an aggregate amount of $1.0 billion. Specific information regarding terms of the offering and the securities being
offered will be provided at the time of the offering. Proceeds from any offering will be used for general corporate purposes, including the repayment of debt,
capitalization of our subsidiaries or the financing of possible acquisitions or business expansion. During August 2004, $200.0 million of 3.500% Notes due
2007 were issued under the shelf registration. As of December 31, 2004, Anthem had $800.0 million of the shelf registration capacity remaining.

As discussed in “Financial Condition” above, many of our subsidiaries are subject to various government regulations that restrict the timing and
amount of dividends and other distributions that may be paid. Based upon these requirements, we are currently estimating approximately $1.2 billion of
dividends to be paid to the parent company during 2005.

During December 2004, we completed a tender offer to purchase subsidiary surplus notes from the holders, and purchased $258.0 million of 9.125%
notes due 2010 and $174.9 million of 9.000% notes due 2027. Future interest payments on these portions of the notes will be paid by the subsidiary to the
parent company, and are expected to be approximately $39.2 million annually.
In 2003, the board of directors authorized us to repurchase up to $500.0 million of stock under a program that would have expired in February 2005.
Under this program, repurchases may be made from time to time at prevailing prices, subject to certain restrictions on volume, pricing and timing. We
purchased 1.0 million shares of our common stock during the year ended December 31, 2004, at a cost of $82.3 million. We purchased nearly 3.4 million
shares of our common stock during the year ended December 31, 2003, at a cost of $217.2 million. On October 25, 2004, the board of directors authorized an
increase of $500.0 million to the program and extended the expiration date until February 2006. As of December 31, 2004, we had $700.5 million of
authorization remaining under this program.
During the year ended December 31, 2004, we funded a $10.0 million tax deductible discretionary contribution to our cash balance pension plan. Our
current funding strategy is to fund an amount at least equal to
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the minimum required funding as determined under ERISA with consideration of factors such as the minimum pension liability requirement and maximum
tax deductible amounts. We may elect to make discretionary contributions, including on a quarterly basis, up to the maximum amount deductible for income
tax purposes.

Contractual Obligations and Commitments
Our estimated contractual obligations and commitments as of December 31, 2004 are as follows:
Payments Due by Period

Contractual Obligations
and Commitments (In Millions)

Less than

More than
5 Years

Total

1 Year

1-3 Years

3-5 Years

Long term debt and capital leases
Capital leases
Operating leases
Venture capital commitments
Purchase obligations 1
Other long term liabilities reflected on our balance sheet

$ 4,276.7
32.1
871.7
26.6
129.0

$ 961.2
14.5
193.0
12.6
47.2
786.2

$1,091.9
3.9
141.8
2.9
5.9
816.3

$ 2,223.6
—

4,432.1

$ —
13.7
135.1
10.5
75.9
—

Total contractual obligations and commitments

$9,768.2

$235.2

$ 2,014.7

$ 2,062.7

$5,455.6

1

401.8

0.6
—
2,829.6

Includes obligations related to IT service agreements and telecommunication contracts

In addition to the contractual obligations and commitments discussed above, we have a variety of other contractual agreements related to acquiring
materials and services used in our operations. However, we do not believe these other agreements contain material non-cancelable commitments.

We believe that funds from future operating cash flows, cash and investments and funds available under our credit agreements or from public or private
financing sources will be sufficient for future operations and commitments and for capital acquisitions and other strategic transactions.
For additional information on our debt and lease commitments, see Notes 6 and 16, respectively, to our audited consolidated financial statements for the
year ended December 31, 2004 included in this Form 10-K.

Risk-Based Capital
Our regulated subsidiaries’ states of domicile have statutory risk-based capital, or RBC, requirements for health and other insurance companies largely
based on the NAIC’s RBC Model Act. These RBC requirements are intended to measure capital adequacy, taking into account the risk characteristics of an
insurer’s investments and products. The NAIC sets forth the formula for calculating the RBC requirements, which are designed to take into account asset
risks, insurance risks, interest rate risks and other relevant risks with respect to an individual insurance company’s business. In general, under this Act, an
insurance company must submit a report of its RBC level to the state insurance department or insurance commissioner, as appropriate, at the end of each
calendar year. Our risk-based capital as of December 31, 2004, which was the most recent date for which reporting was required, was in excess of all
mandatory RBC thresholds. In addition to exceeding the RBC requirements, we are in compliance with the liquidity and capital requirements for a licensee of
the Blue Cross Blue Shield Association and with the tangible net worth requirements applicable to certain of the Company’s California subsidiaries.

X. Safe Harbor Statement under the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995

This document contains certain forward-looking information about WellPoint, Inc. (“WellPoint”), name changed from Anthem, Inc. effective
November 30, 2004, that is intended to be covered by the safe harbor for
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“forward-looking statements” provided by the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Forward-looking statements are statements that are
not historical facts. Words such as “expect(s)”, “feel(s)”, “believe(s)”, “will”, “may”, “anticipate(s)” and similar expressions are intended to
identify forward-looking statements. These statements include, but are not limited to, financial projections and estimates and their underlying
assumptions; statements regarding plans, objectives and expectations with respect to future operations, products and services; and statements
regarding future performance. Such statements are subject to certain risks and uncertainties, many of which are difficult to predict and generally
beyond the control of WellPoint, that could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed in, or implied or projected by, the forwardlooking information and statements. These risks and uncertainties include: those discussed and identified in public filings with the U.S. Securities and
Exchange Commission (“SEC”) made by WellPoint and WellPoint Health Networks Inc. (“WHN”); trends in health care costs and utilization rates;
our ability to secure sufficient premium rate increases; competitor pricing below market trends of increasing costs; increased government regulation
of health benefits and managed care; significant acquisitions or divestitures by major competitors; introduction and utilization of new prescription
drugs and technology; a downgrade in our financial strength ratings; litigation targeted at health benefits companies; our ability to contract with
providers consistent with past practice; our ability to achieve expected synergies and operating efficiencies in the WHN merger within the expected
time-frames or at all and to successfully integrate our operations; such integration may be more difficult, time-consuming or costly than expected;
revenues following the transaction may be lower than expected; operating costs, customer loss and business disruption, including, without limitation,
difficulties in maintaining relationships with employees, customers, clients or suppliers, may be greater than expected following the transaction; our
ability to meet expectations regarding the timing, completion and accounting and tax treatments of the transaction and the value of the transaction
consideration; future bio-terrorist activity or other potential public health epidemics; and general economic downturns. Readers are cautioned not to
place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements that speak only as of the date hereof. WellPoint does not undertake any obligation to
republish revised forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances after the date hereof or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated
events. Readers are also urged to carefully review and consider the various disclosures in WellPoint’s and WHN’s various SEC reports.
ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK.
As a result of our investing and borrowing activities, we are exposed to financial market risks, including those resulting from changes in interest rates
and changes in equity market valuations. Potential impacts discussed below are based upon sensitivity analyses performed on WellPoint’s financial positions
as of December 31, 2004. Actual results could vary from these estimates. Our primary objectives with our investment portfolio are to provide safety and
preservation of capital, sufficient liquidity to meet cash flow needs, the integration of investment strategy with the business operations and an attainment of a
competitive after-tax total return.

Investments
Our investment portfolio is exposed to three primary sources of risk: credit quality risk, interest rate risk and market valuation risk.

The primary risks associated with our fixed maturity securities are credit quality risk and interest rate risk. Credit quality risk is defined as the risk of
a credit downgrade to an individual fixed maturity security and the potential loss attributable to that downgrade. Credit quality risk is managed through our
investment policy, which establishes credit quality limitations on the overall portfolio as well as diversification and percentage limits on securities of
individual issuers. The result is a well-diversified portfolio of fixed maturity securities, with an average credit rating of approximately AA. Interest rate risk is
defined as the potential for economic losses on fixed maturity securities, due to a change in market interest rates. Our fixed maturity portfolio is invested
primarily in U.S. government securities, corporate bonds, asset-backed bonds, mortgage-related securities and
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municipal bonds, all of which represent an exposure to changes in the level of market interest rates. Interest rate risk is managed by maintaining asset duration
within a band based upon our liabilities, operating performance and liquidity needs. Additionally, we have the capability of holding any security to maturity,
which would allow us to realize full par value.
Our portfolio includes corporate securities (approximately 44% of the total fixed maturity portfolio at December 31, 2004) which are subject to
credit/default risk. In a declining economic environment, corporate yields will usually increase prompted by concern over the ability of corporations to make
interest payments, thus causing a decrease in the price of corporate securities, and the decline in value of the corporate fixed maturity portfolio. This risk is
managed through fundamental credit analysis, diversification of issuers and industries and an average credit rating of the corporate fixed maturity portfolio of
approximately AA.

Our equity portfolio is comprised of large capitalization and small capitalization domestic equities, foreign equities and index mutual funds. Our equity
portfolio is subject to the volatility inherent in the stock market, driven by concerns over economic conditions, earnings and sales growth, inflation, and
consumer confidence. These systematic risks cannot be managed through diversification alone. However, more routine risks, such as stock/industry specific
risks, are managed by investing in a diversified equity portfolio.
All of our current investments are classified as available-for-sale. As of December 31, 2004, approximately 91% of our current investments were fixed
maturity securities. Market risk is addressed by actively managing the duration, allocation and diversification of our investment portfolio. We have evaluated
the impact on the fixed maturity portfolio’s fair value considering an immediate 100 basis point change in interest rates. A 100 basis point increase in interest
rates would result in an approximate $476.7 million decrease in fair value, whereas a 100 basis point decrease in interest rates would result in an approximate
$466.7 million increase in fair value. While we classify our current fixed maturity securities as “available-for-sale” for accounting purposes, we believe our
cash flows and duration of our portfolio should allow us to hold securities to maturity, thereby avoiding the recognition of losses should interest rates rise
significantly.

Our equity securities portfolio, as of December 31, 2004, was approximately 9% of our current investments. An immediate 10% decrease in each equity
investment’s value, arising from market movement, would result in a fair value decrease of $117.3 million. Alternatively, an immediate 10% increase in each
equity investment’s value, attributable to the same factor, would result in a fair value increase of $117.3 million.

Debt
Our total debt at December 31, 2004 was $4.4 billion, and included $793.2 million of commercial paper. The carrying value of the commercial paper
approximates fair value as the underlying instruments have variable interest rates at market value. The remainder of the debt is subject to interest rate risk as
these instruments have fixed interest rates and the fair value is affected by changes in market interest rates.

As of December 31, 2004, we had $150.0 million par value of notes at 4.875% due 2005, which are reported with other current liabilities, as they will
mature in August 2005. The carrying and estimated fair value of these notes was $149.8 million and $152.0 million respectively, at December 31, 2004.
We have $2,600.0 million of senior unsecured notes that have fixed interest rates. These notes, at par value, included $200.0 million of notes at 3.50%
due 2007, $300.0 million at 3.75% due 2007, $300.0 million at 4.25% due 2009, $800.0 million of 6.80% notes due 2012, $500.0 million at 5.00% due 2014
and $500.0 million at 5.95% due 2034. These notes had combined carrying and estimated fair value of $2,565.9 million and $2,707.6 million at December
31, 2004.

Our subordinated debt includes surplus notes issued by one of our insurance subsidiaries. Par value of amounts outstanding at December 31, 2004
included $42.0 million of 9.125% surplus notes due 2010 and $25.1 million of 9.000% surplus notes due 2027. Any payment of interest or principal on the
surplus notes may be
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made only with the prior approval of the Indiana Department of Insurance. The combined carrying value of the surplus notes was $66.4 million and $494.1
million at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The estimated fair value of the surplus notes exceeded the carrying value by $22.4 million and $157.9
million at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. During 2004, we completed a tender offer to purchase a portion of these surplus notes, and purchased a
net par value amount of $432.9 million. We recognized a loss of $146.1 million, which has been reported as loss on repurchase of debt securities in the
statement of income for the year ended December 31, 2004.

In addition to the surplus notes, our subordinated debt also includes $800.0 million, par value, of notes, including $450.0 million of 6.375% notes due
2006 and $350.0 million of 6.375% notes due 2012 that were obligations of WHN prior to the merger. This indebtedness was assumed in the WHN merger
by Anthem Holding Corp., a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of WellPoint. In accordance with accounting guidance for business combinations, this debt was
recorded at estimated fair value as of November 30, 2004, the date of our merger. The carrying and estimated fair value at December 31, 2004 was $848.5
million and $854.5 million, respectively.
Should interest rates increase or decrease in the future, the estimated fair value of our fixed rate debt would decrease or increase accordingly.

Hedges
We use derivative financial instruments, specifically interest rate swap agreements, to hedge exposure in interest rate risk on our borrowings. Our
derivative use is limited to hedging purposes and we do not use derivative instruments for speculative purposes. On December 13, 2004, we entered into a
$300.0 million notional amount interest rate swap agreement to exchange a fixed 3.75% rate for a LIBOR-based floating rate. This swap agreement expires on
December 14, 2007.
Changes in interest rates will affect the estimated fair value of this swap agreement. As of December 31, 2004, we recorded a liability of $0.8 million, the
estimated fair value of the swap at that date. We have evaluated the impact on the interest rate swap’s fair value considering an immediate 100 basis point
change in interest rates. A 100 basis point increase in interest rates would result in an approximate $8.4 million decrease in fair value, whereas a 100 basis
point decrease in interest rates would result in an approximate $8.6 million increase in fair value.
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Report of Independent Registered
Public Accounting Firm
Shareholders and Board of Directors
WellPoint, Inc.
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of WellPoint, Inc. (formerly Anthem, Inc.) as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the related
consolidated statements of income, shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2004. Our audits also
included the financial statement schedule listed in the Index at Item 15(a). These financial statements and schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of WellPoint, Inc. at
December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31,
2004, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also, in our opinion, the related financial statement schedule, when considered in
relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the effectiveness of WellPoint,
Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, based on criteria established in “Internal Control—Integrated Framework” issued by
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission, and our report dated March 4, 2005 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
Indianapolis, Indiana
March 4, 2005
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WellPoint, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
December 31

(In Millions, Except Share Data)
2004

2003

$13,586.9
1,457.2
1,574.6
876.4
658.5
769.9

$ 6,849.0
464.5
690.3
325.7
—
—
445.6

19,357.5
748.1
1,045.2
10,017.9
8,211.6
358.1

8,775.1
164.7
510.5
2,450.1
1,227.0
287.2

$ 39,738.4

$ 13,414.6

$

$ 1,841.7
18.4
501.9

Assets
Current assets:
Investments available-for-sale, at fair value
Cash and cash equivalents
Premium and self-funded receivables
Other receivables
Securities lending collateral
Deferred tax assets, net
Other current assets

434.0

Total current assets
Long-term investments
Property and equipment
Goodwill
Other intangible assets
Other noncurrent assets

Total assets
Liabilities and shareholders’ equity
Liabilities
Current liabilities:
Policy liabilities:
Medical claims payable
Reserves for future policy benefits
Other policyholder liabilities

4,202.0
145.0

1,209.5

Total policy liabilities
Unearned income
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Income taxes payable
Security trades pending payable
Securities lending payable
Other current liabilities

5,556.5
1,046.6
2,222.1
418.8

Total current liabilities
Long-term debt
Reserves for future policy benefits, noncurrent
Deferred income taxes
Other noncurrent liabilities

11,570.6
4,276.7
727.2
2,596.4
1,108.5

4,775.2
1,662.8
375.5

Total liabilities
Shareholders’ equity
Preferred stock, without par value, shares authorized—100,000,000;
shares issued and outstanding—none
Common stock, par value $0.01, shares authorized—900,000,000;
shares issued and outstanding: 2004, 302,626,708; 2003, 137,641,034
Additional paid in capital

20,279.4

7,414.7

84.4

658.5
1,583.7

—
3.0

17,433.6
1,960.1
(83.5)
145.8

Retained earnings
Unearned stock compensation
Accumulated other comprehensive income

Total shareholders’ equity

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity

See accompanying notes.
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2,362.0
411.1
900.5
469.5
—
—
632.1

200.8
400.4

—
1.4
4,708.7
1,154.3
(3.2)

138.7

19,459.0

5,999.9

$ 39,738.4

$ 13,414.6

WellPoint, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Income
Year ended December 31

(In Millions, Except Per Share Data)

Revenues
Premiums
Administrative fees
Other revenue

2004

2003

2002

$18,771.6
1,436.9
252.4

$ 15,167.7
1,160.2
159.2

$11,937.9
946.8
115.7

20,460.9
311.7
42.5

16,487.1
278.1
16.2

13,000.4

20,815.1

16,781.4

13,292.2

15,387.8

12,254.5

9,821.9

537.2
2,940.5

411.2
2,686.3

2,207.1

3,477.7
95.0
142.3
61.4
61.5
146.1

3,097.5
38.7
131.2
47.6
—
—

2,515.1

19,371.8

15,569.5

12,489.7

1,443.3
483.2

1,211.9
437.6

802.5
253.4

Total operating revenue
Net investment income
Net realized gains on investments

260.7
31.1

Expenses
Benefit expense
Selling, general and administrative expense
Selling expense
General and administrative expense

Total selling, general and administrative expense
Cost of drugs
Interest expense
Amortization of other intangible assets
Merger-related undertakings

Loss on repurchase of debt securities

Income before income taxes
Income taxes

308.0

24.0

98.5
30.2

—
—

Net income

$

960.1

$

774.3

$

549.1

Net income per share
Basic

$

6.29

$

5.60

$

4.61

$

6.10

$

5.45

$

4.51

Diluted

See accompanying notes.
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WellPoint, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity
Common Stock

(In Millions)

Balance at December 31, 2001
Net income
Change in net unrealized gains on investments
Change in additional minimum pension liability

Comprehensive income
Issuance of common stock and conversion of stock options in connection with
acquisition of Trigon Healthcare Inc., net of issue costs
Repurchase and retirement of common stock
Issuance of common stock for stock incentive plan and employee stock
purchase plan
Adjustments related to the 2001 demutualization

Balance at December 31, 2002
Net income
Change in net unrealized gains on investments
Change in additional minimum pension liability
Comprehensive income
Repurchase and retirement of common stock
Issuance of common stock for stock incentive plan and employee stock
purchase plan
Balance at December 31, 2003
Net income
Change in net unrealized gains on investments
Change in unrealized gains on cash flow hedge
Change in additional minimum pension liability

Comprehensive income
Issuance of common stock and conversion of stock options in connection with
WellPoint Health Networks Inc. merger, net of issue costs and
elimination of subsidiary held stock
Issuance of common stock under Equity Security Units stock purchase
contracts
Repurchase and retirement of common stock
Issuance of common stock for stock incentive plan and employee stock
purchase plan, net of repurchases under stock-for-stock option exercises
Balance at December 31, 2004

Value

Additional
Paid in
Capital

Retained
Earnings

$ 1.1

$ 1,960.8

$

Number

Par

of Shares

103.3
—
—
—

—
—
—

—
—
—

55.7
549.1
—
—

Unearned
Stock
Compensation

$

—
—
—
—

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income

$

42.4
—
87.9

Total
Shareholders

’
Equity

$

(7.6)

2,060.0
549.1
87.9
(7.6)

629.4
0.4

39.0
(4.1)

(0.1)

1.1
—

—
—

139.3
—
—
—

1.4
—
—
—

2,899.1
(132.6)

34.7

0.2
4,762.2
—
—
—

—
(123.5)

2,899.5
(256.2)

—
—

—
—

—
—

(5.3)
—

—
—

481.3
774.3
—
—

(5.3)
—
—
—

122.7
—
6.8
9.2

—

—

(217.2)

2.1

—

64.5

(3.2)
—
—
—
—

138.7
—
(2.5)
9.7
(0.1)

29.4
0.2
5,362.3
774.3

6.8
9.2
790.3

(3.4)

—

(115.9)

(101.3)

1.7

—

62.4

—

137.6
—
—
—
—

1.4
—
—
—
—

4,708.7
—
—
—
—

1,154.3
960.1
—
—
—

5,999.9
960.1
(2.5)
9.7
(0.1)

967.2

154.2

12,029.2

—

(46.9)

—

230.0

—

(1.0)

—
—

(47.7)

—
—

—
—

230.0
(82.3)

6.5

—

500.3

(106.6)

(33.4)

—

360.3

5.3

302.6

1.6

$ 3.0

See accompanying notes.
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(34.6)

$ 17,433.6

$ 1,960.1

$

(83.5)

$

145.8

11,983.9

$

19,459.0

WellPoint, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Year ended December 31

(In Millions)
2004

Operating activities
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Net realized gains on investments
Loss on repurchase of debt securities
Depreciation and amortization, net of accretion
Deferred income taxes
Loss on sale of property and equipment
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effect of business combinations:
Receivables, net
Other assets
Policy liabilities
Unearned income
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Income taxes payable
Other liabilities

$

2003

960.1

$

(42.5)
146.1
279.1
(103.4)

2002

774.3

$

(16.2)
—
245.0
(26.7)

0.8

(31.1)

—
157.0
(22.4)

2.2

0.4

(1.3)
(89.9)
25.6

(201.8)
(141.7)
104.7

34.0

84.6
61.0
152.0

191.6
(125.5)
28.5

549.1

126.7
(317.9)
227.4
47.7
15.6
104.5
135.3

123.4

1,303.2

1,159.0

Investing activities
Purchases of investments
Proceeds from sales or maturities of investments
Purchases of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired
Proceeds from sale of subsidiaries, net of cash sold
Proceeds from settlement of cash flow hedges
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment
Purchases of property and equipment

(7,249.3)
7,227.3
(2,239.9)
—
15.7
9.1
(136.8)

(5,136.3)
4,115.0
(3.5)
(3.1)
—
9.4
(110.7)

(5,062.8)
4,546.2
(789.6)
0.9
—
13.7
(123.3)

Net cash used in investing activities

(2,373.9)

(1,129.2)

(1,414.9)

Net cash provided by operating activities

Financing activities
Proceeds from commercial paper borrowings
Proceeds from long-term borrowings
Payments on long-term borrowings
Proceeds from issuance of common stock under Equity Security Units stock purchase contracts
Repurchase and retirement of common stock
Proceeds from employee stock purchase plan and exercise of stock options
Costs related to the issuance of common stock for WellPoint Health Networks Inc. merger and Trigon
Healthcare, Inc. acquisition

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities

Change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

793.2
1,770.2
(798.5)

See accompanying notes.
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—
—

—
938.5
—
—
(256.2)
31.1

(100.0)

—
(217.2)
57.0

230.0

(82.2)
159.0
(8.3)

—

(4.1)

2,063.4

(260.2)

709.3

992.7
464.5

(230.4)

288.5

694.9

406.4

$ 1,457.2

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

994.1

$

464.5

$

694.9

WellPoint, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2004

(Dollars in Millions, Except Share Data)
1. Organization
WellPoint, Inc. (“WellPoint” and collectively with its subsidiaries, the “Company”), name changed from Anthem, Inc. (“Anthem”) effective November
30, 2004, is the largest publicly traded commercial health benefits company in terms of membership in the United States, serving more than 27.7 million
members as of December 31, 2004. Through its subsidiaries, the Company offers a broad spectrum of network-based managed care plans to the large and
small employer, individual, Medicaid and senior markets. The Company’s managed care plans include preferred provider organizations (“PPOs”), health
maintenance organizations (“HMOs”), point-of-service (“POS”) plans, other hybrid plans and traditional indemnity plans. In addition, the Company provides
a broad array of managed care services to self-funded customers, including claims processing, underwriting, stop loss insurance, actuarial services, provider
network access, medical cost management and other administrative services. The Company also provides an array of specialty and other products and
services including pharmacy benefit management, group life and disability insurance benefits, dental, vision, behavioral health benefits, workers
compensation and long-term care insurance. The Company is licensed in all 50 states.

WellPoint is an independent licensee of the Blue Cross Blue Shield Association (“BCBSA”), an association of independent health benefit plans, and
serves its members as the Blue Cross licensee for California and as the Blue Cross and Blue Shield licensee for twelve other states: Colorado, Connecticut,
Georgia, Indiana, Kentucky, Maine, Missouri (excluding 30 counties in the Kansas City area), Nevada, New Hampshire, Ohio, Virginia (excluding the
Northern Virginia suburbs of Washington, D.C.) and Wisconsin. WellPoint also serves customers throughout various parts of the United States as
HealthLink and UniCare.
On November 30, 2004, Anthem and WellPoint Health Networks Inc. (“WHN”) completed their merger. WHN merged with and into Anthem Holding
Corp., a direct and wholly-owned subsidiary of Anthem, with Anthem Holding Corp. as the surviving entity in the merger. In connection with the merger,
Anthem amended its articles of incorporation to change its name to WellPoint, Inc. In addition, the ticker symbol for Anthem’s common stock listed on the
New York Stock Exchange was changed to “WLP”. WHN’s operating results are included in WellPoint’s consolidated financial statements for the period
following November 30, 2004.

2. Basis of Presentation and Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation: The accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Company include the accounts of WellPoint and its subsidiaries
and have been prepared in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”). All significant intercompany accounts and transactions
have been eliminated in consolidation.
Use of Estimates: Preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts
reported in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Investments: All current fixed maturity and equity securities are classified as “available-for-sale” and are reported at fair value. The Company has
determined its investment securities are available to support current operations and, accordingly, has classified such investment securities as current assets
without regard for contractual maturities. The unrealized gains or losses on these securities are included in accumulated other comprehensive income as a
separate component of shareholders’ equity unless the decline in value is deemed to
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be other-than-temporary, in which case securities are written down to fair value and the loss is charged to income. The Company evaluates its investment
securities for other-than-temporary declines based on quantitative and qualitative factors.

Long-term investments consist primarily of restricted assets, investments on deposit with regulatory agencies and certain equity and other investments.
The Company classifies investments used to satisfy contractual, regulatory or other requirements as long-term investments, without regard to contractual
maturity dates. Investments in certain restricted assets included in rabbi trusts are accounted for as trading securities and reported at fair value. Long-term
investments used for other contractual obligations and investments on deposit with regulatory agencies are considered available-for-sale and reported at fair
value. The Company’s investments in limited partnerships and other non-consolidated investments are generally accounted for using the equity method.
The Company participates in securities lending programs whereby marketable securities in its investment portfolio are transferred to independent
brokers or dealers based on, among other things, their creditworthiness in exchange for collateral initially equal to at least 102% of the value of the securities on
loan and is thereafter maintained at a minimum of 100% of the market value of the securities loaned. The market value of the securities on loan to each
borrower is monitored daily and the borrower is required to deliver additional collateral if the market value of the collateral falls below 100% of the market
value of the securities on loan. Under the guidance provided in FAS 140, Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishments
of Liabilities , the Company recognizes the collateral as an asset under “securities lending collateral” on its balance sheet and the Company records a
corresponding liability for the obligation to return the collateral to the borrower under “securities lending payable”.
Realized gains or losses, determined by specific identification of investments sold or impaired, are included in income.

Cash Equivalents: All highly liquid investments with maturities of three months or less when purchased are classified as cash equivalents.
Premium and Self-Funded Receivables: Premium and self-funded receivables include the uncollected amounts from insured and self-funded groups,
and are reported net of an allowance for doubtful accounts of $78.1 and $18.0 at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The allowance for doubtful
accounts is based on historical collection trends and management’s judgment regarding the ability to collect specific accounts.
Other Receivables: Other receivables include amounts for interest earned on investments, proceeds due from brokers on investment trades, government
programs, pharmacy sales, reinsurance, claim recoveries and other miscellaneous amounts due to the Company. These receivables have been reduced by an
allowance for uncollectible amounts of $84.6 and $25.1 at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.
The Company’s pharmacy benefit managers (“PBM”) contract with pharmaceutical manufacturers, some of whom provide rebates based on use of the
manufacturers’ products by the PBM’s affiliated and non-affiliated clients. The Company accrues rebates receivable on a monthly basis based on the terms of
the applicable contracts, historical data and current estimates. The PBM bills these rebates to the manufacturers on a quarterly basis. The Company records
rebates attributable to affiliated clients as a reduction to benefit expense. Rebates attributable to non-affiliated clients are accrued as rebates receivable and a
corresponding payable for the amounts of the rebates to be remitted to non-affiliated clients in accordance with their contracts is also recorded. The Company
generally receives rebates between two to five months after billing.
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Property and Equipment: Property and equipment is recorded at cost, net of accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is computed principally by the
straight-line method over estimated useful lives ranging from 15 to 39 years for buildings, two to eight years for furniture and equipment, and three to ten
years for computer software. Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the term of the related lease. Certain costs related to the development or purchase of
internal-use software are capitalized and amortized in accordance with AICPA Statement of Position 98-1, Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software
Developed or Obtained for Internal Use .

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets: The Company follows FAS 141, Business Combinations , and FAS 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible
Assets. FAS 141 requires business combinations to be accounted for using the purchase method of accounting and it also specifies the types of acquired
intangible assets that are required to be recognized and reported separately from goodwill. Under FAS 142, goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite
lives are not amortized but are tested for impairment at least annually. Goodwill represents the excess of cost of acquisition over the fair value of net assets
acquired. Other intangible assets represent the values assigned to subscriber bases, provider and hospital networks, Blue Cross and Blue Shield trademarks,
licenses, non-compete and other agreements.

Retirement Benefits: Pension benefits are recorded in accordance with FAS 87, Employers’ Accounting for Pensions . Prepaid pension benefits
represent prepaid benefit costs related to defined benefit pension plans and are reported with other noncurrent assets. Liabilities for pension benefits are reported
with other noncurrent liabilities.
Postretirement benefits represent outstanding obligations for retiree medical, life, vision and dental benefits. These benefits are accrued in accordance
with FAS 106, Employers’ Accounting for Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions . The Company accrues the estimated costs of retiree health and
other postretirement benefits during the periods in which eligible employees render service to earn the benefits, and are reported with other noncurrent liabilities.

The “Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003” became law in December 2003 and expanded Medicare, primarily
adding a prescription drug benefit for Medicare-eligible retirees starting in 2006. The Company anticipates that the retiree medical benefits it pays in 2006 and
beyond will be lower as a result of the new Medicare provisions. The Company has adopted accounting guidance under Financial Accounting Standards
Board Staff Position (“FSP”) 106-1 and 106-2, Accounting and Disclosure Requirements Related to the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and
Modernization Act of 2003. The impact of adopting FSP 106-1 and 106-2, while accretive to earnings, is not material to the consolidated financial
statements.

Medical Claims Payable: Liabilities for medical claims payable include estimated provisions for both reported and unreported claims incurred on an
undiscounted basis, as well as estimated provisions for expenses related to the processing of claims. The liabilities are developed using actuarial principles and
assumptions that consider, among other things, contractual requirements, historical utilization trends, claim submission and payment patterns, benefit
changes, medical inflation, product mix, seasonality, membership and other relevant factors. The liabilities are regularly reviewed and adjusted for known or
suspected operational and environmental changes. Due to the considerable variability of health care costs, adjustments to claims liabilities occur each quarter.
Although it is not possible to measure the degree of variability inherent in such estimates, management believes these liabilities are adequate and has
consistently applied the methodology in determining the best estimate for medical claims payable at each reporting date.
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Premium deficiencies are recognized when it is probable that expected claims and loss adjustment expenses will exceed future premiums on existing
medical insurance contracts without consideration of investment income. Determination of premium deficiencies for longer duration life and disability
contracts includes consideration of investment income. For purposes of premium deficiencies, contracts are deemed to be either short or long duration and are
grouped in a manner consistent with the Company’s method of acquiring, servicing and measuring the profitability of such contracts. Once established,
premium deficiencies are amortized over the remaining life of the contract.

Reserves for Future Policy Benefits: Reserves for future policy benefits include liabilities for life and long-term disability insurance policy benefits
based upon interest, mortality and morbidity assumptions from published actuarial tables, modified based upon the Company’s experience. Future policy
benefits also include liabilities for insurance policies for which some of the premiums received in earlier years are intended to pay anticipated benefits to be
incurred in future years. Future policy benefits are continually monitored and reviewed, and when reserves are adjusted, differences are reflected in benefit
expense. The current portion of reserves for future policy benefits relates to the portion of such reserves that the Company expects to pay within one year. The
Company believes that its liabilities for future policy benefits, along with future premiums received, are adequate to satisfy its ultimate benefit liability;
however, these estimates are inherently subject to a number of variable circumstances. Consequently, the actual results could differ materially from the
amounts recorded in the consolidated financial statements of the Company.
Other Policyholder Liabilities: Other policyholder liabilities include certain case-specific reserves as well as rate stabilization reserves associated with
retrospective rated insurance contracts. Rate stabilization reserves represent accumulated premiums that exceed what customers owe based on actual claim
experience and are paid based on contractual requirements.
Hedging Activity: The Company uses derivative financial instruments, specifically interest rate swap agreements, to hedge exposures in interest rate
risk. The counterparties to these contractual arrangements are major financial institutions with which the Company also has other financial relationships.
These counterparties expose the Company to credit loss in the event of non performance. However, the Company does not anticipate nonperformance by the
counterparties. FAS 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities (“FAS 133”), as amended, requires that derivatives be recorded on
the balance sheet as either assets or liabilities at fair value and establishes hedge accounting treatment for hedges of changes in the fair value of assets,
liabilities or firm commitments (fair value hedges), and hedges of variable cash flows of recognized assets or liabilities, or of forecasted transactions (cash
flow hedges). Changes in the fair value of derivatives that do not meet hedge criteria are included in income at the time of change in value. For fair value
hedges, any gains or losses are recognized in income in the period that a change in value occurs. In addition, changes in the fair value of the hedged item are
simultaneously recognized in income. For cash flow hedges, the effective portion of a derivatives gain or loss is recorded in other comprehensive income and
subsequently recognized in earnings in the same period or periods the hedge forecasted transaction affects earnings. The Company does not use derivative
instruments for speculative purposes.

Comprehensive Income: Comprehensive income includes net income, the change in unrealized gains (losses) on investments, the change in unrealized
gains (losses) on cash flow hedges, and the change in the additional minimum pension liability. Other comprehensive income is net of reclassification
adjustments to adjust for items currently included in net income, such as realized gains on investment securities.
Revenue Recognition: Gross premiums for fully-insured contracts are recognized as revenue over the period insurance coverage is provided. Premiums
applicable to the unexpired contractual coverage periods are
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reflected in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets as unearned income. Premiums include revenue from retrospective rated contracts where revenue is
based on the estimated ultimate loss experience of the contract. Premium revenue includes an adjustment for retrospective rated refunds based on an estimate of
incurred claims. Premium rates for certain lines of business are subject to approval by the Department of Insurance of each respective state.

Administrative fees include revenue from certain group contracts that provide for the group to be at risk for all, or with supplemental insurance
arrangements, a portion of their claims experience. The Company charges these self-funded groups an administrative fee, which is based on the number of
members in a group or the group’s claim experience. In addition, administrative fees include amounts received for the administration of Medicare or certain
other government programs. Under the Company’s self-funded arrangements, revenue is recognized as administrative services are performed. All benefit
payments under these programs are excluded from benefit expense.

Other revenue principally includes amounts from mail-order prescription drug sales, which are recognized as revenue when the Company ships
prescription drug orders.

Federal Income Taxes: The Company files a consolidated income tax return. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the
differences between the financial and income tax reporting bases of assets and liabilities based on enacted tax rates and laws. The deferred income tax expense
or benefit generally represents the net change in deferred income tax assets and liabilities during the year. The current income tax expense represents the tax
consequences of revenues and expenses currently taxable or deductible on various income tax returns for the year reported.

Stock-Based Compensation: The Company has a plan that provides for stock-based compensation, including stock options, restricted stock awards
and an employee stock purchase plan. Stock options are granted for a fixed number of shares with an exercise price at least equal to the fair value of the shares
at the date of the grant. Restricted stock awards are issued at the fair value of the stock on the grant date. The employee stock purchase plan allows for a
purchase price per share which is 85% of the lower of the fair value of a share of common stock on (i) the first trading day of the plan quarter, or (ii) the last
trading day of the plan quarter. The Company accounts for stock-based compensation using the intrinsic method under Accounting Principles Board Opinion
No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees (“APB 25”), and, accordingly, recognizes no compensation expense related to stock options and
employee stock purchases. For grants of restricted stock, other than those awarded under long-term incentive agreements, unearned compensation equivalent to
the fair value of the shares at the date of grant is recorded as a separate component of shareholders’ equity and subsequently amortized to compensation
expense over the vesting period. The Company has adopted the disclosure-only provisions of FAS 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation (“FAS
123”), as amended by FAS 148, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation-Transition and Disclosure .
On December 16, 2004, FAS 123 (revised 2004), Share-Based Payment (“FAS 123R”), was issued. FAS 123R is a revision of FAS 123, supersedes
APB 25 and amends FAS 95, Statement of Cash Flows . Generally, the approach in FAS 123R is similar to the approach described in FAS 123. However,
FAS 123R requires all share-based payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options, to be recognized in the income statement based on their
fair values and pro forma disclosure is no longer an alternative. Additionally, excess tax benefits, as defined in FAS 123R, will be recognized as an addition to
additional paid-in-capital and will be reclassified from operating cash flows to financing cash flows in the consolidated statement of cash flows. The
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Company expects to adopt FAS 123R no later than July 1, 2005. We are currently evaluating the effect that FAS 123R will have on our financial position,
results of operations, and operating cash flows.
The Company’s stock-based employee compensation plans are described in Note 12. The following table illustrates the effect on net income and
earnings per share if the Company had applied the fair value recognition provisions of the original FAS 123 to stock-based employee compensation:
2004

2003

2002

Reported net income
Add: Stock-based employee compensation expense for restricted stock and stock awards included in reported net
income (net of tax)
Less: Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined under fair value based method for all awards (net
of tax)

$ 960.1

$ 774.3

$549.1

6.6

1.7

1.0

(89.5)

(24.6)

(14.1)

Pro forma net income

$ 877.2

$ 751.4

$ 536.0

$6.29
5.75

$5.60
5.43

$4.61
4.50

6.10
5.60

5.45
5.29

4.51

Basic earnings per share:
As reported
Pro forma
Diluted earnings per share:
As reported
Pro forma

4.42

Earnings Per Share: Earnings per share amounts, on a basic and diluted basis, have been calculated based upon the weighted-average common
shares outstanding for the period.
Basic earnings per share excludes dilution and is computed by dividing income available to common shareholders by the weighted-average number of
common shares outstanding for the period. Diluted earnings per share includes the dilutive effect of stock options, restricted stock and purchase contracts
included in Equity Security Units, using the treasury stock method. The treasury stock method assumes exercise of stock options, vesting of restricted stock
and conversion of stock purchase rights under purchase contracts included in Equity Security Units, with the assumed proceeds used to purchase common
stock at the average market price for the period. The difference between the number of shares assumed issued and number of shares assumed purchased
represents the dilutive shares. The purchase contracts included in Equity Security Units were settled in November 2004, and the common stock issued is
included in the basic earnings per share calculation at December 31, 2004. Under long-term incentive plans, when cumulative net income, as defined, met or
exceeded threshold targets, contingently issuable shares were dilutive to earnings per share.

Reclassifications: Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation.
3. Business Combinations
Merger with WellPoint Health Networks Inc.
As described in Note 1, on November 30, 2004, Anthem completed its merger with WHN and purchased 100% of the outstanding common stock of
WHN. As a result of the merger, each WHN stockholder received
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$23.80 in cash, without interest, and one share of WellPoint common stock for each share of WHN common stock held. The purchase price was $16,022.3
and included cash of $3,718.8, the issuance of approximately 155.3 million shares of WellPoint common stock, valued at $11,293.8, WHN stock options
converted to WellPoint stock options and other stock awards for approximately 21.8 million shares, valued at $806.3 and $203.4 of estimated transaction
costs. The fair value of common stock issued was based on $72.70 per share, which represents the average closing price of the Company’s common stock for
the five trading days ranging from two days before to two days after October 27, 2003, the date the merger was announced.
As further described in Note 6, on November 30, 2004, the Company borrowed $500.0 under its bridge loan facility, $900.0 under a 364-day facility
and $1,400.0 under a five year senior credit facility to partially fund the cash portion of the purchase price. The remainder of the cash portion of the purchase
price was funded through the sale of investment securities and from available cash. Debt of $2,800.0 initially incurred with the WHN merger was reduced to
$1,893.2 at December 31, 2004.
In accordance with FAS 141, the purchase price was allocated to the fair value of WHN assets acquired and liabilities assumed, including identifiable
intangible assets. The excess of purchase price over the fair value of net assets acquired resulted in $7,579.6 of estimated non-tax deductible goodwill, of
which $7,200.6 was allocated to the Health Care segment and $379.0 to the Specialty segment. The purchase price allocation is preliminary and additional
refinements may occur, including the completion of final third-party valuations of certain intangible assets.
The estimated fair values of WHN assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of the merger are summarized as follows:

$ 11,359.7
7,579.6
7,046.0
1,123.0

Current assets
Goodwill
Other intangible assets
Other noncurrent assets

Total assets acquired

27,108.3

Current liabilities
Noncurrent liabilities

6,949.7
4,136.3

Total liabilities assumed

11,086.0
$ 16,022.3

Net assets acquired

Of the $7,046.0 of acquired intangible assets, $4,370.0 was assigned to Blue Cross and Blue Shield trademarks, $295.0 was assigned to provider
networks, and $251.0 was assigned to a license for a state sponsored program, which are not subject to amortization due to their indefinite life. The remaining
acquired intangible assets consist of $2,030.0 of subscriber base with an average life of 20 years and $100.0 of provider contracts with a 30 year life.
The results of operations for WHN are included in WellPoint’s consolidated financial statements for the period following November 30, 2004.

In connection with the WHN merger, the Company executed certain undertakings with the California Department of Managed Health Care, the
California Department of Insurance (“California DOI”), and the
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Georgia Department of Insurance (“Georgia DOI”) which contained various commitments by the Company. Expenses for merger related undertakings of $61.5
were recorded in 2004 for certain obligations under our agreements with the California DOI and the Georgia DOI. Specifically, WellPoint committed to
donations of $35.0 to community clinics in California and $15.0 for a program to be conducted through California community colleges to support the training
of new nurses in California. Further, Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Georgia, Inc. and Blue Cross and Blue Shield Healthcare Plan of Georgia, Inc.,
committed to spend $11.5 for the establishment and administration of a telemedicine network to benefit health care in rural Georgia.
The unaudited pro forma information includes the results of operations for WHN for the periods prior to the merger, adjusted for interest expense on
long-term debt and reduced investment income related to the cash and investment securities used to fund the acquisition, additional amortization and
depreciation associated with the purchase and the related income tax effects. The unaudited pro forma financial information is presented for informational
purposes only and may not be indicative of the results of operations had WHN been owned by WellPoint for the full years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003,
nor is it necessarily indicative of future results of operations. The following summary of unaudited pro forma financial information presents revenues, net
income and per share data of WellPoint as if the WHN merger had occurred on January 1, 2003.
Year Ended December 31

2004

Revenues
Net income
Pro forma earnings per share:

Basic
Diluted
Pro forma shares outstanding (millions):

Basic

$ 42,134.1
1,918.6

$

37,234.9
1,504.1

$
$

$
$

5.12
4.97

6.52
6.31
294.4
303.9

Diluted

2003

293.6
302.6

Acquisition of Trigon Healthcare, Inc.
On July 31, 2002, the Company completed its purchase of 100% of the outstanding stock of Trigon Healthcare, Inc. (“Trigon”). Trigon was Virginia’s
largest health care company and was the Blue Cross and Blue Shield licensee in Virginia, excluding the immediate suburbs of Washington, D.C.

Trigon’s shareholders each received consideration of thirty dollars in cash and 1.062 shares of the Company’s common stock for each Trigon share
outstanding. The purchase price was $4,038.1 and included cash of $1,104.3, the issuance of approximately 39.0 million shares of the Company’s common
stock, valued at $2,708.1, Trigon stock options converted into Company stock options for approximately 3.9 million shares, valued at $195.5 and $30.2 of
transaction costs. On July 31, 2002, the Company issued $950.0 of long-term senior unsecured notes which were used, along with the sale of investment
securities and available cash, to fund the cash portion of the purchase price.
In accordance with FAS 141, the purchase price was allocated to the fair value of Trigon assets acquired and liabilities assumed, including identifiable
intangible assets. The excess of purchase price over the fair value of net assets acquired resulted in $2,146.1 of non-tax deductible goodwill, which is allocated
to the Health Care segment.
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The estimated fair values of Trigon assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition are summarized as follows:
Goodwill
Other intangible assets
Other noncurrent assets

$

1,958.4
2,146.1
1,172.7
208.8

Total assets acquired

5,486.0

Current liabilities
Noncurrent liabilities

904.2
543.7

Current assets

1,447.9

Total liabilities assumed

$

Net assets acquired

4,038.1

Of the $1,172.7 of acquired intangible assets, $706.4 was assigned to Blue Cross and Blue Shield trademarks, which are not subject to amortization
due to their indefinite life. The remaining acquired intangible assets consist of $453.7 of subscriber base with a weighted-average life of 23 years, $8.4 of
provider and hospital networks with a 20 year life, and $4.2 of non-compete agreements with a 26 month life.
The results of operations for Trigon are included in the Company’s consolidated statement of income after the completion of the acquisition on July 31,
2002.

The unaudited pro forma information includes the results of operations for Trigon for the periods prior to the acquisition, adjusted for interest expense
on long-term debt and reduced investment income related to the cash and investment securities used to fund the acquisition, additional amortization and
depreciation associated with the purchase and the related income tax effects. The unaudited pro forma financial information is presented for informational
purposes only and may not be indicative of the results of operations had Trigon been owned by the Company for the full year ended December 31, 2002, nor
is it necessarily indicative of future results of operations. The following summary of unaudited pro forma financial information for the year ended December
31, 2002 presents revenues, net income and per share data of WellPoint as if the Trigon acquisition had occurred on January 1, 2002.
Revenues
Net income
Pro forma earnings per share:

Basic
Diluted
Pro forma shares outstanding (millions):

$

15,254.5
592.0

$
$

4.18
4.07

141.5
145.4

Basic
Diluted

Other
During 2002, in addition to Trigon, the Company completed two other acquisitions and made an additional contingent purchase price payment on a
1999 acquisition with an aggregate purchase price of $22.1. Goodwill recognized in these transactions amounted to $14.1 of which $9.4 was deductible for
tax purposes. Goodwill
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assigned to the Health Care and Specialty segments is $10.7 and $3.4, respectively. The pro forma effects of the acquisitions on results for periods prior to the
purchase dates are not material to the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

4. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
A summary of the change in the carrying amount of goodwill by reportable segment (see Note 20) for 2004 and 2003 is as follows:
Health Care

$ 2,475.3

Balance as of December 31, 2002
Goodwill acquired
Adjustments

$

(37.8)

9.6
—
—

2,440.5
7,206.7
(17.9)

9.6
379.0
—

3.0

Balance as of December 31, 2003
Goodwill acquired
Adjustments

$ 9,629.3

Balance as of December 31, 2004

Total

Specialty

$ 2,484.9
3.0

(37.8)

2,450.1
7,585.7
(17.9)

$ 388.6

$ 10,017.9

Goodwill acquired in 2004 included $7,579.6 related to the merger with WHN and $6.1 of additional goodwill related to a contingent earnout for a
subsidiary in our Health Care segment. Goodwill adjustments of $17.9 relate to the exercise of stock options issued as part of the Trigon acquisition.
Goodwill adjustments for 2003 of $37.8 for the Health Care segment include a $16.4 tax benefit associated with the exercise of stock options issued as
part of the Trigon acquisition and $21.4 for purchase accounting adjustments.
The components of other intangible assets as of December 31, 2004 and 2003 are as follows:
December 31, 2004

Gross
Carrying
Amount

Intangible assets with finite lives:
Subscriber base
Provider and hospital networks
Other

Intangible assets with indefinite life:
Blue Cross and Blue Shield trademarks
Provider relationships
License

December 31, 2003

Net
Carrying
Amount

Gross
Carrying
Amount

$ 2,398.0
120.1
3.6

$ 519.1

14.6

$ (151.2)
(13.7)
(11.0)

15.1

(95.8)
(10.5)
(8.6)

2,697.6

(175.9)

2,521.7

568.0

(114.9)

453.1

5,143.9
295.0
251.0

—
—
—

5,143.9
295.0
251.0

773.9
—
—

—
—
—

773.9
—
—

5,689.9

—

5,689.9

773.9

—

773.9

$ 8,211.6

$ 1,341.9

$ 2,549.2
133.8

$ 8,387.5

Accumulated
Amortization

$ (175.9)

33.8

Net
Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization

$

$ (114.9)

$

6.5

$ 1,227.0

As required by FAS 142, the Company completed its annual impairment tests of existing goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite lives
during the fourth quarters of 2004, 2003 and 2002. These tests involved the
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use of estimates related to the fair value of the business with which the goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite lives are allocated. There were no
impairment losses recorded during 2004, 2003 and 2002.

Aggregate amortization expense for intangible assets with finite lives for 2004, 2003 and 2002 was $61.4, $47.6 and $30.2, respectively. As of
December 31, 2004, estimated amortization expense for each of the five years ending December 31, is as follows: 2005, $234.7; 2006, $223.3; 2007, $211.3;

2008, $199.5; and 2009, $187.2.
5. Investments
A summary of available-for-sale investments is as follows:
Gross Unrealized

Cost or
Amortized
Cost

Gains

Estimated
Fair Value

(Losses)

December 31, 2004
Fixed maturity securities:
United States Government securities
Obligations of states and political subdivisions
Corporate securities
Mortgage-backed securities

$ 1,504.7
2,434.9
5,328.5
3,018.6

$

12,286.7
1,089.3

Total fixed maturity securities
Equity securities

9.2

$

101.5
29.8

(2.4)
(11.7)
(9.1)
(4.6)

$ 1,511.5
2,437.5
5,420.9

154.8
87.2

(27.8)
(3.3)

12,413.7
1,173.2

(31.1)

$13,586.9

14.3

$ 13,376.0

$

242.0

$

$ 1,182.0
13.2
2,955.3
2,319.4

$

24.3
0.3

$

3,043.8

December 31, 2003
Fixed maturity securities:
United States Government Securities
Obligations of states and political subdivisions
Corporate securities
Mortgage-backed securities

Total fixed maturity securities
Equity securities

(2.0)

$

—

1,204.3

13.5

127.0

(5.0)

3,077.3

47.4

(6.6)

2,360.2

6,469.9
167.5

199.0
26.2

(13.6)
—

6,655.3
193.7

$ 6,637.4

$ 225.2

$ (13.6)

$ 6,849.0

The amortized cost and fair value of fixed maturity securities at December 31, 2004, by contractual maturity, are shown below. Expected maturities may
be less than contractual maturities because the issuers of the securities may have the right to prepay obligations without prepayment penalties.
Amortized
Cost

$

Due in one year or less
Due after one year through five years
Due after five years through ten years
Due after ten years

Mortgage-backed securities
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357.3
3,962.1
3,681.3
1,267.4

Estimated
Fair Value

$

358.1
3,980.8
3,741.3

1,289.7

9,268.1
3,018.6

9,369.9

$ 12,286.7

$ 12,413.7

3,043.8
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Proceeds from sales of fixed maturity and equity securities during 2004, 2003 and 2002 were $7,227.3, $4,115.0 and $4,535.9, respectively. Gross
gains of $95.4, $60.4 and $72.7 and gross losses of $51.4, $18.2 and $39.2 were realized on those sales in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
The Company recorded charges for other-than-temporary impairment of securities of $0.8, $24.4 and $3.1, respectively, for 2004, 2003 and 2002.
Charges for other-than-temporary impairment of securities are reported with net realized gains on investments.
A summary of available-for-sale investments with unrealized losses as of December 31, 2004 and 2003 along with the related fair value, aggregated by
the length of time that investments have been in a continuous unrealized loss position, is as follows:
Less than
Twelve Months

Twelve Months

or More

Gross
Estimated
Fair Value

Unrealized

Losses

Total

Gross

Gross

Estimated
Fair Value

Unrealized

$

—
56.3
26.5
53.4

$ —
1.1
0.7
1.0

809.2
958.5
1,389.6
803.6

2.8
—

3,960.9
82.5

27.8

2.8

$ 4,043.4

$ 31.1

0.2

$

$

Losses

Estimated
Fair Value

Unrealized

Losses

December 31, 2004
Fixed maturity securities:
United States Government securities
Obligations of states and political subdivisions
Corporate securities
Mortgage-backed securities

$ 809.2
902.2
1,363.1
750.2

Total fixed maturity securities
Equity securities

$

2.4

10.6
8.4

3.6

3,824.7
82.5

25.0
3.3

136.2
—

$3,907.2

$ 28.3

$ 136.2

$

$ 172.4
—

$

$

$

$

$

2.4

11.7
9.1
4.6

3.3

December 31, 2003
Fixed maturity securities:
United States Government securities
Obligations of states and political subdivisions
Corporate securities
Mortgage-backed securities

404.1

562.9

Total fixed maturity securities
Equity securities

1.8
—
5.0
6.6

1,139.4
—

13.4

$1,139.4

$ 13.4

3.6
—
—
—

—
—
—

3.6
—

—
$

3.6

0.2

—
$

0.2

176.0
—
404.1

562.9
1,143.0

—
$ 1,143.0

2.0

—
5.0
6.6
13.6
—
$ 13.6

The Company’s fixed maturity investment portfolio is sensitive to interest rate fluctuations, which impact the fair value of individual securities.
Unrealized losses reported above were generally caused by the effect of a rising interest rate environment on certain securities with stated interest rates currently
below market rates. The Company has the ability and intent to hold these securities until their full cost can be recovered. Therefore, the Company does not
believe the unrealized losses represent an other-than-temporary impairment as of December 31, 2004.
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Long-term investments classified as available-for-sale had an estimated fair value and amortized cost of $271.4 and $268.5 as of December 31, 2004,
respectively, and $124.5 and $118.7 as of December 31, 2003, respectively.
Restricted assets accounted for as trading securities totaled $310.2 and $0.0 as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Realized gains and losses
from trading activities were not material to the consolidated statements of income.

The Company’s holdings in other long-term investments totaled $166.5 and $40.2 as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.
The major categories of net investment income related to investments available-for-sale and long-term investments for the years ended December 31 are as
follows:

Fixed maturity securities
Equity securities
Cash, cash equivalents and other

2004

2003

2002

$299.1
8.1
12.6

$274.5
3.7

$255.2
3.6

6.6

7.0

319.8

Investment revenue
Investment expense

(8.1)

$ 311.7

Net investment income

284.8
(6.7)

$278.1

265.8
(5.1)
$ 260.7

During 2004, the Company entered into securities lending programs that were historically transacted by WHN. Securities on loan under the Company’s
securities lending programs are included in the cash and investment captions shown on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Under these programs,
brokers and dealers who borrow securities are required to deliver substantially the same security to the Company upon completion of the transaction. The
balance of securities on loan as of December 31, 2004 was $658.5. Income earned on security lending transactions for the year ended December 31, 2004 was

$0.1.
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At December 31 the carrying value of long-term debt consists of the following:
2004

Surplus notes at 9.125% due 2010
Surplus notes at 9.000% due 2027
Senior unsecured notes at 6.800% due 2012
Senior unsecured notes at 4.875% due 2005
Subordinated debentures included in Equity Security Units at 5.950% due 2006
Senior unsecured notes at 3.500% due 2007
Senior unsecured notes at 3.750% due 2007
Senior unsecured notes at 4.250% due 2009
Senior unsecured notes at 5.000% due 2014
Senior unsecured notes at 5.950% due 2034
Senior unsecured notes at 6.375% due 2006
Senior unsecured notes at 6.375% due 2012
Commercial paper program
Other

$

2003

41.6
24.8
791.8
149.8
—
192.8
297.4
297.3
492.8
493.8
469.6
378.9
793.2

$ 296.7
197.4
790.7
149.4

3.2

4.7

4,427.0
(150.3)

Long-term debt
Current portion of long-term debt

$4,276.7

Long-term debt, less current portion

224.3

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
1,663.2
(0.4)

$1,662.8

Current portion of long-term debt is reported with other current liabilities and at December 31, 2004 includes senior unsecured notes at 4.875% of
$149.8, which mature in August 2005.

The Company had cash requirements of approximately $4,000.0 for the WHN merger, including both the cash portion of the purchase price and
estimated transaction costs. In anticipation of the merger, on November 15, 2004, the Company entered into a bridge loan agreement under which it could
borrow up to $3,000.0. The amounts available under this bridge loan were reduced to $1,500.0 upon the Company entering into the senior credit facilities
described in the paragraph below. On November 30, 2004, the Company borrowed $500.0 under this bridge facility to partially fund the WHN merger. As
further described below, senior unsecured notes were issued to replace this bridge loan during December 2004. Upon issuance of the senior unsecured notes,
the $500.0 of borrowings under the bridge loan was required to be repaid and the commitments under the bridge loan agreement were terminated.
On November 19, 2004, the Company entered into new senior credit facilities with certain of its lenders (i) in connection with the pending merger with
WHN, (ii) to replace the existing $600.0 revolving credit facility set to mature on June 28, 2005 and the $400.0 revolving facility, which would have matured
on November 5, 2006, and (iii) for general corporate purposes. The new facilities include a $1,000.0 364-day credit facility which expires on November 29,
2005 and a $1,500.0 five year facility which matures on November 30, 2009. The Company’s ability to borrow under these facilities is subject to compliance
with certain covenants. On November 30, 2004, Anthem borrowed $900.0 under the 364-day facility and $1,400.0 under the five year facility to partially fund
the WHN merger. As described in more detail below, senior unsecured notes and commercial paper were issued to replace these borrowings during December
2004. There were no amounts outstanding under the senior credit facilities and the Company was in compliance with the covenants as of December 31, 2004.
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Effective upon the merger with WHN, the board of directors authorized an increase in the Company’s commercial paper program from $1,000.0 to
$2,000.0, the proceeds of which may be used for general corporate purposes, including the repurchase of the Company’s debt and common stock. The
Company initially borrowed $1,500.0 under this commercial paper program, which was used to repay a portion of the senior credit facilities described above.
As of December 31, 2004, $793.2 of commercial paper remained outstanding. Commercial paper borrowings have been classified as long-term debt at
December 31, 2004 in accordance with FAS 6, Classification of Short-Term Obligations Expected to Be Refinanced , as the Company’s practice and intent
is to replace short-term commercial paper outstanding at expiration with additional short-term commercial paper for an uninterrupted period extending for more
than one year or with borrowings under the senior credit facilities, including the $1,500.0 five year facility described above.

Surplus notes ($42.0 at 2004 and $300.0 at 2003 of 9.125% notes due 2010 and $25.1 at 2004 and $200.0 at 2003 of 9.000% notes due 2027) are
unsecured obligations of Anthem Insurance Companies, Inc. (“Anthem Insurance”), a wholly owned subsidiary, and are subordinate in right of payment to all
of Anthem Insurance’s existing and future indebtedness. Any payment of interest or principal on the surplus notes may be made only with the prior approval
of the Indiana Department of Insurance (“IDOI”), and only out of capital and surplus funds of Anthem Insurance that the IDOI determines to be available for
the payment under Indiana insurance laws. During December 2004, WellPoint completed a tender offer to purchase Anthem Insurance surplus notes from the
holders, and purchased $258.0 of 9.125% notes due 2010 and $174.9 of 9.000% notes due 2027. The Company recorded a loss of $146.1 which has been
recorded as loss on repurchase of debt securities in the statement of income for the year ended December 31, 2004.

On July 31, 2002, the Company issued $950.0 of long-term senior unsecured notes ($800.0 of 6.800% notes due 2012 and $150.0 of 4.875% notes due
2005). The net proceeds of $938.5 from the note offerings were used to pay a portion of the cash consideration and expenses associated with the acquisition of
Trigon.
Subordinated debentures included in Equity Security Units were unsecured and subordinated in right of payment to all existing and future senior
indebtedness. During August 2004, the Company completed a remarketing of its $230.0 subordinated debentures included in Equity Security Units, as
required under the terms of the Equity Security Units issued in November 2001. As a result of the remarketing, the interest rate on the subordinated debentures
was reset to 4.655%.
Proceeds from the remarketing were used to purchase U.S. Treasury securities which were held by a collateral agent to satisfy the stock purchase
contract portion of the Equity Security Units. In November 2004, proceeds of $230.0 were received from the collateral agent, and approximately 5.3 million
shares of common stock were issued pursuant to the purchase contract portion of the Equity Security Units.
In connection with the remarketing, in August 2004, the Company issued $200.0 of 3.500% Notes due 2007, which were used to exchange and retire
$190.0 aggregate principal amount of the 4.655% remarketed subordinated debentures. The Company also received approximately $4.7 of cash proceeds, net
of underwriting discounts and offering expenses. Following issuance of the 3.500% Notes due 2007, $40.0 of aggregate principal amount of the 4.655%
remarketed debentures remained outstanding. During November 2004, the Company repurchased and retired the remaining $40.0 of aggregate principal
amount of the 4.655% subordinated debentures and as of December 31, 2004, no amounts of the 4.655% subordinated debentures remain outstanding. The
$200.0 of 3.500% Notes due 2007 were issued under a shelf registration filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission in December 2002 for any
combination of debt or equity securities in one or more
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offerings up to an aggregate amount of $1,000.0. As of December 31, 2004, WellPoint had $800.0 of the shelf registration capacity remaining.

On December 9, 2004, the Company issued $300.0 of 3.750% Notes due 2007, $300.0 of 4.250% Notes due 2009, $500.0 of 5.000% Notes due 2014
and $500.0 of 5.950% Notes due 2034. Net proceeds from this offering were approximately $1,583.7 after deducting the initial purchasers’ discount and
estimated offering expenses. Proceeds from these notes were used to repay the $500.0 outstanding under the bridge loan, $500.0 outstanding under the five-year
senior credit facility and $500.0 to fund the tender offer to purchase surplus notes of Anthem Insurance. The remainder of the proceeds was used to repay
commercial paper.

The senior unsecured notes of 6.375% due 2006 and 6.375% due 2012 were obligations of WHN prior to the merger. This indebtedness was assumed
by Anthem Holding Corp., a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of WellPoint. As required by FAS 141, this debt was recorded at fair value as of the merger date.

Interest paid during 2004, 2003 and 2002 was $146.7, $136.4 and $71.1, respectively.

Future maturities of debt are as follows: 2005, $150.3; 2006, $470.2; 2007, $491.0; 2008, $0.8; 2009, $1,091.1 and thereafter $2,223.6.
7. Hedging Activity

Cash Flow Hedges
During 2004, the Company entered into forward starting pay fixed swaps and treasury lock swaps with an aggregate notional amount of $2,000.0. The
objective of these hedges was to eliminate the variability of cash flows in the interest payments on the expected issuance of debt securities to be used to partially
fund the cash portion of the WellPoint merger.
Upon termination of the swaps the Company received a net $15.7, the net fair value at the times of termination. The Company recorded an unrealized
gain of $10.2, net of tax, as accumulated other comprehensive income. Prior to the WHN merger, the Company reclassified $0.7 ($0.5 net of tax) to net
realized gains on investments for the portion of the hedges that were deemed not probable of occurring. Following the completion of the WHN merger on
November 30, 2004, the Company issued the expected debt securities, and balances in accumulated other comprehensive income will be amortized into
earnings, as a reduction of interest expense, over the life of the debt securities. The unamortized fair value included in accumulated comprehensive income at
December 31, 2004 was $9.7. As of December 31, 2004, the total amount of amortization over the next twelve months will decrease interest expense by
approximately $1.3.

Fair Value Hedges
On December 13, 2004, the Company entered into a $300.0 notional amount interest rate swap agreement to exchange a fixed 3.75% rate for a LIBORbased floating rate. The swap agreement expires December 14, 2007. For the year ended December 31, 2004, the Company recognized $0.1 of income from this
swap, which was recorded as a reduction of interest expense. As of December 31, 2004, the Company recognized a derivative liability of $0.8, which is
recorded as a current liability.
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The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of each class of financial instrument:

Cash and cash equivalents: The carrying amount approximates fair value, based on the short-term maturities of these instruments.
Investments, available for sale, at fair value: The carrying amount approximates fair value, based on quoted market prices for the same or similar
instruments.

Long-term investments: The carrying amount approximates fair value, based on quoted market prices for the same or similar instruments.

Commercial paper: The carrying amount for commercial paper approximates fair value as the underlying instruments have variable interest rates at
market value.

Equity Security Units : The fair value of the Equity Security Units is based on quoted market prices for these instruments.

Other notes: The fair value of other notes is based on quoted market prices for the same or similar debt, or, if no quoted market prices were available,
on the current rates estimated to be available to the Company for debt of similar terms and remaining maturities.
Interest rate swap: The fair value of the interest rate swap is based on the quoted market prices by the financial institution that is the counterparty to
the swap.
Considerable judgment is required to develop estimates of fair value for financial instruments. Accordingly, the estimates shown are not necessarily
indicative of the amounts that would be realized in a one time, current market exchange of all of the financial instruments.

The carrying values and estimated fair values of the Company’s financial instruments at December 31 are as follows:
2004

Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments available-for-sale
Long-term investments
Liabilities:
Long-term debt:
Commercial paper
Equity Security Units
Other notes
Interest rate swap
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2003

Carrying
Value

Estimated
Fair Value

Carrying
Value

Estimated
Fair Value

$ 1,457.2
13,586.9
748.1

$ 1,457.2
13,586.9
748.1

$ 464.5
6,849.0
164.7

$ 464.5
6,849.0
164.7

793.2
—
3,483.5

793.2
—
3,654.1

224.3

0.8

0.8

—
1,438.9
—

—
405.9
1,724.5
—
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9. Property and Equipment
A summary of property and equipment at December 31 is as follows:
2004

$

Land and improvements
Building and components
Data processing equipment, furniture and other equipment
Computer software, purchased and internally developed
Leasehold improvements

2003

57.3
476.0
555.1
589.1
89.5
1,767.0
(721.8)

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization

$ 1,045.2

$

34.3

357.6
408.4

272.6
47.5
1,120.4
(609.9)

$ 510.5

Property and equipment includes noncancelable capital leases of $25.7 and $7.3 at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Total accumulated
amortization on these leases at December 31, 2004 and 2003 was $5.9 and $4.6, respectively. Depreciation and leasehold improvement and capital lease
amortization expense for 2004, 2003 and 2002 was $135.7, $127.8 and $108.1, respectively. Capitalized costs related to the internal development of software
of $330.9 and $117.2 at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively, are reported with computer software.

10. Medical Claims Payable
A reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances for medical claims payable is as follows:
2004

$

Balances at January 1, net of reinsurance
Business combinations and purchase adjustments
Incurred related to:
Current year
Prior years

2003

2002

1,833.0
2,394.4

$ 1,797.2
(20.6)

$ 1,318.6
379.4

15,452.6

12,374.2
(226.2)

9,887.9

(172.4)

(147.0)

Total incurred

15,280.2

12,148.0

9,740.9

Paid related to:
Current year
Prior years

12,556.3
2,781.2

10,598.3
1,493.3

8,316.6
1,325.1

Total paid

15,337.5

12,091.6

9,641.7

4,170.1
31.9

1,833.0

8.7

1,797.2
2.8

4,202.0

$ 1,841.7

$ 1,800.0

Balances at December 31, net of reinsurance
Reinsurance recoverables at December 31

$

Balance at December 31, gross of reinsurance recoverables

Amounts incurred related to prior years vary from previously estimated liabilities as the claims are ultimately settled. Liabilities at any year end are
continually reviewed and re-estimated as information regarding actual claims payments becomes known. This information is compared to the originally
established year end liability. Negative amounts reported for incurred related to prior years result from claims being settled for amounts less than originally
estimated. This experience is primarily attributable to actual medical cost experience more favorable than that assumed at the time the liability was established.

88

WellPoint, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
11. Reinsurance
The Company reinsures certain of its risks with other companies and assumes risk from other companies and such reinsurance is accounted for as a
transfer of risk. The Company is contingently liable for amounts recoverable from the reinsurer in the event that it does not meet its contractual obligations.
The Company evaluates the financial condition of its reinsurers and monitors concentrations of credit risk arising from similar geographic regions,
activities, or economic characteristics of the reinsurers to minimize its exposure to significant losses from reinsurer insolvencies.
A summary of net premiums written and earned for the years ended December 31 is as follows:
2004

Written

2003
Earned

2002

Written

Earned

Written

Earned

$ 15,186.2
4.6

$ 12,002.8
1.1

$ 11,956.5
1.1
(19.7)

Consolidated:

$ 18,824.4
5.4
(58.2)

$ 15,269.8

Ceded

$ 18,886.1
5.9
(58.7)

Net premiums

$ 18,833.3

$ 18,771.6

$ 15,251.2

$ 15,167.7

$ 11,985.6

$ 11,937.9

Health Care
Specialty
Other

$18,571.6
269.7

$ 18,511.5
268.1
(8.0)

$ 15,092.5
171.7

$ 15,008.6
172.1

$ 11,882.2

$ 11,834.5

103.2
0.2

103.2
0.2

Net premiums

$ 18,833.3

$ 18,771.6

$ 15,251.2

$ 11,985.6

$ 11,937.9

Direct

Assumed

4.4
(23.0)

(23.1)

(18.3)

Reportable segments:
(8.0)

(13.0)

(13.0)

$ 15,167.7

The effect of reinsurance on benefit expense for the years ended December 31 is as follows:

Assumed—increase in benefit expense
Ceded—decrease in benefit expense

2004

2003

2002

$ 9.6
41.1

$10.9

$ 6.7
27.4

2004

2003

$212.8
19.3
31.6
28.3

$18.1
0.6

33.8

The effect of reinsurance on certain assets and liabilities at December 31 is as follows:

Policy liabilities assumed
Unearned premiums assumed
Premiums payable ceded
Premiums receivable assumed

3.7
0.3

12. Capital Stock
Stock Incentive Plans
The Company’s 2001 Stock Incentive Plan (“Stock Plan”) provides for the granting of stock options, restricted stock awards, performance stock
awards, performance awards and stock appreciation rights to eligible employees and non-employee directors. The Stock Plan permits the Compensation
Committee of the Board of
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Directors to make grants in such amounts and at such times as it may determine, including grants of shares of restricted and unrestricted common stock in
lieu of the Company’s obligations to pay cash under other plans and compensatory arrangements, including the Company’s Annual Incentive Plan and Long
Term Incentive Plan.
In accordance with the Stock Plan, options to purchase shares of common stock at an amount equal to the fair market value of the stock at the date of
grant were granted to eligible employees and non-employee directors during 2004, 2003 and 2002. Options vest and expire over terms as set by the
Compensation Committee at the time of grant. These options generally vest at the end of two or three years and expire 10 years from the grant date.
In connection with the WHN merger, the Company assumed the WellPoint Health Networks Inc. 1999 Stock Incentive Plan, the WellPoint Health
Networks Inc. 2000 Employee Stock Option Plan, the Cobalt Corporation Equity Incentive Plan, the RightCHOICE Managed Care, Inc. 2001 Stock Incentive
Plan, the RightCHOICE Managed Care, Inc. 1994 Equity Incentive Plan and the RightCHOICE Managed Care, Inc. Nonemployee Directors’ Stock Option
Plan, which collectively provided for the granting of stock options to employees and non-employee directors. WHN stock options were converted to WellPoint
stock options using the option exchange ratio as defined in the merger agreement. The converted stock options were recorded at the acquisition date as
additional paid in capital and valued at $810.0 using a Black-Scholes option-pricing model with weighted average assumptions as follows:

3.94%

Risk-free interest rate
Volatility factor
Dividend yield
Weighted-average expected life

33.00%

—
7 years

As of the merger date, there were 478,226 WHN options that were not vested. Unearned compensation related to these unvested options was $12.9 at
December 31, 2004.

In connection with the acquisition of Trigon, the Company assumed the Trigon 1997 Stock Incentive Plan and the Trigon 1997 Non-Employee
Directors Stock Incentive Plan, which collectively provided for the granting of stock options to employees and non-employee directors. Trigon stock options
were converted to Anthem stock options. Pursuant to this registration, no additional options may be granted under the converted Trigon plans. The converted
stock options were recorded at the acquisition date as additional paid in capital and valued at $195.5 using a Black-Scholes option-pricing model with
weighted-average assumptions as follows:

4.96%
42.00%

Risk-free interest rate
Volatility factor
Dividend yield
Weighted-average expected life

—
7 years
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A summary of the stock option activity for the years ended December 31 is as follows:
WeightedAverage
Exercise
Price

Number of
Options

Balance at December 31, 2001
Granted
Conversion of Trigon options
Exercised
Forfeited

1,458,632
1,579,970
3,866,770
(877,959)
(162,677)

$ 36.00
71.80
30.86
27.36
38.53

Balance at December 31, 2002
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited

5,864,736
1,809,750
(1,392,472)
(169,438)

71.61
27.70
54.21

Balance at December 31, 2003
Granted
Conversion of WHN options
Exercised
Forfeited

6,112,576
4,281,126
21,639,390
(7,351,753)
(164,031)

55.11
95.27
59.98
50.23
68.97

Balance at December 31, 2004

24,517,308

$ 67.79

Options exercisable at December 31, 2002
Options exercisable at December 31, 2003
Options exercisable at December 31, 2004

2,992,899
3,330,616
13,627,070

$ 31.90
41.27

43.48

64.00

Information about stock options outstanding and exercisable as of December 31, 2004 is summarized as follows:
Options Outstanding
Weighted
Average
Remaining

Number
Outstanding

Range of Exercise Prices

$ 6.30
47.58
56.24
82.28

– $ 47.54
– 55.10
– 82.06
– 101.33

Contractual
Life

3,752,201
6,533,631
8,052,780
6,178,696

5.5
7.6

24,517,308

Options Exercisable

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

Number
Exercisable

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

6.7

$ 32.13
53.47
76.41
93.35

3,752,201
3,001,746
2,845,743
4,027,380

$ 32.13
52.61
72.88
95.89

7.3

67.79

13,627,070

64.00

8.3

During the year ended December 31, 2004, pursuant to the Stock Plan, the Company granted 1,146,023 shares of stock, including 692,937 shares of
restricted stock and 84,218 shares of WellPoint common stock under the Company’s 2001 Long-Term Incentive Plan. The Company also granted 7,526
shares of restricted stock to Anthem Southeast employees under long term incentive agreements, 2,090 shares of WellPoint common stock to non-employee
directors, 357,666 shares of restricted stock and 1,586 shares of WellPoint common stock for awards at the fair value of WellPoint’s common stock on the
grant dates. As of December 31, 2004, 1,051,163 shares of restricted stock remain unvested.
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During the year ended December 31, 2003, pursuant to the Stock Plan, the Company granted 21,713 shares of restricted stock and stock, including
16,849 restricted shares to Anthem Southeast employees under former Trigon long-term incentive agreements and 4,864 shares to non-employee directors. The
shares were issued at the fair value of the stock on the grant date. The 16,849 restricted shares vest over periods defined by the former Trigon long-term
incentive agreements.
During the year ended December 31, 2002, the Company granted 95,300 shares of the Company’s common stock as restricted stock awards to certain
eligible executives. These shares will vest as follows: (i) 1,700 will vest on the earlier of, December 31, 2005, if certain performance measures are attained, or
July 1, 2007; and (ii) the remaining 93,600 will vest equally on December 31, 2004 and 2005. During the year ended December 31, 2002, the Company
granted 2,673 shares to non-employee directors.
For grants of restricted stock, other than those awarded under long-term incentive agreements, unearned compensation equivalent to the fair market value
of the shares at the date of grant is recorded as a separate component of shareholders’ equity and subsequently amortized to compensation expense over the
vesting period. Compensation expense totaling $10.0, $2.2 and $1.5 was recognized for 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

As of December 31, 2004, there were 12.3 million shares of common stock available for future grants under the Stock Plan.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan
The Company has registered 3.0 million shares of common stock for the Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“Stock Purchase Plan”) which is intended to
provide a means to encourage and assist employees in acquiring a stock ownership interest in WellPoint. The Stock Purchase Plan was initiated in June 2002
and any employee that meets the eligibility requirements, as defined, may participate. No employee will be permitted to purchase more than $25,000 (actual
dollars) worth of stock in any calendar year, based on the fair market value of the stock at the beginning of each plan quarter. Employees become participants
by electing payroll deductions from 1% to 15% of gross compensation. Payroll deductions are accumulated during each quarter and applied toward the
purchase of stock on the last trading day of each quarter. Once purchased, the stock is accumulated in the employee’s investment account. The purchase price
per share is 85% of the lower of the fair market value of a share of common stock on either the first or last trading day of the quarter. Employee purchases
under the Stock Purchase Plan were $21.9, $18.4 and $6.9, respectively, resulting in the issuance of approximately 0.3 million, 0.3 million and 0.2 million
shares during 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. As of December 31, 2004, there were approximately 2.2 million shares of common stock available for
issuance under the Stock Purchase Plan.

Pro Forma Disclosure
The pro forma information regarding net income and earnings per share has been determined as if the Company accounted for its stock-based
compensation using the fair value method. The fair value for the stock options was estimated at the date of grant using a Black-Scholes option-pricing model
with the following weighted-average assumptions:
2004

Risk-free interest rate
Volatility factor
Dividend yield
Weighted-average expected life
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2003

2002

3.56%

2.60%

4.16%

37.00%

46.00%

45.00%

—
4.5 years

—

—

4.3 years

4.0 years
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The Black-Scholes option-pricing model was developed for use in estimating the fair value of traded options that have no vesting restrictions and are
fully transferable. In addition, option valuation models require the input of highly subjective assumptions including the expected stock price volatility.
Because the Company’s stock option grants have characteristics significantly different from those of traded options, and because changes in the subjective
input assumptions can materially affect the fair value estimate, in management’s opinion, existing models do not necessarily provide a reliable single measure
of the fair value of its stock option grants.
For purposes of pro forma disclosures, compensation expense is increased for the estimated fair value of the options amortized over the options’ vesting
periods and for the difference between the market price of the stock and discounted purchase price of the shares on the purchase date for the employee stock
purchases. The Company’s pro forma information is as follows:
2004

2003

2002

Reported net income
Add: Stock-based employee compensation expense for restricted stock and stock awards
included in reported net income (net of tax)
Less: Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined under fair value
based method for all awards (net of tax)

$960.1

$ 774.3

$549.1

6.6

1.7

1.0

(89.5)

(24.6)

(14.1)

Pro forma net income

$ 877.2
2004

Earnings per share:
Basic net income
Diluted net income
Weighted-average fair value of options granted during the year
Weighted-average fair value of employee stock purchases during the
year
Weighted-average fair value of restricted stock and stock awards
granted during the year

$751.4

$ 536.0

2003

2002

As
Reported

Pro
Forma

As
Reported

Pro
Forma

As
Reported

Pro
Forma

$ 6.29
6.10
—

$ 5.75
5.60
32.75

$ 5.60
5.45
—

$ 5.43
5.29
28.78

$ 4.61
4.51
—

$ 4.50
4.42

28.16

—

18.36

—

15.56

—

15.23

—

107.86

—

66.93

—

62.57

Stock Repurchase Program
On January 27, 2003, the Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to $500.0 of stock under a program that was to expire in February 2005.
On October 25, 2004, the Board of Directors authorized an increase of $500.0 to the program and extended the expiration date through February 2006. Under
the program, repurchases may be made from time to time at prevailing prices, subject to certain restrictions on volume, pricing and timing. During 2004, the
Company repurchased and retired 1.0 million shares, at an average per share price of $82.24, for an aggregate cost of $82.3. During 2003, the Company
repurchased and retired approximately 3.4 million shares, at an average per share price of $64.06, for an aggregate cost of $217.2. The excess of cost of the
repurchased shares over par value is charged on a pro rata basis to additional paid in capital and retained earnings. Under this program, an additional $700.5
remains authorized for future repurchases.

93

WellPoint, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
12. Capital Stock (continued)

Shares Issued for the WHN Merger
Effective November 30, 2004, as partial consideration in the WHN merger, the Company issued one share of common stock for each WHN share
outstanding, resulting in additional outstanding shares of approximately 155.3 million. The $11,293.8 fair value of the common shares issued was
determined based on $72.70 per share, which represents the average closing price of the Company’s common stock for the five trading days ranging from two
days before to two days after October 27, 2003, the date the merger was announced. Offering costs of $8.3 reduced the aggregate fair value and $11,285.5
was recorded as par value of common stock and additional paid in capital.

Shares Issued for the Trigon Acquisition
Effective July 31, 2002, as partial consideration for the purchase of Trigon, the Company issued 1.062 shares of common stock for each Trigon share
outstanding, resulting in additional outstanding shares of approximately 39.0 million. The $2,708.1 fair value of the common shares issued was determined
based on the average closing price of the Company’s common stock for the five trading days ranging from two days before to two days after the merger was
announced. Offering costs of $4.1 reduced the aggregate fair value and $2,704.0 was recorded as par value of common stock and additional paid in capital.

Equity Security Units
At the time of its initial public offering on November 2, 2001, the Company issued 4.6 million Equity Security Units at 6.00%. Each Equity Security
Unit contained a purchase contract under which the holder agreed to purchase, for fifty dollars, shares of the Company’s common stock on November 15,
2004. In November 2004, the Company received $230.0 for the issuance of approximately 5.3 million shares of Anthem common stock pursuant to the
purchase contract portion of the Equity Security Units. The number of shares purchased was determined based on the average trading price of the Company’s
common stock at the time of settlement.

13. Earnings Per Share
The denominator for basic and diluted earnings per share for 2004, 2003 and 2002 is as follows:
2004

2003

2002

Denominator for basic earnings per share—weighted-average shares
Effect of dilutive securities:
Employee and director stock options and non vested restricted stock awards
Shares to be contingently issued under long-term incentive plan
Incremental shares from conversion of Equity Security Unit purchase contracts

152.6

138.3

119.0

2.2
0.2
2.3

1.2
0.6
1.9

—
1.5

Denominator for diluted earnings per share

157.3

142.0

121.8

(In Millions)

1.3

Shares were issued under the long-term incentive plan in April 2004. The Equity Security Unit purchase contracts were settled on November 15, 2004,
and approximately 5.3 million shares of the Company’s common stock were issued and included in the basic earnings per share calculation.
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The components of deferred income taxes at December 31 are as follows:
2004

Deferred tax assets:
Pension and postretirement benefits
Accrued expenses
Alternative minimum tax and other credits
Insurance reserves
Net operating loss carryforwards
Bad debt reserves
Depreciation and amortization
State income tax
Deferred compensation
Other

$

2003

148.1
433.3

2.0

149.6
38.1
58.9
110.4

136.1
232.3

4.2
32.2

36.9

24.3

1,345.7

Total deferred tax assets
Valuation allowance

(22.3)

Total deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowance
Deferred tax liabilities:
Unrealized gains on securities
Acquisition related liabilities:
Goodwill and conversion issues
Trademarks and software development

Subscriber base, provider and hospital networks
Other acquisition related liabilities
Investment basis difference

437.2

106.2

75.9

15.3
1,817.0
1,062.1

182.5

16.9
292.3
153.1
28.0
5.2
88.1
31.8

3,485.8

691.3

30.0

80.3

Total deferred tax liabilities

493.3

(56.1)

1,323.4

192.4

Retirement liabilities
Other

$ 67.7
195.4
46.9
72.5
27.9
15.5
6.7

Net deferred tax liability

$ (2,162.4)

$ (254.1)

Deferred tax asset/(liability)—current (reported with other current assets or liabilities)
Deferred tax liability—noncurrent

$

(2,596.4)

$ (53.3)
(200.8)

Net deferred tax liability

$ (2,162.4)

$ (254.1)

434.0

The net decrease in the valuation allowance for 2004 and 2003 was $33.8 and $81.9, respectively. The valuation allowance is attributable to the
uncertainty of alternative minimum tax (“AMT”) credits and net operating loss carryforwards. As deferred tax assets related to these types of deductions are
recognized in the tax return, the valuation allowance is no longer required and is reduced. During 2004 and 2003, the valuation allowance change was due to
utilization of AMT credits and net operating loss carryforwards and the entire amount was recorded as additional tax liabilities. Also the valuation allowance
was increased by $4.7 as a result of the WHN merger. During 2002, $18.0 of the change in the valuation allowance was recorded as a reduction to goodwill.
This adjustment resulted from recognition of deferred tax assets previously determined to be unrealizable. In addition, during 2002, $57.2 of the decrease was
recorded as additional tax liabilities and $37.2 was recorded as a reduction to income tax expense.
Due to uncertainties, including industry issues, regarding both the timing and amount of deductions, the benefit of the valuation allowance releases were
offset by an increase in additional income tax liabilities. The industry issues include the valuation and timing of tax deductions for intangibles in existence as
of the conversion of Blue Cross Blue Shield organizations to taxable status, and the Special Tax Deduction for Blue Cross Blue Shield entities under Internal
Revenue Code Section 833(b).
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Significant components of the provision for income taxes consist of the following:

Current tax expense:
Federal
State and local

2004

2003

2002

$508.2
27.2

$362.8
14.7

$ 172.1
13.5

377.5
60.1

185.6
67.8

$ 437.6

$ 253.4

535.4
(52.2)

Total current tax expense
Deferred tax expense (benefit)

$ 483.2

Total income tax expense

A reconciliation of income tax expense recorded in the consolidated statements of income and amounts computed at the statutory federal income tax rate is
as follows:
2004

Amount

Amount at statutory rate
State and local income taxes net of federal tax benefit
Tax exempt interest and dividends received deduction
Deferred tax valuation allowance change, net of net operating loss carryforwards and other tax
credits
Non-deductible acquisition expense
Other, net

$ 505.2
(35.7)
(14.7)

2003

2002

%

Amount

%

Amount

%

35.0

$ 424.2
9.3

35.0
0.8

$ 280.9
9.4

35.0

(2.5)
(1.0)

—
21.5
6.9

—
1.5
0.5

$ 483.2

33.5

(0.6)

(0.1)

—
—

—
—

1.2

(0.6)

(0.1)

(37.2)

(4.6)

4.7

0.4

—
0.9

$ 437.6

36.1

$ 253.4

—
0.1

31.6

As a result of legislation enacted in Indiana on March 16, 2004, the Company recorded deferred tax assets and liabilities, with a corresponding net tax
benefit in the income statement of $44.8, or $0.29 per basic share and $0.28 per diluted share, for the year ended December 31, 2004. The legislation
eliminated the creation of tax credits resulting from the payment of future assessments to the Indiana Comprehensive Health Insurance Association (“ICHIA”),
Indiana’s high-risk health insurance pool. Under the new legislation, ICHIA tax credits are limited to any unused ICHIA assessment paid prior to December
31, 2004. A valuation allowance of $5.6 was established for the portion of the deferred tax asset, which the Company believes will likely not be utilized. There
is no carryforward limitation on the tax credits and the net operating loss carryforwards do not begin to expire until 2018.
In certain states, the Company pays premium taxes in lieu of state income taxes. Premium taxes are reported with general and administrative expense.

At December 31, 2004, the Company had unused federal tax net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $98.4 to offset future taxable income.
The loss carryforwards expire in the years 2005 through 2020. During 2004, 2003 and 2002 federal income taxes paid totaled $646.3, $303.3 and $151.2,
respectively.
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A reconciliation of the components of accumulated other comprehensive income at December 31 is as follows:

Investments, including long-term:
Gross unrealized gains
Gross unrealized losses
Total pretax net unrealized gains
Deferred tax liability

Net unrealized gains
Cash flow hedges:
Gross unrealized gains
Deferred tax liability

2004

2003

$245.2

$ 231.8

(31.4)

(14.4)

213.8
(75.0)

217.4
(76.1)

138.8

141.3

14.9
(5.2)

—
—

Net unrealized gains
Additional minimum pension liability:
Gross additional minimum pension liability
Deferred tax asset

9.7

—

(4.1)
1.4

(4.0)

Net additional minimum pension liability

(2.7)

(2.6)

$145.8

Accumulated other comprehensive income

1.4

$ 138.7

Comprehensive income (loss) reclassification adjustments for the years ending December 31 are as follows :

Investments, including long-term:
Net holding gain on investment securities arising during the period, net of tax expense of $14.0, $18.4 and
$59.0, respectively
Reclassification adjustment for net realized gain on investment securities, net of tax expense of $15.4,

$14.8 and $11.7, respectively

Cash flow hedges:
Holding gain related to forward starting swaps, net of tax expense
of $5.2, $0.0 and $0.0, respectively
Other:
Net change in additional minimum pension liability, net of tax expense (benefit) of $0.0, $5.1 and $(4.1),
respectively

2004

2003

2002

$ 26.1

$ 34.2

$109.7

(28.6)

(27.4)

(21.8)

(2.5)

6.8

87.9

9.7

—

—

(0.1)

9.2

(7.6)

Net gain recognized in other comprehensive income, net of tax expense

$ 7.1

of $3.8, $8.7 and $43.2, respectively
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The Company leases office space and certain computer and related equipment using capital and noncancelable operating leases. At December 31, 2004,
future lease payments for capital leases and operating leases with initial or remaining noncancelable terms of one year or more consisted of the following:
Capital Leases

$

2005
2006
2007
2008
2009
Thereafter

13.7

Operating Leases

$

9.2
5.3
2.4

1.5
—
32.1

Total minimum payments required

135.1
108.8
84.2
75.8
66.0
401.8

$

871.7

5.5

Less: Interest

$

Net principal balance of leases

26.6

17. Retirement Benefits
Lease expense under operating leases for 2004, 2003 and 2002 was $62.8, $51.3 and $47.3, respectively.

A subsidiary of the Company is a fifty percent limited partner in a partnership that owns a property occupied by the Company’s subsidiary. Under an
operating lease with the limited partnership, the Company incurred lease expense of $2.0, $2.0 and $0.8 during 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
The Company sponsors various non-contributory defined benefit plans covering most employees.

The Anthem Insurance Companies, Inc. plan is a cash balance arrangement where participants have an account balance and earn a pay credit equal to
three to six percent of compensation, depending on years of service. The Anthem Insurance Companies, Inc. plan covers part-time and temporary employees as
well as full-time employees of Anthem prior to its merger with WHN who have completed one year of continuous service and attained the age of twenty-one. In
addition to the pay credit, participant accounts earn interest at a rate based on 10-year Treasury notes. Employees of WHN do not participate in the Anthem
Insurance Companies, Inc. plan.
The Restated Employees’ Retirement Plan of Blue Cross of California covers employees of a collective bargaining unit. The WellPoint Health Networks
Inc. Pension Accumulation Plan (the “WellPoint Pension Plan”), which was established on January 1, 1987, covers all eligible employees of WHN prior to its
merger with Anthem (employees covered under a collective bargaining agreement participate if the terms of the collective bargaining agreement permits) meeting
certain age and service requirements. Effective January 1, 2004, non-bargained employees covered by the WellPoint Pension Plan who are age 50 and over,
with combined age and service totaling 65 or higher as of December 31, 2003, will continue to earn future contributions based on compensation. While other
non-bargained employees covered by the plan will continue to accrue interest on their pension account, generally no additional contributions based on the
employee’s earnings will be made. Employees of WHN prior to its merger with Anthem hired after December 31, 2003 are not eligible to participate in the
WellPoint Pension Plan. Employees of Anthem do not participate in this plan.

Certain employees of the former Cobalt Corporation, parent company of Blue Cross Blue Shield of Wisconsin and United Government Services, LLC
(“UGS”) are covered by the UGS Pension Plan which
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provides retirement benefits to covered employees (including certain employees covered by a collective bargaining agreement) based primarily on compensation
and years of service. Effective January 1, 2004, non-bargained employees covered by the UGS Pension Plan who are age 50 and over, with combined age and
service totaling 65 or higher as of December 31, 2003, will continue to earn future contributions based on compensation. While other non-bargained employees
covered by the plan will continue to accrue interest on their pension account, generally no additional contributions based on the employee’s earnings will be
made. Employees of UGS hired after December 31, 2003 are not eligible to participate in the UGS Pension Plan.

All of the plans’ assets consist primarily of common stocks, fixed maturity securities, investment funds and short-term investments. The funding
policies for all plans are to contribute amounts at least sufficient to meet the minimum funding requirements set forth in the Employee Retirement Income
Security Act of 1974, as amended (“ERISA”) and in accordance with income tax regulations, plus such additional amounts as are necessary to provide assets
sufficient to meet the benefits to be paid to plan participants.
In addition, the Company offers certain employees postretirement benefits including certain life, medical, vision and dental benefits upon retirement.
There are several postretirement benefit plans, which differ in amounts of coverage, deductibles, retiree contributions, years of service and retirement age. The
Company may fund certain benefit costs through discretionary contributions to a Voluntary Employees’ Beneficiary Association (“VEBA”) trust and others
are accrued, with the retiree paying a portion of the costs. Postretirement plan assets held in the VEBA trust consist primarily of bonds and equity securities.
Plans sponsored by pre-merger Anthem used a September 30 measurement date for determining benefit obligations and fair value of plan assets. Plans
sponsored by pre-merger WHN, which have historically used a December 31 measurement date, will begin using a September 30 measurement date in 2005.

The following tables disclose consolidated “pension benefits” which include defined benefit pension plans described above, and consolidated “other
benefits” which include other postretirement benefits described above. Weighted average calculations were computed using assumptions at the relevant
measurement date.
The effect of acquisitions on the consolidated benefit obligation and plan assets is reflected through the business combination lines of the tables below.
The reconciliation of the benefit obligation is as follows:
Other Benefits

Pension Benefits

2004

2003

2004

2003

Benefit obligation at beginning of year
Service cost
Interest cost
Plan amendments
Actuarial (gain) loss
Benefits paid
Business combinations

$ 870.1
47.2
54.7
—
39.1

$782.7

$ 244.6

43.1

4.3

51.7

15.0

$ 210.2
2.5
13.6
1.7

Benefit obligation at end of year

$ 1,380.3

(74.1)
443.3

99

3.0

57.9
(68.3)
—
$ 870.1

(4.8)
(9.2)
(20.2)
201.9

$ 431.6

32.3

(15.7)
—
$ 244.6
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The changes in the fair value of plan assets are as follows:
Other Benefits

Pension Benefits

2004

2003

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year
Actual return on plan assets
Employer contributions
Benefits paid
Business combinations

$ 865.6
105.6
38.7

Fair value of plan assets at end of year

$ 1,347.1

(74.1)
411.3

2004

2003

$ 716.5
123.5
93.9
(68.3)
—

$ 38.1
2.9
19.1

$ 34.4

$865.6

$ 40.6

4.8

14.6
(15.7)
—

(20.2)
0.7

$ 38.1

The reconciliation of the funded status to the net benefit cost recognized is as follows:
Other Benefits

Pension Benefits

2004

Funded status
Unrecognized net actuarial loss
Unrecognized prior service cost
Net amount recognized at the measurement date
Contributions made after the measurement date
Net amount recognized at December 31

2003

2004

$ (33.2)
245.6
(10.0)

$ (4.5)
254.7
(13.5)

202.4
0.4

$ 202.8

2003

$ (391.0)
21.3
(16.0)

$(206.5)

236.7
25.6

(385.7)
4.7

(192.7)

$262.3

$ (381.0)

$ (188.4)

31.3

(17.5)

4.3

The net amount recognized in the consolidated balance sheets is as follows:
Other Benefits

Pension Benefits

2004

Prepaid benefit cost
Accrued benefit liability
Prepaid pension (postretirement) benefits
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Net amount recognized at December 31

2003

$ 249.3
(50.6)

$ 277.0
(18.7)

198.7

258.3

4.1

4.0

$ 202.8

$262.3

2004

2003

$ —

$

—

(381.0)

(188.4)

(381.0)

(188.4)

—

—

$ (381.0)

$ (188.4)

The change in the additional minimum pension liability included within other comprehensive income is as follows:
Pension Benefits

2004

$ 0.1

Increase (decrease) in minimum liability in other comprehensive income

2003

$ (14.3)

Other Benefits

2004

2003

—

—

The accumulated benefit obligation for the defined benefit pension plans was $1,365.9 and $863.3 at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.
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As of December 31, 2004, certain pension plans of the Company had accumulated benefit obligations in excess of plan assets. Such plans had a
combined projected benefit obligation, accumulated benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets of $438.7, $431.1 and $395.4, respectively, at December
31, 2004.
The weighted-average assumptions used in calculating the benefit obligations for all plans are as follows:
Other Benefits

Pension Benefits

2004

2003

5.83%

Discount rate
Rate of compensation increase

2004

6.25%
4.50%

4.34%

2003

5.87%
4.26%

6.25%
4.50%

The components of net periodic benefit cost included in the consolidated statements of income are as follows:
Other Benefits

Pension Benefits

2004

2003

Service cost
Interest cost
Expected return on assets
Recognized actuarial loss (gain)
Amortization of prior service cost

$ 47.2
54.7
(71.9)

$ 43.1
51.7
(72.5)
2.8
(3.8)

Net periodic benefit cost

$ 40.8

$ 21.3

14.4
(3.6)

2002

2004

2003

2002

$ 35.0
45.8
(63.2)
0.6
(3.9)

$ 4.3
15.0
(2.5)

$ 2.5
13.6

$ 1.7
11.7
(2.0)
—
(6.6)

$ 14.3

$10.9

(2.4)

0.4

(0.6)

(6.3)

(6.5)
$ 6.6

$ 4.8

The weighted-average assumptions used in calculating the net periodic benefit cost for all plans are as follows:
Other Benefits

Pension Benefits

2004

6.25%
4.50%

Discount rate
Rate of compensation increase
Expected rate of return on plan assets

8.00%

2003

6.75%
4.50%
8.50%

2002

7.25%
4.50%
9.00%

2004

6.25%
4.50%
6.00%

2003

6.75%
4.50%
6.50%

2002

7.25%
4.50%
6.50%

The weighted average assumed health care cost trend rates to be used for next year to measure the expected cost of other benefits is 9% for 2005 with a
gradual decline to 5.15% by the year 2009. These estimated trend rates are subject to change in the future. The health care cost trend rate assumption has a
significant effect on the amounts reported. For example, an increase in the assumed health care cost trend rate of one percentage point would increase the
postretirement benefit obligation as of December 31, 2004 by $36.0 and would increase service and interest costs by $3.0. Conversely, a decrease in the
assumed health care cost trend rate of one percentage point would decrease the postretirement benefit obligation by $29.8 as of December 31, 2004 and would
decrease service and interest costs by $2.5.

An important factor in determining the Company’s pension expense is the assumption for expected long-term rate of return on plan assets. The Company
uses a total portfolio return analysis in the development of its assumption. Factors such as past market performance, the long-term relationship between fixed
maturity and equity securities, interest rates, inflation and asset allocations are considered in the assumption. The assumption includes an estimate of the
additional return expected from active management of the investment portfolio. Peer data and historical returns are also reviewed for appropriateness of the
selected assumption. The expected long-
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term rate of return is calculated by the geometric averaging method, which calculates an expected multi-period return, reflecting volatility drag on compound
returns.

In managing the plan assets, the Company’s objective is to be a responsible fiduciary while minimizing financial risk to the Company. In addition to
producing a reasonable return, the investment strategy seeks to minimize the volatility in the Company’s expense and cash flow. Over time, the Company has
increased the duration and allocation of fixed maturity securities to more closely match the sensitivity of plan assets with the plan obligations.
Plan assets include a diversified mix of investment grade fixed maturity securities and equity securities across a range of sectors and levels of
capitalization to maximize the long-term return for a prudent level of risk. As of the measurement date, the Company’s weighted-average targeted asset
allocation and actual allocation by asset category are as follows:
Actual Allocation

Target
Allocation
For All Plans

Equity securities:
Domestic equities
International equities
Fixed maturity securities

50%
8

Real estate
Other

Total

100%

Other
Benefit Assets

Pension
Benefit Assets

2004

2003

2004

2003

50%
8

54%
12

40

40

31

43

—
2

—
2

1
2

—

3

3

1

100%

100%

100%

100%

47%

7

46%
8
42

The Company’s current funding strategy is to fund an amount at least equal to the minimum required funding as determined under ERISA with
consideration of factors such as the minimum pension liability requirement and maximum tax deductible amounts. The Company may elect to make
discretionary contributions, including on a quarterly basis, up to the maximum amount deductible for income tax purposes. For the year ended December 31,
2004, no contributions were required under ERISA, however the Company made a $10.0 tax deductible discretionary contribution on September 30, 2004.
Employer contributions related to other benefits represents payments to retirees for current benefits. Contributions to the VEBA are generally not material.
The Company’s estimated future payments for pension benefits and postretirement benefits, including the estimated impact of the “Medicare
Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003”, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are as follows:
Other Benefits

2005
2006
2007
2008
2009
2010 - 2014
102

Pension
Benefits

Before
Subsidy

$ 92.0
96.8
103.6
111.2
127.6
712.5

$ 26.3
27.7
29.3
30.5
31.7
174.2

Subsidy

$—
2.1
2.2
2.3
2.4

12.8

Net of
Subsidy

$ 26.3
25.6
27.1
28.2
29.3
161.4
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In addition to the defined benefit plans, the Company has several qualified defined contribution plans covering substantially all employees. Eligible
employees may only participate in one plan. Depending upon the plan, voluntary employee contributions are matched by the Company subject to certain
limitations. Contributions made by the Company totaled $34.0, $13.2 and $14.3 during 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

18. Long Term Incentive Plans
Certain senior executives were participants in the Anthem 2001 Long Term Incentive Plan (“2001 LTIP”). The 2001 LTIP operated during the three-year
period from 2001 to 2003. At the beginning of the three-year period, the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors established performance goals,
which included specific strategic objectives of the Company. Each participant’s target award was established as a percentage ranging from 30% to 150% of
annual base salary for each year of the three-year period. Awards under the 2001 LTIP were approved by the Compensation Committee and were paid in 2004,
with the executive having the option to defer payment. The 2001 LTIP terminated after completion of the 2001 to 2003 performance period and payout of
awards. The award was paid in cash, stock and restricted stock of Anthem. The 2001 LTIP expense for 2003 and 2002 was $89.5 and $73.7, respectively.

The Compensation Committee approved a one year plan, the 2004 Long Term Incentive Plan (“2004 LTIP”), for certain senior executives based on
performance goals which include specific strategic objectives of the Company. Each participant’s target award was established as a percentage ranging from
30% to 150% of annual base salary for 2004. Awards under the 2004 LTIP become payable upon approval by the Compensation Committee and will be paid in
cash or stock of the Company during 2005, with the executive having the option to defer payment. The 2004 LTIP expense for 2004 was $16.1.
Beginning in 2005, the Compensation Committee elected to include long-term compensation as an integral part of overall compensation. There will be no
specific long-term cash incentive plan. Long-term awards for certain senior executives will be determined based on overall performance and will be paid under
the Company’s existing 2001 Stock Incentive Plan, further described in Note 12.

19. Contingencies

Litigation
In May 2000, a case titled California Medical Association vs. Blue Cross of California, et. al., was filed in U.S. district court in San Francisco
against Blue Cross of California (“BCC”), one of WHN’s subsidiaries. The lawsuit alleges that BCC violated the Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt
Organizations Act (“RICO”) (the “CMA Litigation”).

In August 2000, WHN was added as a party to Shane v. Humana, et al., a class-action lawsuit brought on behalf of health care providers nationwide
alleging RICO violations (the “ Shane Litigation ”). Effective November 30, 2004, WHN merged with Anthem Holding Corp., a wholly owned subsidiary of
the Company.
In October 2000, the federal Judicial Panel on Multidistrict Litigation (“MDL”) issued an order consolidating the CMA Litigation, the Shane lawsuit and
various other pending managed care class-action lawsuits against other companies before District Court Judge Federico Moreno in the Southern District of
Florida for purposes of pretrial proceedings (hereinafter collectively “ MDL Cases”). A mediator has been appointed by Judge Moreno and the parties are
currently conducting court-ordered mediation. On December 9, 2004, Judge
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Moreno issued a new scheduling order extending the expert discovery deadline to February 7, 2005 and setting trial for September 6, 2005. On February 11,
2005, the District Court issued an order bifurcating the trial, holding that liability would be determined first, and damages would be tried after liability, if
necessary.

On September 26, 2002, the Company was added as a defendant to the Shane Litigation .
On May 8, 2003, in a case titled Dr. Allen Knecht, et al., v. Cigna, et al., several chiropractors filed a purported class action in federal district court in
Portland, Oregon, naming the Company and WHN, as well as several commercial insurers. This suit alleges that the defendants violated RICO and challenges
many of the same practices in regards to chiropractors as other suits in the MDL Cases. This case has been transferred to the MDL docket and is now
assigned to Judge Moreno in Miami. This case has been stayed as a tag-along case to the MDL Cases.

On May 22, 2003, in a case titled Kenneth Thomas, M.D., et al., v. Blue Cross Blue Shield Association, et al. , several medical providers filed suit in
federal district court in Miami, Florida against the Blue Cross Blue Shield Association and Blue Cross and Blue Shield plans across the country, including
the Company. The suit alleges that the BCBS Association and the BCBS Plans violated RICO and challenges many of the same practices as other suits in the
MDL Cases. This case has been assigned to Judge Moreno in Miami. Plaintiffs filed a motion for class certification and the defendants have filed motions to
dismiss and motions to compel arbitration. All motions are currently pending before Judge Moreno.
On October 17, 2003, in a case titled Jeffrey Solomon, D.C., et al., v. Cigna, et al., several chiropractors and a podiatrist, along with chiropractic and
podiatric associations, filed suit in federal district court in Miami, Florida, against ten managed care corporations, including the Company. The suit alleges
that the companies violated RICO and challenges many of the same practices as other suits in the MDL Cases. This case has been transferred to the MDL
docket and is now assigned to Judge Moreno in Miami. This case has been stayed as a tag-along case to the MDL Cases.
On November 4, 2003, in a case titled Jeffrey Solomon, D.C., et al., v. Blue Cross Blue Shield Association, et al. , several chiropractors, podiatrists, a
psychologist and a physical therapist, along with their professional corporations and trade associations, filed suit in federal district court in Miami, Florida
against the Blue Cross Blue Shield Association and Blue Cross and Blue Shield plans across the country, including the Company. The suit alleges that the
BCBS Association and the BCBS Plans violated RICO and challenges many of the same practices as other suits in the MDL Cases. This case has been
transferred to the MDL docket and is now assigned to Judge Moreno in Miami. Plaintiffs filed a motion for class certification and the defendants have filed
motions to dismiss and motions to compel arbitration. All motions are currently pending before Judge Moreno.

On February 23, 2004, in a case titled Richard Freiberg, et al., v. United Healthcare, Inc., et al., an acupuncturist and an association promoting
acupuncture filed suit in federal court in Miami, Florida against ten managed care corporations, including the Company. The complaint purports to be a class
action filed on behalf of all non-physician health care providers, and alleges that the companies involved violated RICO, and challenges many of the same
practices as other suits in the MDL Cases. This case has been transferred to the MDL docket and assigned to Judge Moreno. This case has been stayed as a
tag-along case to the MDL Cases.

On March 11, 1998, Anthem Insurance Companies, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, and its Ohio subsidiary, Community
Insurance Company (“CIC”) were named as defendants in a lawsuit, Robert Lee
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Dardinger, Executor of the Estate of Esther Louise Dardinger v. Anthem Blue Cross and Blue Shield, et al. , filed in Newark, Ohio. The plaintiff sought
compensatory damages and unspecified punitive damages in connection with claims alleging wrongful death, bad faith and negligence arising out of CIC’s
denial of certain claims for medical treatment for Ms. Dardinger. In December 2001, CIC paid $2.5 in compensatory damages for bad faith and $1,350
(actual dollars) for breach of contract, plus accrued interest. In March 2003, Anthem Insurance and CIC paid punitive damages of $30.0 plus interest.
Following the March 2003 payment and Satisfaction of Judgment, the Company released pretax reserves of $24.5 to income, which resulted in an after tax
benefit of $0.11 per diluted share for the year ended December 31, 2003.

On June 27, 2002, in a case titled Academy of Medicine of Cincinnati and Luis Pagani, M.D. v. Aetna Health, Inc., Humana Health Plan of Ohio,
Inc., Anthem Blue Cross and Blue Shield, and United Health Care of Ohio, Inc., No. A02004947 filed in the Court of Common Pleas, Hamilton County,
Ohio and a case titled Academy of Medicine of Cincinnati and A. Lee Greiner, M.D., Victor Schmelzer, M.D., and Karl S. Ulicny, Jr., M.D. v. Aetna
Health, Inc., Humana, Inc., Anthem Blue Cross and Blue Shield, and United Health Care, Inc., No. 02-CI-903 filed in the Boone County, Kentucky
Circuit Court, the Academy and certain physicians allege that the defendants acted in combination and collusion with one another to reduce the reimbursement
rates paid to physicians in the area and as a direct result of the defendants’ alleged anti-competitive actions, health care in the area has suffered, namely that:
there are fewer hospitals; physicians are rapidly leaving the area; medical practices are unable to hire new physicians; and, from the perspective of the public,
the availability of health care has been significantly reduced. Each suit seeks class certification, compensatory damages, attorneys’ fees, and injunctive relief
to prevent the alleged anti-competitive behavior against the class in the future. The Company is awaiting a decision from the Ohio Supreme Court in connection
with procedural motions filed by the defendants. Defendants are seeking a discretionary review with the Kentucky Supreme Court on procedural motions, and
filed their petition on February 10, 2005. These suits are in the preliminary stages.

On March 26, 2003, in a case titled Irwin v. AdvancePCS, et al. filed in the California Superior Court in Alameda County, California against Advance
PCS, WHN and certain of its wholly owned subsidiaries, the plaintiff alleges that the defendants violated California Business and Professions Code Section
17200 by engaging in unfair, fraudulent and unlawful business practices including, among other things, that pharmacy benefit management companies (such
as the Company’s subsidiary that does business under the tradename WellPoint Pharmacy Management) engage in unfair practices such as negotiating
discounts in prices of drugs from pharmacies and negotiating rebates from drug manufacturers and retaining such discounts and rebates for their own benefit.
On July 9, 2004, the court ordered that the case be resolved in arbitration.
The Company intends to vigorously defend all these proceedings; however, their ultimate outcomes cannot presently be determined.

Prior to the Company’s acquisition of the group benefit operations (“GBO”), John Hancock Mutual Life Insurance Company (“John Hancock”) entered
into a number of reinsurance arrangements with respect to personal accident insurance and the occupational accident component of workers’ compensation
insurance, a portion of which was originated through a pool managed by Unicover Managers, Inc. Under these arrangements, John Hancock assumed risks
as a reinsurer and transferred certain of such risks to other companies. These arrangements have become the subject of disputes, including a number of legal
proceedings to which John Hancock is a party. The Company is currently in arbitration with John Hancock regarding these arrangements. The Company
believes that it has a number of defenses to avoid any ultimate liability with respect to these matters and believes that such liabilities were not transferred to the
Company as part of the GBO acquisition.
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However, if the Company were to become subject to such liabilities, the Company could suffer losses that might have a material adverse effect on its financial
condition, results of operations or cash flows.
On October 28, 2003 a case titled Abrams v. WellPoint Health Networks Inc., et al., was filed in the Superior Court of Ventura County, California
against WHN and its board of directors alleging that WHN’s directors breached their fiduciary duties to stockholders by approving an Agreement and Plan of
Merger with the Company while in possession of non-public information regarding WHN’s financial results for the third quarter of 2003. The lawsuit sought
to enjoin WHN from consummating the merger with the Company, unless WHN adopted and implemented a process for obtaining the highest possible price
for stockholders, and to rescind any terms of the Agreement and Plan of Merger that have already been implemented. On May 7, 2004, WHN and the plaintiff
signed a memorandum of understanding regarding a potential settlement of the action, in which WHN agreed to provide certain additional disclosures on
several matters in the joint proxy statement/prospectus sent to WHN’s stockholders beyond those contained in the preliminary proxy statement/prospectus.
The settlement would also provide for the payment by WHN of $2.25 million to the plaintiff’s counsel for fees and costs (subject to court approval). No part
of the settlement costs will be paid by the WHN directors individually. The settlement would not involve any admissions of breaches of fiduciary duty or
other wrongdoing by WHN or any of its directors. The settlement and payment of the plaintiff’s counsel fees would be conditioned upon, among other things,
completion of the merger. The settlement agreement was presented to the Superior Court judge assigned to the matter, on January 11, 2005. The judge
preliminarily approved the settlement, and scheduled a hearing to consider final approval to take place on July 7, 2005.

Other Contingencies
The Company serves as a fiscal intermediary for Medicare Parts A and B. The fiscal intermediaries for these programs receive reimbursement for
certain costs and expenditures, which is subject to adjustment upon audit by the Federal Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services, formerly the Health Care
Financing Administration. The laws and regulations governing fiscal intermediaries for the Medicare program are complex, subject to interpretation and can
expose an intermediary to penalties for non-compliance. Fiscal intermediaries may be subject to criminal fines, civil penalties or other sanctions as a result of
such audits or reviews. While the Company believes it is currently in compliance in all material respects with the regulations governing fiscal intermediaries,
there are ongoing reviews by the federal government of the Company’s activities under certain of its Medicare fiscal intermediary contracts.
From time to time, the Company and certain of its subsidiaries are parties to various legal proceedings, many of which involve claims for coverage
encountered in the ordinary course of business. The Company, like HMOs and health insurers generally, excludes certain health care services from coverage
under its HMO, PPO and other plans. The Company is, in its ordinary course of business, subject to the claims of its enrollees arising out of decisions to
restrict treatment or reimbursement for certain services. The loss of even one such claim, if it results in a significant punitive damage award, could have a
material adverse effect on the Company. In addition, the risk of potential liability under punitive damage theories may increase significantly the difficulty of
obtaining reasonable settlements of coverage claims.
In addition to the lawsuits described above, the Company is also involved in other pending and threatened litigation of the character incidental to the
business transacted, arising out of its insurance and investment operations, and is from time to time involved as a party in various governmental
investigations, audits, reviews and administrative proceedings. These investigations, audits and reviews include routine and special
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investigations by state insurance departments, state attorneys general and the U.S. Attorney General. Such investigations could result in the imposition of civil
or criminal fines, penalties and other sanctions. The Company believes that any liability that may result from any one of these actions is unlikely to have a
material adverse effect on its consolidated financial position or results of operations.

Vulnerability from Concentrations
Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash equivalents, investment securities,
premium receivables and instruments held through hedging activities. All investment securities are managed by professional investment managers within
policies authorized by the Board of Directors. Such policies limit the amounts that may be invested in any one issuer and prescribe certain investee company
criteria. Concentrations of credit risk with respect to premium receivables are limited due to the large number of employer groups that constitute the Company’s
customer base in the geographic regions in which it conducts business. As of December 31, 2004, there were no significant concentrations of financial
instruments in a single investee, industry or geographic location.

20. Segment Information
Following the merger with WHN on November 30, 2004, the organizational structure of the Company changed. As a result of this change, the Company
established three reportable segments: Health Care, Specialty, and Other. The Health Care segment is an aggregation of various operating segments, principally
differentiated only by geography. These Health Care operating segments have similar economic, product, distribution, customer and regulatory characteristics,
and meet the aggregation criteria as defined under paragraph 17 of FAS 131, Disclosures About Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information (“FAS
131”). Segment disclosures for 2003 and 2002 have been reclassified to conform to the 2004 presentation.
The Company’s focus on regional concentration allows management to understand and meet customer needs while effectively managing the cost
structure. The Company’s chief operating decision maker (the Chief Executive Officer) reviews the results of operations on a regular basis and holds each
division president accountable for his or her segment’s operating results. Operating segments comprising the Health Care segment provide a broad spectrum of
network-based health plans and other health care-related products to large and small employers and individuals. The Specialty segment is maintained as a
separate segment providing various products, including pharmacy benefits management, dental, life insurance, disability insurance, behavioral health, and
workers’ compensation products and services. In addition to intersegment sales and expense eliminations and corporate expenses not allocated to reportable
segments, the Other segment includes results from the Company’s government health services and other businesses that do not meet the quantitative thresholds
for an operating segment defined under FAS 131.

Through its participation in various federal government programs, the Company generated approximately 17%, 19% and 18% of its total consolidated
revenues from agencies of the U.S. government for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
The Company defines operating revenues to include premium income, administrative fees and other revenues. Operating revenues are derived from
premiums and fees received primarily from the sale and administration of health benefit products. Operating expenses are comprised of benefit expense, selling
expense, general and administrative expense and cost of drugs. The Company calculates operating gain or loss as operating revenue less operating expenses.
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The accounting policies of the segments are consistent with those described in the summary of significant accounting policies except that certain shared
administrative expenses for each segment are recognized on a pro rata allocated basis, which in aggregate approximates the consolidated expense. Any difference
between the allocated expenses and actual consolidated expense is included in other expenses not allocated to reportable segments. Intersegment sales and
expenses are recorded at cost, and eliminated in the consolidated financial statements. The Company evaluates performance of the reportable segments based
on operating gain or loss as defined above. The Company evaluates investment income, interest expense, amortization expense and income taxes, and asset and
liability details on a consolidated basis as these items are managed in a corporate shared service environment and are not the responsibility of segment
operating management.
Financial data by reportable segment for the years ended December 31 is as follows:
Care

Specialty

Other and
Eliminations

Total

Operating revenue from external customers
Intersegment revenues
Operating gain (loss)
Depreciation

$19,825.0
(70.5)
1,505.3
18.6

$ 423.1
812.1
100.9
0.6

$ 212.8
(741.6)
(105.8)
116.5

$ 20,460.9
—
1,500.4
135.7

2003
Operating revenue from external customers
Intersegment revenues
Operating gain (loss)
Depreciation

16,039.9
(39.8)
1,174.6
15.5

249.4
482.6
69.1
0.6

197.8

2002
Operating revenue from external customers
Intersegment revenues
Operating gain (loss)
Depreciation

12,587.1
—
684.0
17.5

224.0

299.6
50.7

189.3
(299.6)
(95.3)
87.2

Health

2004

3.4

(442.8)
(147.3)

111.7

16,487.1
—
1,096.4
127.8
13,000.4

—
639.4
108.1

Asset and equity details by reportable segment have not been disclosed, as they are not reported internally by the Company.
A reconciliation of reportable segment operating revenues to the amounts of total revenues included in the consolidated statements of income is as follows:
2004

2003

2002

Reportable segments operating revenues
Net investment income
Net realized gains on investments

$ 20,460.9
311.7
42.5

$ 16,487.1
278.1
16.2

$ 13,000.4
260.7
31.1

Total revenues

$20,815.1

$ 16,781.4

$ 13,292.2
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A reconciliation of reportable segment operating gain to income before income taxes and minority interest included in the consolidated statements of
income is as follows:
2004

2003

2002

Reportable segments operating gain
Net investment income
Net realized gains on investments
Interest expense
Amortization of goodwill and other intangible assets
Merger-related undertakings
Loss on repurchase of debt securities

$ 1,500.4
311.7
42.5
(142.3)
(61.4)
(61.5)
(146.1)

$ 1,096.4
278.1
16.2

$639.4
260.7
31.1
(98.5)
(30.2)
—
—

Income before income taxes

$ 1,443.3

$1,211.9

(131.2)
(47.6)

—
—

$802.5

21. Statutory Information
Statutory-basis capital and surplus for WellPoint’s insurance subsidiaries was $6,094.9 and $3,346.6 at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.
Statutory-basis net income of WellPoint’s insurance subsidiaries was $1,545.9, $565.0 and $538.9 for 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Statutory-basis
capital and surplus of WellPoint’s insurance subsidiaries are subject to regulatory restrictions with respect to amounts available for dividends to WellPoint.
WellPoint’s insurance subsidiaries’ risk-based capital as of December 31, 2004 was in excess of all mandatory risk-based capital thresholds.

22. Related Party Transactions
The Company formed Anthem Foundation, Inc. (the “Foundation”), an Indiana non-profit organization exempt from federal taxation under Section
501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code, to conduct, support and assist charitable, health-related, educational, and other community-based programs and
projects. The officers of the Foundation are also officers of the Company. These officers receive no compensation for the management services performed for
the Foundation but are reimbursed for any cash expenditures incurred on behalf of the Foundation. The Foundation is not a subsidiary of the Company and
the financial results of the Foundation are not consolidated with the Company’s financial statements. For 2004, 2003 and 2002, the Company contributed
$3.0, $24.0 and $0.1, respectively, to the Foundation. The Company has no current legal obligations for future commitments to the Foundation.
WHN formed The WellPoint Foundation (the “WHN Foundation”), a non-profit organization exempt from federal taxation under Section 501(c)(3) of the
Internal Revenue Code, to improve the health and well-being of individuals in the communities served by WHN. Officers of the WHN Foundation were also
officers of WHN. Effective with the merger, the officers of the WHN Foundation (other than Leonard D. Schaeffer) resigned and were replaced with officers of
the Company. For the period from December 1, 2004 to December 31, 2004, the Company made no contributions to the WHN Foundation. The Company has
no current legal obligations for future commitments to the WHN Foundation.
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Selected quarterly financial data is as follows:
For the Quarter Ended

March 31

June 30

September 30

December 31

$4,573.8
390.9
295.6

$4,607.9
362.6
237.9

$ 4,807.2

$6,826.2

372.4
242.1

184.5

2.14
2.08

1.72
1.66

1.75
1.70

0.94
0.92

$4,102.6

$4,265.2

191.7

$4,116.8
276.4
177.3

196.5

$ 4,296.8
326.7
208.8

1.38
1.36

1.28
1.25

1.42
1.38

1.52
1.47

2004

Total revenues
Income before income taxes
Net income

Basic net income per share
Diluted net income per share
2003
Total revenues
Income before income taxes
Net income

301.1

Basic net income per share
Diluted net income per share
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307.7

317.4

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE.
There have been no changes in or disagreements with the Company’s independent certified public accountants on accounting or financial disclosures.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Management, under the supervision and with the participation of the principal executive officer and principal financial officer, has established
disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating to the Company is made known to the officers who certify the Company’s
financial reports and to other members of senior management and the Board of Directors. Based on their evaluation, the principal executive officer and
principal financial officer of the Company have concluded that as of December 31, 2004 the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Rules 13a-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) were effective to ensure that the information required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports
that it files or submits under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in U.S.
Securities and Exchange Commission rules and forms.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Management, under the supervision and with the participation of the principal executive officer and principal financial officer, of WellPoint, Inc. (the
“Company”) is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting as such term is defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(f) (“Internal Control”). The Company’s Internal Control is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of our financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for external reporting purposes in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”). The
Company’s Internal Control includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the Company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with GAAP, and that receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance with
authorizations of management and directors of the Company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use or disposition of the Company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of inherent limitations in any Internal Control, no matter how well designed, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected.
Accordingly, even effective Internal Control can provide only reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with GAAP.

Management, under the supervision and with the participation of the principal executive officer and principal financial officer, assessed the effectiveness
of the Company’s Internal Control as of December 31, 2004. Management’s assessment was based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.
The Company completed its acquisition of WellPoint Health Networks Inc. (“WHN”) on November 30, 2004. As permitted by the Securities and
Exchange Commission, management’s assessment did not include the Internal Control of the acquired operations of the former WHN, which is included in the
Company’s consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2004 and for the period from December 1, 2004 through December 31, 2004. Such operations
of WHN constituted approximately $12.1 billion and $4.1 billion of the Company’s total
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assets and net assets, respectively, as of December 31, 2004, and approximately $2.0 billion and $0.1 billion of the Company’s revenues and net income,
respectively, for the year then ended.
Based on management’s assessment, which excluded an assessment of Internal Control of the acquired operations of WHN, management has concluded
that the Company’s Internal Control was effective as of December 31, 2004 to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and
the preparation of financial statements for external reporting purposes in accordance with GAAP.

Ernst & Young LLP, our independent registered public accounting firm, has audited the consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year
ended December 31, 2004, and has also issued an audit report dated March 4, 2005, on management’s assessment of the Company’s Internal Control, which
is included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
/S / LARRY C. GLASSCOCK
President and Chief Executive Officer

/S / DAVID C. COLBY
Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial and Accounting Officer

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Changes to certain processes, information technology systems, and other components of Internal Control resulting from the November 30, 2004
acquisition of WHN may occur and will be evaluated by management as such integration activities are implemented. Other than the impact of the acquisition
of WHN, there were no changes in Internal Control that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s Internal Control
during the quarter ended December 31, 2004.

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Shareholders and Board of Directors
WellPoint, Inc.
We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting, that
WellPoint, Inc. (formerly Anthem, Inc.) maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, based on criteria established in
Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the “COSO criteria”).
WellPoint, Inc.’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the
company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all
material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and
evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances.
We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control
over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable

112

assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the
company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation
of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

As indicated in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting, management’s assessment of and conclusion on
the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting did not include the internal control of WellPoint Health Networks Inc., which is included in the
2004 consolidated financial statements of WellPoint, Inc. and constituted approximately $12.1 billion and $4.1 billion of total and net assets, respectively, as
of December 31, 2004 and approximately $2.0 billion and $0.1 billion of revenues and net income, respectively, for the year then ended.

The Company completed its acquisition of WellPoint Health Networks Inc. on November 30, 2004, and as permitted by the Securities and Exchange
Commission’s guidance, management did not assess the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting of WellPoint Health Networks Inc. Our audit
of internal control over financial reporting of WellPoint, Inc. also did not include an evaluation of the internal control over financial reporting of WellPoint
Health Networks Inc.
In our opinion, management’s assessment that WellPoint, Inc. maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, is
fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the COSO criteria. Also, in our opinion, WellPoint, Inc. maintained, in all material respects, effective internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, based on the COSO criteria .

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated balance
sheets of WellPoint, Inc. as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the related consolidated statements of income, shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each
of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2004, and our report dated March 4, 2005 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.
/S /

Indianapolis, Indiana
March 4, 2005
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ERNST & YOUNG LLP

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
None

PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT.
The information required by this Item concerning the Executive Officers, the Directors and nominees for Director of the Company and concerning
disclosure of delinquent filers under Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act and concerning the Company’s Standards of Business Conduct is incorporated herein
by reference from the Company’s definitive Proxy Statement for its 2005 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, which will be filed with the Commission pursuant
to Regulation 14A within 120 days after the end of the Company’s last fiscal year.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION.
The information required by this Item concerning remuneration of the Company’s Officers and Directors and information concerning material
transactions involving such Officers and Directors is incorporated herein by reference from the Company’s definitive Proxy Statement for its 2005 Annual
Meeting of Shareholders which will be filed with the Commission pursuant to Regulation 14A within 120 days after the end of the Company’s last fiscal year.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS.
The information required by this Item concerning the stock ownership of management and five percent beneficial owners and securities authorized for
issuance under equity compensation plans is incorporated herein by reference from the Company’s definitive Proxy Statement for its 2005 Annual Meeting of
Shareholders which will be filed with the Commission pursuant to Regulation 14A within 120 days after the end of the Company’s last fiscal year.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS.
The information required by this Item concerning certain relationships and related transactions is incorporated herein by reference from the Company’s
definitive Proxy Statement for its 2005 Annual Meeting of Shareholders which will be filed with the Commission pursuant to Regulation 14A within 120 days
after the end of the Company’s last fiscal year.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES.
The information required by this Item concerning principal accounting fees and services is incorporated herein by reference from the Company’s
definitive Proxy Statement for its 2005 Annual Meeting of Shareholders which will be filed with the Commission pursuant to Regulation 14A within 120 days
after the end of the Company’s last fiscal year.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXH IBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES.
(a) 1. Financial Statements:
The following consolidated financial statements of the Company are set forth in Part II, Item 8.
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2004 and 2003
Consolidated Statements of Income for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

2. Financial Statement Schedule:

The following financial statement schedule of the Company is included in Item 15(c):
Schedule II—Condensed Financial Information of Registrant (Parent Company Only).

All other schedules for which provision is made in the applicable accounting regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission are
not required under the related instructions, are inapplicable, or the required information is included in the consolidated financial statements, and
therefore have been omitted.

3. Exhibits:
A list of exhibits required to be filed as part of this report is set forth in the Index to Exhibits, which immediately precedes such exhibits,
and is incorporated herein by reference.

(b) Exhibits
The response to this portion of Item 15 is submitted as a separate section of this report.
(c) Financial Statement Schedule

Schedule II—Condensed Financial Information of Registrant (Parent Company Only).
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Schedule II—Condensed Financial Information of Registrant

WellPoint, Inc. (Parent Company Only)
Balance Sheets
December 31

(In Millions, Except Share Data)
2004

2003

Assets
Current assets:
$

—

$

5.9

580.3
86.1
71.2
—
19.4

448.6

757.0

4.3

579.0
22,732.8

4.6
–
6,617.7

84.4

10.4

Total assets

$ 23,849.1

$ 7,389.7

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity
Liabilities
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses

$

$

Fixed maturity securities, at fair value
Cash and cash equivalents
Net due from subsidiaries 1
Deferred tax assets, net
Other current assets

207.3
34.4

201.0

Total current assets
Property and equipment
Investment in subsidiary surplus notes 1
Investment in subsidiaries 1
Other noncurrent assets

34.1

27.8

253.6

31.4

478.0

166.2

765.7

225.4

Deferred income taxes, net
Long-term debt
Other non-current liabilities

119.2
3,359.1
146.1

—
1,164.4
—

Total liabilities

4,390.1

1,389.8

3.0

1.4
4,708.7
1,154.3

Income taxes payable
Other current liabilities

Total current liabilities

Shareholders’ equity
Common stock, par value $0.01, shares authorized—900,000,000; shares issued and outstanding: 2004, 302,626,708;
2003, 137,641,034
Additional paid-in-capital
Retained earnings
Unearned stock compensation
Accumulated other comprehensive income

17,433.6
1,960.1
(83.5)
145.8

Total shareholders’ equity

19,459.0

5,999.9

$ 23,849.1

$ 7,389.7

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity
1

Amounts are eliminated in consolidation.

See accompanying notes.
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(3.2)

138.7

Schedule II—Condensed Financial Information of Registrant—(continued)

WellPoint, Inc. (Parent Company Only)
Statements of Income
Year Ended December 31

(In Millions)
2004

Revenues
Net investment income and net realized
gains (losses) on investments

$

Other revenue

Expenses
General and administrative expense
Interest expense
Merger-related undertakings

Loss on repurchase of debt securities

Loss before income taxes and equity in net income of subsidiaries
Income tax credits
Equity in net income of subsidiaries 1

$

1

Amounts are eliminated in consolidation.

See accompanying notes.
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2002

13.0
0.4

$ 18.1
—

13.4

18.1

7.3

32.9
92.2
50.0
146.1

10.1
81.0

—
—

12.1
43.6
—
—

321.2

91.1

55.7

(307.8)

(73.0)
(28.8)
818.5

(48.4)
(22.3)

(98.1)
1,169.8

Net income

2003

960.1

$ 774.3

$

7.3

—

575.2
$ 549.1

Schedule II—Condensed Financial Information of Registrant—(continued)

WellPoint, Inc. (Parent Company Only)
Statements of Cash Flow
Year Ended December 31

(In Millions)
2004

Operating activities
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Undistributed earnings of subsidiaries 1
Loss on repurchase of debt securities
Net realized losses (gains) on investments
Depreciation and amortization, net of accretion

$

Deferred income taxes
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Other assets

Amounts due to or from subsidiaries 1
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Income taxes payable
Other liabilities

960.1

2003

$ 774.3

(72.1)
146.1
10.8
10.5
67.8

(359.9)
—
(0.5)
12.4
91.6

11.7
122.4
6.3
(67.9)
15.2

(15.8)
(77.7)
(0.2)

2002

$

549.1
126.8
—
—
3.8
53.0

(1.1)
10.0

25.7
(76.2)

104.7
(13.8)

30.1

Cash provided by operating activities

1,210.9

515.1

Investing activities
Purchase of investments
Sales or maturities of investments
Purchase of subsidiary surplus notes
Proceeds from settlement of cash flow hedges
Notes receivable advances from (to) subsidiaries 1
Purchases of property and equipment
Purchases of subsidiaries

(1,376.4)
1,934.6
(582.2)
15.7
—
—
(3,718.9)

(687.5)
283.7
—
—
127.0
(4.6)
—

(180.9)
—
—
—
(127.0)
—
(1,134.6)

Cash used in investing activities

(3,727.2)

(281.4)

(1,442.5)

793.2
1,770.1

—
—
—
—
(217.2)
57.0

—
938.5
—
—
(256.2)
31.1

Financing activities
Proceeds from commercial paper borrowings
Proceeds from long-term borrowings
Payments on long-term borrowings
Proceeds from issuance of common stock under Equity Security Units stock purchase contracts
Repurchase and retirement of common stock
Proceeds from employee stock purchase plan and exercise of stock options
Costs related to the issuance of common stock for WellPoint Health Networks Inc. merger and Trigon
Healthcare, Inc. acquisition

(224.3)
230.0

(82.2)
159.0
(8.3)

2,637.5
121.2
86.1

Cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period

$

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period
1

Amounts are eliminated in consolidation.

See accompanying notes.

118

207.3

721.2

—

(4.1)

(160.2)
73.5
12.6

$ 86.1

709.3
(12.0)
24.6

$

12.6

Schedule II—Condensed Financial Information of Registrant—(continued)
WellPoint, Inc.
(Parent Company Only)
Notes to Condensed Financial Statements

December 31, 2004
(Dollars in Millions)
1. Basis of Presentation and Significant Accounting Policy
On November 30, 2004, Anthem, Inc. (“Anthem”) and WellPoint Health Networks Inc. (“WHN”) completed their merger. WHN merged with and into
Anthem Holding Corp., a direct and wholly-owned subsidiary of Anthem, with Anthem Holding Corp. as the surviving entity in the merger. In connection
with the merger, Anthem amended its articles of incorporation to change its name to WellPoint, Inc. (“WellPoint”). In addition, the ticker symbol for Anthem’s
common stock listed on the New York Stock Exchange was changed to “WLP”. WHN’s operating results are included in WellPoint’s consolidated financial
statements for the period following November 30, 2004.

In WellPoint’s “parent company only” financial statements, WellPoint’s investment in subsidiaries is stated at cost plus equity in undistributed earnings
of the subsidiaries. WellPoint’s share of net income of its unconsolidated subsidiaries is included in income using the equity method of accounting.

WellPoint’s investment in subsidiary surplus notes is stated at estimated fair value.
WellPoint’s parent company only financial statements should be read in conjunction with WellPoint’s audited consolidated financial statements and the
accompanying notes included in this Form 10-K.

2. Subsidiary Transactions
Dividends
WellPoint received cash dividends from subsidiaries of $1,097.7, $458.6 and $702.0 during 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Investment in Subsidiaries
As described in Note 1, on November 30, 2004, Anthem completed its merger with WHN and purchased 100% of the outstanding common stock of
WHN. As a result of the merger, each WHN stockholder received $23.80 in cash, without interest, and one share of WellPoint common stock for each share
of WHN common stock held. The purchase price was $16,022.3 and included cash of $3,718.8, the issuance of approximately 155.3 million shares of
WellPoint common stock, valued at $11,293.8, WHN stock options converted to WellPoint stock options and other stock awards for approximately 21.8
million shares valued at $806.3, and $203.4 of estimated transaction costs. The fair value of common stock issued was based on $72.70 per share, which
represents the average closing price of the Company’s common stock for the five trading days ranging from two days before to two days after October 27,
2003, the date the merger was announced. In connection with the WHN merger, WellPoint executed certain undertakings with the California Department of
Managed Health Care, the California Department of Insurance (“California DOI”), and the Georgia Department of Insurance which contained various
commitments by WellPoint. Expenses for merger-related undertakings with the California DOI of $50.0 were recorded by WellPoint in 2004.

Capital contributions to subsidiaries were $14.7, $15.6 and $0.0 during 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The contributions in 2004 and 2003 were
non-cash and were to record the tax benefit of option exercises at subsidiary levels.
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Schedule II—Condensed Financial Information of Registrant—(continued)
WellPoint, Inc.
(Parent Company Only)
Notes to Condensed Financial Statements (continued)

2. Subsidiary Transactions (continued)

Amounts Due to and From Subsidiaries
During December 2004, WellPoint completed a tender offer to purchase surplus notes of Anthem Insurance Companies, Inc. a direct wholly-owned
subsidiary, and purchased $258.0 of 9.125% notes due 2010 and $174.9 of 9.00% notes due 2027. A loss of $146.1 was recorded by WellPoint,
representing the amount fair value exceeded par value at the time of purchase.

At December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 WellPoint reported $34.4, $71.2 due from and $10.0 due to subsidiaries, respectively. These amounts are for
administrative expenses and are routinely settled, and as such, are classified as current assets.

3. Long-Term Debt
At December 31 WellPoint’s debt consisted of the following:
2004

$ 192.8
297.4
297.3
492.8
493.8
–
791.8
149.8
793.2

Senior unsecured notes at 3.500% due 2007
Senior unsecured notes at 3.750% due 2007
Senior unsecured notes at 4.250% due 2009
Senior unsecured notes at 5.000% due 2014
Senior unsecured notes at 5.950% due 2034
Debentures included in Equity Security Units at 5.950% due 2006
Senior unsecured notes at 6.800% due 2012
Senior unsecured notes at 4.875% due 2005
Commercial paper program

3,508.9
(149.8)

Long-term debt
Current portion of long-term debt

$3,359.1

Long-term debt, less current portion

2003

$

–
–
–
–
–
224.3

790.7
149.4
–
1,164.4
–
$1,164.4

The current portion of long-term debt is reported with other current liabilities and represents the senior unsecured notes at 4.875% of $149.8, which
mature in August 2005.
WellPoint had cash requirements of approximately $4,000.0 for the WHN merger, including both the cash portion of the purchase price and estimated
transaction costs. In anticipation of the merger, on November 15, 2004, WellPoint entered into a bridge loan agreement under which it could borrow up to
$3,000.0. The amounts available under this bridge loan were reduced to $1,500.0 upon WellPoint entering into the senior credit facilities described in the
paragraph below. On November 30, 2004, WellPoint borrowed $500.0 under this bridge facility to partially fund the WHN merger. As further described below,
senior unsecured notes were issued to replace this bridge loan during December 2004. Upon issuance of the senior unsecured notes, the $500.0 of borrowings
under the bridge loan was required to be repaid and the commitments under the bridge loan agreement were terminated.
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Schedule II—Condensed Financial Information of Registrant—(continued)
WellPoint, Inc.
(Parent Company Only)
Notes to Condensed Financial Statements (continued)

3. Long-Term Debt (continued)
On November 19, 2004, WellPoint entered into new senior credit facilities with certain of its lenders (i) in connection with the pending merger with
WHN, (ii) to replace the existing $600.0 revolving credit facility set to mature on June 28, 2005 and the $400.0 revolving facility, which would have matured
on November 5, 2006, and (iii) for general corporate purposes. The new facilities include a $1,000.0 364-day credit facility which expires on November 29,
2005 and a $1,500.0 five year facility which matures on November 30, 2009. WellPoint’s ability to borrow under these facilities is subject to compliance with
certain covenants. On November 30, 2004, WellPoint borrowed $900.0 under the 364-day facility and $1,400.0 under the five year facility to partially fund the
WHN merger. As described in more detail below, senior unsecured notes and commercial paper were issued to replace these borrowings during December 2004.
There were no amounts outstanding under the senior credit facilities and WellPoint was in compliance with the covenants as of December 31, 2004.

Effective upon the merger with WHN, the board of directors authorized an increase in WellPoint’s commercial paper program from $1,000.0 to
$2,000.0, the proceeds of which may be used for general corporate purposes, including the repurchase of WellPoint debt and common stock. WellPoint
initially borrowed $1,500.0 under this commercial paper program, which was used to repay a portion of the senior credit facilities described above. As of
December 31, 2004, $793.2 of commercial paper remained outstanding. Commercial paper borrowings have been classified as long-term debt at December 31,
2004 in accordance with FAS 6, Classification of Short-Term Obligations Expected to Be Refinanced , as WellPoint’s practice and intent is to replace shortterm commercial paper outstanding at expiration with additional short-term commercial paper for an uninterrupted period extending for more than one year or
with borrowings under the senior credit facilities, including the $1,500.0 five year facility described above.

On July 31, 2002, WellPoint issued $950.0 of long-term senior unsecured notes ($800.0 of 6.800% notes due 2012 and $150.0 of 4.875% notes due
2005). The net proceeds of $938.5 from the note offerings were used to pay a portion of the cash consideration and expenses associated with the acquisition of
Trigon Healthcare, Inc.
Subordinated debentures included in Equity Security Units were unsecured and subordinated in right of payment to all existing and future senior
indebtedness. During August 2004, WellPoint completed a remarketing of its $230.0 subordinated debentures included in Equity Security Units, as required
under the terms of the Equity Security Units issued in November 2001. As a result of the remarketing, the interest rate on the subordinated debentures was
reset to 4.655%.
Proceeds from the remarketing were used to purchase U.S. Treasury securities which were held by a collateral agent to satisfy the stock purchase
contract portion of the Equity Security Units. In November 2004, proceeds of $230.0 were received from the collateral agent, and approximately 5.3 million
shares of common stock were issued pursuant to the purchase contract portion of the Equity Security Units.
In connection with the remarketing, in August 2004 WellPoint issued $200.0 of 3.500% Notes due 2007, which were used to exchange and retire $190.0
aggregate principal amount of the 4.655% remarketed subordinated debentures. WellPoint also received approximately $4.7 of cash proceeds, net of
underwriting discounts and offering expenses. Following issuance of the 3.500% Notes due 2007, $40.0 of aggregate principal amount of the 4.655%
remarketed debentures remained outstanding. During November 2004, WellPoint repurchased and retired the remaining $40.0 of aggregate principal amount of
the 4.655% subordinated debentures and as of December 31, 2004, no amounts of the 4.655% subordinated debentures remain outstanding. The $200.0 of
3.500% Notes due 2007 were issued under a shelf registration filed with the Securities and
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Schedule II—Condensed Financial Information of Registrant—(continued)
WellPoint, Inc.
(Parent Company Only)
Notes to Condensed Financial Statements (continued)

3. Long-Term Debt (continued)
Exchange Commission in December 2002 for any combination of debt or equity securities in one or more offerings up to an aggregate amount of $1,000.0. As
of December 31, 2004, WellPoint had $800.0 of the shelf registration capacity remaining.

On December 9, 2004, WellPoint issued $300.0 of 3.750% Notes due 2007, $300.0 of 4.250% Notes due 2009, $500.0 of 5.000% Notes due 2014 and
$500.0 of 5.950% Notes due 2034. Net proceeds from this offering were approximately $1,583.7 after deducting the initial purchasers’ discount and
estimated offering expenses. Proceeds from these notes were used to repay the $500.0 outstanding under the bridge loan, $500.0 outstanding under the five-year
senior credit facility and $500.0 to fund the tender offer to purchase surplus notes of Anthem Insurance. The remainder of the proceeds was used to repay
commercial paper.
4. Hedging Activity
The information regarding hedging activity contained in Note 7 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements of WellPoint and its subsidiaries is
incorporated herein by reference.

5.

Capital Stock

The information regarding capital stock contained in Note 12 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements of WellPoint and its subsidiaries is
incorporated herein by reference.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

WELLPOINT, INC.

By:

/S /

LARRY C. GLASSCOCK
Larry C. Glasscock
President and Chief Executive Officer

Dated: March 14, 2005
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the
registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
Name

LARRY C. GLASSCOCK

/S /

Title

Date

President and Chief Executive Officer (Principal
Executive Officer)

March 14, 2005

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial and
Accounting Officer (Principal Financial and
Principal Accounting Officer)

March 14, 2005

Chairman of the Board of Directors

March 14, 2005

Director

March 14, 2005

Director

March 14, 2005

Director

March 14, 2005

Director

March 14, 2005

Director

March 14, 2005

Director

March 14, 2005

Director

March 14, 2005

Director

March 14, 2005

Director

March 14, 2005

Director

March 14, 2005

Larry C. Glasscock

DAVID C. COLBY

/S /

David C. Colby

LEONARD D. SHAEFFER

/S /

Leonard D. Shaeffer

/S /

LENOX D. BAKER, JR ., M.D.
Lenox D. Baker, Jr., M.D.

SUSAN B. BAYH

/S /

Susan B. Bayh

/S /

SHEILA P. BURKE
Sheila P. Burke

WILLIAM H.T. BUSH

/S /

William H.T. Bush

/S /

JULIE A. H ILL
Julie A. Hill

/S /

WARREN Y. JOBE
Warren Y. Jobe

/S /

VICTOR S. LISS
Victor S. Liss

/S /

L. BEN LYTLE
L. Ben Lytle

/S /

WILLIAM G. MAYS
William G. Mays

/S /

RAMIRO G. PERU
Ramiro G. Peru
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Name

/S /

JANE G. PISANO

Title

Date

Director

March 14, 2005

Director

March 14, 2005

Director

March 14, 2005

Director

March 14, 2005

Director

March 14, 2005

Director

March 14, 2005

Jane G. Pisano

/S /

SENATOR DONALD W. RIEGLE, JR .
Senator Donald W. Riegle, Jr.

/S /

WILLIAM J. RYAN
William J. Ryan

/S /

ELIZABETH A. S ANDERS
Elizabeth A. Sanders

/S /

GEORGE A. S CHAEFER , JR .
George A. Schaefer, Jr.

/S /

JACKIE M. WARD
Jackie M. Ward
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INDEX TO EXHIBITS
Exhibit

Number

Exhibit

2.1

Plan of Conversion to a Stock Insurance Company, proposed by the Board of Directors of Anthem Insurance Companies, Inc. on June
18, 2001, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-67714).

2.2

Amended and Restated Agreement and Plan of Merger, effective as of October 26, 2003, among the Company, Anthem Holding Corp.
and WellPoint Health Networks Inc., incorporated by reference to Appendix A to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-4
(Registration No. 333-110830) (exhibits thereto will be furnished supplementally to the Securities and Exchange Commission upon
request).

3.1

Articles of Incorporation of the Company, as amended effective November 30, 2004, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 30, 2004.

3.2

By-Laws of the Company, amended and restated effective November 30, 2004, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 30, 2004.

4.1

Articles of Incorporation of the Company, as amended effective November 30, 2004 (Included in Exhibit 3.1).

4.2

By-Laws of the Company, amended and restated effective November 30, 2004 (Included in Exhibit 3.2).

4.3

Specimen of Certificate of the Company’s common stock, $0.01 par value per share, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the
Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (Registration No. 333-120851).

4.4

Indenture, dated as of November 2, 2001, by and between the Company and The Bank of New York, as trustee, regarding
subordinated debentures, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended September 30, 2001.
(a) First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of November 2, 2001, between the Company and The Bank of New York, as trustee,
establishing 5.95% Subordinated Debentures due 2006, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to the Company’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2001.
(b) Purchase Contract Agreement, dated as of November 2, 2001, between the Company and The Bank of New York, as purchase contract agent,
relating to the 5.95% Subordinated Debentures due 2006, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.5 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2001.
(c) Pledge Agreement, dated as of November 2, 2001, among the Company, The Chase Manhattan Bank, as collateral agent, custodial agent and
securities intermediary, and The Bank of New York, as purchase contract agent, relating to the 5.95% Subordinated Debentures due 2006,
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.6 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2001.

(d) Form of 5.95% Subordinated Debenture due 2006 (Included in Exhibit 4.4(a)), incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.6 to the
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2001.
(e) Form of Normal Units Certificate relating to the 5.95% Subordinated Debentures due 2006 (Included in Exhibit 4.4(c)), incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 4.6 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2001.
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(f)

Form of Stripped Units Certificate relating to the 5.95% Subordinated Debentures due 2006 (Included in Exhibit 4.4(c)), incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.6 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2001.

(g) Form of Remarketing Agreement, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.10 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration
No. 333-70566).

4.5

Indenture, dated as of July 31, 2002, between the Company and The Bank of New York, as trustee, incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.13 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2002.
(a) First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of July 31, 2002, between the Company and The Bank of New York, Trustee, establishing 4.875%
Notes due 2005 and 6.800% Notes due 2012, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.14 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for
the quarter ended June 30, 2002.

(b) Form of 4.875% Note due 2005 (Included in Exhibit 4.5(a)), incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.14 to the Company’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2002.
(c) Form of 6.800% Note due 2012 (Included in Exhibit 4.5(a)), incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.14 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2002.

4.6

Form of Subordinated Note Indenture by and between the Company and The Bank of New York, as trustee, incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 4.17 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-3 (Registration No. 333-101969).

4.7

Commercial Paper Dealer Agreement, dated as of March 11, 2003, among the Company, as Issuer, and J.P. Morgan Securities Inc.,
Banc of America Securities LLC and Salomon Smith Barney Inc., each as Dealer, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.18 to the
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2003.
(a) Issuing and Paying Agency Agreement, dated as of March 11, 2003, by and between the Company and JPMorgan Chase Bank, incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.19 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2003.

4.8

Senior Note Indenture, dated as of December 31, 2002, between the Company and The Bank of New York, as trustee, incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.16 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on August 25, 2004.
(a) First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of August 27, 2004, between the Company and The Bank of New York, as trustee, establishing 3.50%
Senior Notes due 2007, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.20 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on August 27, 2004.
(b) Form of 3.50% Senior Note due 2007 (included as Exhibit A in Exhibit 4.8(a)), incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.21 to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on August 27, 2004.

4.9

5-Year Credit Agreement, dated as of November 19, 2004, among the Company, as the Borrower; Bank of America, N.A., as
Administrative Agent, Swing Line Lender and L/C Issuer; the other Lenders party thereto; JPMorgan Chase Bank, as Syndication
Agent; UBC Loan Finance LLC and Williams Street Commitment Corporation, as Co-Documentation Agents; and Banc of America
Securities LLC and J.P.Morgan Securities Inc., as Joint Lead Arrangers and Joint Book Managers, incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 24, 2004.
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4.10

364-Day Credit Agreement, dated as of November 19, 2004, among the Company, as the Borrower; Bank of America, N.A., as
Administrative Agent; the other Lenders party thereto; JPMorgan Chase Bank, as Syndication Agent; UBS Loan Finance LLC and
Williams Street Commitment Corporation, as Co-Documentation Agents; and Banc of America Securities LLC and J.P.Morgan Securities
Inc., as Joint Lead Arrangers and Joint Book Managers, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed on November 24, 2004.

4.11

Amended and Restated Indenture, dated as of June 8, 2001, by and between WellPoint Health Networks Inc. (as predecessor by merger to
Anthem Holding Corp., “WellPoint Health”) and The Bank of New York, as trustee, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to WellPoint
Health’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 12, 2001 (File No. 001-13083).

(a) First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of November 30, 2004, between Anthem Holding Corp. and The Bank of New York, as
trustee.
(b) Form of Note evidencing WellPoint Health’s 6 3/8 % Notes due 2006, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to WellPoint Health’s Current Report
on Form 8-K filed on June 14, 2001 (File No. 001-13083).

(c) Form of Note evidencing WellPoint Health’s 6 3/8% Notes due 2012, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to WellPoint Health’s Current Report
on Form 8-K filed on January 16, 2002 (File No. 001-13083).

4.12

Indenture, dated as of December 9, 2004, between the Company and The Bank of New York Trust Company, N.A., as trustee,
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 15, 2004.
(a) Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of December 9, 2004, among the Company, Banc of America Securities LLC, Goldman,
Sachs & Co., J.P. Morgan Securities Inc. and UBS Securities LLC, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 15, 2004.

4.13

10.1*

Upon the request of the Securities and Exchange Commission, the Company will furnish copies of any other instruments defining the
rights of holders of long-term debt of the Company or its subsidiaries.
Anthem 2001 Stock Incentive Plan, amended and restated as of January 1, 2003, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1(iii) to the
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2003.

(a) Form of Anthem 2001 Stock Incentive Plan Option Grant Letter as of January 1, 2005.
(b) Form of Anthem 2001 Stock Incentive Plan Restricted Stock Award Letter as of January 1, 2005.

10.2*

Anthem Employee Stock Purchase Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1
(Registration No. 333-67714).
(a) Amendment No. 1 to Anthem Employee Stock Purchase Plan, dated July 2, 2002, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2(i) to the Company’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2002.
(b) Amendment No. 2 to Anthem Employee Stock Purchase Plan, dated July 29, 2002, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2(ii) to the Company’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2002.
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10.3*

Employment Agreement by and between Anthem Insurance Companies, Inc. and Larry C. Glasscock, dated as of October 22, 1999,
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-67714).

10.4*

Employment Agreement by and between Anthem Insurance Companies, Inc. and David R. Frick, dated as of January 1, 2000,
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-67714).
(a) Amendment One to Employment Agreement by and between Anthem Insurance Companies, Inc. and David R. Frick, effective as of January 1,
2003, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4(i) to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002.

10.5*

Employment Agreement by and between Anthem Insurance Companies, Inc. and Samuel R. Nussbaum, M.D., dated as of January 2,
2001, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-67714).
(a) Amendment One to Employment Agreement by and between Anthem Insurance Companies, Inc. and Samuel R. Nussbaum, M.D., effective as
of January 1, 2002, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5(ii) to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December
31, 2001.

(b) Amendment Two to Employment Agreement by and between Anthem Insurance Companies, Inc. and Samuel R. Nussbaum, M.D., effective as
of January 1, 2003, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5(iii) to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December
31, 2002.

(c) Amendment Three to Employment Agreement by and between Anthem Insurance Companies, Inc. and Samuel R. Nussbaum,
N.D., effective as of January 1, 2005.

10.6*

Employment Agreement by and between Anthem Insurance Companies, Inc. and Michael L. Smith, dated as of January 1, 2000,
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-67714).
(a) Amendment One to Employment Agreement by and between Anthem Insurance Companies, Inc. and Michael L. Smith, effective as of January 1,
2003, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6(i) to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002.

10.7*

Employment Agreement by and between Anthem Insurance Companies, Inc. and Marjorie W. Dorr, dated as of January 1, 1999,
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7(i) to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-67714).
(a) Amendment One to Employment Agreement by and between Anthem Insurance Companies, Inc. and Marjorie W. Dorr, effective as of January
1, 2000, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7(ii) to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-67714).

(b) Amendment Two to Employment Agreement by and between Anthem Insurance Companies, Inc. and Marjorie W. Dorr, effective as of July 29,
2000, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7(iii) to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-67714).
(c) Amendment Three to Employment Agreement by and between Anthem Insurance Companies, Inc. and Marjorie W. Dorr, effective as of January
1, 2001, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7(iv) to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-67714).
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(d) Amendment Four to Employment Agreement by and between Anthem Insurance Companies, Inc. and Marjorie W. Dorr, effective as of January
1, 2002, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7(v) to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001.
(e) Amendment Five to Employment Agreement by and between Anthem Insurance Companies, Inc. and Marjorie W. Dorr, effective as of January 1,
2003, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7(vi) to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002.

10.8*

Employment Agreement by and between Anthem Insurance Companies, Inc. and Keith R. Faller, dated as of January 1, 1999,
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8(i) to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-67714).
(a) Amendment One to Employment Agreement by and between Anthem Insurance Companies, Inc. and Keith R. Faller, effective as of January 1,
2000, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8(ii) to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-67714).

(b) Amendment Two to Employment Agreement by and between Anthem Insurance Companies, Inc. and Keith R. Faller, effective as of January 1,
2001, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8(iii) to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-67714).
(c) Amendment Three to Employment Agreement by and between Anthem Insurance Companies, Inc. and Keith R. Faller, effective as of January 1,
2002, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8(iv) to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001.

(d) Amendment Four to Employment Agreement by and between Anthem Insurance Companies, Inc. and Keith R. Faller, effective as of January 1,
2003, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8(v) to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002.

10.9*

Employment Agreement by and between Anthem Insurance Companies, Inc. and Mark L. Boxer, dated as of November 13, 2000.
(a) Amendment One to Employment Agreement by and between Anthem Insurance Companies, Inc. and Mark L. Boxer, effective as of January 1,
2003.

(b) Amendment Two to Employment Agreement by and between Anthem Insurance Companies, Inc. and Mark L. Boxer, effective as of January 1,
2005.

10.10

Employment Agreement by and between the Company and Randall Lewis, dated as of July 14, 2003.

10.11*

Letter from Anthem Insurance Companies, Inc. to L. Ben Lytle regarding retirement benefits, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to
the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-67714).

10.12*

Anthem Deferred Compensation Plan, amended and restated effective January 1, 1997, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14(i) to
the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-67714).

(a) First Amendment to Anthem Deferred Compensation Plan, adopted December 16, 1998, incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.14(ii) to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-67714).
(b) Second Amendment to Anthem Deferred Compensation Plan, executed March 30, 2000, incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.14(iii) to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-67714).
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10.13*

Anthem Board of Directors’ Deferred Compensation Plan, amended and restated as of January 1, 2004, incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.15(i) to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2003.

10.14*

Anthem Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan, amended and restated effective January 1, 1997, incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.16(i) to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-67714).
(a) First Amendment to the Anthem Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan, executed on March 30, 2000, incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.16(ii) to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-67714).

(b) Second Amendment to the Anthem Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan, executed on September 1, 2000, incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.16(iii) to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-67714).

10.15*

Anthem 1998 Long-Term Incentive Plan, effective January 1, 1998, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-67714).

10.16*

Anthem 2001-2003 Long-Term Incentive Plan, effective January 1, 2001, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-67714).
(a) First Amendment to the Anthem 2001-2003 Long-Term Incentive Plan, dated April 25, 2002, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18(i) to the
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2002.

10.17*

2001 Annual Incentive Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1
(Registration No. 333-67714.

10.18*

Anthem Directed Executive Compensation Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.20 to the Company’s Registration Statement on
Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-67714).

10.19*

Anthem Split Dollar Life Insurance Program, amended and restated effective November 1, 1998, incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.21 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-67714).

10.20

Blue Cross License Agreement by and between Blue Cross and Blue Shield Association and the Company, dated November 2, 2001,
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.22 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001.

10.21

Blue Shield License Agreement by and between Blue Cross and Blue Shield Association and the Company, dated November 2, 2001,
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.23 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001.

10.22*

Employment Agreement among the Company, Trigon Healthcare, Inc. and Thomas G. Snead, Jr., dated as of June 7, 2002, incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.24 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-4 (Registration No. 333-88776).
(i)

Amendment One to Employment Agreement by and between the Company and Thomas G. Snead, Jr., effective January 1, 2003, incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.24(i) to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002.
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10.23*

Exhibit

Anthem 401(k) Long Term Savings Investment Plan, as amended and restated effective January 1, 1997, incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 99.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2002.
(a) First Amendment of the Anthem 401(k) Long Term Savings Investment Plan (Second Restatement Effective January 1, 1997), effective June 1,
2002, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2002.
(b) Second Amendment of the Anthem 401(k) Long Term Savings Investment Plan (Second Restatement Effective January 1, 1997), effective October
31, 2002, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.25(i) to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31,
2003.

(c) Third Amendment of the Anthem 401(k) Long Term Savings Investment Plan (Second Restatement Effective January 1, 1997), effective January
1, 2002, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.25(ii) to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2003.

(d) Fourth Amendment of the Anthem 401(k) Long Term Savings Investment Plan (Second Restatement Effective January 1, 1997), effective January
1, 2002, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.25(iv) to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31,
2004.
(e) Fifth Amendment of the Anthem 401(k) Long Term Savings Investment Plan (Second Restatement Effective January 1, 1997), effective January 1,
2004, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.25(v) to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2004.

(f)

Sixth Amendment of the Anthem 401(k) Long Term Savings Investment Plan (Second Restatement Effective January 1, 1997), effective January
1, 2004, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.25(vi) to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31,
2004.

(g) Seventh Amendment of the Anthem 401(k) Long Term Savings Investment Plan (Second Restatement Effective January 1, 1997), effective
January 31, 2004, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.25(vii) to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
March 31, 2004.

10.24*

Noncompetition Agreement, dated as of April 27, 2002, among the Company, Trigon Healthcare, Inc. and Thomas G. Snead, Jr.,
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.26 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-4 (Registration No. 333-88776).

10.25*

Trigon Healthcare, Inc. 1997 Stock Incentive Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit A to Trigon Healthcare, Inc.’s Definitive Proxy
Statement for its 1997 Annual Meeting of Shareholders filed on March 14, 1997.

(a) First Amendment to the Trigon Healthcare, Inc. 1997 Stock Incentive Plan, dated as of February 15, 2000, incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Trigon Healthcare, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2000.
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10.26*

Exhibit

Trigon Healthcare, Inc. Non-Employee Directors Stock Incentive Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit C to Trigon Healthcare,
Inc.’s Definitive Proxy Statement for its 1997 Annual Meeting of Shareholders filed on March 14, 1997.
(a) Amendment to the Trigon Healthcare, Inc. Non-Employee Directors Stock Incentive Plan, dated as of April 24, 2002, incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.36 to Trigon Healthcare, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K/A No.1 for the year ended December 31, 2001.

10.27*

Form of Trigon Healthcare, Inc. Stock Option Agreement, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99(ii) to Trigon Healthcare, Inc.’s
Registration Statement on Form S-8 (Registration No. 333-45890).
(a) Schedule of Agreements pursuant to the Form of Trigon Healthcare, Inc. Stock Option Agreement, incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 99.6 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (Registration No. 333-97423).

10.28*

Trigon Insurance Company 401(k) Restoration Plan, effective January 1, 1995, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99(ii) to Trigon
Healthcare, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (Registration No. 333-22463).

10.29*

Anthem Annual Incentive Plan, effective January 1, 2003, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.32 to the Company’s Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2003.

10.30*

Anthem Long-Term Incentive Plan, effective January 1, 2004, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.33 to the Company’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2003.

10.31

Undertakings to California Department of Insurance, dated November 8, 2004, delivered by WellPoint Health, BC Life, Anthem, Inc.
and Anthem Holding Corp., incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November
10, 2004.

10.32

Undertakings to California Department of Managed Health Care, dated November 23, 2004, delivered by WellPoint Health, Blue Cross
of California, Anthem, Inc. and Anthem Holding Corp., incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.2 to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed on November 30, 2004.

10.33

Undertakings to California Department of Managed Health Care, dated November 23, 2004, delivered by WellPoint Health, Golden
West, Anthem, Inc. and Anthem Holding Corp., incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.3 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8K filed on November 30, 2004.

10.34

Undertakings, dated January 7, 1993, by WellPoint Health, Blue Cross of California and certain subsidiaries to the California
Department of Corporations, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.24 to WellPoint Health’s Registration Statement on Form S-1
(Registration No. 33-54898).

10.35

Orders Approving Notice of Material Modification and Undertakings, dated September 7, 1995, by Blue Cross of California,
WellPoint Health and WellPoint Health’s subsidiaries to the California Department of Corporations, incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.47 to WellPoint Health’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 1995 (File No. 1-11628).

10.36

Amended and Restated Undertakings, dated March 5, 1996, by Blue Cross of California, WellPoint Health and certain of its
subsidiaries to the California Department of Corporations, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to WellPoint Health’s Current
Report on Form 8-K dated March 5, 1996 (File No. 1-11628).

10.37

Indemnification Agreement, dated as of May 17, 1996, by and among WellPoint Health, WellPoint Health Networks Inc., a Delaware
corporation, and Western Health Partnerships, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.9 to WellPoint Health’s Current Report on Form
8-K filed June 3, 1996 (File No. 333-03292-01).
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10.38

Undertakings, dated July 31, 1997, by WellPoint Health, Blue Cross of California and WellPoint California Services, Inc. to the
California Department of Corporations, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.12 to WellPoint Health’s Current Report on Form 8-K
filed on August 5, 1997 (File No. 001-13083).

10.39*

Form of Indemnification Agreement between WellPoint Health and its Directors and Officers, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17
to WellPoint Health’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 33-54898).

10.40*

WellPoint Health Networks Inc. Board of Directors Deferred Compensation Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.52 to WellPoint
Health’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1998 (File No. 001-13083).

10.41*

WellPoint Health Networks Inc. 1999 Stock Incentive Plan (as amended through December 6, 2000), incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.37 to WellPoint Health’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2000 (File No. 001-13083).
(a) Form of WellPoint Health Networks Inc. 1999 Stock Incentive Plan Notice of Grant of Stock Option and Stock Option Agreement, revised
December 2001, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.01 to WellPoint Health’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
September 30, 2004 (File No. 001-13083).

(b) Form of WellPoint Health Networks Inc. 1999 Stock Incentive Plan Notice of Grant of Stock Option and Stock Option Agreement, revised
September 2003, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.02 to WellPoint Health’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
September 30, 2004 (File No. 001-13083).

(c) Form of WellPoint Health Networks Inc. 1999 Stock Incentive Plan Restricted Share Right Grant Agreement (Non-Officers), as of January 26,
2004, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.05 to WellPoint Health’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30,
2004 (File No. 001-13083).

(d) Form of WellPoint Health Networks Inc. 1999 Stock Incentive Plan Restricted Share Right Grant Agreement (Officers), as of January 26, 2004,
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.06 to WellPoint Health’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2004 (File
No. 001-13083).

(e) Form of WellPoint Health Networks Inc. 1999 Stock Incentive Plan Notice of Grant of Stock Option and Stock Option Agreement
with Leonard D. Schaeffer, revised December 2001, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.07 to WellPoint Health’s Quarterly
Report on Form
10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2004 (File No. 001-13083).
(f)

Form of WellPoint Health Networks Inc. 1999 Stock Incentive Plan Notice of Grant of Stock Option and Stock Option Agreement with Leonard D.
Schaeffer revised September 2003, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.08 to WellPoint Health’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended September 30, 2004 (File No. 001-13083).

(g) Form of WellPoint Health Networks Inc. 1999 Stock Incentive Plan Notice of Automatic Grant of Stock Option, Notice of Annual Automatic Grant
of Stock Option, Notice of Grant of Stock Option and Automatic Stock Option Agreement for Non-Employee Directors, incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.09 to WellPoint Health’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2004 (File No. 00113083).
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10.42*

Exhibit

WellPoint Health Networks Inc. 1999 Executive Officer Annual Incentive Plan, incorporated by reference to Annex II to WellPoint
Health’s Definitive Proxy Statement for its 2001 Annual Meeting of Stockholders filed on March 30, 2001 (File No. 001-13083).
(a) Amendment, dated June 28, 2004, to the WellPoint Health Networks Inc. 1999 Executive Officer Annual Incentive Plan, incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.02 to WellPoint Health’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2004 (File No. 001-13083).

10.43*

WellPoint Health Networks Inc. 2000 Employee Stock Option Plan (as amended through October 19, 2001), incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.33 to WellPoint Health’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001 (File No. 001-13083).
(a) Form of WellPoint Health Networks Inc. 2000 Employee Stock Option Plan Notice of Grant of Stock Option and Stock Option Agreement, revised
December 2001, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.03 to WellPoint Health’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
September 30, 2004 (File No. 001-13083).

(b) Form of WellPoint Health Networks Inc. 2000 Employee Stock Option Plan Notice of Grant of Stock Option and Stock Option Agreement, revised
September 2003, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.04 to WellPoint Health’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
September 30, 2004 (File No. 001-13083).

10.44*

WellPoint Health Networks Inc. Officer Severance Plan (as adopted December 4, 2001), incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.23 to
WellPoint Health’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001 (File No. 001-13083).

10.45*

RightCHOICE Managed Care, Inc. 2001 Stock Incentive Plan, effective May 1, 2001, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10 to the
Registration Statement on Form S-8 of RightCHOICE Managed Care, Inc. (File No. 333-62898).

10.46*

RightCHOICE Managed Care, Inc. 1994 Equity Incentive Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4(c) of the Post-Effective
Amendment No. 2 on Form S-8 to Registration Statement on Form S-4 of RightCHOICE Managed Care, Inc. (File No. 333-34750).

10.47*

RightCHOICE Managed Care, Inc. Nonemployee Directors’ Stock Option Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to the
Registration Statement on Form S-1 of RightCHOICE Managed Care, Inc., a Missouri corporation (File No. 33-77798).

10.48*

WellPoint Health Networks Inc. Comprehensive Executive Non-Qualified Retirement Plan (as amended through September 1, 2002),
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.01 to WellPoint Health’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2002
(File No. 001-13083).

10.49*

WellPoint Health Networks Inc. Officer Change-in-Control Plan (As amended and restated through December 4, 2001) (as revised in
October 2003), incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to WellPoint Health’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
September 30, 2003 (File No. 001-13083).

10.50*

WellPoint Health Networks Inc. Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan (As restated effective December 4, 2001) (As amended October
24, 2003), incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to WellPoint Health’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
September 30, 2003 (File No. 001-13083).
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10.51*

Exhibit

WellPoint 401(k) Retirement Savings Plan Generally Effective January 1, 2002 (As Amended through March 1, 2002), executed on
October 10, 2003, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to WellPoint Health’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
September 30, 2003 (File No. 001-13083).
(a) Amendment to the WellPoint 401(k) Retirement Savings Plan, effective as of April 30, 2002, incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.01 to WellPoint Health’s Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2002 (File No. 001-13083).
(b) Amendment to the WellPoint 401(k) Retirement Savings Plan, effective as of September 1, 2002, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.02 to
WellPoint Health’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2002 (File No. 001-13083).
(c) Amendment to the WellPoint 401(k) Retirement Savings Plan, effective as of November 17, 2002, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.03 to
WellPoint Health’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2002 (File No. 001-13083).

(d) EGTRRA Amendment to the WellPoint 401(k) Retirement Savings Plan (as amended through March 1, 2002), dated December 4, 2002,
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.69 to the WellPoint Health’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002 (File
No. 001-13083).

(e) Amendment to the WellPoint 401(k) Retirement Savings Plan (as amended through March 1, 2002), dated March 16, 2003,
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.66 to WellPoint Health’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2002 (File No. 001-13083).
(f)

Distribution Option Amendment to the WellPoint 401(k) Retirement Savings Plan, dated July 24, 2003, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11
to WellPoint Health’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2003 (File No. 001-13083).

(g) Amendment to the WellPoint 401(k) Retirement Savings Plan, dated October 10, 2003, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to
WellPoint Health’s Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2003 (File No. 001-13083).
(h) Amendment to the WellPoint 401(k) Retirement Savings Plan (As Amended Through October 10, 2003), dated November 13, 2003, incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to WellPoint Health’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2003 (File No. 00113083).
(i)

Amendment to the WellPoint 401(k) Retirement Savings Plan (As Amended Through December 31, 2003), dated December 31, 2003,
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.80 to WellPoint Health’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003 (File No.
001-13083).

(j)

Amendment to the WellPoint 401(k) Retirement Savings Plan (As Amended Through December 31, 2003), dated January 15, 2004, incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.81 to WellPoint Health’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003 (File No. 001-13083).

(k) Amendment to the WellPoint 401(k) Retirement Savings Plan, effective as of February 28, 2004, incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.01 to WellPoint Health’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2004 (File No. 001-13083).
(l)

Amendment to the WellPoint 401(k) Retirement Savings Plan, effective as of April 23, 2004, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.02 to
WellPoint Health’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2004 (File No. 001-13083).
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(m) Amendment to the WellPoint 401(k) Retirement Savings Plan, executed on July 9, 2004, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.01 to WellPoint
Health’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2004 (File No. 001-13083).

(n) Amendment to the WellPoint 401(k) Retirement Savings Plan, executed on November 30, 2004, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.15 to the
Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 333-120851).

10.52*

Amended and Restated Special Executive Retirement Plan, dated as of December 31, 2002, by and between WellPoint Health and Leonard
D. Schaeffer, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.2 to WellPoint Health’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 31, 2002
(File No. 001-13083).

10.53*

Letter agreement, dated December 30, 2003, between WellPoint Health and Leonard D. Schaeffer, incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.82 to WellPoint Health’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003 (File No. 001-13083).

10.54*

Form of letter agreement, dated February 2004, between WellPoint Health and executive officers of WellPoint Health, incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.83 to WellPoint Health’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003 (File No. 001-13083).

10.55*

WellPoint, Inc. Board of Directors Compensation Program, approved February 2, 2005, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 8, 2005.

10.56

2004 Annual Salary Information for Chief Executive Officer and Named Executive Officers.

10.57

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement dated as of December 31, 2002 by and between WellPoint Health Networks Inc. and
Leonard D. Schaeffer, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the WellPoint Health Networks Inc. Current Report on Form 8-K
dated December 31, 2002.

21

Subsidiaries of the Company.

23

Consent of Independent Auditors.

31.1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) and Rule 15d-14(a) of the Exchange Act Rules, as adopted pursuant
to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) and Rule 15d-14(a) of the Exchange Act Rules, as adopted pursuant
to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002.

32.2

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002.

99
*

Risk Factors.

Indicates management contracts or compensatory plans or arrangements.
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Exhibit 4.11 (a)
FIRST SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURE, dated as of November 30, 2004 (this “First Supplemental Indenture”), between Anthem Holding Corp., an
Indiana corporation (the “Company”), and The Bank of New York, a New York banking corporation, as trustee (the “Trustee”).

WITNESSETH:
WHEREAS, WellPoint Health Networks Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Predecessor”), and the Trustee entered into an Amended and Restated
Indenture dated as of June 8, 2001 (the “Indenture”), pursuant to which the Predecessor has issued (i) $450,000,000 aggregate principal amount of 6 3/8 %
Notes due June 15, 2006 and (ii) $350,000,000 aggregate principal amount of 6 3/8 % Notes due June 15, 2012 (the “Securities”);

WHEREAS, pursuant to that certain Amended and Restated Agreement and Plan of Merger, effective as of October 26, 2003, among Anthem, Inc., an
Indiana corporation, the Company and the Predecessor, the Predecessor has been merged with and into the Company (the “Merger”), with the Company being
the surviving corporation in the Merger;
WHEREAS, the Merger was effective, and the Company became the successor corporation to the Predecessor, as of the date of this First Supplemental
Indenture;
WHEREAS, Section 8.1(b) of the Indenture provides that a supplemental indenture may be entered into, without the consent of the Holders, to evidence
the succession of another corporation to the Predecessor and the assumption by the successor corporation of the covenants, agreements and obligations of the
Predecessor pursuant to Article 9 of the Indenture;

WHEREAS, Section 9.1 of the Indenture provides for the execution of a supplemental indenture satisfactory to the Trustee to evidence the succession of
any successor corporation to the Predecessor under the Indenture and the assumption of the due and punctual payment of the principal of and interest on all the
securities according to their tenor, and the due and punctual performance and observance of all of the covenants and conditions of the Indenture to be
performed or observed by the Predecessor;

WHEREAS, the Company has been authorized by a resolution of its Board of Directors to enter into this First Supplemental Indenture; and

WHEREAS, all other acts and proceedings required by the Indenture and by the articles of incorporation and by-laws of the Company to make this
First Supplemental Indenture a valid and binding agreement for the purposes expressed herein, in accordance with its terms, have been duly done and
performed;
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the covenants and agreements contained herein, and for other good and valuable
consideration the receipt of which is hereby acknowledged, the Company and the Trustee hereby agree as follows:

ARTICLE ONE
Section 1.01. Assumption of Obligations . The Company hereby expressly assumes the due and punctual payment of the principal of and interest on all
the securities according to their tenor, and the due and punctual performance and observance of all of the covenants and conditions of the Indenture to be
performed or observed by the Predecessor.
Section 1.02. Substitution . In accordance with Section 9.2 of the Indenture, from and after the date of this First Supplemental Indenture, the Company
shall succeed to and be substituted for the Predecessor under the Indenture with the same effect as if it had been named therein, and the Company shall for all
purposes be deemed to be the “Company” as such term is defined and used in the Indenture and the Securities.
Section 1.03. Suspension of Reporting Obligations . The Trustee hereby acknowledges and agrees that so long as the reporting obligations under Section
15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, are suspended, the Company, as successor-in-interest to the Predecessor, will not have any
reporting obligations to either the Trustee or the Commission on account of Section 4.3 of the Indenture.

ARTICLE TWO
Section 2.01. Definitions . Capitalized terms used in this First Supplemental Indenture and not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings assigned
to such terms in the Indenture.
Section 2.02. Continuing Effect of Indenture . Except as expressly provided herein, all of the terms, provisions and conditions of the Indenture and the
Securities outstanding thereunder shall remain in full force and effect.
Section 2.03. Construction of First Supplemental Indenture . This First Supplemental Indenture is executed as and shall constitute an indenture
supplemental to the Indenture and shall be construed in connection with and as part of the Indenture. This First Supplemental Indenture shall be deemed to be
a contract under the internal laws of the State of New York (without regard to conflicts of laws provisions thereof), and for all purposes shall be construed in
accordance with the laws of said State, provided, however, that the rights and duties of the Trustee hereunder shall be construed in accordance with the laws
of the State of the Trustee’s principal place of business.
Section 2.04. Trust Indenture Act Controls . If any provision of this First Supplemental Indenture limits, qualifies or conflicts with another provision of
this First Supplemental Indenture or the Indenture that is required to be included by the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended, the provision required by
said Act shall control.

Section 2.05. Counterparts . This First Supplemental Indenture may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which so executed shall be
deemed to be an original, but all such counterparts shall together constitute but one and the same instrument.
Section 2.06. Trustee’s Disclaimer. The recitals contained herein shall be taken as the statements of the Company, and the Trustee assumes no
responsibility for their correctness. The Trustee makes no representations as to the validity or sufficiency of this First Supplemental Indenture.
-2-

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this First Supplemental Indenture to be duly executed all as of the day and year first above
written.

ANTHEM HOLDING CORP.

By /S / DAVID R. FRICK
Name: David R. Frick
Title: Executive Vice President and Chief Legal and
Administrative Officer

THE BANK OF NEW YORK,
as Trustee

By /S / STACY B. POINDEXTER
Name: Stacy B. Poindexter
Title: Assistant Vice President
-3-

Exhibit 10.1 (a)

WellPoint, Inc.
Stock Option
Grant Letter

Name
Address
City State

Date

ID:
Plan: SIP1
Option Number:

I am pleased to inform you that the Compensation Committee of the WellPoint, Inc. (“WellPoint”) Board of Directors has granted you a nonstatutory option to purchase XXXXXX shares of WellPoint’s common stock at a price of $XXX.XX per share effective XXXXXXXXX. pursuant
to the WellPoint 2001 Stock Incentive Plan as Amended and Restated January 1, 2003 (the “Plan”).

When You Can Exercise the Option. If you are continuously employed by WellPoint or one of its subsidiaries at all times from the date of
this letter through the applicable vest date below, the number of shares listed next to the vest date will vest and be fully exercisable by you.

Shares

Vest Type

Full Vest

Expiration

On Vest Date
On Vest Date
On Vest Date
On Vest Date
On Vest Date
On Vest Date
After your options vest, you may exercise those vested options and purchase the number of shares of WellPoint common stock at any time
during your employment through the expiration date(s). Termination of your employment affects your options according to the reason for
termination:

If your employment is terminated by you or WellPoint or its subsidiary without cause, you will have 45 days after termination to exercise
your vested options. Options which have not vested at termination are forfeited.

If your employment terminates due to retirement (as defined from time to time by the Compensation Committee), unvested options will not
be forfeited but will continue to vest according to the schedule set forth above. You will have five years from the date of retirement to exercise
all options granted in this letter.
In the case of termination of your employment due to your death or disability (as defined in the applicable WellPoint long term disability
benefits plan), all unvested options will immediately vest and may be exercised by you (or, in the case of death, your estate or personal
representative) within five years from the date of termination.

In the event that a change in control (as defined in the Plan) occurs before your employment is terminated, unvested options will
immediately vest and may be exercised by you during the remainder of the option term.

If your employment is terminated for cause (defined as serious misconduct in applicable Human Resources policies) even if on the date of
termination you have met the definition of retirement or disability described above, then any unexercised options, whether vested or
unvested, will be forfeited.

The Plan. The option and this letter are subject to all the terms, provisions and conditions of the Plan, which are incorporated herein by
reference, and to such regulations as may from time to time be adopted by the Committee. A copy of the Plan and the prospectus describing
the Plan are available on the WellPoint HR intranet under XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX. A paper copy
of the Plan and the prospectus will be provided to you upon your written request to WellPoint, Inc., 120 Monument Circle, Indianapolis,
Indiana 46204, Attention: Corporate Secretary, Shareholder Services Department. In the event of any conflict between the provision of the
Plan and the provisions of this letter, the Plan shall control and this letter shall be deemed modified accordingly. The letter and its terms shall
be subject to interpretation by the Committee, whose interpretation shall be final and binding. The Committee may modify this letter, except
that your consent is needed for any modification that would impair your rights under this letter.
Transferability of Option. This option is transferable only to the extent permitted by the terms of the Plan.
How to Exercise the Option. You do not have to exercise your option. If you do exercise your option, you do not have to purchase all of your
vested shares of WellPoint common stock at one time. To exercise your option, you must deliver to WellPoint’s designated broker (1) notice
stating the number of shares you have elected to purchase and (2) payment of the option exercise price for that number of shares. You may
make payment of the option exercise price in cash. Alternatively, you may make payment of the exercise price by means of a “cashless
exercise,” pursuant to which WellPoint common stock may be issued directly to a designated broker/dealer and immediately sold to cover the
exercise price.

Compliance with Rule 144. The shares of WellPoint stock you receive upon the exercise of your option will have been registered under the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “1933 Act”). If you are an “affiliate” of WellPoint, as that term is defined in Rule 144, promulgated
pursuant to the 1933 Act, you may not sell the shares of WellPoint stock received upon the exercise of your option except in compliance with
Rule 144. Certificates representing shares of WellPoint stock issued to an “affiliate” of WellPoint may bear a legend setting forth such
restrictions on the disposition or transfer of the shares of WellPoint stock as WellPoint deems appropriate to comply with federal and state
securities laws.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, WellPoint, by its duly authorized officer, has executed this amended grant agreement.

WellPoint, Inc.
By:

Chairman, Compensation Committee

WellPoint, Inc.
Stock Administration Department
120 Monument Circle
Indianapolis, IN 46204

Exhibit 10.1 (b)

WellPoint, Inc.
Restricted Stock

Award Letter
Award Number:
Plan:

NAME
ADDRESS
ADDRESS

SIP1

ID:

I am pleased to inform you that the Compensation Committee of the WellPoint, Inc. (“WellPoint”) Board of Directors has awarded you XXXXXXX restricted
shares of common stock (“Restricted Stock”) of WellPoint pursuant to Section 7 of the WellPoint 2001 Stock Incentive Plan as Amended and Restated January
1, 2003 (the “Plan”). This award is effective DATE (the “Award Date”) on the following terms and conditions:

Restriction on Transfer.
(a) Restricted Period. The shares of Restricted Stock shall not be sold, assigned, transferred, pledged, hypothecated, or otherwise encumbered or
disposed of during the “Restricted Period,” which shall, with respect to any share of Restricted Stock, commence on the Award Date and end on the applicable
Expiration Date described in paragraph (b) below.
(b) Lapse of Restrictions. The Restricted Period shall end, and the restrictions on the Restricted Stock shall lapse (the “Expiration Date”) in accordance
with the following schedule:
Shares

Expiration Date

Notwithstanding the foregoing, termination of your employment will affect the disposition of the Restricted Stock according to the reason for termination:

If your employment is terminated due to your death or disability (as defined in the applicable WellPoint long term disability benefits plan), then the Restricted
Period shall immediately end, causing any restrictions which would otherwise remain to immediately lapse. If your employment is terminated by WellPoint or
you for any other reason, except retirement, as described below, or by WellPoint for cause (defined as serious misconduct in applicable Human Resources
policies), then all Restricted Stock on which restrictions did not lapse prior to the date of termination shall be immediately forfeited. If your employment
terminates due to retirement (as defined from time to time by the Compensation Committee), the Restricted Stock will not be forfeited. The restrictions will
lapse in accordance with the schedule set forth above.
In the event of a Change in Control (as defined in the Plan) occurs before your employment is terminated, then the Restricted Period shall immediately end,
causing any restrictions which would otherwise remain to immediately lapse.
(c) Legend. During the Restricted Period, certificates evidencing the Restricted Stock shall be held by WellPoint and shall bear the following legend:

“These shares have been issued pursuant to the WellPoint 2001 Stock Incentive Plan as Amended and Restated January 1, 2003 (the “Plan”) and are subject to forfeiture to WellPoint, Inc. in
accordance with the terms of the Plan and an agreement between WellPoint, Inc. and the person in whose name the certificate is registered. These shares may not be sold, assigned, transferred, pledged,
hypothecated or otherwise encumbered or disposed of except in accordance with the terms of the Plan and said agreement.”

Rights as a Shareholder. Subject to the restrictions contained in this letter, you shall have all rights of a shareholder with respect to shares of Restricted
Stock including, but not limited to, the right to vote shares of Restricted Stock and the right to receive dividends and other distributions paid thereon;
provided, however, that you shall not have investment powers with respect to the Restricted Stock.
Compliance with Rule 144 . The shares of WellPoint stock awarded pursuant to this letter will have been registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended (the “1933 Act”). If you are an “affiliate” of WellPoint, as that term is defined in Rule 144, promulgated pursuant to the 1993 Act (“Rule 144”), you
may not sell the shares of restricted stock received except in compliance with Rule 144. Certificates representing shares of WellPoint stock issued to an
“affiliate” of WellPoint may bear a legend setting forth such restrictions on the disposition or transfer of the shares of WellPoint stock as WellPoint deems
appropriate to comply with federal and state securities laws.

No Continued Employment. Nothing in this letter shall restrict the right of WellPoint to terminate your employment at any time with or without cause.

The Plan . This letter is subject to all the terms, provisions and conditions of the Plan, which are incorporated herein by reference, and to such regulations as
may from time to time be adopted by the Compensation Committee. In the event of any conflict between the provisions of the Plan and this letter, the
provisions of the Plan shall control, and this letter shall be deemed to be modified accordingly. The Plan and the prospectus describing the Plan can be found
on WellPoint’s HR intranet under XXXXXXXXXXXXXX>XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX. A paper copy of the Plan and the prospectus will be
provided to you upon your written request to WellPoint at WellPoint, Inc., 120 Monument Circle, Indianapolis, Indiana 46204, Attention: Corporate Secretary,
Shareholder Services Department.
Withholding. WellPoint shall withhold all applicable taxes required by law from all amounts paid in satisfaction of the award. You may notify the WellPoint
stock administrator in writing prior to the applicable Expiration Date that you elect to satisfy the withholding obligation by paying the amount of any taxes in
cash or check. If you do not provide such notice, with the approval of the Compensation Committee and if permissible under Section 16 of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, shares of WellPoint common stock will be delivered to cover such payment. The amount of the withholding and, if
applicable, the number of shares to be deducted shall be determined by the Compensation Committee as of when the withholding is required to be made,
provided that the number of shares of WellPoint common stock so withheld or delivered shall have a fair market value (as determined by the Compensation
Committee) which does not exceed the minimum required amount of such withholding. Until all taxes have been paid, no stock certificate will be issued to
you.

Other Plans. You acknowledge that any income derived from the sale of shares will not affect your participation in, or benefits under, any other benefit plan
maintained by WellPoint.
Notices. All notices by you or your assigns to WellPoint shall be addressed to WellPoint, Inc., 120 Monument Circle, Indianapolis Indiana 46204, Attention:
Compensation Committee, or such other address as WellPoint may from time to time specify. All notices to you shall be addressed to you at your address in
WellPoint’s records.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, WellPoint, by its duly authorized officer, and you have executed this letter as of this
WellPoint, Inc.

Signature:

By:

Printed:

Chairman, Compensation Committee
WellPoint, Inc.

Stock Administration Department
120 Monument Circle
Indianapolis, IN 46204

day of

, 20XX.

Exhibit 10.5 (c)

AMENDMENT THREE
TO
EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

Effective January 1, 2005, this AMENDMENT THREE TO EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT by and between Anthem Insurance Companies, Inc., an
Indiana insurance company (the “Company”), and Samuel R. Nussbaum, M.D. (the “Executive”) hereby amends the EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (the
“Agreement”) between the parties dated as of the 2 nd day of January, 2001, as follows:

1.

Section 2 of the Agreement is hereby amended by deleting the termination date and inserting in place thereof the 31

2.

All other provisions of the Agreement shall remain in full force and effect.

st

day of December, 2005.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company and the Executive have duly executed this AMENDMENT THREE TO EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT effective
as of the day and year first above written.

Samuel R. Nussbaum, M.D.

Anthem Insurance Companies, Inc.

/s/ Samuel R. Nussbaum, M.D.

By: /s/ Larry C. Glasscock
Name:

Larry C. Glasscock

Title:

President and CEO

Exhibit 10.9

EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

THIS EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (“Agreement”), is by and between Anthem Insurance Companies, Inc., an Indiana mutual insurance
company (the “Company”), with offices located at 120 Monument Circle, Indianapolis, Indiana, and Mark L. Boxer (the “Executive”), residing at 35
Partridge Landing, Glastonbury, Connecticut 06033, dated as of the 6 th day of November, 2000.

W I T N E S S E T H:
WHEREAS , the Company (which hereinafter also includes subsidiaries of the Company) desires to assure itself of the services of the Executive for the
period provided in this Agreement, and the Executive is willing to serve in the employ of the Company on a full-time basis for such period, all in accordance
with the terms and conditions contained in this Agreement;
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants herein contained, the Company and the Executive hereby agree as follows:

1. Condition of Employment . The Company hereby employs the Executive and the Executive hereby accepts such employment for the period provided
for in Section 2, all upon the terms and conditions contained in this Agreement. As a condition to the Executive’s employment, the Executive affirms and
represents that the Executive is under no obligation to any former employer or other person which is in any way inconsistent with, or which imposes any
restriction upon, the employment of the Executive by the Company or the Executive’s undertakings under this Agreement.
2. Term of Employment. Unless sooner terminated pursuant to Section 7, the term of the Executive’s employment under this Agreement shall be for a
period commencing on the date hereof through the 31 st day of December, 2003 (“Term”).
-1-

3. Duties. During the Term, the Executive shall provide executive, administrative and managerial services to the Company and perform such other
reasonable employment duties as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company may from time to time prescribe. The Executive shall also serve as a director of
any of the Company’s subsidiaries to which he is elected.

The Executive shall, except to the extent approved by the Chief Executive Officer, (i) devote his full-time to the services required of the Executive, (ii)
render his services exclusively to the Company and (iii) use his best efforts, judgment, and energy to improve and advance the business and interests of the
Company in a manner consistent with the duties of the Executive’s position. The Executive may serve on boards of directors or advisory boards of businesses
that are not competitors of the Company or which do not create a conflict of interest or on the boards of civic and not for profit organizations. The Executive
has disclosed in writing such memberships to the Chief Executive Officer prior to the execution of this Agreement and shall disclose such information, at least,
annually thereafter.
4. Compensation . As compensation for the services to be performed by the Executive during the Term, the Company shall provide to the Executive:

(a) an annual base salary of not less than two hundred twenty-five thousand dollars ($225,000) (“Salary”);
(b) a target annual incentive opportunity of not less than sixty percent (60%) of the Salary (“Target Annual Incentive”). The performance goals
required to earn the Target Annual Incentive shall be approved by the Board of Directors and communicated to the Executive prior to the end of the first
quarter of the year for which the opportunity pertains; and
(c) a target annualized long-term incentive opportunity of not less than fifty percent (50%) of the Salary (“Target Long-Term Incentive”). The
performance goals required to earn the Target Long-Term Incentive shall be approved by the Board of Directors and communicated to the Executive prior
to the end of the first quarter of the performance period for which the opportunity pertains. If such performance period is longer
-2-

than one year, the Target Long-Term Incentive opportunity shall be adjusted accordingly based on the number of years in the performance period.
Should the Company elect to increase any element of the Executive’s compensation during the Term, the Agreement shall be deemed amended to
incorporate the new increased Salary or Target Annual Incentive or Target Long-Term Incentive effective as of the date specified for the increase. The payment
of any compensation hereunder shall be subject to applicable withholding and payroll taxes, and such other deductions as may be required under the
Company’s employee benefit plans, and shall be paid in accordance with the Company’s normal payroll and incentive administration practices as they may
exist from time to time.

5. Benefits. In addition to the payments set forth in Section 4, the Executive shall:
(a) be eligible to participate in all fringe benefits, paid time off program, incentive plans, and retirement programs, both tax-qualified and nonqualified, that may be provided by the Company for its executives, in accordance with the provisions of any such programs or plans;
(b) be eligible to participate in any life, disability or other similar insurance plans, medical and dental plans or other employee welfare benefit
plans that may be provided by the Company for its executives, in accordance with the provisions of any such plans; and

(c) be eligible to participate in any postretirement medical, dental and life insurance plans that may be provided by the Company for its
executives, in accordance with the provision of any such plans, but with the payment of whatever contribution that the Company requires that other
such retirees would pay for such coverage.

6. Expenses. The Company shall, in accordance with and to the extent of its policies, pay all ordinary and necessary business expenses incurred by the
Executive in performing his duties as an executive. The Executive shall account promptly for all such business expenses in the manner prescribed by the
Company.
-3-

7. Termination. The Executive’s employment shall be terminated upon the occurrence of any of the following:
(a) the death of the Executive;

(b) the Executive’s disability (as such term is defined in the Company’s executive long-term disability plan) (“Disability”);
(c) the termination of employment by the Executive for any reason;

(d) the termination of employment by the Company For Cause (as defined below); or
(e) the termination of employment by the Company other than For Cause.

The term “For Cause” or “Cause” shall mean a reasonable determination by the Company that the Executive (i) has been convicted of a felony, (ii) has
engaged in an activity which, if proven in a criminal proceeding, could result in conviction of a felony involving dishonesty or fraud, or (iii) has willfully
engaged in gross misconduct likely to be materially damaging or materially detrimental to the Company. In order to be effective, the Company must give the
Executive at least sixty (60) calendar days advance written notice of its intent to terminate his employment “For Cause” setting forth the specific action(s) by
the Executive which triggered the notice and such written notice must be received by the Executive no more than one hundred eighty (180) calendar days after
the Company learned of the action(s) giving rise to the “For Cause” termination.

8. Death of The Executive . In the event the Executive’s employment is terminated as a result of the Executive’s death, the estate of the Executive shall be
entitled to receive the Executive’s Salary for a period of the lesser of six (6) months or the unexpired portion of the Term, plus an amount equal to fifty percent
(50%) of Target Annual Incentive and Target Long-Term Incentive for the year of death.
9. Disability of The Executive . In the event the Executive’s employment is terminated as a result of Disability, the Executive shall be entitled
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to receive his Salary and medical and dental benefits for a period of the lesser of six (6) months or the unexpired portion of the Term, plus an amount equal to
fifty percent (50%) of Target Annual Incentive and Target Long-Term Incentive for the year of Disability, reduced by any payments received by the Executive
under the Company’s executive long-term disability plan.

10. Executive-Initiated Termination or Company-Initiated For Cause . If the Executive terminates this Agreement for any reason or the Company
terminates this Agreement For Cause, the Company shall have no further obligations and liabilities under this Agreement after the termination of employment.

11. Termination Other Than For Cause. In the event the Executive’s employment is terminated by the Company other than For Cause, the Company
shall have no further obligations or liabilities under this Agreement except that the Company shall pay, for the greater of one (1) year or the remainder of the
Term, the following to the Executive if the Executive satisfies the terms of Section 13:
(a) the Executive’s Salary;
(b) the Annual Incentive and Long-Term Incentive awards for the year of termination, based upon the achievement of the performance goals for the
plans for the entire year of termination prorated to reflect the full number of months the Executive was employed during that year;

(c) all unvested, prior Long-Term Incentive awards;
(d) an amount equal to fifty percent (50%) of any Target Annual Incentive and Target Long-Term Incentive opportunity which the Executive would
otherwise have been eligible to receive as of the effective date of the Executive’s termination of employment; and
(e) the medical and dental plan benefits for which the Executive would otherwise have been eligible to receive as of the effective date of the
Executive’s termination of employment.
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12. Payment of Compensation Described in Sections 8, 9, or 11. The compensation items specified in Sections 8, 9, or 11 shall be paid as follows:
(a) the Salary shall be paid over the remaining Term or other period as described in Sections 8, 9 or 11 in accordance with the Company’s normal
payroll practices;
(b) the current and future Annual Incentive and Long-Term Incentive awards and opportunities shall be paid within ninety (90) days after the end
of the calendar year for which the incentive applied; and
(c) the prior unvested Long-Term Incentive awards shall be paid within ninety (90) days after the termination of employment.

13. Execution of Release . As a condition of receiving the compensation and benefits described in Sections 9 or 11, the Executive shall first execute a
release of any and all claims arising out of the Executive’s employment with the Company or the Executive’s separation from such employment (including,
without limitation, claims relating to age, disability, sex or race discrimination to the extent permitted by law), excepting only claims arising out of the alleged
breach of this Agreement or of any other written contract between the Executive and the Company. Such release shall be in a form reasonably satisfactory to the
Company and shall comply with any applicable legislative or judicial requirements, including, but not limited to, the Older Workers Benefit Protection Act.
An example of such release is attached as Attachment A.
14. Protection of the Company’s Business . The Executive acknowledges that in the course of his employment he will acquire knowledge of trade secrets
and confidential data of the Company. Such trade secrets and confidential data may include, but are not limited to, confidential product information, provider
contracts, customer lists, technical information, methods by which the Company proposes to compete with its business competitors, strategic and business
plans, confidential reports prepared by business consultants which may reveal strengths and weaknesses of the Company and its competition and similar
information relating to the Company. The Executive, in order to perform his obligations under this Agreement, must necessarily acquire knowledge of such
trade secrets and confidential data, all of which the Executive acknowledges are not known outside the business of the Company, are known only to a limited
group of its top executives and directors, are protected by strict measure to preserve secrecy, are of great value to the Company, are the result of the expenditure
of large sums of money, are difficult for an outsider to duplicate, and
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disclosure of which would be extremely detrimental to the Company. The Executive covenants to keep all such trade secrets or confidential data secret and not
to release such information to persons not authorized by the Company to receive such secrets and data, both during the term of this Agreement and at all times
following its termination. The Executive acknowledges that trade secrets and confidential data need not be expressly marked as such by the Company.

15. Documents, Etc. All records, files, documents, equipment and the like shall be, and remain, the sole property of the Company. The Executive, on
the termination of his employment, shall immediately return to the Company all such items without retention of any copies.
16. Limited Non-Competition. During the Executive’s employment and for a limited time thereafter, the Company must protect its legitimate business
interests by limiting the Executive’s ability to compete with the Company. This limited non-competition provision is drafted narrowly so as to be able to
safeguard the Company’s legitimate business interests while not unreasonably interfering with the Executive’s ability to obtain other employment. The
Company does not intend, and the Executive acknowledges, that this limited non-competition provision is not an attempt to prevent the Executive from
obtaining other employment. The Executive further acknowledges that the Company may need to take action, including litigation, to enforce this limited noncompetition provision, which efforts the parties stipulate shall not be deemed an attempt to prevent the Executive from obtaining other employment.
(a) During Employment By Company . During the Executive’s employment, Executive shall not, directly or indirectly, have any ownership
interest in, work for, advise, manage, or act as an agent or consultant for, or have any business connection or business or employment relationship with
any person or entity that competes with the Company or that contemplates competing with the Company without the prior written approval of the Chief
Executive Officer.
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(b) During Post-Employment Period . For a period of one (1) year after the Executive’s termination of employment (regardless of the reason), or for
the duration of the Executive’s receipt of Salary under Section 11, whichever is longer, the Executive shall not:
(i)(A) directly or indirectly have any ownership interest in any entity or person engaged in development or sale of a product or service which
competes with or is substantially similar to any product or service sold by the Company, in any jurisdiction in which the Company operates or in
which the Company reasonably expects to operate pursuant to provisions of a strategic plan adopted by the Board of Directors;

(i)(B) directly or indirectly have any ownership interest in any entity or person engaged in development or sale of a product or service which
competes with or is substantially similar to any product or service sold by the Company, within the geographical area in which the Executive has
been performing services on behalf of the Company or for which he has been assigned responsibility at any time within the twenty-four (24)
months preceding his termination;

(ii)(A) in a competitive capacity, directly or indirectly work for, advise, manage, or act as an agent or consultant for or have any business
connection or business or employment relationship with any entity or person engaged in development or sale of a product or service which
competes with or is substantially similar to any product or service sold by the Company, in any jurisdiction in which the Company operates or in
which the Company reasonably expects to operate pursuant to provisions of a strategic plan adopted by the Board of Directors;

(ii)(B) in a competitive capacity, directly or indirectly work for, advise, manage, or act as an agent or consultant for or have any business
connection or business or employment relationship with any entity or person engaged in development or sale of a product or service which
competes with or is substantially similar to any product or service sold by the Company, within the geographical area in which the Executive has
been performing services on behalf of the Company or for which the Executive has been assigned responsibility at any time within the twenty-four
(24) months preceding his termination;
(iii)(A) directly or indirectly market, sell or otherwise provide any product or service which is competitive with or substantially similar to
any product or service sold by the Company, to any customer of the Company with whom the Executive has had contact (either directly or
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indirectly) or over which he has had responsibility at any time within the twenty-four (24) months preceding his termination;
(iii)(B) directly or indirectly market, sell or otherwise provide any product or service which is competitive with or substantially similar to
any product or service sold by the Company, to any customer of the Company; or

(iv) directly or indirectly, on behalf of the Executive or any third party, make any business contacts with, solicit or accept business from
any customer of the Company for any product or service which is competitive with or substantially similar to any product or service sold by the
Company;
(c) Separate and Several Covenants. The Executive acknowledges that after termination of his employment, he will inevitably possess trade secrets
and confidential data of the Company which he would inevitably use if he were to engage in conduct prohibited as set forth above, and such use would
be unfair to and extremely detrimental to the Company. The Executive further acknowledges that in view of the benefits provided him by this Agreement,
such conduct on his part would be inequitable. Accordingly, the Executive separately and severally covenants for the benefit of the Company to keep
each of the covenants described in this Section 16 for the period specified above.

(d) Acknowledgment of the Company’s Superseding Interest in Protecting its Business. The Executive recognizes that personal relationships
between the Company, its employees and customers are essential to the Company’s business operations and that the Company furthers such
relationships by investments of time and money. The Executive recognizes that this Agreement is reasonably necessary to protect the Company’s
legitimate interest in its customers, and to protect the Company’s confidential information and goodwill, and acknowledges that nothing contained in
this Agreement shall unreasonably alter the Executive’s ability to obtain a livelihood or preclude the Executive from engaging in his profession. The
Executive, therefore, acknowledges that the Company’s interest in maintaining its relationships with its established customers for at least one (1) year
after termination of the Executive’s employment, or for the duration of the Executive’s receipt of Salary under

-9-

Section 11, whichever is longer, supersedes any interest of the Executive in soliciting, servicing, or accepting the Company’s customers on behalf of
any entity other than the Company during that period of time.
(e) Publicly Traded Stock. Nothing in the foregoing provisions of this section prohibits the Executive from purchasing for investment purposes
only, any stock or corporate security traded or quoted on a national securities exchange or national market system.

(f) Maximum Application. The parties expressly agree that the terms of this limited non-competition provision under this section are reasonable,
enforceable, and necessary to protect the Company’s interests, and are valid and enforceable. In the unlikely event, however, that a court of competent
jurisdiction were to determine that any portion of this limited non-competition provision is unenforceable, then the parties agree that the remainder of the
limited non-competition provision shall remain valid and enforceable to the maximum extent possible.

17. Other Limited Prohibitions. During the Executive’s employment and for one (1) year after termination, or for the duration of the Executive’s receipt of
Salary under Section 11, whichever is longer, the Executive shall not:
(a) request or advise any customer of the Company, or any person or entity having business dealings with the Company, to withdraw, curtail or
cease such business with the Company;
(b) disclose to any person or entity the identities of any customers of the Company, or the identity of any persons or entities having business
dealings with the Company; or
(c) directly or indirectly influence or attempt to influence any other employee of the Company to separate from the Company.

18. Specific Enforcement/Injunctive Relief. The Executive agrees that it would be difficult to measure damages to the Company from any breach of the
covenants contained in Sections 14 through 17, but that such damages from any breach would be great, incalculable and irremediable, and that damages
would be an inadequate remedy. Accordingly, the Executive agrees that the Company
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may have specific performance of the terms of this Agreement in any court permitted by this Agreement. In addition, if the Executive violates the noncompetition provisions of Section 16 or 17, the Executive agrees that any period of such violation shall be added to the term of the non-competition. For
example, if the Executive violates the provision for three (3) months, the Company shall be entitled to enforce the non-competition provision for one (1) year, or
for the duration of the Executive’s receipt of Salary under Section 11, plus three (3) months post-termination. In determining the period of any violation, the
parties stipulate that in any calendar month in which the Executive engages in any activity violative of the non-competition provision, the Executive is deemed
to have violated the non-competition provision for the entire month, and that month shall be added to the duration of the non-competition provision as set out
above. The parties agree however, that specific performance and the “add back” remedies described above shall not be the exclusive remedies, and the
Company may enforce any other remedy or remedies available to it either in law or in equity including, but not limited to, temporary, preliminary, and/or
permanent injunctive relief.

19. Severability. If any provision of this Agreement is held invalid, such invalidity shall not affect the other provisions of this Agreement which shall be
given effect independently of the invalid provisions and, in such circumstances, the invalid provision is severable.
20. Governing Law. This Agreement shall be construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Indiana. The parties expressly agree that it is
appropriate for Indiana law to apply to: (i) the interpretation of the Agreement; (ii) any disputes arising out of this Agreement; (iii) any disputes arising out of
the employment relationship of the parties; and (iv) any and all other disputes between the parties.

21. Choice of Forum . The Company is based in Indiana, and the Executive understands and acknowledges the Company’s desire and need to defend
any litigation against it in Indiana. Accordingly, the parties agree that any claim of any type brought by the Executive against the Company or any of its
employees or agents must be maintained only in a court sitting in Marion County, Indiana, or, if a federal court, the Southern District of Indiana, Indianapolis
Division.
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The Executive further understands and acknowledges that in the event the Company initiates litigation against the Executive, the Company may need to
prosecute such litigation in the Executive’s forum state, in the State of Indiana, or in such other state where the Executive is subject to personal jurisdiction.
Accordingly, the parties agree that the Company can pursue any claim against the Executive in any forum in which the Executive is subject to personal
jurisdiction. The Executive specifically consents to personal jurisdiction in the State of Indiana.

22. Mandatory Arbitration. Any controversy or claim arising out of, or relating to this Agreement, or the breach thereof, other than a claim arising out of
the Executive’s breach of the confidentiality and non-competition provisions of Section 14 through 18, shall be settled by arbitration in Indianapolis, Indiana,
in accordance with the Rules of the American Arbitration Association before arbitrators who are licensed to practice law. The arbitrator or arbitrators shall
apply the substantive law of Indiana or federal law, or both, as applicable to the dispute. Any award entered shall be final, binding and nonappealable, and
judgment upon the award rendered by the arbitrator or arbitrators may be entered in any court having jurisdiction thereof.
In the event that the Company refuses or otherwise fails to make a payment when due and it is ultimately decided that the Executive is entitled to such
payment, such payment shall be increased to reflect an interest equivalent for the period of delay, compounded annually, equal to the prime or base lending rate
used by Bank One Indiana, NA, and in effect as of the date the payment was first due.

23. Non-Jury Trials. Notwithstanding the provisions of Sections 18 and 22 above, and if the provisions of Section 18 or 22 above are not enforceable,
the Executive expressly waives any rights to a jury trial and agrees that any claim of any type made against the Company or its agents or executives (including,
but not limited to, employment discrimination litigation, wage litigation, defamation, or any other claim) lodged in any court will be tried, if at all, without a
jury.
24. Nonalienation of Benefits . Except as may otherwise be required by law, no right to receive payments under this Agreement shall be subject to
anticipation, commutation, alienation, sale, assignment, encumbrance, charge, pledge, bankruptcy or hypothecation or to exclusion, attachment, levy or
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similar process or assignment by operation of law, and any attempt, voluntary or involuntary, to effect any such action shall be null, void and of no effect.

25. Legal Fees and Cost . All legal and other fees and expenses, including, without limitation, any arbitration expenses, incurred by the Executive in
connection with contesting or disputing any termination of employment, in seeking to obtain or enforce any right or benefit provided for in this Agreement, or
in otherwise pursuing any right or claim, shall be paid by the Company, to the extent permitted by law, provided that the Executive makes a formal written
settlement demand prior to trial or arbitration and is ultimately successful, in obtaining through trial or arbitration more than fifty percent (50%) of the
monetary relief sought, in his final written settlement demand exclusive of attorney’s fees.
26. Notices. Any notice required or permitted to be given under this Agreement shall be sufficient if in writing and will be deemed to have been given
when delivered in person (to the Executive if such notice is for the Executive) or five (5) days following sending by overnight courier or mailing by first class,
certified or registered mail, postage prepaid, to the Executive at his home address, or such addresses as the Executive shall have designated in writing, or if to
the Company, to the attention of the Corporate Secretary, at the Company’s principal place of business, 120 Monument Circle, Indianapolis, Indiana 46204.
27. Headings. The various headings of this Agreement are inserted for convenience only and shall not affect the meaning or interpretation of this
Agreement or any of its provisions.
28. Successors and Assigns. The rights and obligations of the Company under this Agreement shall inure to its benefit, its successors and affiliated
companies and shall be binding upon the successors and assigns of the Company. This Agreement, being personal to the Executive, cannot be assigned by the
Executive, but his personal representative shall be bound by all its terms and conditions.
29. Waiver and Amendments, Etc. Failure of the Company to insist upon strict compliance with any terms or provisions of this Agreement shall not be
deemed a waiver of any terms, provisions or rights of the Company. Moreover, no modifications, amendments, extensions or waivers of this
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Agreement or any provisions hereof shall be binding upon the Company or the Executive unless in writing and signed by the Executive and the Company.
30. Complete Agreement. This Agreement constitutes the entire employment agreement of the parties and supersedes all prior employment agreements
addressing the terms, conditions, and issues contained herein. Nothing in this Agreement, however, affects any separate written agreements addressing other
terms and conditions and issues agreed to by the parties.

31. Counterparts . This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together
shall constitute one and the same agreement.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF , the Company and the Executive have duly executed and delivered this Agreement effective as of the day and year first
above written.

Mark L. Boxer

/s/ Mark L. Boxer
Anthem Insurance Companies, Inc.
By: /s/ Larry C. Glasscock
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Name:

Larry C. Glasscock

Title:

President and CEO

Exhibit 10.9 (a)

AMENDMENT ONE
TO
EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT
Effective January 1, 2003, this AMENDMENT ONE TO EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT by and between Anthem Insurance Companies, Inc., an
Indiana insurance company (the “Company”), and Mark L. Boxer (the “Executive”) hereby amends the EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”)
between the parties dated as of the 13th day of November, 2000, as follows:

1.

Section 2 of the Agreement is hereby amended by deleting the termination date and inserting in place thereof the 31

2.

The first paragraph of Section 11 of the Agreement is hereby amended by deleting the provision “one (1) year” and inserting in place thereof “eighteen
(18) months.”

3.

Section 16(b) of the Agreement is hereby amended by deleting the provision “one (1) year” and inserting in place thereof “eighteen (18) months.”

4.

All other provisions of the Agreement shall remain in full force and effect.

st

day of December, 2004.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company and the Executive have duly executed this AMENDMENT ONE TO EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT effective as
of the day and year first above written.
Mark L. Boxer

Anthem Insurance Companies, Inc.

/s/ Mark L. Boxer

By: /s/ Larry C. Glasscock
Name:

Larry C. Glasscock

Title:

President and CEO

Exhibit 10.9 (b)

AMENDMENT TWO
TO
EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT
Effective January 1, 2005, this AMENDMENT TWO TO EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT by and between Anthem Insurance Companies, Inc., an
Indiana insurance company (the “Company”), and Mark L. Boxer (the “Executive”) hereby amends the EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”)
between the parties dated as of the 13th day of November, 2000, as follows:

1.

Section 2 of the Agreement is hereby amended by deleting the termination date and inserting in place thereof the 31

2.

All other provisions of the Agreement shall remain in full force and effect.

st

day of December, 2005.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company and the Executive have duly executed this AMENDMENT TWO TO EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT effective as
of the day and year first above written.
Mark L. Boxer

Anthem Insurance Companies, Inc.

/s/ Mark L. Boxer

By: /s/

Larry C. Glasscock

Name:

Larry C. Glasscock

Title:

President and CEO

Exhibit 10.10

EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

THIS EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (“Agreement”), is by and between Anthem, Inc., an Indiana corporation (the “Company”), with offices
located at 120 Monument Circle, Indianapolis, Indiana, and Randall Lewis (the “Executive”), residing at 3707 North Gate Woods Court, Walnut Creek, CA
94598, dated as of the 14 th day of July, 2003.

W I T N E S S E T H:
WHEREAS , the Company (which hereinafter also includes subsidiaries of the Company) desires to assure itself of the services of the Executive for the
period provided in this Agreement, and the Executive is willing to serve in the employ of the Company on a full-time basis for such period, all in accordance
with the terms and conditions contained in this Agreement;
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants herein contained, the Company and the Executive hereby agree as follows:

1. Condition of Employment . The Company hereby employs the Executive and the Executive hereby accepts such employment for the period provided
for in Section 2, all upon the terms and conditions contained in this Agreement. As a condition to the Executive’s employment, the Executive affirms and
represents that the Executive is under no obligation to any former employer or other person which is in any way inconsistent with, or which imposes any
restriction upon, the employment of the Executive by the Company or the Executive’s undertakings under this Agreement.
2. Term of Employment. Unless sooner terminated pursuant to Section 7, the term of the Executive’s employment under this Agreement shall be for a
period commencing on the date hereof through the 31 day of December, 2005 (“Term”). On or before December 31, 2005, the Company will offer to the
Executive a new executive level position with the following terms:
(a) the position will be based in the Indianapolis metropolitan area; and
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(b) the position will be one of the following: (i) Chief Financial Officer of the Company, (ii) the executive leader of an operational division of the
Company having a minimum of five hundred million dollars ($500,000,000) in annual revenue, or (iii) another executive position having a base salary
of at least three hundred fifty thousand dollars ($350,000).

In the event the Company fails to make any of the foregoing opportunities available to the Executive, the Executive may terminate this Agreement in accordance
with the terms of Section 11.
3. Duties. During the Term, the Executive shall provide executive, administrative and managerial services to the Company and perform such other
reasonable employment duties as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company may from time to time prescribe. The Executive shall also serve as a director of
any of the Company’s subsidiaries to which he is elected.

The Executive shall, except to the extent approved by the Chief Executive Officer, (i) devote his full-time to the services required of the Executive, (ii)
render his services exclusively to the Company and (iii) use his best efforts, judgment, and energy to improve and advance the business and interests of the
Company in a manner consistent with the duties of the Executive’s position. The Executive may serve on boards of directors or advisory boards of businesses
that are not competitors of the Company or which do not create a conflict of interest or on the boards of civic and not for profit organizations. The Executive
has disclosed in writing such memberships to the Chief Executive Officer prior to the execution of this Agreement and shall disclose such information at least
annually thereafter.
4. Compensation . As compensation for the services to be performed by the Executive during the Term, the Company shall provide to the Executive:

(a) an annual base salary of not less than three hundred thousand dollars ($300,000), with an increase to three hundred twenty-five thousand
dollars ($325,000) effective January 1, 2005 (“Salary”);
(b) a target annual incentive opportunity of not less than sixty percent (60%) of the Salary (“Target Annual Incentive”). The performance goals
required to earn the Target Annual Incentive shall be
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approved by the Board of Directors and communicated to the Executive prior to the end of the first quarter of the year for which the opportunity
pertains; and
(c) a target annualized long-term incentive opportunity at a percentage appropriate to similarly situated Executives in the Company’s next LongTerm Incentive Plan, which is contemplated to commence in 2004 (“Target Long-Term Incentive”). The performance goals required to earn the Target
Long-Term Incentive shall be approved by the Board of Directors and communicated to the Executive prior to the end of the first quarter of the
performance period for which the opportunity pertains. If such performance period is longer than one year, the Target Long-Term Incentive opportunity
shall be adjusted accordingly based on the number of years in the performance period.
Should the Company elect to increase any element of the Executive’s compensation during the Term, the Agreement shall be deemed amended to incorporate the
new increased Salary or Target Annual Incentive or Target Long-Term Incentive effective as of the date specified for the increase. The payment of any
compensation hereunder shall be subject to applicable withholding and payroll taxes, and such other deductions as may be required under the Company’s
employee benefit plans, and shall be paid in accordance with the Company’s normal payroll and incentive administration practices as they may exist from
time to time.

5. Benefits. In addition to the payments set forth in Section 4, the Executive shall:
(a) be eligible to participate in all fringe benefits, paid time off program, incentive plans, and retirement programs, both tax-qualified and nonqualified, that may be provided by the Company for its executives, in accordance with the provisions of any such programs or plans;
(b) be eligible to participate in any life, disability or other similar insurance plans, medical and dental plans or other employee welfare benefit
plans that may be provided by the Company for its executives, in accordance with the provisions of any such plans; and

(c) be eligible to participate in any post retirement medical, dental and life insurance plans that may be provided by the Company for its
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executives, in accordance with the provision of any such plans, but with the payment of whatever contribution that the Company requires that other
such retirees would pay for such coverage.

6. Expenses. The Company shall, in accordance with and to the extent of its policies, pay all ordinary and necessary business expenses incurred by the
Executive in performing his duties as an executive. The Executive shall account promptly for all such business expenses in the manner prescribed by the
Company.
7. Termination. The Executive’s employment shall be terminated upon the occurrence of any of the following:
(a) the death of the Executive;

(b) the Executive’s disability (as such term is defined in the Company’s executive long-term disability plan) (“Disability”);
(c) the termination of employment by the Executive for any reason;

(d) the termination of employment by the Company For Cause (as defined below); or
(e) the termination of employment by the Company other than For Cause.

The term “For Cause” or “Cause” shall mean a reasonable determination by the Company that the Executive (i) has been convicted of a felony, (ii) has
engaged in an activity which, if proven in a criminal proceeding, could result in conviction of a felony involving dishonesty or fraud, or (iii) has willfully
engaged in gross misconduct likely to be materially damaging or materially detrimental to the Company. In order to be effective, the Company must give the
Executive at least sixty (60) calendar days advance written notice of its intent to terminate his employment “For Cause” setting forth the specific action(s) by
the Executive which triggered the notice and such written notice must be received by the Executive no more than one hundred eighty (180) calendar days after
the Company learned of the action(s) giving rise to the “For Cause” termination.
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8. Death of The Executive . In the event the Executive’s employment is terminated as a result of the Executive’s death, the estate of the Executive shall be
entitled to receive the Executive’s Salary for a period of the lesser of six (6) months or the unexpired portion of the Term, plus an amount equal to fifty percent
(50%) of Target Annual Incentive and Target Long-Term Incentive for the year of death.
9. Disability of The Executive . In the event the Executive’s employment is terminated as a result of Disability, the Executive shall be entitled to receive
his Salary and medical and dental benefits for a period of the lesser of six (6) months or the unexpired portion of the Term, plus an amount equal to fifty
percent (50%) of Target Annual Incentive and Target Long-Term Incentive for the year of Disability, reduced by any payments received by the Executive under
the Company’s executive long-term disability plan.
10. Executive-Initiated Termination or Company-Initiated For Cause . If the Executive terminates this Agreement for any reason other than that provided in
Section 11 or the Company terminates this Agreement For Cause, the Company shall have no further obligations and liabilities under this Agreement after the
termination of employment.

11. Termination Other Than For Cause. In the event the Executive’s employment is terminated by the Company other than For Cause, or if the Executive
terminates this Agreement because the Company has failed to comply with Section 2, the Company shall have no further obligations or liabilities under this
Agreement except that the Company shall pay, for the greater of eighteen (18) months or the remainder of the Term, the following to the Executive if the
Executive satisfies the terms of Section 13:
(a) the Executive’s Salary;
(b) the Annual Incentive and Long-Term Incentive awards for the year of termination, based upon the achievement of the performance goals for the
plans for the entire year of termination prorated to reflect the full number of months the Executive was employed during that year;

(c) all unvested, prior Long-Term Incentive awards;
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(d) an amount equal to fifty percent (50%) of any Target Annual Incentive and Target Long-Term Incentive opportunity which the Executive would
otherwise have been eligible to receive as of the effective date of the Executive’s termination of employment; and
(e) the medical and dental plan benefits for which the Executive would otherwise have been eligible to receive as of the effective date of the
Executive’s termination of employment.

12. Payment of Compensation Described in Sections 8, 9 or 11 . The compensation items specified in Sections 8, 9 or 11 shall be paid as follows:
(a) the Salary shall be paid over the remaining Term or other period as described in Sections 8, 9 or 11 in accordance with the Company’s normal
payroll practices; and
(b) the current and future Annual and Long Term Incentive awards and opportunities shall be paid within ninety (90) days after the end of the
performance period for which the incentive applied.
13. Execution of Release . As a condition of receiving the compensation and benefits described in Sections 9 or 11, the Executive shall first execute a
release of any and all claims arising out of the Executive’s employment with the Company or the Executive’s separation from such employment (including,
without limitation, claims relating to age, disability, sex or race discrimination to the extent permitted by law), excepting only claims arising out of the alleged
breach of this Agreement or of any other written contract between the Executive and the Company. Such release shall be in a form reasonably satisfactory to the
Company and shall comply with any applicable legislative or judicial requirements, including, but not limited to, the Older Workers Benefit Protection Act.
An example of such release is attached as Attachment A.
14. Protection of the Company’s Business . The Executive acknowledges that in the course of his employment he will acquire knowledge of trade secrets
and confidential data of the Company. Such trade secrets and confidential data may include, but are not limited to, confidential product information, provider
contracts, customer lists, technical information, methods by which the Company proposes to compete with its business competitors, strategic
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and business plans, confidential reports prepared by business consultants which may reveal strengths and weaknesses of the Company and its competition
and similar information relating to the Company. The Executive, in order to perform his obligations under this Agreement, must necessarily acquire knowledge
of such trade secrets and confidential data, all of which the Executive acknowledges are not known outside the business of the Company, are known only to a
limited group of its top executives and directors, are protected by strict measure to preserve secrecy, are of great value to the Company, are the result of the
expenditure of large sums of money, are difficult for an outsider to duplicate, and disclosure of which would be extremely detrimental to the Company. The
Executive covenants to keep all such trade secrets or confidential data secret and not to release such information to persons not authorized by the Company to
receive such secrets and data, both during the term of this Agreement and at all times following its termination. The Executive acknowledges that trade secrets
and confidential data need not be expressly marked as such by the Company.

15. Documents, Etc. All records, files, documents, equipment and the like shall be, and remain, the sole property of the Company. The Executive, on
the termination of his employment, shall immediately return to the Company all such items without retention of any copies.
16. Limited Non-Competition. During the Executive’s employment and for a limited time thereafter, the Company must protect its legitimate business
interests by limiting the Executive’s ability to compete with the Company. This limited non-competition provision is drafted narrowly so as to be able to
safeguard the Company’s legitimate business interests while not unreasonably interfering with the Executive’s ability to obtain other employment. The
Company does not intend, and the Executive acknowledges, that this limited non-competition provision is not an attempt to prevent the Executive from
obtaining other employment. The Executive further acknowledges that the Company may need to take action, including litigation, to enforce this limited noncompetition provision, which efforts the parties stipulate shall not be deemed an attempt to prevent the Executive from obtaining other employment.
(a) During Employment By Company . During the Executive’s employment, Executive shall not, directly or indirectly, have any ownership
interest in, work for, advise, manage, or act as an agent or consultant for, or have any business connection or business or employment relationship with
any person or entity that competes with the Company or
-7-

that contemplates competing with the Company without the prior written approval of the Chief Executive Officer.

(b) During Post-Employment Period . For a period of eighteen (18) months after the Executive’s termination of employment (regardless of the
reason), or for the duration of the Executive’s receipt of Salary under Section 11, whichever is longer, the Executive shall not:
(i)(A) directly or indirectly have any ownership interest in any entity or person engaged in development or sale of a product or service which
competes with or is substantially similar to any product or service sold by the Company, in any jurisdiction in which the Company operates or in
which the Company reasonably expects to operate pursuant to provisions of a strategic plan adopted by the Board of Directors;

(i)(B) directly or indirectly have any ownership interest in any entity or person engaged in development or sale of a product or service which
competes with or is substantially similar to any product or service sold by the Company, within the geographical area in which the Executive has
been performing services on behalf of the Company or for which he has been assigned responsibility at any time within the twenty-four (24)
months preceding his termination;

(ii)(A) in a competitive capacity, directly or indirectly work for, advise, manage, or act as an agent or consultant for or have any business
connection or business or employment relationship with any entity or person engaged in development or sale of a product or service which
competes with or is substantially similar to any product or service sold by the Company, in any jurisdiction in which the Company operates or in
which the Company reasonably expects to operate pursuant to provisions of a strategic plan adopted by the Board of Directors;

(ii)(B) in a competitive capacity, directly or indirectly work for, advise, manage, or act as an agent or consultant for or have any business
connection or business or employment relationship with any entity or person engaged in development or sale of a product or service which
competes with or is substantially similar to any product or service sold by the Company, within the geographical area in which the Executive has
been performing services on behalf of the Company or for which the Executive
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has been assigned responsibility at any time within the twenty-four (24) months preceding his termination;
(iii)(A) directly or indirectly market, sell or otherwise provide any product or service which is competitive with or substantially similar to
any product or service sold by the Company, to any customer of the Company with whom the Executive has had contact (either directly or
indirectly) or over which he has had responsibility at any time within the twenty-four (24) months preceding his termination;

(iii)(B) directly or indirectly market, sell or otherwise provide any product or service which is competitive with or substantially similar to
any product or service sold by the Company, to any customer of the Company; or

(iv) directly or indirectly, on behalf of the Executive or any third party, make any business contacts with, solicit or accept business from
any customer of the Company for any product or service which is competitive with or substantially similar to any product or service sold by the
Company;
(c) Separate and Several Covenants. The Executive acknowledges that after termination of his employment, he will inevitably possess trade secrets
and confidential data of the Company which he would inevitably use if he were to engage in conduct prohibited as set forth above, and such use would
be unfair to and extremely detrimental to the Company. The Executive further acknowledges that in view of the benefits provided him by this Agreement,
such conduct on his part would be inequitable. Accordingly, the Executive separately and severally covenants for the benefit of the Company to keep
each of the covenants described in this Section 16 for the period specified above.

(d) Acknowledgment of the Company’s Superseding Interest in Protecting its Business. The Executive recognizes that personal relationships
between the Company, its employees and customers are essential to the Company’s business operations and that the Company furthers such
relationships by investments of time and money. The Executive recognizes that this Agreement is reasonably necessary to protect the Company’s
legitimate interest in its customers, and to protect the
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Company’s confidential information and goodwill, and acknowledges that nothing contained in this Agreement shall unreasonably alter the Executive’s
ability to obtain a livelihood or preclude the Executive from engaging in his profession. The Executive, therefore, acknowledges that the Company’s
interest in maintaining its relationships with its established customers for at least one (1) year after termination of the Executive’s employment, or for the
duration of the Executive’s receipt of Salary under Section 11, whichever is longer, supersedes any interest of the Executive in soliciting, servicing, or
accepting the Company’s customers on behalf of any entity other than the Company during that period of time.
(e) Publicly Traded Stock. Nothing in the foregoing provisions of this section prohibits the Executive from purchasing for investment purposes
only, any stock or corporate security traded or quoted on a national securities exchange or national market system.

(f) Maximum Application. The parties expressly agree that the terms of this limited non-competition provision under this section are reasonable,
enforceable, and necessary to protect the Company’s interests, and are valid and enforceable. In the unlikely event, however, that a court of competent
jurisdiction were to determine that any portion of this limited non-competition provision is unenforceable, then the parties agree that the remainder of the
limited non-competition provision shall remain valid and enforceable to the maximum extent possible.

17. Other Limited Prohibitions. During the Executive’s employment and for the longer of one (1) year after termination, or for the duration of the
Executive’s receipt of Salary under Section 11, the Executive shall not:
(a) request or advise any customer of the Company, or any person or entity having business dealings with the Company, to withdraw, curtail or
cease such business with the Company;
(b) disclose to any person or entity the identities of any customers of the Company, or the identity of any persons or entities having business
dealings with the Company; or
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(c) directly or indirectly influence or attempt to influence any other employee of the Company to separate from the Company.

18. Specific Enforcement/Injunctive Relief. The Executive agrees that it would be difficult to measure damages to the Company from any breach of the
covenants contained in Sections 14 through 17, but that such damages from any breach would be great, incalculable and irremediable, and that damages
would be an inadequate remedy. Accordingly, the Executive agrees that the Company may have specific performance of the terms of this Agreement in any
court permitted by this Agreement. In addition, if the Executive violates the non-competition provisions of Section 16 or 17, the Executive agrees that any
period of such violation shall be added to the term of the non-competition. For example, if the Executive violated the provision for three (3) months, the
Company would be entitled to enforce the non-competition provision for one (1) year, or for the duration of the Executive’s receipt of Salary under Section 11,
plus three (3) months post-termination. In determining the period of any violation, the parties stipulate that in any calendar month in which the Executive
engages in any activity violative of the non-competition provision, the Executive is deemed to have violated the non-competition provision for the entire month,
and that month shall be added to the duration of the non-competition provision as set out above. The parties agree however, that specific performance and the
“add back” remedies described above shall not be the exclusive remedies, and the Company may enforce any other remedy or remedies available to it either in
law or in equity including, but not limited to, temporary, preliminary, and/or permanent injunctive relief.
19. Severability. If any provision of this Agreement is held invalid, such invalidity shall not affect the other provisions of this Agreement which shall be
given effect independently of the invalid provisions and, in such circumstances, the invalid provision is severable.
20. Governing Law. This Agreement shall be construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Indiana. The parties expressly agree that it is
appropriate for Indiana law to apply to: (i) the interpretation of the Agreement; (ii) any disputes arising out of this Agreement; (iii) any disputes arising out of
the employment relationship of the parties; and (iv) any and all other disputes between the parties.
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21. Choice of Forum . The Company is based in Indiana, and the Executive understands and acknowledges the Company’s desire and need to defend
any litigation against it in Indiana. Accordingly, the parties agree that any claim of any type brought by the Executive against the Company or any of its
employees or agents must be maintained only in a court sitting in Marion County, Indiana, or, if a federal court, the Southern District of Indiana, Indianapolis
Division.
The Executive further understands and acknowledges that in the event the Company initiates litigation against the Executive, the Company may need to
prosecute such litigation in the Executive’s forum state, in the State of Indiana, or in such other state where the Executive is subject to personal jurisdiction.
Accordingly, the parties agree that the Company can pursue any claim against the Executive in any forum in which the Executive is subject to personal
jurisdiction. The Executive specifically consents to personal jurisdiction in the State of Indiana.

22. Mandatory Arbitration. Any controversy or claim arising out of, or relating to this Agreement, or the breach thereof, other than a claim arising out of
the Executive’s breach of the confidentiality and non-competition provisions of Section 14 through 17, shall be settled by arbitration in Indianapolis, Indiana,
in accordance with the Rules of the American Arbitration Association before arbitrators who are licensed to practice law. The arbitrator or arbitrators shall
apply the substantive law of Indiana or federal law, or both, as applicable to the dispute. Any award entered shall be final, binding and nonappealable, and
judgment upon the award rendered by the arbitrator or arbitrators may be entered in any court having jurisdiction thereof.
In the event that the Company refuses or otherwise fails to make a payment when due and it is ultimately decided that the Executive is entitled to such
payment, such payment shall be increased to reflect an interest equivalent for the period of delay, compounded annually, equal to the prime or base lending rate
used by Bank One Indiana, NA, and in effect as of the date the payment was first due.

23. Non-Jury Trials. Notwithstanding the provisions of Sections 18 and 22 above, and if the provisions of Section 18 or 22 above are not enforceable,
the Executive expressly waives any rights to a jury trial and agrees that any claim of any type made against the Company or its agents or executives (including,
but not limited to, employment discrimination litigation, wage
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litigation, defamation, or any other claim) lodged in any court will be tried, if at all, without a jury.

24. Nonalienation of Benefits . Except as may otherwise be required by law, no right to receive payments under this Agreement shall be subject to
anticipation, commutation, alienation, sale, assignment, encumbrance, charge, pledge, bankruptcy or hypothecation or to exclusion, attachment, levy or
similar process or assignment by operation of law, and any attempt, voluntary or involuntary, to effect any such action shall be null, void and of no effect.

25. Legal Fees and Costs . All legal and other fees and expenses, including, without limitation, any arbitration expenses, incurred by the Executive in
connection with contesting or disputing any termination of employment, in seeking to obtain or enforce any right or benefit provided for in this Agreement, or
in otherwise pursuing any right or claim, shall be paid by the Company, to the extent permitted by law, provided that the Executive makes a formal written
settlement demand prior to trial or arbitration and is ultimately successful, in obtaining through trial or arbitration more than fifty percent (50%) of the
monetary relief sought, in his final written settlement demand exclusive of attorney’s fees.
26. Notices. Any notice required or permitted to be given under this Agreement shall be sufficient if in writing and will be deemed to have been given
when delivered in person (to the Executive if such notice is for the Executive) or five (5) days following sending by overnight courier or mailing by first class,
certified or registered mail, postage prepaid, to the Executive at his home address, or such addresses as the Executive shall have designated in writing, or if to
the Company, to the attention of the Corporate Secretary, at the Company’s principal place of business, 120 Monument Circle, Indianapolis, Indiana 46204.
27. Headings. The various headings of this Agreement are inserted for convenience only and shall not affect the meaning or interpretation of this
Agreement or any of its provisions.
28. Successors and Assigns. The rights and obligations of the Company under this Agreement shall inure to its benefit, its successors and affiliated
companies and shall be binding upon the successors and assigns of the Company. This Agreement, being personal to the Executive, cannot be assigned
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by the Executive, but his personal representative shall be bound by all its terms and conditions.

29. Waiver and Amendments, Etc. Failure of the Company to insist upon strict compliance with any terms or provisions of this Agreement shall not be
deemed a waiver of any terms, provisions or rights of the Company. Moreover, no modifications, amendments, extensions or waivers of this Agreement or any
provisions hereof shall be binding upon the Company or the Executive unless in writing and signed by the Executive and the Company.
30. Complete Agreement. This Agreement constitutes the entire employment agreement of the parties and supersedes all prior employment agreements
addressing the terms, conditions, and issues contained herein. Nothing in this Agreement, however, affects any separate written agreements addressing other
terms and conditions and issues agreed to by the parties.

31. Counterparts . This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together
shall constitute one and the same agreement.
- 14 -

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company and the Executive have duly executed and delivered this Agreement effective as of the day and year first above
written.
Randall Lewis

/s/ Randall Lewis

Anthem, Inc.
By: /s/ Larry C. Glasscock
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Name:

Larry C. Glasscock

Title:

President and Chief Executive Officer

Exhibit 10.56

2004 Annual Salary Information for Chief Executive Officer and Named Executive Officers
The following table sets forth as of March 1, 2005, the chief executive officer and each named executive officer’s current annual salary:
Named Executive Officer

Larry C. Glasscock
Keith R. Faller
Thomas G. Snead Jr.
David R. Frick
Michael L. Smith

Salary

$1,081,600
$ 600,000
$ 560,000
$ 535,000
$ 535,000

The named executive officers were determined based on salary and annual bonus for 2004 as required by the Instructions to Item 402(a)(3) of Regulation S-K.

Exhibit 21

SUBSIDIARIES OF WELLPOINT, INC.
AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2004
Company Name

Jurisdiction of Incorporation

AdminaStar Federal, Inc.
Affiliated Healthcare, Inc.
AHI Healthcare Corporation
American Managing Company
Anthem East, Inc.
Anthem Financial, Inc.
Anthem Health Plans of Kentucky, Inc.
Anthem Health Plans of Maine, Inc.
Anthem Health Plans of New Hampshire, Inc.
Anthem Health Plans of Virginia, Inc.
Anthem Health Plans, Inc.
Anthem Holding Corp.
Anthem Insurance Companies, Inc.
Anthem Life Insurance Company
Anthem Midwest, Inc.
Anthem Prescription Management, LLC
Anthem Services, Inc.
Anthem Southeast, Inc.
Anthem UM Services, Inc.
Anthem West, Inc.
Arcus Enterprises, Inc.
Arison Insurance Services, Inc.
Associated Group, Inc.
ATH Holding Company, LLC.
Atlanta Healthcare Partners, Inc.
BC Life & Health Insurance Company
BCC Holding Corporation, Inc.
Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Georgia, Inc.
Blue Cross Blue Shield Healthcare Plan of Georgia, Inc.
Blue Cross Blue Shield of Wisconsin
Blue Cross of California
Blue Cross of California Partnership Plan, LLC
C&S Properties, Inc.
CC Holdings, LLC
Cerulean Companies, Inc.
Claim Management Services, Inc.
Community Insurance Company
Compcare Health Services Insurance Corporation
Comprehensive Integrated Marketing Services, Inc.
Cost Care, Inc.
Crossroads Acquisition Corp.
CSRA Health Care Partners, Inc.
Diversified Life Insurance Agency of Missouri, Inc.
Forty-Four Forty-Four Forest Park Redevelopment Corp.
Golden West Health Plan, Inc.
Government Health Services, LLC

Indiana
Texas
Texas
Texas
Delaware
Delaware

Kentucky
Maine
New Hampshire
Virginia
Connecticut
Indiana
Indiana
Indiana
Ohio
Ohio (LLC)
Virginia
Indiana
Indiana
Indiana
Delaware

Kentucky
Indiana
Indiana (LLC)
Georgia

California
California
Georgia
Georgia

Wisconsin
California
California (LLC)
Missouri
Wisconsin (LLC)
Georgia

Wisconsin
Ohio

Wisconsin
California
Massachusetts
Delaware
Georgia

Missouri
Missouri
California
Wisconsin (LLC)

1

Company Name

Jurisdiction of Incorporation

Greater Georgia Life Insurance Company
Group Benefits of Georgia, Inc.
Group Benefits Plus, Inc.
Health Core, Inc.
Health Initiatives, Inc.
Health Management Corporation
Health Management Systems, Inc.
Health Ventures Partners, LLC
HealthKeepers, Inc.
HealthLink HMO, Inc.
HealthLink, Inc.
HealthReach Services, Inc.
Healthy Alliance Life Insurance Company
Healthy Homecomings, Inc.
Highway to Health, Inc.
HMO Colorado, Inc.
HMO Missouri, Inc.
HMO-W, Inc.
HTH Re, Ltd.
Insurance4 Agency, Inc.
Lease Partners, Inc.
Machigonne, Inc.
Matthew Thornton Health Plan, Inc.
MCS Health Management Options, Inc.*
Meridian Resource Company, LLC
Monticello Service Agency, Inc.
National Capital Health Plan, Inc.
National Capital Preferred Provider Organization, Inc.
Northeast Consolidated Services, Inc.
OneNation Benefit Administrators, Inc.
OneNation Insurance Company
Park Square Holdings, Inc.
Park Square I, Inc.
Park Square II, Inc.
Peninsula Health Care, Inc.
Precision Rx, Inc.
Preferred Health Plans of Missouri, Inc.
Priority Health Care, Inc.
Priority Insurance Agency, Inc.
Priority, Inc.
Professional Claim Services, Inc.
R&P Realty, Inc.
RightCHOICE Insurance Company
RightCHOICE Managed Care, Inc.
Rocky Mountain Health Care Corporation
Rocky Mountain Hospital and Medical Service, Inc.
SellCore, Inc.
SpectraCare, Inc.
Texas Managed Care Administrative Services, Inc.
The Anthem Companies, Inc.
The EPOCH Group, L.C.*
Trigon Health and Life Insurance Company

Georgia
Georgia

TriState, Inc.
TrustSolutions, LLC

California
Delaware

New Hampshire
Virginia
Colorado
Illinois (LLC)
Virginia
Missouri
Illinois
Connecticut
Missouri
Missouri
Delaware
Colorado

Missouri
Wisconsin
Bermuda
Delaware
Delaware
Maine

New Hampshire
Puerto Rico

Wisconsin (LLC)
Virginia
Virginia
Maryland
New Hampshire
Ohio
Indiana
California
California
California
Virginia
Delaware
Missouri
Virginia
Virginia
Virginia

New York
Missouri
Illinois
Delaware
Colorado
Colorado
Delaware

Kentucky
Texas
Indiana
Missouri (LC)
Virginia
Delaware
Wisconsin (LLC)

2

Company Name

Jurisdiction of Incorporation

UNICARE Health Benefit Services of Texas, Inc.
UNICARE Health Insurance Company of Midwest
UNICARE Health Insurance Company of Texas
UNICARE Health Plan of Oklahoma, Inc.
UNICARE Health Plans of Texas, Inc.
UNICARE Health Plan of Virginia, Inc.
UNICARE Health Plan of West Virginia, Inc.
UNICARE Health Plans
UNICARE Health Plans of Midwest, Inc.
UNICARE Illinois Services, Inc.
UNICARE Life & Health Insurance Company
UNICARE National Services, Inc.
UNICARE of Texas Health Plans, Inc.
UNICARE Service Co.
UNICARE Specialty Services, Inc.
United Government Services, LLC
United Heartland Life Insurance Company
United Wisconsin Insurance Company
Valley Health Plan, Inc.
WellPoint Association Services Group, Inc.
WellPoint Behavioral Health, Inc.
WellPoint California Services, Inc.
WellPoint Dental Services, Inc.
WellPoint Development Company, Inc.
WellPoint Pharmacy IPA, Inc.

Texas
Illinois
Texas
Oklahoma
Texas
Virginia
West Virginia
Illinois (Partnership)
Illinois
Illinois
Delaware
Delaware
Texas
California
Delaware
Wisconsin (LLC)
Wisconsin
Wisconsin
Wisconsin
Washington
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
New York

* less than majority stock amount
3

Exhibit 23

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the following Registration Statements:
§
§
§
§
§
§
§

§
§
§
§

Form S-8 No. 333-73516 pertaining to the Anthem 2001 Stock Incentive Plan;
Form S-8 No. 333-84690 pertaining to the Anthem Employee Stock Purchase Plan;
Form S-8 No. 333-84906 pertaining to the Anthem 401(k) Long-term Savings Investment Plan;
Form S-8 No. 333-97423 pertaining to the Trigon Healthcare Inc. 1997 Stock Incentive Plan; Trigon Healthcare, Inc. Non-Employee Directors
Stock Incentive Plan; and Certain Options Granted to Consultants to Trigon Healthcare, Inc.;
Form S-8 No. 333-97425 pertaining to the Employees’ 401(k) Thrift Plan of Trigon Insurance Company and Trigon Insurance Company 401(k)
Restoration Plan;
Form S-8 No. 333-110503 pertaining to the Anthem 2001 Stock Incentive Plan
Form S-8 No. 333-120851 pertaining to the WellPoint Health Networks Inc. 1999 Stock Incentive Plan; WellPoint Health Networks Inc. 2000
Employee Stock Option Plan; WellPoint Health Networks Inc. Comprehensive Executive Non-Qualified Retirement Plan; Cobalt Corporation
Equity Incentive Plan; RightCHOICE Managed Care, Inc. 2001 Stock Incentive Plan; RightCHOICE Managed Care, Inc. 1994 Equity Incentive
Plan; RightCHOICE Managed Care, Inc. Nonemployee Directors’ Stock Option Plan;
Form S-8 No. 333-120854 pertaining to the WellPoint 401(k) Retirement Savings Plan;
Form S-8 No. 333-121596 pertaining to the 2005 Comprehensive Executive Non-Qualified Retirement Plan;
Form S-4 No. 333-123217 pertaining to the offers to exchange $1.6 billion in notes; and
Form S-3 No. 333-101969 pertaining to the WellPoint, Inc. (formerly Anthem, Inc.) shelf registration

of our reports dated March 4, 2005, with respect to the consolidated financial statements and schedule of WellPoint, Inc. (formerly Anthem, Inc.), WellPoint,
Inc. management’s assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting
of WellPoint, Inc. included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended December 31, 2004.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

March 9, 2005
Indianapolis, Indiana

Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
RULE 13a-14(a) AND RULE 15d-14(a) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT RULES,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Larry C. Glasscock, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of WellPoint, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant
and have:

a)

designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b)

designed such internal control over financial reporting, or cause such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.

c)

evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d)

disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):

a)

all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b)

any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

Date: March 14, 2005

/S /

LARRY C. GLASSCOCK
Chief Executive Officer

Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
RULE 13a-14(a) AND RULE 15d-14(a) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT RULES,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, David C. Colby, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of WellPoint, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant
and have:

a)

designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b)

designed such internal control over financial reporting, or cause such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.

c)

evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d)

disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):

a)

all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b)

any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

Date: March 14, 2005

/S /

DAVID C. COLBY
Chief Financial and Accounting Officer

Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Annual Report of WellPoint, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ending December 31, 2004 as filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Larry C. Glasscock, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
§ 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1)

The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2)

The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

LARRY C. GLASSCOCK
Larry C. Glasscock
/S /

Chief Executive Officer

March 14, 2005

Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Annual Report of WellPoint, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ending December 31, 2004 as filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, David C. Colby, Chief Financial and Accounting Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to
18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1)

The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2)

The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

DAVID C. COLBY
David C. Colby
Chief Financial and Accounting Officer
March 14, 2005
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Exhibit 99

RISK FACTORS

The following factors, among others, could cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in forward-looking statements made in
the Annual Report on Form 10-K to which this document is an exhibit and presented elsewhere by management from time to time. Such factors, among
others, may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations and you should carefully consider them. It is
not possible to predict or identify all such factors. Consequently, you should not consider any such list to be a complete statement of all our potential
risks or uncertainties. Because of these and other factors, past performance should not be considered an indication of future performance.
Risks Relating to Our Business

Application of and/or changes in state and federal regulations may adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
As a holding company, we are dependent on dividends from our subsidiaries. Our regulated subsidiaries are subject to state regulations,
including restrictions on the payment of dividends and maintenance of minimum levels of capital.
Our insurance, managed health care and health maintenance organization, or HMO, subsidiaries are subject to extensive regulation and supervision by
the insurance, managed health care or HMO regulatory authorities of each state in which they are licensed or authorized to do business, as well as to regulation
by federal and local agencies. We cannot assure you that future action by regulatory authorities will not have a material adverse effect on the profitability or
marketability of our health benefits or managed care products or on our business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, because of our
participation in government-sponsored programs such as Medicare and Medicaid, changes in government regulations or policy with respect to, among other
things, reimbursement levels, could also adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, we cannot assure you that
application of the federal and/or state tax regulatory regime that currently applies to us will not, or future tax regulation by either federal and/or state
governmental authorities concerning us could not, have a material adverse effect on our business, operations or financial condition.
State legislatures and Congress continue to focus on health care issues. From time to time, Congress has considered various forms of Patients’ Bill of
Rights legislation which, if adopted, could fundamentally alter the treatment of coverage decisions under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of
1974, as amended, or ERISA. Additionally, there recently have been legislative attempts to limit ERISA’s preemptive effect on state laws. If adopted, such
limitations could increase our liability exposure and could permit greater state regulation of our operations. Other proposed bills and regulations at state and
federal levels may impact certain aspects of our business, including provider contracting, claims payments and processing and confidentiality of health
information. While we cannot predict if any of these initiatives will ultimately become effective or, if enacted, what their terms will be, their enactment could
increase our costs, expose us to expanded liability or require us to revise the ways in which we conduct business. Further, as we continue to implement our ebusiness initiatives, uncertainty surrounding the regulatory authority and requirements in this area may make it difficult to ensure compliance.

We are a holding company whose assets include all of the outstanding shares of common stock of our licensed insurance, managed health care and
HMO subsidiaries. As a holding company, we depend on dividends from our subsidiaries and their receipt of dividends from our other regulated subsidiaries.
Among other restrictions, state insurance, managed health care and HMO laws may restrict the ability of our regulated subsidiaries to pay dividends. Our
ability to pay dividends in the future to our shareholders and meet our obligations, including paying operating expenses and debt service on our outstanding
and future indebtedness, will depend upon the receipt of dividends from our subsidiaries. An inability of our subsidiaries to pay dividends

in the future in an amount sufficient for us to meet our financial obligations may materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

Most of our insurance and HMO subsidiaries are subject to risk-based capital, known as RBC, standards, imposed by their states of domicile. These
laws are based on the RBC Model Act adopted by the National Association of Insurance Commissioners, or NAIC, and require our regulated subsidiaries to
report their results of risk-based capital calculations to various departments of insurance and the NAIC. Failure to maintain the minimum RBC standards
could subject our regulated subsidiaries to corrective action, including state supervision or liquidation. Our insurance and HMO subsidiaries are currently in
compliance with the risk-based capital or other similar requirements imposed by their respective states of domicile.

Our inability to contain health care costs, implement increases in premium rates on a timely basis, maintain adequate reserves for policy
benefits, maintain our current provider agreements or avoid a downgrade in our ratings may adversely affect our business, financial condition
and results of operations.
Our profitability depends in large part on accurately predicting health care costs and on our ability to manage future health care costs through
underwriting criteria, medical management, product design and negotiation of favorable provider contracts. The aging of the population and other demographic
characteristics and advances in medical technology continue to contribute to rising health care costs. Government-imposed limitations on Medicare and
Medicaid reimbursement have also caused the private sector to bear a greater share of increasing health care costs. Changes in health care practices, inflation,
new technologies, the cost of prescription drugs, clusters of high cost cases, changes in the regulatory environment and numerous other factors affecting the
cost of health care may adversely affect our ability to predict and manage health care costs, as well as our business, financial condition and results of
operations.
In addition to the challenge of managing health care costs, we face pressure to contain premium rates. Our customer contracts may be subject to
renegotiation as customers seek to contain their costs. Alternatively, our customers may move to a competitor to obtain more favorable premiums. Fiscal
concerns regarding the continued viability of programs such as Medicare and Medicaid may cause decreasing reimbursement rates for government- sponsored
programs in which we participate. A limitation on our ability to increase or maintain premium levels could adversely affect our business, financial condition
and results of operations.

The reserves we establish for health insurance policy benefits and other contractual rights and benefits are based upon assumptions concerning a
number of factors, including trends in health care costs, expenses, general economic conditions and other factors. Actual experience will likely differ from
assumed experience, and to the extent the actual claims experience is less favorable than estimated based on our underlying assumptions, our incurred losses
would increase and future earnings could be adversely affected.

Our profitability is dependent upon our ability to contract on favorable terms with hospitals, physicians and other health care providers. The failure to
maintain or to secure new cost-effective health care provider contracts may result in a loss in membership or higher medical costs. In addition, our inability to
contract with providers, or the inability of providers to provide adequate care, could adversely affect our business.
Claims-paying ability and financial strength ratings by recognized rating organizations have become an increasingly important factor in establishing the
competitive position of insurance companies and health benefits companies. Rating organizations continue to review the financial performance and condition of
insurers. Each of the rating agencies reviews its ratings periodically and there can be no assurance that current ratings will be maintained in the future. We
believe our strong ratings are an important factor in marketing our products to our customers, since ratings information is broadly disseminated and generally
used throughout the industry. If our ratings are downgraded or placed under surveillance or review, with possible negative implications, the downgrade,
surveillance or review could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. Our ratings reflect each rating agency’s opinion of our
financial strength, operating performance and

ability to meet our obligations to policyholders, and are not evaluations directed toward the protection of investors in our common stock.

We face risks related to litigation.
We are, or may be in the future, a party to a variety of legal actions that affect any business, such as employment and employment discriminationrelated suits, employee benefit claims, breach of contract actions, tort claims and intellectual property-related litigation. In addition, because of the nature of
our business, we are subject to a variety of legal actions relating to our business operations, including the design, management and offering of our products
and services. These could include: claims relating to the denial of health care benefits; medical malpractice actions; allegations of anti-competitive and unfair
business activities; provider disputes over compensation and termination of provider contracts; disputes related to self-funded business; disputes over copayment calculations; claims related to the failure to disclose certain business practices; and claims relating to customer audits and contract performance. The
loss of even one such claim, if it results in a significant punitive damage award, could have a material adverse effect on our consolidated results of operations.
In addition, the risk of potential liability under punitive damage theories may increase significantly the difficulty of obtaining reasonable settlements of
coverage claims.
A number of class action lawsuits have been filed against us and certain of our competitors in the managed care business. The suits are purported class
actions on behalf of certain of our managed care members and network providers for alleged breaches of various state and federal laws. While we intend to
defend these suits vigorously, we will incur expenses in the defense of these suits and cannot predict their outcome.
Recent court decisions and legislative activity may increase our exposure for any of these types of claims. In some cases, substantial non-economic,
treble or punitive damages may be sought. We currently have insurance coverage for some of these potential liabilities. Other potential liabilities may not be
covered by insurance, insurers may dispute coverage or the amount of insurance may not be enough to cover the damages awarded. In addition, certain types
of damages, such as punitive damages, may not be covered by insurance, and insurance coverage for all or certain forms of liability may become unavailable
or prohibitively expensive in the future.

In addition, we are also involved in pending and threatened litigation of the character incidental to the business transacted, arising out of our insurance
and investment operations, and are from time to time involved as a party in various governmental investigations, audits, reviews and administrative
proceedings. These investigations, audits and reviews include routine and special investigations by various state insurance departments, state attorneys general
and the U.S. Attorney General. Such investigations could result in the imposition of civil or criminal fines, penalties and other sanctions. We believe that any
liability that may result from any one of these actions is unlikely to have a material adverse effect on our consolidated results of operations or financial
position.

A reduction in the enrollment in our health benefits programs could have an adverse effect on our business and profitability. The health benefits
industry is subject to negative publicity, which can adversely affect our profitability. Additionally, we face significant competition from other
health benefits companies.
A reduction in the number of enrollees in our health benefits programs could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
Factors that could contribute to a reduction in enrollment include: failure to obtain new customers or retain existing customers; premium increases and benefit
changes; our exit from a specific market; reductions in workforce by existing customers; negative publicity and news coverage; failure to attain or maintain
nationally recognized accreditations; and general economic downturn that results in business failures.
The health benefits industry is subject to negative publicity. Negative publicity may result in increased regulation and legislative review of industry
practices, which may further increase our costs of doing business

and adversely affect our profitability by: adversely affecting our ability to market our products and services; requiring us to change our products and
services; or increasing the regulatory burdens under which we operate.

In addition, as long as we use the Blue Cross and Blue Shield names and marks in marketing our health benefits products and services, any negative
publicity concerning the Blue Cross Blue Shield Association or other Blue Cross Blue Shield Association licensees may adversely affect us and the sale of our
health benefits products and services.
As a health benefits company, we operate in a highly competitive environment and in an industry that is currently subject to significant changes from
business consolidations, new strategic alliances, legislative reform, aggressive marketing practices by other health benefits organizations and market pressures
brought about by an informed and organized customer base, particularly among large employers. Further, periodic renegotiations of hospital and other
provider contracts, coupled with continued consolidation of physician, hospital and other provider groups potentially limit our ability to negotiate favorable
rates. This environment has produced and will likely continue to produce significant pressures on the profitability of health benefits companies.
We are dependent on the services of independent agents and brokers in the marketing of our health care products, particularly with respect to
individuals, seniors and small employer group members. Such independent agents and brokers are typically not exclusively dedicated to us and may
frequently also market health care products of our competitors. We face intense competition for the services and allegiance of independent agents and brokers.

In addition, the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act, which gives banks and other financial institutions the ability to affiliate with insurance companies, creates
the potential for new competitors with significant financial resources entering our markets. We cannot assure you that we will be able to compete successfully
against current and future competitors or that competitive pressures faced by us will not materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and
results of operations.

Regional concentrations of our business may subject us to economic downturns in those regions.
Our business operations include or consist of regional companies located in the Midwest, East, West and South with most of our revenues generated in
the states of California, Colorado, Connecticut, Georgia, Indiana, Kentucky, Maine, Missouri, Nevada, New Hampshire, Ohio, Virginia and Wisconsin.
Due to this concentration of business in a small number of states, we are exposed to potential losses resulting from the risk of an economic downturn in these
states. If economic conditions in these states deteriorate, we may experience a reduction in existing and new business, which may have a material adverse effect
on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

A change in our health care product mix may impact our profitability.
Our health care products that involve greater potential risk generally tend to be more profitable than administrative services products and those health
care products where we are able to shift risk to employer groups. Individuals and small employer groups are more likely to purchase our higher-risk health
care products because such purchasers are generally unable or unwilling to bear greater liability for health care expenditures. Typically, government-sponsored
programs also involve our higher-risk health care products. Over the past few years, we have experienced a slight decline in margins in higher-risk health care
products and to a lesser extent on our lower-risk health care and management services products. This decline is primarily attributable to product mix change,
product design, competitive pressure and greater regulatory restrictions applicable to the small employer group market. From time to time, we have
implemented price increases in certain of our health care businesses. While these price increases may improve profitability, there can be no assurance that this
will occur. Subsequent unfavorable changes in the relative profitability between our various products could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition, and results of operations.

Our pharmacy benefit management company operates in an industry faced with a number of risks and uncertainties in addition to those we
face with our core health care business.
The following are some of the industry-related risks of our pharmacy benefit management business that could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations:

•

the application of federal and state anti-remuneration laws (generally known as “anti-kickback” laws);

•

compliance requirements for pharmacy benefit manager fiduciaries under ERISA, including compliance with fiduciary obligations under ERISA
in connection with the development and implementation of items such as formularies, preferred drug listings and therapeutic intervention
programs; and potential liability regarding the use of patient-identifiable medical information;

•

a number of federal and state legislative proposals are being considered that could affect a variety of industry practices, such as the receipt of
rebates from pharmaceutical manufacturers.

We believe that our pharmacy benefit management business is currently being conducted in compliance in all material respects with applicable legal
requirements. However, there can be no assurance that our business will not be subject to challenge under various laws and regulations, or that any such
challenge will not have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations

We have built a significant portion of our current business through mergers and acquisitions and we expect to pursue acquisitions in the future.
The following are some of the risks associated with acquisitions that could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results of operations:
•

some of the acquired businesses may not achieve anticipated revenues, earnings cash flow, or market share;

•

we may assume liabilities that were not disclosed to us;

•

we may be unable to integrate acquired businesses successfully and realize anticipated economic, operational and other benefits in a timely
manner, which could result in substantial costs and delays or other operational, technical or financial problems;

•

acquisitions could disrupt our ongoing business, distract management, divert resources and make it difficult to maintain our current business
standards, controls and procedures;

•

we may finance future acquisitions by issuing common stock for some or all of the purchase price, which could dilute the ownership interests of
our shareholders;

•

we may also incur additional debt related to future acquisitions; and

•

we would be competing with other firms, some of which may have greater financial and other resources, to acquire attractive companies.

Our investment portfolio is subject to varying economic and market conditions, as well as regulation.
The market value of our investments varies from time to time depending on economic and market conditions. For various reasons, we may sell certain
of our investments at prices that are less than the carrying value of the investments. In addition, in periods of declining interest rates, bond calls and mortgage
loan prepayments generally increase, resulting in the reinvestment of these funds at the then lower market rates. Conversely, in periods of rising interest rates
the fair value of our fixed-maturity debt investments declines, potentially impairing the portfolio and resulting in realized investment losses. Further, the value
of our equity securities can fluctuate significantly with changes in market conditions. We cannot assure you that our investment portfolio will produce positive
returns in future periods. Our regulated subsidiaries are subject to state laws and regulations that require diversification of our investment portfolio and limit
the amount of investments in certain riskier investment categories, such as below-investment-grade fixed income securities, mortgage loans, real estate and
equity investments, which could generate higher returns on our investments. Failure to comply

with these laws and regulations might cause investments exceeding regulatory limitations to be treated as non-admitted assets for purposes of measuring
statutory surplus and risk-based capital, and, in some instances, require the sale of those investments.

As a Medicare fiscal intermediary, we are subject to complex regulations. If we fail to comply with these regulations, we may be exposed to
criminal sanctions and significant civil penalties.
Like a number of other Blue Cross and Blue Shield companies, we serve as a fiscal intermediary for the Medicare program, which generally provides
coverage for persons who are 65 or older and for persons with end-stage renal disease. Part A of the Medicare program provides coverage for services provided
by hospitals, skilled nursing facilities and other health care facilities. One of our subsidiaries, United Government Services, currently serves as the largest
Part A fiscal intermediary. Part B of the Medicare program provides coverage for services provided by physicians, physical and occupational therapists and
other professional providers. As a fiscal intermediary for the Medicare program, we receive reimbursement for certain costs and expenditures, which is subject
to adjustment upon audit by the federal Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services, or CMS (formerly the Health Care Financing Administration, or HCFA).
In addition to serving as a fiscal intermediary for the Medicare program, we also provide insurance products to Medicaid beneficiaries in various states,
including to Medi-Cal beneficiaries in various California counties under contracts with the California Department of Health Services (or delegated agencies).
The laws and regulations governing fiscal intermediaries for the Medicare and Medicaid programs are complex, subject to interpretation and can expose a fiscal
intermediary to penalties for non-compliance. Fiscal intermediaries may be subject to criminal fines, civil penalties or other sanctions as a result of such audits
or reviews. While we believe that we are in compliance in all material respects with the regulations governing fiscal intermediaries, there are ongoing reviews by
the federal government of our activities under certain of our Medicare fiscal intermediary contracts. One of our subsidiaries, AdminaStar Federal, Inc., has
received several subpoenas from the U.S. Office of the Inspector General, Health and Human Services, and the U.S. Department of Justice seeking documents
and information concerning its responsibilities as a Medicare Part B contractor in its Kentucky office, and requesting certain financial records from
AdminaStar Federal, Inc. and from us related to our Medicare fiscal intermediary Part A and Part B operations.

We use the Blue Cross and Blue Shield names and marks as identifiers for our products and services under licenses from the Blue Cross Blue
Shield Association. The termination of these license agreements or changes in the terms and conditions of these license agreements could adversely
affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
We are a party to license agreements with the Blue Cross Blue Shield Association that entitle us to the exclusive use of the Blue Cross and Blue Shield
names and marks in our geographic territories. The license agreements contain certain requirements and restrictions regarding our operations and our use of the
Blue Cross and Blue Shield names and marks, including: minimum capital and liquidity requirements; enrollment and customer service performance
requirements; participation in programs that provide portability of membership between plans; disclosures to the Blue Cross Blue Shield Association relating
to enrollment and financial conditions; disclosures as to the structure of the Blue Cross and Blue Shield system in contracts with third parties and in public
statements; plan governance requirements; a requirement that at least 80% (or, in the case of Blue Cross of California, substantially all) of a licensee’s annual
combined net revenue attributable to health benefits plans within its service area must be sold, marketed, administered or underwritten under the Blue Cross
and Blue Shield names and marks; a requirement that neither a plan nor any of its licensed affiliates may permit an entity other than a plan or a licensed
affiliate to obtain control of the plan or the licensed affiliate or to acquire a substantial portion of its assets related to licensable services; a requirement that we
guarantee the contractual and financial obligations of our licensed affiliates; and a requirement that we indemnify the Blue Cross Blue Shield Association
against any claims asserted against us resulting from the contractual and financial obligations of any subsidiary that serves as a fiscal intermediary providing
administrative services for Medicare Parts A and B. We believe that we and our licensed affiliates are currently in compliance with these standards.

The standards under the license agreements may be modified in certain instances by the Blue Cross Blue Shield Association. For example, from time to
time there have been proposals considered by the Blue Cross Blue Shield Association to modify the terms of the license agreement to restrict various potential
business activities of licensees. These proposals have included, among other things, a limitation on the amount of health plan business that a Blue Cross Blue
Shield Association licensee may conduct under a trade name other than the Blue Cross or Blue Shield name and a limitation on the ability of a licensee to make
its provider networks available to insurance carriers or other entities not holding a Blue Cross or Blue Shield license. To the extent that such amendments to the
license agreement are adopted in the future, they could have a material adverse effect on our future expansion plans or results of operations.
Upon the occurrence of an event causing termination of the license agreements, we would no longer have the right to use the Blue Cross and Blue Shield
names and marks in one or more of our geographic territories. Furthermore, the Blue Cross Blue Shield Association would be free to issue a license to use the
Blue Cross and Blue Shield names and marks in these states to another entity. Events that could cause the termination of a license agreement with the Blue
Cross Blue Shield Association include failure to comply with minimum capital requirements imposed by the Blue Cross Blue Shield Association, a change of
control or violation of the Blue Cross Blue Shield Association ownership limitations on our capital stock, impending financial insolvency, the appointment of
a trustee or receiver or the commencement of any action against a licensee seeking its dissolution. We believe that the Blue Cross and Blue Shield names and
marks are valuable identifiers of our products and services in the marketplace. Accordingly, termination of the license agreements could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

The failure to effectively maintain and modernize our operations in an Internet environment could adversely affect our business.
Our business depends significantly on effective information systems, and we have many different information systems for our various businesses. Our
information systems require an ongoing commitment of significant resources to maintain and enhance existing systems and develop new systems in order to
keep pace with continuing changes in information processing technology, evolving industry and regulatory standards, and changing customer preferences. In
addition, we may from time to time obtain significant portions of our systems-related or other services or facilities from independent third parties, which may
make our operations vulnerable to such third parties’ failure to perform adequately. As a result of our merger and acquisition activities, we have acquired
additional systems. Our failure to maintain effective and efficient information systems, or our failure to efficiently and effectively consolidate our information
systems to eliminate redundant or obsolete applications, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
Also, like many of our competitors in the health benefits industry, our vision for the future includes becoming a premier e-business organization by
modernizing interactions with customers, brokers, agents, employees and other stakeholders through web-enabling technology and redesigning internal
operations. We are developing our e-business strategy with the goal of becoming widely regarded as an e-business leader in the health benefits industry. The
strategy includes not only sales and distribution of health benefits products on the Internet, but also implementation of advanced self-service capabilities
benefiting customers, agents, brokers, partners and employees. There can be no assurance that we will be able to realize successfully our e-business vision or
integrate e-business operations with our current method of operations. The failure to develop successful e-business capabilities could result in competitive and
cost disadvantages to us as compared to our competitors.

We may experience difficulties in integrating the businesses of Anthem and WellPoint Health Networks Inc., which could cause the combined
company to lose many of the anticipated potential benefits of the merger.
We merged with WellPoint Health Networks Inc. because we believe that the merger will be beneficial to our companies. Achieving the anticipated benefits
of the merger will depend in part upon whether our two

companies integrate our businesses in an efficient and effective manner. In particular, the successful combination of Anthem and WellPoint Health Networks
Inc. will depend on the integration of the respective businesses. We may not be able to accomplish this integration process smoothly or successfully. The
necessity of coordinating geographically separated organizations and addressing possible differences in corporate cultures and management philosophies may
increase the difficulties of integration. The integration of certain operations following the merger will require the dedication of significant management
resources, which may temporarily distract management’s attention from the combined company’s day-to-day business. Employee uncertainty and lack of
focus during the integration process may also disrupt our business. We may not achieve the expected level of synergies anticipated by this transaction. Because
of the complex nature of the integration process, we cannot provide any assurances regarding the ultimate success of these integration activities. Any inability
of our management to integrate successfully the operations of the two companies could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and
financial condition.

We have substantial indebtedness outstanding and may incur additional indebtedness in the future. As a holding company, we are not able to
repay our indebtedness except through dividends from subsidiaries, some of which are restricted in their ability to pay such dividends under
applicable insurance law and undertakings. Such indebtedness could also adversely affect our ability to pursue desirable business
opportunities.
We have substantial indebtedness outstanding and currently have available borrowing capacity under our credit facilities of an additional $1.7 billion.
We may also incur additional indebtedness in the future.
Our current debt service obligations require us to use a portion of our cash flow to pay interest and principal on debt instead of for other corporate
purposes, including funding future expansion. If our cash flow and capital resources are insufficient to service our debt obligations, we may be forced to seek
extraordinary dividends from our subsidiaries, sell assets, seek additional equity or debt capital or restructure our debt. However, these measures might be
unsuccessful or inadequate in permitting us to meet scheduled debt service obligations.

As a holding company, we have no operations and are dependent on dividends from our subsidiaries for cash to fund our debt service and other
corporate needs. Our subsidiaries are separate legal entities. Furthermore, our subsidiaries are not obligated to make funds available to us, and creditors of our
subsidiaries will have a superior claim to certain of our subsidiaries’ assets. State insurance laws restrict the ability of our regulated subsidiaries to pay
dividends and in some states we have made special undertakings that may limit the ability of our regulated subsidiaries to pay dividends. In addition, our
subsidiaries’ ability to make any payments to us will also depend on their earnings, the terms of their indebtedness, business and tax considerations and other
legal restrictions. We cannot assure you that our subsidiaries will be able to pay dividends or otherwise contribute or distribute funds to us in an amount
sufficient to pay the principal of or interest on the indebtedness owed by us. Indebtedness could also limit our ability to pursue desirable business
opportunities, and may affect our ability to maintain an investment grade rating for our indebtedness.
We may also incur future debt obligations that might subject us to restrictive covenants that could affect our financial and operational flexibility. Our
breach or failure to comply with any of these covenants could result in a default under our credit agreements. If we default under our credit agreements, the
lenders could cease to make further extensions of credit or cause all of our outstanding debt obligations under our credit agreements to become immediately due
and payable, together with accrued and unpaid interest. If the indebtedness under the notes or credit agreements is accelerated, we may be unable to repay or
finance the amounts due.

We face intense competition to attract and retain employees.
We are dependent on retaining existing employees, attracting and retaining additional qualified employees to meet current and future needs and achieving
productivity gains from our investment in technology. We face intense competition for qualified employees, especially information technology personnel and
other skilled

professionals, and there can be no assurance that we will be able to attract and retain such employees or that such competition among potential employers will
not result in increasing salaries. There also can be no assurance that an inability to retain existing employees or attract additional employees will not have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations,

Large-scale medical emergencies may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
Following the terrorist attacks of September 11, 2001, there have been various incidents of suspected bioterrorist activity in the United States. To date,
these incidents have resulted in related isolated incidents of illness and death. However, federal and state law enforcement officials have issued warnings about
additional potential terrorist activity involving biological and other weapons. If the United States were to experience more widespread bioterrorist or other
attacks, our covered medical expenses could rise and we would experience a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of
operations.

